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DECLARATION,

We, the undersigned, In our capadty of administrators of Banca Comerciala Romana S.A., and
in accordance with Art. 30 of the Accounting Law no. 82/1991 republished, undertake full
responstbility for the preparation of the annua financlal statements as at 31.12.2016 and
declare the following:

a) The accounting policies used for the preparation of the financlal statements for 2016 are
in compliance with the accounting standards applicable to credit iInstitutions,
correspondingly in accordance with the NBR’s Order ro. 27/2010 for the approval of the
Accounting Regulations gompliant to Intemational Financial Reporting Standards
applicable to credit institutions, as subsequently amended and supplemented;

b) The annual financlal statements reflect a true and fair view of the financial position,
financial performance and further information related to the activity of the bank; '

c) Banca Comerdiala Romana S.A. carries out its activity on a golng concern basis.

Chief ive Officer, Chief Finangial Officer,
SERGIU ADRIANA JANKOVIQOVA




DECLARATION,

We, the undersigned, in our capacity of administrators of Banca Comerciala Romana S.A., and
In accordance with Art. 31 of the Accounting Law no. 82/1991 republished, undertake full
responsibility for the preparation of the consolidated annual financlal statements as at
31.12:2016 and declare the following:

a) The accounting policles used for the preparation of the annual consolidated financial
statements for 2016 are In compliance with the accounting standards applicable to credit
institUtions, correspondingly in dccordance with the NBR’s Order no. 27/2010 for the
approval of the Accounting Regulations compliant with International Finandial Reporting
Standards applicable to credit Institutions, as subsequently amended and supplemented;

b} The anhual consolidated financial statements reflect a frue and fair view of the financial
position, financial performance and further information related to the activity of the
group,

Chief Exac Officer,
SERGIU MA
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No. Cabinet of the President.
Supervisory Board

ADMINISTRATORS’ REPORT
Banca Comerciala Romana SA
Year ended 31 December 2016

A. Macroeconomic environmentin 2016

The Social-Democrats (PSD) claimed a landslide victory in the parliamentary elections held on December
10, gamering 45.6% of the total votes. The Liberals struggled far behind, receiving 20.2% of the votes.
Under these circumstances, the PSD, along with their stalwart ally, the Alliance of Liberals and
Democrats (ALDE), which received 5.8% of the votes, were very likely to build up a majority and form the
new government. This became even more evident as, after redistributing the votes of the parties that did
not make the grade (the minimum election threshold is 5%), the Social-Democrats have topped 47% in
the Parliament. Other parties that gained mandates in the Parliament were the newly created Union to
Save Romania (8.9%), the ethnic Hungarians — UDMR (6.2%) and the People’s Movement Party (5.5%),
led by former President, Traian Basescu. After bilateral talks with the political parties, President Klaus
lohannis designated the Social-Democrat Sorin Grindeanu as the new Prime Minister.

Latest data show that Romanian economy picked up to 4.8% yly in the first nine months of 2016 shored
up by domestic demand, with household consumption being the most powerful contributor to GDP
formation thanks to further fiscal easing and very robust increase in wages. Although looking promising in
the first half of the year, investments lost significant momentum towards the end of 2018. Foreign trade
tumed in a net negative contribution to GDP formation. The resource side of GDP showed each and
every segment of activity delivering positive contributions to growth in the first nine months. Agriculture
was weakened by almost concomitant bouts of harsh drought and floods in some parts of the country
throughout the summer. In view of this, poorer than expected harvest may have somewhat crimped
private consumption toward the end of the year (cottage food industry largely supports self-sufficiency
especially in rural homesteads). The bulky ‘trade & services' component drove most of the growth,
followed at a noticeable distance by industrial production. ' -

Industrial output slowed in 2016 led by a steep drop in mining and electricity, gas and steam production
and slowing manufacturing (capital goods production in particular). The annual trend of exports
decelerated slightly for the better part of the year but managed to stabilize beginning with August, as the
drag from the non-EU component eased. Retail sales accelerated vigorously, on the heels of repeated
VAT cut and heftier purchasing power. Food sales reported a jet-fuelled increase, followed by strong
rises in sales of non-food and fuels. Construction works slackened their pace markedly especially on the
account of lackadaisical non-residential and engineering works. Résidential sector showed a marked
acceleration, due to Prima Casa state sponsored program, while non-residential works braked sharply
compared to previous year.

Inflation remained in negative territory throughout 2016, due to further VAT cut, lower energy prices and
fuels and slightly cheaper volatile food products. Annual CPi ended 2016 at -0.5% and is likely to
rebound in 2017, once the base effect from VAT cut fades away. The central bank kept key rate
unchanged, at 1.75% in 2016, but decided to slash mandatory reserve ratios for FC liabilities to 12% in
January and then to 10% in late September. Central bank noted that the move to reduce FX mandatory
reserves was a consecutive step, in light of the continued fall in foreign currency loans, amid FX reserve
consolidation at an adequate level.

Budget expenditures outran revenues in 2016, which led the budget deficit to significantly widen
compared to previous year. The revenue side shrank, as VAT income dwindled and EU funds absorption
2014-2020 was in shambles. Personnel and welfare related expenditures were the fastest growing items
in the budget, while public investments dropped compared to previous year. According to the Ministry of
Finance, Romania ran a budget deficit 2.6% of GDP in cash terms.



B. Important events since the end of 2016

In early January, the central bank has left the monetary policy rate unchanged at 1.75%. Mandatory
reserve ratios for both RON and FC liabilities have also been kept flat at 8% and 10%, respectively. The
central bank expects inflation to spring back into positive territory in the first quarter of this year, but the
magnitude of the rebound will be softer than in the central bank’s forecast which currently stands at
+0.8%.

In early January, PSD, along with the Alliance of Liberals and Democrats (ALDE) formed a new cabinet
headed by Social-Democrat Sorin Grindeanu. The government was quick to win the confidence vote and
enjoys a comfortable majority in the Parliament (more than 60%), being backed by ethnic Hungarians and
other ethnic minorities.

There were no important events in Banca Comerciala Romana, after the balance sheet date.

C. BCR’s Supervisory Board, Management Board, and Assets and Liabilities
Committee structure during 01.01 - 31.12.2016

1. Supervisory Board
Period 01.01 - 22.04.2016

s Manfred Wimmer - .Chairman
= Andreas Treichl - Deputy Chairman
e  Gernot Mittendorfer - member
= Brian O'Neill - member
e Andreas Gottschling - member
s Tudor Ciurezu - member
e vacant position - member
Period 23.04—31.12.2016
= Manfred Wimmer - Chairman
* Andreas Treichl - Deputy Chairman
» Gernot Mittendorfer - member
e Brian O'Neill - member

- member (appointed by GSM on 23.04.2016,

and granted approval by NBR.on 09.09.2016)

. . - member (appointed by GSM on 23.04.2016,
Hildegard Gacek and granted approval by NBR on 26.09.2016)

¢  Tudor Ciurezu - member

»  Wilhelm Koch

Il Management Board

Period 1.01 - 30.06.2016

= Sergiu Manea - CEO
¢ Bernd Mittermair - executive vice — president (his mandate ended
with 30.06.2016)

¢ Paul Ursaciuc - executive vice — president

s Jonathan Locke - executive vice — president

s Adriana Jankovicova - executive vice — president

e Dana Demetrian - executive vice — president

* vacant position - executive vice - president



Sergiu Manea

Paul Ursaciuc
Jonathan Locke
Adriana Jankovicova
Dana Demetrian
vacant position
vacant position

Sergiu Manea

Paul Ursaciuc
Jonathan Locke
Adriana Jankovicova
Dana Demetrian
vacant posijtion

e Sei‘giu Manea
Paul Ursaciuc
Jonathan Locke

Adriana Jankovicova
e Dana Demetrian

Sergiu Manea
* Paul Ursaciuc

¢« Adriana Jankovicova
Dana Demetrian
= vacant position

s Sergiu Ma_nea

e Adriana Jankovicova
= Dana Demetrian

¢ vacant position

* vacant position

Period 1.07 —

1.09.2016

CEO )

executive vice — president
executive vice — president
executive vice — president
executive vice — president
executive vice — president
executive vice — president

Period 1.09 ~ 29.09.2016

CEO

executive vice — president
executive 'vice — president
executive vice — president
executive vice — president
executive vice — president

14.10.2016

CEO
executive vice — president

executive vice — president (his mandate ended

with 14.10.2016)
executive vice — president
executive vice — president

Period 15.10 — 30.11.2016

.- CEO

executive vice — president (his mandate
ended starting with 30.11.2016)
executive vice — president

executive vice - president

executive vice - president

Period 1.12 — 31.12.2016

CEO

executive vice — president
executive vice - president
executive vice - president
executive vice - president

HI. Assets and Liabilities Management Committee

Period 01.01 — 30.06.2016

Adriana Jankovicova -
s Sergiu Manea -

ALCO chairman
ALCO deputy chairman



Bernd Mittermair

Paul Ursaciuc

Jonathan Locke
Dana Demetrian
vacant position

Adriana Jankovicova
Sergiu Manea

Paul Ursaciuc
Jonathan Locke
Dana Demetrian
vacant position
vacant position

Adriana Jankovicova
Sergiu Manea

Paul Ursaciuc
Jonathan Locke
Dana Demetrian
vacant position

Adriana Jankovicova
Sergiu Manea

Paul Ursaciuc
Jonathan Locke

Dana Demetrian

Adriana Jankovicova
Sergiu Manea
Paul Ursaciuc

Dana Demetrian
vacant position

Adriana Jankovicova
Sergiu Manea

Dana Demetrian
vacant position
vacant position

Member (his mandate ended with
30.06.2016)-

member

member

member

member

Period 1.07 — 1.09.2016

Period 15.1

ALCO chairman

ALCO deputy chairman
member

member

member

member

member.

Period 1.09 — 29.09.2016

ALCO chairman

ALCO deputy chairman
member

member

member

member

Period 30.09 — 14.10.2016

ALCO chairman

ALCO deputy chairman

member

member (his mandate ended with
14.10.2018)

member

0-30.11.2016

ALCO chairman
ALCO deputy chairman

Member (his mandate ended with
30.11.2016)

member
member

Period 1.12— 31.12.2016

ALCQ chairman

ALCO deputy chairman
member

member

member
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Professional experience details of Management Board may be found on the following link:

hggs:flwww.bcr._rolenlabout—us.’bcr-management '

According to the statement comprised within the Corporate Govemnance Framework Report,
Banca Comerciala Roména SA (BCR) carries out its activity considering the principles and objectives of
good corporate governance, in observance of the Romanian and EU legal and regulatory framework, as
well as in alignment with the parent company and the best international practices in the field.

Considering the NBR Regulation. 52013, art.13, the management body should monitor, assess
and revise the corporate governance framework, at least annually. In this regard, en March 2018, the
BCR Management Board reviewed, approved and published: (i} the principles of the Policy regarding the
corporate governance at BCR level and (ii) Corporate Governance Framework Report for 2015.

The Report, published on BCR website, presents the main aspects regarding BCR and BCR
Group governance framework, as follows: '

- BCR'’s profile: principles, mission and values;

- BCR Group corporate governance structure and shareholders;

- BCR organizational structure: functional lines:

- Structure of the management bodies: Supervisory Board & Management Board (members, professional
experience, responsibilities and subcommittees);

- Performance management and compensation strategy:

- Community. '

Details regarding BCR Corporate Governance Code may- be found on the following link:

https://www.bcr.ro/en/about-us/corporate-governance

General Meeting of Sharehoiders

The General Meeting of Shareholders (GMS) is the bank’s management body.
The Ordinary GMS deliberates and decides on:

» discussing, approving or changirjg the annual financial statements, after hearing the reports of
the: Supervisory Board, Management Board and financial auditor, including the reports of
Supervisory Board’s committees if applicable, and sefting up the dividends, reserves or other
allotments;

o eiecting and revoking the Supen{isbry Board members;
» setting up an adequate remuneration for the Supervisory Board members for the current year;

¢ assessing the activity of Supervisory Board and Management Board's members and discharging
them of duty for the previous financial year;

* approving the income and expense budget and, if applicable, the plan of activities for the next
financial year; '

= approving the pledge, lease or close down of the Bank’s units;

* approving the initiation of the legal proceedings against the members of Supervisory Board and
the financial auditor and nominating the person empowered to represent the Bank in such legal
process;

e appointing and revoking the financial auditor and establishing the minimum duration of the
contract concluded with them,

The Extraordinary GMS deliberates and decides on:

 discussing, approving or changing the annual financial statements, after hearing the reports of
the: Supervisory Board, Management Board and reducing the share capital;

*» reconstituting the share capital in order to meet the minimum capital requirements established by
law;

* reshaping the Bank main business activity as set forth in Article 7 of the Charter:
 the merger of the Bank with any other company or the Bank splitting up process;
» the liquidation and dissolution of the Bank;



* issuance of bonds;
* conversion of shares from one class to another;

* re-organizing, consolidating or provision documents regarding to intangible assets, when the
value of transactions exceeds 25 (twenty five) percent of the Bank own funds;

* confracts conclusion by the Management Board's members regarding the acquisition, selling, -,
lease, exchange or pledge of the Bank assets if the value of such assets exceeds 50 (fifty)
percent of the Bank's assets book value on the date of conciuding such legal agreement;

¢ purchase by the Bank of its own shares, directly or indirectly, in accordance with the law;
e amending the Bank Charter.

All shareholders may attend the general meetings of shareholders, in person or by means of a
representative. Shareholders can be represented at the General Meeting of Shareholders based on a
special power of attorney lodged with the Bank by at least 2 (two) working days before the relevant
meeting.

Protecting and facilitating the exercise of shareholders’ rights:

Ensures, based on clear and transparent stipulations at bank level, the protection of the shareholders’
rights:

¢ the right to safe registration methods as shareholder/associate:
the right to relevant information about the progress of the company, in due time and on a reguiar
hasis;

+ the right to participate and vote in the General Shareholders Meetings and also the right to be
informed in relation to the applicable rules and voting procedures related to such meetings;
the right to a share of the company’s profit according to the number of shares owned;

* the right to participate and be properly informed about the changes in the company: amendments
to the Charter, approval of new shares being issued, extraordinary transactions (such as, for
instance, the sale of an important share of the company’s assets);

¢ the right to address questions related to the General Shareholders Meetings, including with
respect to the external audit report; .

« the right to participate in making strategic decisions such as the election of the supervisory board
members or to express opinions about the remuneration of the members of the supervisory
board.

Equal treatment of all shareholders, including the minority and foreign ones, through:

Ensuring an equal treatment to all shareholders,
It is forbidden to use confidential information in one’s own interest or as a mean to obtaining
certain advantages.

Information transparency and their inmediate dissemination, through:

Supplying, on a regular basis and in due time, the relevant information and materials related to the
company, in order to practice in an appropriate manner, the voting rights during the General
Shareholders Meetings, according to the requirements of the regulatory framework applicable.

The Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board shall supervise the activities of the Management Board and the management of
the compliance risk as well as abidance by the laws, the Bank’s Charter and the General Meeting of

Shareholders decisions.

The Supervisory Board is made of 7 (seven) members appointed for a three-year period, with the
possibility of being elected for subsequent three-years mandates.



The main responsibilities include:

* establishes, monitors and regularly assesses (at least yearly) the structure and efficacy of the
governance framework of the Bank and its subsidiaries, including the policies related to i,
reviewing (at least yearly) and considering various risks, both internal, as well as externai that the
Bank and its subsidiaries are exposed to ;

= approves and regularly reviews, (at least annually) the general business strategy, the risk
strategy and the general risk management policy at Bank's level and at the level of its
subsidiaries ; ' '

* approves and periodically reviews the internal audit statute and the internal audit plan, as well as
the financial audit scope and the frequency of audit engagements ;

» approves and assesses (at least yearly) the policy regarding compliance risk and its
implementation ;

» approves the guidelines for staff policy and the organizational structure of the Bank down to the
level of independent entities inclusively and any changes thereof.

The Supervisory Board may establish such committees as necessary and appropriate, consisting of two
or more of the members of the Supervisory Board. Such committees shall have the powers and authority
established by the Supervisory Board, as provided in the respective committees’ internal rules.

Supervisory Board committees:
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is a consultancy body which reviews, reports to, advises and assists the
Supervisory Board in carrying-out its powers and responsibilities with respect to the salary policy, and in
particular Advises and monitors the remuneration, bonuses and benefits of the members of the
Management Board.

= The Remuneration Committee is made of three members of the Supervisory Board,;

e The responsibilities, the organization, the operation and the procedures of the Remuneration
Committee are established by the Remuneration Committee Internal Rules.

Audit and Compliance Committee

The Audit and Compliance Committee is a consultancy body, which reviews, reports to, advises and
assists the Supervisory Board in carrying out its tasks related to internal control, compliance and audit, as
well as on the quality and performance of Bank's internal accountants and auditors, the reliability of the
Bank’s financial information, and the adequacy of the Bank's financial controls and policies.

¢ The Audit and Compliance Committee is made of three members of the Supervisory Board;

* Members of the Audit and Compliance Committee must have basic accounting and financial
knowledge and at least one member of the Audit and Compliance Committee shall have
accounting or financial management professional background;

« The responsibilities, organization, the operation and the procedures of the Audit and Compliance
Committee are established by the Audit and Compliance Internal Rules.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is a consultancy body, which reviews, reports to, advises and assists the
Supervisory Board in carrying out its tasks related to the nomination and assessment of suitability of the
members of the Supervisory Board, the Management Board and of key function holders respectively as
well as to the Bank's corporate governance framework.

* The Nomination Committee is made of three members of the Supervisory Board:



The responsibilities, the organization, the operation and the procedures of the. Nomination
Committee are established by the Nomination Committee Internal Rules.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee is a consultancy body which review, reports to, advises and
assists the Supervisory Board in carrying out tasks related to risk management and issues
recommendations within its authority limits

The Risk Management Committee is made of three members of the Supervisory Board and a
replacement member;

The responsibilities, organiiation, the operation and the procedures of the Risk Management
Committee are established by the Risk Management Committee Internal Rules.

Management Board (MB):

The Management Board ensures the operational management of the Bank and the effective
management of the compliance risk.

The Management Board members are authorized to manage the bank on a daily basis and they have
authority and power to legally represent and bound the Bank, according to the Bank Charter.

The Management Board has five members appointed by the Supervisory Board, one of them
being appointed as President of the Management Board;

Management Board members have to meet the general conditions provided by the law and the
special conditions of the Banking Law, National Bank’s regulations, and Recruitment and
Remuneration Policy of BCR Group management;

Management Board’s members remuneration is décided by the Supervisory Board:
Management Board’s mandate lasts four years;

The President and the other members of the Management Board have competences and
assignments established by law and by the Management Board’s Internal Rules. in case any
member of the Management Board is. a Bank's employee, hisfher individual labor contract is
suspended for the whole period of membership in the Management Board.

Main responsibilities: -

managing the implementation of Bank’s financial targéts, strategy and business plan;

systematically and regularly approving and revising the strategies and policies regarding the risk
management. '

approving the strategies and policies related to the internal capital and own equity (covering and
proportional to the nature, extension and compiexity of the activity conducted by the Bank),

periodically monitoring and assessing the efficiency of the Bank's activity management
framework and practices, mainly the management policies regarding the management
framework, and reviewing the management framework in order to reflect any changes in the
internal and external factors affecting the Bank,
approving the explicit plan regarding the capital,
approving and assessing the Bank risk appetite,

approving the level of interest, commission; fees, costs and other similar bank changes collected
and paid by the Bank in line with the budget approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders,

approving the intemal rules of the committees established by the Management Board.
Shareholders.

The Management Board rhay set up committees as it deems necessary and appropriate. Such
committee’s competencies and authority will be stipulated by the Management Board and responsibilities
will be defined by each committee’s internal rules.



Management Board’s Committees:

Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO)

ALCO reviews, reports to, and assists the Management Board in carrying responsibilities as regard asset
and liabilities structure management, financing strategy, interest rate policy, liquidity policy, pricing for
savings products/ lending products/ cards/ , introducingf suspension or removal the products and
services . The committee is a body for analysis and decision that issues decisions and recommendations
according to the established authority limits.

The ALCO consists of the Management Board members.

The responsibilities, organization, working means and procedures of ALCO are established by the ALCO
Internal Rules.

Credit Committee

The Credit Committee reviews, reports to, and assists the Management Board in carrying its
responsibilities regarding loans granting, changing of terms and conditions for granting, using and/or
securing some previously granted loans, concluding agreements, extending their validity periods, issuing
letters of guarantee, factoring and other activities, for retail, corporate and workout customers.

The Credit Committee is made of 5 members.

The responsibilities, organization, working means and procedures of Credit Committee are established by
the Credit Committee and Subcommittee Internal Rules.

Cost and Investment Committee (CIC)

CIC analyses, decides, infoms and assists the Managemernit Board in carrying responsibilities
regarding: projects prioritization/ approval/ monitoring, implementation of CRs in scope for IT release,
definition of costs and investments framework and methodology and group related processes, monitoring
of costs and investments, approval of GAE & investments (CAPEX), coordination of property related
activities for BCR and Subsidiaries, costs budgeting for BCR Group, setting — up” branches and
agencies, formulating recommendation regards to Self-Banking strategy, budget and investments and
operational improvement, according to the established authority limits.

The CIC is made of 3 members.

The respensibilities, organization, working means and procedures of I&D Committee are estabiished by
the CIC Internal Rules.

Risk Committee of Management Board

Risk Committee of Management Board is subordinated to the Management Board, and is responsible for
approval, pre-approval and reviewing the aspects regarding the risk administration.

The Risk Committee of Management Board is made of all Management Board Members.

The responsibiliies, organization, working_means and procedures of Risk Committee of Management
Board are established by the Risk Committee of Management Board Internal Rules.



D. Patrimony of the BCR

As of 31 December 2016, the BCR prepared its financial statements for the year ended on that date, in
compliance with the Accounting law no. 82/1991, with its subsequent amendments and supplements and
with the National Bank of Romania Order no. 27/2010 for approval of Accounting Regulations compliant
with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards applicable to credit institutions, amended and
supplemented through the National Bank of Romania Order no. 26/2011 and 29/2011.

Total assets at 31 December 2016 amounted to RON 64,068,225 thousands, increasing by 7.7%
compared to 31 December 2015 (RON 59,460,913 thousands).

2016|
64,068,225

2012
70,531,183

2015
59,460,913

2013
63,509,963

- 2014
59,037,134

In EUR equivalent, total assets at 31 December 2016 represent 14,108.5 million, compared to EUR
13,142.0 milion as at 31" December 2015 (converted at the exchange rates at the end of each

corresponding financial year).

Assets in the balance sheet have the following structure:

ASSETS
; Percentage
Nr 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 Change
2016/2015
in RON thou
1|Cash and ¢ash balances 9,255,487 11,648,878 25.9%
2|Financial assets - held for trading 248,108 633,199 155.2%
Derivatives 78,814 73,486 -6.8%
Other trading assets 169,294 559,713 230.6%
3|Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss = Uzl SkilE)
4|Financial assets - available for sale 6,256,238 4,845,303 -22 6%
" 5|Financial assets - held to maturity 8,818,660 12,386,197 40.5%
6|Loans and receivables to credit institutions 184,631 851,414 252 8%
7|Locans and receivables to customers 32,548,724 31,162,500 -4.3%
8|Property and equipment ) 235,921 1,158,548 391.1%
9|Intangible assets 224,239 280,699 25.2%
10{investments in associates 7,509 7.509 0.0%
11|Current tax assets 131,826 159,029 20.6%
12|Deferred tax assets 398,530 310,554 -22.1%
13[Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale Sty 2,292 Sty
14|Other assets ; 1,090,757 806,775 -26.0%
{
TOTAL 59,460,913 64,068,225 7.7%

At the end of 2016, Banca Comerciala Romana absorbed 2 companies, part of BCR Group: BCR Real
Estate Management SRL and Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL. The main activity of the subsidiaries
absorbed was management of real estate assets.

At the merger date, the assets of the

follows:

parent company Banca Comerciala Romana, was impacted as

- Loans and receivables to customers decreased by RON 776,558 thousands, which represents 2
loans granted by BCR to the subsidiaries.
- Property and equipment increased by RON 839,567 thousands, which represents the transfer of
real estate properties from subsidiaries in BCR patrimony.

- Other assets decreased by RON 161,178 t

in subsidiaries absorbed.

There are noresearch and developments activities in Banca Comerciala Romana.

housands, mainly from the elimination of participation
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Liabilities and Equity in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016, amounting to RON 64,068,225

thousands, have the following structure:

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Percentage
Nr 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 Change
) 201672015
in RON thou .
1|Financial liabilities held for frading 35,102 38,391 9.4%
2|Financial fiabilities measured at amortised costs 52,241,984 55,825,328 6.9%
Deposits from banks 10,837,456 8,125,005 -15.8%
. |Deposits from cusfomers 39,973,916 45,354,909 13.5%
Debt securities issued 912,236 637,192 -30.2%
Other financial liabilifies 518,376 708,132 36.6%
3|Provisions 795,869 1,069,547 34.4%
4|Other Ligbilities - 244 969 242 726 0.9%
S5|ITOTAL EQUITY 6,142,989 6,892,233 12.2%
6|lssued capital 2,952 565 2,952,565 0.0%
7|Share premium 305,483 395,483 0.0%)
8|Retained eamings - ‘ 1,243,181 2,083,089 67.6%|
9| Other capital reserve -1,651,760 1,460,196 -5.9%
TOTAL 59,460,913 64,068,225 7.7%

At the merger date, the liabilities and equity of the parent company Banca Comerciala Romana, was

impacted as follows:

- Deposit from customers decreased by RON 37,551 thousands, which represents current

accounts of subsidiaries to BCR.
- Equity decreased by RON 42,871 thousands.

E. Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016

Percentage
Nr 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 Change
2016/2015
in RON thou
1{Net interest income 1,925,963 1,726,483 -10.4%
2|Net fee and commission income 895,461 672,086 -3.4%
3[Dividend income 31,205 5,004 -84.0%
4|Net trading and fair value result 303,988 308,008 1.7%
5|Rental income from investment properties & other operating lease 1,406 1,014 -27.9%,
&|Personnel expenses (648,327)| - (657,036) 1.3%
7|Cther administrative expenses (762,830) {804,923) 5.5%
8|Depreciation and amortisation (119,667) (105,780) -11.6%
Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair
9|value through profit or loss, net ) (10) Uilibirer) SRR
Net impairment loss on financial assets not measured ai fair value
A0|through profit or loss 58,300 217,288 272.7%
11;Other operating resuit (429,876) . (468,927) S.1%
12|Pre-tax profit from continuing operations el el Sl
13{Taxes on income (92,276) {119,955) 30.0%|
14| Post-tax profit from continuing operations 963,427 886,086 -8.0%
15| Profit from discontinued operations net of tax - | - NA
16[NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR 963,427 886,086 -8.0%)|
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Income statement of ‘Banca Comerciala Romana, was not

subsidiaries.

INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

affected by the merger process with the

: . Percentage
Nr '31.12.2015 31.12.2016 Change
201672015
in RON thou
1|Financial assets held for frading 53,633 48,586 -8.7%
2|Available-for-sale financial assets 214,189 149,370 -30.3%}
3|Loans and receivables 1,916,127 1,568,909 -18.1%
4| Held-to-maturity investments e Sl B3
5|Derivatives - Hedge accounting, interest rate risk 16,153 0 -100.0%
6|Other assets 12,068 48,269 - 300.0%
7/Total Interest income 2,617,171 2,226,843 -14,9%
Interest income declined by 14.9 % compared with December 31, 2015.
INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
Percentage
Nr - 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 Change
. 2016/2015
in RON thou ‘ '
1}Financial liabilities held for trading (26,042)  (23,500) -9.8%
2|Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (661,603) (470,773) -28.8%
3|Derivatives - Hedge accounting, interest rate risk {53) - -100.0%
-4|Other liabilities ' (3,510) (6,107} 74.0%;
5|Tofal Interest Expense (691,208) {500,380) -27.6%

Interest expenses declined by 27.6 % compared with December 31, 2015.

Net commission income in amount of RON 672,086 thousands (as of Decem

ber 2016) compared to RON

695,461 thousands (as of December 2015), show a decrease of 3.4%, as follows:
NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
Percentage
Nr 31.12.2015 31.12.2016 Change
2016/2018
in RON thou ]
1|Securities 4,839 4,857 0.4%
2|Clearing and settlement {45,027) (19,512) -56.7%
3|Custody 15,204 13,173 -13.4%
4|Payment services 86,017 49,734 -42.2%
5|Customer resources distributed but not managed 421,739 414,717 -1.7%
6|Lending business . 87,970 86,739 -1.4%)
7|Other 124,718 122,378 -1.9%l|
8/Net Commission Income 695,461 672,086 -3.4%)

The net result of 2016, calculated as the difference between revenues and expenses, represents a profit
"of RON 886,086 thousands, compared to 2015 with a profit of RON 963,427 thousands.
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F. The Bank’s risk profile

1. Overview

The overall focus of risk and capital management throughout 2016 was on maintaining the BCR Group
risk profile in line with the BCR Risk Strategy, increasing the capital base and supporting the strategic
management initiatives with a focus on balance sheet optimization.

The overall risk profile for BCR Group, as well as the individual risk profiles are implemented through the
BCR Group Risk Strategy, and are subject to an annual comprehensive review process. A quarterly
assessment of the risk profiles is considered to check if there are changes in respect of the risks
materiality or if new risks occurred in the Bank activity.

Based on the BCR Group Risk Strategy and BCR Group overall and individual risk profiles, BCR Group
subsidiaries, including BCR, set up their local risk profile. Also, BCR Group's capital management
framework serves to ensure that the group and its subsidiaries are capitalized in line with the risk profile,
regulatory requirements and economic capital requirements.

in terms of governance, full oversight of the risk prdfile and a sound execution of the risk strategy is
ensured including appropriate monitoring and escalation of issues that could materially impact the risk
profile of the Bank.

2. ERM Proportionality principles

BCR Group has implemented the ERM Proportionality Principles which is a crucial and integral part of the
overall risk framework and strategy. The proportionality principle is applied for the core components of
ERM/ICAAP framework (Risk Materiality Assessment / Risk taxonomy, Risk-bearing Capacity
Calculation, Risk Appetite & Risk Profile, Stress testing).

The proportionality concept, the classification categories and criteria as well as process requirements for
implementation, application and roll-out in the context of key ICAAP areas are described in BCR Group
ERM Principles, as a core element governing the application of the ICAAP/ERM framework. '

The risk management principles, concepts and processes are generally designed, developed and
implemented to address over-arching organizational needs across both group and local
entities/subsidiaries reflecting a high degree of granularity and detail.

However, subsequent imnlementation and application at BCR Group subsidiaries requires an approach
that takes differences in business structures, size, complexity and relevance into account. This will
ensure a meaningful, suitable and adequate application across BCR Group in line with local needs and
capabilities while still fulfilling overall BCR Group level requirements and standards.

The evaluation of proportionality criteria is reviewed on an annual basis and included in the Risk Strategy.
In addition, a.re-assessment might be carried out outside the annual review cycle if changed business
parameters indicate a need for a respective re-classification.

As a conclusion, the Bank Risk Profile determines the BCR Group Risk profile — both in respect of
the overall rigk profile as well as on individual risk types - based on the following considerations:

= the volume and nature of BCR activity as part of BCR Group,
* the categorization of BCR as a full subsidiary based on the ERM proportionality Principles.

3. Individual rigk profiles for the key risk types
3.4.  Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined as the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from a
borrower's failure to meet the terms of any contract with the credit institution or its failure to perform as
agreed.

In respect of the credit risk profile, in order to iower the risk profile for this risk in 2016, BCR has
targeted the following strategic directions:

* An integrated risk management framework where risk appetité is cascaded down to the highest
granular level in terms of concentration policy, lending acceptance criteria and business strategy;

* BCR continued to refine, update, monitor and redevelop its statistically validated scorings, rating
modeis, risk parameters and tools;
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= BCR continued to manage the industry concentrations and to align the portfolio composition with the
business strategy.

= Perform periodical stress tests/sensitivity analysis related to the impact of credit risk on the Bank.
More details regarding Credit Risk, may be found in Notes 39.5 of the Financial Statements.

3.2,  Concentration risk analysis

With regard to concentration risk, BCR implemented a process to identify measure, control and manage
‘risks concentration. This process is essential to ensure the long-term viability of the bank, especially in
times of an adverse business environment and stressed economic conditions.

The BCR concentration risk framework outlines the standards needed to identify, measure, monitor, and
mitigate concentration risks, whose implementation is essential to ensure the long-term viability of any
financial institution, especially in the case of stressed economic conditions. In respect of management of
‘concentration risk, the Bank has impiemented a wide framework of limits such as industry limits,
geographic regions, corporate unsecured loan, corporate and Pl limits, FX retail limits, as well as
concentration risk limits on individual counterparties depending on the ratings (maximum / operational
lending limits), market and liquidity risk limits and operational key risk indicators.

3.3. Residual rigk analysis

This type of credit risk does not arise due to deterioration of the counterparty’s creditworthiness, but from
an insufficient ability-to realize the collateral taken. This may result from the possibility that the legal
mechanism by which the collateral was pledged or transferred does not guarantee that the bank has the
right to liquidate or seize the collateral or that the collateral will not turn out to be as valuable as expected.

Collateral and credit enhancement are evaluated pursuant to internally defined rules. Depending on
rating grade, purpose and tenor, risk bearing products are protected against losses by stipulating
adequate collateral that is fully and indisputably iegally eriforceable and sufficiently documented for the
Bank. Nevertheless, collateral and credit enhancement can never substitute repayment capability.

3.4. FX induced credit risk analysis

FX induced credit risk is a risk associated with foreign currency lending to un-hedged borrowers, which
arises due to exchange rate fluctuations of the respective foreign currency. FX induced credit risk arises
from debtors not benefitting from natural (borrowers receive FX income, including cash-in from transfers
or exports) or financial hedging (based on a contract concluded between the borrower and the credit
institution which covers FX risk).

3.5.. Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that may arise due to adverse changes in market prices and to the pa'rarheters
derived from them. In BCR, market risk is divided into interest rate risk, credit spread risk, exchange rate
rigk, price risk, volatility risk, and market liquidity risk. These concern both trading and banking book
positions. ' '

Key principles of BCR Group’s market risk management are based on the following piliars:
* Identification of market risks - identification of market risks inherent in the investment operations
and in new products, and ensuring adequate procedures and controls before these are
implemented or undertaken;

* Position keeping and Market Data Maintenance -~ ensuring proper data representation of BB and
TB positions and also sourcing of appropriate market data for financial instruments and risk
factors including data quality checks and cleansing;

* Pricing and valuation — maintenance of appropriate instrument pricing framework and valuation
routines for the calculation of valuation adjustments;

* Risk measurement — calculation of risk exposure using sensitivities, value-at-risk, and stress
testing;

* Validation - On one hand this concerns Value at Risk (“VaR") back-testing while on the ather
hand parameters and models used must be validated on a regular basis;
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* Market Conformity of Trading Activity - assuring that trading activities are performed at market
conforming prices and rates;

= Market Risk Limits - development of a comprehensive limit system, limit allocation and violation
reporting;

= Market Risk Monitoring and Reporting — timely and _acCurate reporting of ali relevant information.
More details regarding Market Risk, may be found in Notes 39.6 of the Financial Statements.

3.6. Liquidity Risk and Funding Risk

The Bank distinguishes between market liquidity risk (which is the risk that the Bank c¢annot offset or
close a position at the market price because of inadequate market depth or market disruption) and
funding liquidity risk (which is the risk that the Bank will not be able to meet efficiently both expected and
unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs without affecting either daily operations or
its financial condition).

The Bank has an éppropriate reporting framework for liquidity and funding risk management, which
includes the scope, possible manifestations and frequency of these risks, and which also designates the
entity responsible for preparing the specific reports.

In 2016, the Bank has implemented and started delivering to the regulator the Additional Liquidity
.Monitoring Metrics (ALMM) reports, thus benefiting from a more comprehensive analysis of its financing
sources.The Bank has an adequate set of limits on the values of various liguidity risk indicators, which
enable it to closely monitor and control liquidity risk. ‘

The Bank is also using the Survival Period Analysis (SPA) as a key tool for measuring liquidity risk; its
aim is to assess whether sufficient liquidity can be obtained in order to operate at a level where the Bank
can survive a liquidity stress scenario for at least 1 month. The analysis is performed per each significant
currency (i.e. RON and EUR), and per total currencies.

Another important tool for BCR's funding risk management process is the CFP (Contingency Funding
Plan). It provides a useful framework in the event the Bank is unable to fund some or all of its activities in
a timely manner, and at a reasonable cost.

With respect fo cash flow risks, BCR is actively managing the intraday liquidity positions, such that it can
be able to fulfill at any time the requirements related to payments and settiements, in both normal and
crisis conditions. .

Thus, BCR has the capacity fo:

1. Measure daily the gross inflows and outflows, to predict as accurately as possible the time of the
day when these fiows will occur, and to predict any financing deficits that may occur during a day;
Monitor the intraday liquidity positions as compared to the expected activities and available
resources (balances, capacity to cover outstanding loans, available collaterals)

Obtain the necessary financing for meeting the intraday liquidity objectives
Manage the eligible collaterals for obtaining the intraday financing
Manage the liquidity outflows according to BCR intraday objectives

Be prepared to face unexpected changes in intraday liquidity flows.

Gompw M

The mechanisms used by BCR in order to calculate the liquidity position are based on the following:
1. prediction of cash-flows impacting the current account during the day — as accurately as possible
—including prediction of the timing of these flows throughout the day
2. estimation of the possible cash-flow shortages throughout the day
3. ability to monitor the intraday liquidity position and the expected liquidity requirements throughout
the day.

Potential measures used by BCR for managing liquidity in order to ensure the intraday availability of
funds are; :
1. the possibility to access intraday liquidity from NBR in case of necessity to cover unexpected
amounts during a day _
2. making payments based on the available resources (and the liquidity position expected during
the day).

More details regarding Liquidity Risk, may be found in Notes 39.7 of the Financial Statements.
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3.7.  Operational Risk
BCR Group’s operational risk is governed by an operational risk management policy which defines:

= the operational risk management structure, hierarchy and governance model (“three lines of defense
model™);

= the risk appetite setting the limits of residual operational risk tolerance (OpRisk scaling matrix):
= common standards for managing and documenting operationai risk within BCR Group;

= the framework that ensure OpRisk (OpRisk concentrations) are adequately identified, assessed,
documented and managed.

The quantitative measurement methods are based on internal loss experience data, which are collected
across Erste Group using a standard methodology and entered into a central data pool. in addition to the
quantitative methods, qualitative methods are also used to determine operational risk, such as risk
assessment surveys. BCR also reviews certain key indicators periodically to ensure early detection of
changes in risk potential that may lead to losses.

To lower the operational risk profile, the Bank has undertaken the following measures:
* Permanent development and improvement of control environment;
= Improvement of operational loss data collection;

= Performing periodical stress tests/sensitivity analysis related to the impact of operational risk on the
Bank, .

The Bank has implemented a wide range of specific ratios for managing operational risk. The monitoring
and regular reporting of operational risk indicators (KRI) is enabling the Bank to detect any change in its
exposure to operational risk in due time. Also, the Bank is monitoring the evolution of recorded events, as
well as through implementing/ solving corrective measures.

More details regairding Operational Risk, may be found in Notes 39.8 of the Financial Statements.

3.8 Reputational Risk

Reputational risk issues arise from transactions with clients or through different business activities.
However, due fo its nature these usually materialize through other risk types. The primary responsibility-
for the identification, escalation and resolution of reputational risk issues resides with business and the
relevant risk type owner supports their resolution.

Reputational risk registered improvements in 2016 based on a series of projects such as Iaunchihg of the
financial education program, launching of pubiic diplomacy initiative, consoiidation of corporate culture,
risk return decision tool, new product approval process.

G. Risk Management

1. ERM/ICAAP framework

The Bank has continued to strengthen its ERM/ICAAP framework This includes as its fundamental pillar
the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process) required under Pillar Il of the Basel
framework.

The Enterprise-wide Risk Management/ICAAP framework is a holistic steering and management model
designed to support BCR Group in managing its risk portfolios and its risk bearing capacity by ensuring
that the bank has, at all times, an adequate -coverage potential which ensures the necessary -capital
adequacy to sustain its business and risk strategy.

As such, the ERM forms a sound steering and management system and is integral to the bank/group’s
overall steering and management function. This Enterprise-wide Risk Management is formalized through
an umbrella policy serving to lay out its general principles, . functions and requirements in order to
uitimately fulfill ICAAP requirements

A key component of ICAAP is the assessment of the group’s capital adequacy using economic capital
measures. In the ICAAP, the Group identifies and measures its risks and ensures that it has sufficient
capital in relation to its risk profile. The process also ensures that adequate risk management systems
are used and further developed. The relevant components of ERM framework refer to:
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1.1. Risk profile

The risk profile is represented by the aggregated actual and potential risk exposures of the Bank. The
ERM is tailored to the Bank’s business and Risk Profile and reflects the strategic goal of protecting
shareholders while ensuring the sustainability of the organization.

The Bank Risk Profile is developed within the Risk Appetite and by evaluating the material risks to which
the bank is exposed. The BCR Group Risk Report monitors the development of the Bank Risk Profile
compared with the Risk Appetite and Risk Strategy and is presented to the Management Board and
Supervisory Board ona quarterly basis.

1.2.  Risk appetite (RAS)

The Bank defines its Risk Appetite through the annual strategic planning process to ensure appropriate
alignment of risk, capital and performance targets. RAS represents a strategic statement expressing the
maximum level of risks the Bank is prepared to accept in order to achieve its business objectives. It
consists of a set of core metrics providing quantitative direction for risk steering, as well as qualitative
‘statements in the form of key risk principles that form part of the strategic guidelines for managing risks.

1.3. Risk bearing capacity (RCC)

The Risk Bearing Capacity calculation defines the capital adequacy required by the ICAAP. Within the
RCC the Bank's risks measured from an internal economic perspective are summed up to provide the
basis to determine the Economic Capital. The Economic Capital is then compared to internai capital, as
measured by the coverage potential. -

The integral forecast, risk appetite limits and the fraffic light system support management in its
discussions and decision process. The traffic light system embedded in the RCC helps to alert the
management in case there is need to decide on, plan and execute actions either to replenish the capital
base or to take measures for reducing risk.

14.  Stress testing

Stress testing is a vital component of the Risk Management framework within the Bank and is
incorporated into the strategic planning process for business activities, capital and liquidity assessment.
The assessment of the ability of the Bank to sustain losses in severe but plausible macroeconomic
scenarios provides information on the adequacy of the overall business model, and supports the planning
of emergency and mitigation measures. '
Stress testing results and recommendations are incorporated into the process for defining the RAS,
subsequent financial projections and budgeting processes, the assessment of risk concentrations, as well
as in the calculation of the risk-bearing capacity and the determination of the economic capital adequacy
limnit.

1.5.  Risk Planning and Forecasting

The Bank has implemented a sound risk planning and forecasting process, which includes both a forward
and backward looking component, focusing on both portfolio and economic environment changes.
Planning of risk relevant key numbers is also part of BCR ERM framework and it assures the adequate
reflection of risks within the steering and management process of the Bank activity.

1.6. Recovery Plan

The Bank Recovery Plan Governance represents a framework for the drawing up and the implementation
of the recovery plan as a main piliar of strengthening the financial resilience of BCR and restoring its
financial position following a significant deterioration. It identifies a set of recovery measures which could
be taken in order to restore BCR's financial strength and viability when it comes under severe stress.

The Recovery Plan also ensures that proper remediation measures are applied if the Bank starts moving
outside of its approved risk appetite in order to recalibrate its risk profile and ensure that can recover on a
sustainable basis.
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2. Monitoring of the Bank Rigk Profile

Oversight of the overall risk profile at the Bank level consists of both strategic and operational oversight.

21.  Strategic oversight

The Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) sets the boundary for a maximum risk the Bank is willing to accept in
order to pursue its business objectives; this includes a set of core steering metrics with triggers levels
providing strategic guidelines for risk management and planning.

The Risk strategy sets strategic risk targets based on the targeted risk profile of the Bank and the RAS
and provides a balanced risk-retum view considering strategic focus and business plans.

Both are reguiarly monitored and reported in the BCR Group Risk Report including a traffic light overview
together with respective measures to address identified deviations from strategic plans or objectives.

2.2,  Operational oversight

Risk management by risk type ensures that the risk specific profile remains in line with the risk strategy
and operative limits support the achievement of strategic targets. The development of the specific risk
profile (i.e. retail credit, corporate credit, operational risk, etc.) is reported through dedicated risk reports
in a more granular way and supports risk decision making of the dedicated risk functions to ensure the
risk profile remains within risk strategy (i.e. retail risk report). These reports also .include specific
monitoring metrics that provide an early warning signal for adverse developments of, e.g., portfolio quality
(client, segment, countries and industries) or risk drivers. In instances where certain risk portfolios or
events are identified as potentially in distress, these are closely monitored by the dedicated risk functions
to manage the risk impact and to develop effective strategies to minimize potential losses. This process
facilitates early risk detection and reaction.

H. ORGANIZATION OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM'S FUNCTION

Both supervisory and management functions are responsible for the development and the maintenance
of a proper internal control system ensuring effective and efficient operations, adequate risk control,
prudent business conduet, reliable financial and non-financial information reported at internal and
external level, as well as compliance with the on-going laws, regulations and the internal policies and
procedures.

Every person in the organization has certain intemal controi responsibilities assigned. All empioyees
provide information used by the internal control system or otherwise take action effecting control.
Furthermore, all members of personnel are also responsible for communicating operational problems
upwards, as well as infringements of the Ethics Code or on-going policies and illegal actions.

The internal control system in BCR invoives:
a) the existence of a sound internal control framework in place, ensured by: .

= clear definition of the role and responsibilities of the management body conceming the
internal control

= identification, assessment and monitoring of significant risks

= control activities definition, segregation of dutiés assurance and conflict of interest
avoidance

= atransparent framework for information and communication
= continuous monitoring of the activities and correcting the deficiencies.

b) the existence of independent control functions in place (the risk management function, compliance
function and internal audit function) with direct line of reporting to the management body.

The BCR Internal Control System is structured on three levels:

1. First-level or line controls is designed to ensure that transactions are carried out correctly.
Controls are performed by the entities that take the risks and incorporated in specific procedures. The
responsibility of this area is allocated to the Business Management.

2. Second-level of control is the duty of Risk Management Function and Compliance Function.
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3. Third-level controls are performed by Internal Audit Function, which assesses and regularly
checks the completeness, functionality and adequacy of the internal control system. Internal audit is
independent of both first and second-level lines.

Controls'in place for financial reporting process:

1. Each employee has a dedicated back-up which undertakes all the responsibilities of the employee
on leave.

2. Non disclosure agreement signed by all employees;

3. Ethical Code in place;

4. Zero tolerance to confidential information disclosure

5. Clear defined approval flow in accordance with the banking law.

6. Dual control in place, validation rules in BCR systems. Implementation of “4-eyes principies” for
each financial report.

7. Existing standardized labeled folders with restricted access.

I. BCR policy regarding environmental issues

Environmental protection and the responsible use of resources are endeavors integrated in the business
strategies of environmentally conscious companies world-wide, and in Romania.

Banca Comerciala Romana:
e Admits and accepts the fundamental importance of an integrated approach of the environmental
and social factors, as well as of lasting development principles within its financing activity.
« Pays adequate attention to its financing processes, securing before making the financing
decision, the compliance of the respective projects with the minimal environmental protection,
social protection and occupational safety standards applicable in Romania.

BCR does not finance activities which do not meet environmental requirements specified in the
Romanian legisiation, relevant international conventions and agreements to which Romania adhered
expressly.

Analysis of environmental issues is part of the lending process and is mandatory for every transaction.

In BCR, environmental activity is coordinated by Credit Analysis & Sabine Department.

J. Outlook for BCR’s activity

in 2017,-the positive development of the Romanian economy should be reflected in a growth rate (real
GDP) of 4.3% according to BCR forecast, mainly driven by domestic demand in general and private
consumption in particular.

Balance Sheet developments

In" the current context, BCR Group expects a mid-single digit net loan growth supported by growth in
retail, while corporate segment is likely to remain rather stablé mainly supported by SME and despite
further NPL reduction.

The growth in net retail loans in 2017 is expected to be fueled by double digit growth in cash loans
coupled. with single digit increase in mortgages, mainly Prima Casa loans, although in terms of absolute
volume growth the mortgage lending will likely remain thé main contributor in 2017.

On the liabilities side, BCR will continue to capitalize on its very strong customer deposit base. BCR wili
continue to drive a structural shift in the BS by further increasing the share of demand deposits / current
accounts and by converting the more expensive funding, especially in EUR, into fee-earning asset
management and insurance products. At the same time, BCR will gradually decrease intra-group long
term funding in line with the Bank’s strategy to focus on local currency lending by relying on its strong
self-funding capacity in RON.
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Income Statement developments

Net interest income is expected fo stabilize on the back of afore-mentioned structural changes, even
though the continuous improvement in asset quality will still have an adverse impact on NII, coming from
lower income on unimpaired portion of non performing loans (unwinding effect).

The second key income component, net fee and commission income, is expected to grow by mid-
single digit in 2017 mainly on the back of increasing customer base which is expected to drive higher
revenues from transaction business and maintenance and at the same time higher volume of brokerage
fees for subsidiaries products.

All in all, the operating income should hence remain stable in 2017 or decline marginally in the case of
lower-than-expected loan growth.

Operating expenses are expected to slightly rise by low single digit in 2017. The mild cost inflation will
be mainly driven by IT investments necessary to secure BCR Group’s future competitiveness and
measures induced by regulatory requirements. Further investments in product simplification, process
standardization, data management or the group-wide implementation of the digital platform George
underline the digital strategy. Additional cost drivers are regulatory expenses related for example to the
implementation of IFRS 9 from the beginning of 2018,

Risk costs should again support net profit in 2017. While the low interest rate environment has a
negative impact on net interest income, it does have a positive effect on risk costs which, unlike net
interest income, benefit additionally from further reduction of NPLs, leading fo single digit NPL ratio
expected in 2017, BCR, however, does expect certain amount of risk allocafions starting 2017 after the
significant releases in 2016 and 2015, with the risk cost ratio tending towards a nomalized evolution.

CHAIRMAN

MAN REI3 WIMMER
~
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BCRS

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A.
No. Cabinet of the Chairman
Supervisory Board

CONSOLIDATED ADMINISTRATORS’ REPORT
Banca Comerciala Romana Group
Year ended 31 December 2016

1. General information

During 2016, Banca Comerciala Romana Group (“BCR Group” or “the Group™) comprised the parent
bank, Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. and its subsidiaries, presented in the following table:

: Shareholding
Company’s Name Country of Nature of the 31 31
incorporation business December December
2015 2016
BCR Chisinau SA Moldova Banking 100.00% 100.00%
Financiara SA (liquidated) Romania Financial - 97.46% 0.00%
BCR Leasing IFN SA Romania Financial leasing 99.97% 99.97%
Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL* Romania Real Estate 99.99% 0.00%
BCR Pensii, Societate de Administrare ; :
8 Fondurilor de Pensii Private SA Romania Pension Fund 99.99% 99.99%
BCR Banca pentru Locuinte SA Romania Housing loans 80.00% 80.00%
Suport Colect SRL : Romania Workout 100.00% 99.99%
CIT ONE SRL Romania Cash processing and .
: ' : storing 99.99% 99.99%
BCR Real Estate Management SRL* Romania Real estate 59.99% 0.00%
BCR Fleei Managemeni SRi *¥ Romania Operational leasing 99.87% 99.97%
BCR Payments SPY Romania Payments )
transactions 99.99% 99.99%

*Company was absorbed by BCR as at 31-December-2016
** Company held indirectly by BCR through BCR Leasing SA

2. The consolidated financial statements of the BCR Group for the year ended
31-December-2016

In accordance with the Accounting Law no. 82/1991 republished, a parent company must prepare both
individual financial statements of the parent and consolidated financial statements of the Group. Order
no. 27/2010 of the National Bank of Romania further specifies that the consoclidated financial
statements of credit institutions must be prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the European Union.

Consequently, the consolidated financial statements of the BCR Group for the year ended 31-
December-2016 were prepared in accordance with IFRS, observing also the specific group accounting
policies of Erste Group, to which BCR Group belongs.

Appendix 1 presents the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31-December-2016, while
Appendix 2 presents the consolidated balance sheet at 31-December-2016.




3. Highlights

BCR results in 2016: RON 8.8 billion new loans granted on the back of extensive customer reach,
substantial NPL decline, strong capital position; RON 1 billion net profit.

In 2016 BCR granted a volume of RON 8.8 billion new retail and corporate loans.
BCR executes strategy across customer segments based on improved service accessibility —
zero fees for cash withdrawal at own ATMs, zero fees for basis current account.

* The bank has reached 200,000 clients to whom it has offered commercial solutions to reduce
financial burden, whilst ramping up financial education initiatives.

» In 2016 the NPL ratio decreased to 11.7% as compared to 20.2% in 2015, as a result of the
sustained efforts to reduce the NPL legacy and improve the quality of the performing portfolio;
the NPL provision coverage ratio improved further to 85.3%, as of December 2016.

¢ The capital position of the bank is strong to support business growth. BCR’s solvency ratio
stood at 21.8% as of December 2016 (BCR standalone), while Tier 1 + 2 capital (BCR Group)
was very solid at RON 6.5 billion as of December 2016.

e 2016 net profit stood at RON 1,041.8 million (EUR 232 0 million), supported by new client
business and improving portfolio quality.

{ am thankful to our clients and employees for their trust. With that in mind, | would like to underfine
Iwo simple achievements in 2016: BCR focused on customer business and continued investing in the
infrastructure for more convenient, reliable and accessible services. We believe that is the right
strategy ahead of us. Owing to a committed sharehoider through the cycle, we count on a very solid
capital position- and a strong balance sheet, allowing us to further extend financial intermediation
throughout Romania.

As a Romanian bank with a majority foreign shareholder we are a convinced promoter of Romania’s
progressive advance within the global vaiue chain. We believe the key to Succeeding in that challenge
lies, above all, in encouraging both domestic and intemational capital to nest, produce value and
catalyse Romania’s intellectual and entrepreneurial potential. As such, we shall be an active player in
all initiatives aimed at creating competitiveness and prosperity for the country. Sergiu Manea, CEO of
BCR, stated.

4. Business performance overview
Full year 2016 commercial and financial highlights

Banca Comerciaia Romana (BCR) in 2016 achieved a strong net profit of RON 1,041.8 million (EUR
232.0 million), supported by new client business and continued improvement of portfolio quality.

The operating result stood at RON 1,297.7 million (EUR 289.0 million), 16.9% lower than the
previous year at RON 1,561.5 (EUR 351.3), driven by lower operating income coupled with higher
investment, mainly in IT infrastructure. .

In 2016 BCR granted a volume of RON 8.8 billion new retail and corporate loans.

In bank retail business, strong performance in volume generation by the franchise resulted in new
loans totalling RON .5 billion, mainly driven by solid sales in cash loans coupled with secured loans
— mainly Prima Casa, while standard morigage production was affected by debt to asset law.

BCR. successfully targets client activation by means of internet & mobile banking services
{significantly up yoy), free basic current account and debit card, as well as ATM and POS transactions
(also up yoy).

The bank was the first local institution compliant with EU Directive 17 on Credit Agreements for
Consumers. The bank has aiso reached a milestone 200.000 clients to whom it has offered in the
last years commercial solutions to reduce financial burden and increase loyalty.

in corporate banking business, new volumes added on the balance sheet totalled RON 3.3 billion.
Cofinancing of EU funded projects was also solid with BCR holding over 30% market share and a
portfolio of over RON 7.7 billion co-financed. The corporate book growth is supported by a solid
pipeline of better quality new business, particularly in overdrait, working capital and supply chain
financing.



Net interest income was down by 10.3%, to RON 1,786.7 million (EUR 397.9 million), from RON
1,992.6 million (EUR 448.3 million) in 2015, on the back of continued NPL pertfolio resolution, efforts
to price competitively in the market and a low interest rate environment.

Net fee income was down by 2.2%, to RON 708.9 million (EUR 157.9 miillion), from RON 725.2
million (EUR 163.2 million) in 2015, on the back of lower brokerage fees from subsidiaries, partially
compensated by higher fees from banking transactions as a consequence of bank strategy to enhance
electronic channels usage. ’

Net trading result increased by 1.9%, to RON 314.3 million (EUR 70.0 million), from RON 308.4
million (EUR 69.4 million) in 2015, on the back of stable development of customer business.

The operating income decreased by 6.7% to RON 2,868.2 million (EUR 838.8 million) from RCN
3,074.9 million (EUR 691.9 million) in 2015, mainly driven by reduced net interest income and slightly
lower net fee and commission income, partly compensated by higher trading result.

General administrative expenses in 2016 reached RON 1,570.5 million (EUR 349.8 million}, up by
3.8% in comparison to RON 1,513.4 million (EUR 340.5 million) in 2015, impacted by higher IT
infrastructure investments.

As such, cost-income ratio advanced to 54.8% in 2016, versus 49.2% in 2015.

There are no research and developments activities in Banca Comerciala Romana Group.
Risk costs and Asset Quality

In terms of net charge of impairments on financial assets not measured at fair value through
profit and loss BCR recorded a provision release of RON 280.0 million (EUR 62.4 million) in 2016,
compared to a release of RON 73.0 million (EUR 16.4 million) in 2015, driven by the extensive
portfolio sales performed throughout the year, coupled with improved recovery capabilities for the
Retail workout portfolio, healings registered on the Corporate portfolio and unexpected, one-off
recoveries from several Corporate insurance claims.

The NPL ratio decreased to 11.7% as of 31-December-2016, as compared to 20.2% as of 31-
Deceimber-2015, driven by sales of selected NPL portfolios, good trend of recoveries, overall
improvement in the performing portfolio and write-offs. NPL provision coverage ratio stood at 85.3%,
while, collateral included, it comfortably stood at 121%.

Capital position and funding

Solvency ratio under local standards (BCR standalone) as of December 2016, stood at 21.8%, well
above the regulatory requirements of the National Bank of Romania. Also, IFRS Tier 142 capital ratio
of 19.9% (BCR Group), as of December 20186, is clearly showing BCR’s strong capital adequacy and
continuing support of Erste Group. In this respect, BCR enjoys one of the strongest capital and funding
positions amongst Romanian banks.

BCR will continue to maintain high solvency ratio, proving its ability and commitment to support
sustainable quality of lending growth in both Retail and Corporate franchises, further reinforcing core
revenue generating capacity.

Deposits from customers grew by 13.2% to RON 48,235.2 million (EUR 10,626.8 miilion) at 31-
December-2016, versus RON 42,626.0 million {(EUR 9,422.2 million) at 31-December-2015, driven by
retail and corporate deposits. Customer deposits remain BCR’s main funding source, while the bank
benefits from diversified funding sources, including parent company.

BCR plans to keep focus on RON lending, so as to reverse the currency mix of the loan book in favour
of local currency on medium to long term and fully use the strong self-funding capacity in RON.

BCR offers a complete range of financial products and services through a network of 512 retail units
located in most towns with more than 10.000 inhabitants, across the whole Romania, as well as 21
business centres and 23 mobile offices dedicated to companies. BCR commands the largest Self-
serving Banking Equipment network in the country — about 2.600 Equipment (ATMs, Multifunctional
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Machines, Automated Payment Terminals, FX Exchange Machines} as well as 12.000 POS terminals
for payments-by card at merchants. As of December 2016, BCR Group was empleoying 7,078 people.

5. Outlook for BCR Bank activity

In 2017, the positive development of the Romanian economy should be reflected in a growth rate (real
GDP) of 4.3% according to BCR forecast, mainly driven by domestic demand in general and private
consumption in particular.

BALANCE SHEET DEVELOPMENTS

In the current context, BCR Group expects a mid-single digit net loan growth supported by growth in
retail, while corporate segment is likely to remain rather stable mainly supported by SME and despite
further NPL reduction.

The growth in net retail loans in 2017 is expected to be fueled by double digit growth in cash loans
coupled with single digit increase in mortgages, mainly Prima Casa loans, although in terms of
absolute volume growth the mortgage lending will likely remain the main contributor in 2017.

On the liabilities side, BCR will continue to capitalize on its very strong customer deposit base. BCR
will continue to drive a structural shift in the BS by further increasing the share of demand deposits /
current accounts and by converting the more expensive funding, especially in EUR, into fee-earning
asset management and insurance products. At the same time, BCR will gradually decrease intra-
group long term funding in line with the Bank’s strategy to focus on iocal currency lending by relying on
its strong self-funding capacity in RON.

INCOME STATEMENT DEVELOPMENTS

Net interest income is expected to stabilize on the back of afore-mentioned structural changes, even
though the continuous improvement in asset quality will still have an adverse impact on NI, coming
from lower income on unimpaired portion of non performing loans {unwinding effect).

The second key income component, net fee and commission income, is expected to grow by mid-
single digit in 2017 mainly on the back of increasing customer base which is expected to drive higher
revenues from transaction business and maintenance and at the same time higher volume of
brokerage fees for subsidiaries products.

All in all, the operating income should hence remain stable in 2017 or decline marginally in the case
of lower-than-expected loan growth.

Operating expenses are expected to slightly rise by low single digit in 2017 The mild cost inflation
will be mainly driven by IT investments necessary to secure BCR Group’s future competitiveness and
measures induced by regulatory requirements. Further investments in product simplification, process
standardization, daia management or the group-wide implementation of the digital platform George
underline the digital strategy. Additional cost drivers are regulatory expenses related for example to
the implementation of IFRS 9 from the beginning of 2018. o

Risk costs should again support net profit in 2017. While the low interest rate environment has a
negative impact on net interest income, it does have a positive effect on risk costs which, unlike net
interest income, benefit additionally from further reduction of NPLs, leading to single digit NPL ratio
expected in 2017. BCR, however, does expect certain amount of risk allocations starting 2017 after
the significant releases in 2016 and 2015, with the risk cost ratio tending towards a normalized
evolution.

6. 2016 Business performance overview and 2017 outlook for the subsidiaries

BCR owns at 31-December-2016 equity investments in 17 companies, 8 being subsidiaries, respective
BCR has the power to govern their financial and operating policies in order to obtain benefits from their
activities. BCR Group consists, directly or indirectly, of the following companies: Banca Comerciala
Romana SA, BCR Chisinau SA, BCR Banca pentru Locuinte SA, BCR Leasing IFN SA, BCR Pensii-
Societate de Administrare a Fondurilor de Pensii Private SA, BCR Fleet Management SRL, Suport
Colect SRL, CIT ONE SRL, BCR Payments Services SRL.

At the end of 31-December-2016, Banca Comerciala Romana, absorbed 2 companies, which were
previously subsidiaries of the BCR Group: BCR Real Estate Management SRL and Bucharest



Financial Plazza SRL. Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL was wholly owned by BCR Real Estate
Management SRL and BCR Fleet Management SRL is wholly owned by BCR Leasing IFN SA.

The developments Highlighted below are the most significant ones performed at the level of the
companies members of BCR Group in 20186.

BCR Chisinau SA

In spite of the challenging macro and business environment in 2016, BCR Chisinau achieved to
increase operating profit to MDL 49.4 million (+24% compared to 2015). This performance was mainly
possible thanks to: (i) BCR Chisinau realizations (increase of incomes from lending and transactional
banking activities and adequate management of deposits volumes pricing),” as well as to (ii) external
factors (mainly higher average IR in Government Securities compared to 2015).

After the bank management decision of increasing provisions, calculated in’ accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and strict prudential requirements applied in BCR/
Erste Group, BCR Chisinau registered a Net Profit of MDL 32.0 million. In this context, the coverage
on nonperforming loans by provisions has increased from 54.3% in 2015 to 61.9% in 2016.

The share of Non-performing loans slightly decreased in 2016 to 32% from 33.1% in 2015 (the NPLs
are concentrated in a limited number of loans granted before 2010 and mostly provisioned). Liquidity
ratio increased to 66.6% in 2016 compared with 63.0% in previous year, solvency ratio (local
standards) decreased to 121.3% in 2016 compared to 164.4% in 2015. BCR Chisinau improved the
Loans/Deposits ratio (excluding banks) to 63.3%, compared to 90.0% in 2015.

For 2017 the Bank aims to: (i) to keeping on expanding its business in Moldova through the
enlargement of its branches network, the enlargement of its loan portfolio and the increase on incomes
from transactional banking and (ii) remarkable increase of the level of automation of the Bank,
including BCR Chisinau Internet Banking solution upgrade and (iii) further alignment to the local
legislation and Group policies (IFRS 9 and Basel Ill, among others).

BCR Banca pentru Locuinte SA

The activity of Banca pentru Locuinte SA consists in the sale and management of savings and loan
products for housing (type Bauspar).

The total portfolio of BCR Banca pentru Locuinte SA was 360.680 net contracts for which customers
have realized savings of more than RON 2.88 billion. Estimatad markst share on deposits volumes
(Bauspar banks) was approx. 83% at the end of 2016.

Lending activity recorded. a decrease rate, as of the end of 2016 (RON 41.12 million) — 0.85 times
iower than at the end of 2015 (RON 63.08 million), but the estimated market share for outstanding
loans as of 31-December-2016, granted by BCR Banca pentru Locuinte SA, was 62%.The main
reason for decreasing the loan sales is the stopping of the new saving-lending contracts since
February 1st, 2018, the loans sales. being limited to the existing clients’ portfolio (in 2015, 66% of new
loans came from Anticipated loans and 21% from Intermediary loans, generated by the new sales of
the saving-lending contracts).

The strategic priority of the company in 2017 is lending revival, repositioning BplL as "Expert in
Renovation " through "one stop shop" through which customers will find sciution to their housing
problems and thus achieve an increase in lending business by 75% versus 2016

BCR Leasing IFN SA

In 2016 BCR Leasing continued its focus on boosting sales and consolidating its position on the
market Total assets reached RON 1.5 billion increasing by 27% compared to the previous year
sustained by enhanced new sales growth, while the share of non-performing exposures continued to
improve from 10.6% in 2015 to 9.5% in 2016.



BCR Leasing profitability doubled in 2016 reaching RON 27.3 million {compared to 2015 of RON 13.6
million) the main driver being the net interest income with RON 12.9 million. Another key factor that
contributed significantly to increasing profitability is the cost of risk which recorded a level of RON 6.9
million, meaning 0 52% of the financed portfolio. This reflects successful efforts to improve the guality
of the lease portfolio, and higher quality of the new sales.

Operating result increased by 37% (RON 50.1 million in 2016 vs. RON 36.6 million in 2015) mainly
due to increase in net interest income by 32% (RON 53.5 million in 2016 vs. RON 40.5 million in
2015). Cost to income ratio significantly improved in 2016 from 51% in 2015 to 33% in 2016 reflecting
enhanced company efficiency.

In 2016 new sales continued to be boosted by both bank channel and partnerships with dealers /
importers, with a 60% / 40% split.

In 2017 BCR Leasing expects sales growth of 15% compared to 2016 and aims to cover all segments
of potential customers by continuing to develop both the bank and dealers channel.

BCR Fleet Management S.R.L. is a wholly owned subsidiary of BCR Leasing IFN S.A. with its main
business is operational leasing and fleet management. In 2016 BCR Fleet Management's total assets
reached RON 205 million, increasing by 46% compared to previous year sustained by the new
business growth. As of year-end 2016, BCR Fleet Management portfolio counted 2,101 assets under
operational leasing and 721 assets under fleet management agreements.

BCR Pensii, Societate de Administrare a Fondurilor de Pensii Private SA

BCR Pensii SAFPP is a company that performs its activity on the private pensions market in Roménia,
including mandatory (Pillar I1) and voluntary-private pensions (Pillar ).

As at the end of 2016 the company ranked 6th in the top of mandatory private pension funds
management companies acting on the Romanian market, in terms of total number of subscribers, with
a market share of 8.35% and si 567,879 subscribers.

In terms of total number of subscribers for voluntary pensions funds, BCR Pensii ranked 2nd, with a
market share of 30.18% corresponding to a number of 123,830 participants.

In 2016, BCR Pensii had the first position for voluntary pensions new sales, with 39.33% market share
of new sales.

The strategy of the subsidiary is to continue on the same trend as in 2016, of increasing the Pillar 3
sales quality in order to improve the collection rate. Furthermore, in 2017 the company continues the
Pillar 2 active strategy.

The projects and initiatives of the subsidiary are long-term oriented and they are aimed to increase the
financial literacy of young people, employees and participants in order to develop a befter
understanding of the need for long-term savings. For the short and medium term the subsidiary is
focused on a client-centricity approach, using all available communication channels in order to capture
and integrate their feedback in subsidiary’s activities.

BCR Real Estate Management SRL

At the end of year 2016, BCR' Real Estate Management SRL, was absorbed toghether with Bucharest
Financial Plazza SRL, by the parent company Banca Comerciala Romana.

The Company’s core business was the management of the real estate based on tariffs or leased
agreements. Integration of REM personnel into the Bank was done starting with 1st of July 2014; the
core activities of the company was performed by BCR based on the mandate contract.

The company owned a portfolio of 185 properties at the end of 2018 located in 42 counties out of 15
units are in Bucharest.

In 2016 the company sold 12 properties and continued his principal activity by renting and
administrating the buildings that are in ownership.



Profit of the company at 31-December-2016 was in amount of: 23,417 RON thousands, decreasing in
comparison with profit as of 31-December-2015, in amount of 37,269 RON thousands.

Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL

At the end of year 2016, Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL, was absorbed toghether with BCR Real
Estate Management SRL, by the parent company Banca Comerciala Romana.

Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL was wholly owned by BCR Real Estate Management SRL. In 20186,
the company continued performing its core business activity represented by the management of the
real estate assets owned. The core activities of the company was performed by BCR based on the
mandate contract.

The company owned a portfolio of 25 properties at the end of 2016 of which the largest number of
properties siting in Bucharest is 12 units and Constanta — 3 units, the remaining 10 properties being
located in the different cities in Romania. The portfolio consisted of commercial spaces at groundfloor,
upperfloor spaces and independent buildings dedicated for banking usage.

Profit of the company at 31-December-2016 was in amount of: 14,612 RON thousands, decreasing in
comparison with profit as of 31-December-2015, in amount of 24,309 RON thousands.

CIT ONE SRL

Set-up in August 2009, as a spin off from BCR, CIT One had gradually matured and is now the 2nd
largest cash transport and processing company in Romania by turnover, business portfolio, staff, fleet
and processing capacity.

During 2016, main company’s projects were: implementation of route optimization application, opening
of a new processing center to Arad, starting a renewal process of amored car fleet (company
following to acquire 110 Ford armored cars — 45 being delivered in 2016), processing equipment and
security system. ,

‘The financial resutt for the year ending 31-December-2016 is a net profit in amount of RON 0.2 million,
in line with 2015 result. '

For 2017, CIT ONE mainly planned to increase nongroup clients portfolio, to implement cashier arming
project, to continue the renewal of armored cars and processing equipment fleet, investment in
processing center refurbishment and extension, relocation of Craiova PC to Bals, implementation of
incentive scheme based on individual performance criteria and taking over new clients.

BCR Fleet Management SRL

BCR Fleet Management started its operations in 2012, providing operational leasing and fleet
management services for corporate clients with large fleets. BCR Fleet Management developed
partnerships with the most important passenger cars and commercial vehicles dealers and importers
in Romania, being able to provide its services for almost any passenger car or commercial vehicles.

In only 4 years time, BCR Fleet Management has become an important player in the operational
leasing market with a total fleet over 3,000 vehicles and total asset size of 205 million RON at the end
of 2016. During 2016, new business volume increased consistently compared with previous year, up
to +23 million eur total financed value. BCR Fleet Management's clients are mostly multinational
corporations or large romanian companies, as well as public sector organizations.

For 2017 BCR Fleet Management estimates a 20% increase in new sales compared to the pervious
year. The commerciai strategy will be focused on developing further the corporate clients segment, as
well as diversifing the pertfolio in the retail. Apart for that, ber fleet management will aim to improve
operational efficiency by adjusting its processes and workflows to its actual size, developing its it
infrastructure and optimizing the company’s headcount.



Suport Colect SRL

Suport Colect is owned by BCR (99,999959%) and BCR Leasing IFN S.A. (0,000041%). In 2016, the
Company continued performing its core business activity represented by the collection of the loans
receivables portfolio owned, including cash collections from receivables, sale of receivables or through
properties obtained as debt to asset swaps, either amiable or in enforcement or in the application of
the law 77/2016 (DIP,,Legea darii in plata”).

In 2016 the Company continued the efforts to.improve the assets quality and profitability of the
company. Thus, the Company recorded profits in 2016, due to positive impact of recoveries realised
on the loans receivables portfolio. ‘

Profit of the company at 31-December-2016 was in amount of: 31,603 RON thousands increasing in
comparison with profit as of 31-December-2015, in amount of 18,758 RON thousands.

In 2017 the action plans are focused on the following main aspects: sale of the properties owned,
continue the efforts to realize recoveries on the loans receivables portfolic and close the related
processess (having the enforcement process closed, collateral sold, close litigations).

BCR Payments Services SRL

BCR Payments Services is a subsidiary of the BCR Group, founded in 2011, following the outsourcing
of payment processing, which were made until then integrated into the same unit BCR Sibiu
Processing Center of the Banking Operations Department. The company is responsible for centralized
processing of payment transactions in local and foreign currency, debt instruments in local currency .
and foreign currency, accounts opening and maintenance.

BCR Payments Services serves all local units of BCR, Banking Operations Division, and other
directions BCR, on the base of the cutsourcing confract signed between the two parties.

During -20'16, #.6 million transactions were processed, down 10% compared to 2015. Staff turnover
remains high in 2016, continuing the trend of the past 2 years.

In this context, the company took measures to keep experienced employees through partial wage
growth, which led to increase of personnel expenses by 3% compared to last year. In parallel, other
administrative expenses decreased by 27%. '

Profit of the company at 31-December-2016 was in amount of: 619 RON thousands, decreasing in
comparison with profit as of 31-December-2015, in amount of 758 RON thousands.

For 2017 BCR Payments Services SRL will complete the service catalog with a new service, which
requires multiple file processing payments. Also, this year, the catalog will be reviewed in terms of
prices of all services rendered. '

Projects in 2017 are focused on continuous business improvement by preparing and ftraining
employees to maintain performance indicators in agreed parameters. Also, there is in progress the
implementation of the improved revised plan of business continuity in case of disaster.

7. The Risk Exposure Profile of BCR Group

1. Overview

BCR Group uses a risk management and control system that is forward-looking and tailored to its
business and risk profile. This system is based on a clear risk strategy that is consistent with the
business strategy and focused on early identification and management of risks and trends.

Given BCR Group business strategy, the key risks for BCR Group is credit risk, market risk, interest
rate risk in the banking book, liquidity and funding risk and operational risk. In respect of risks, an
annual comprehensive risk materiality assessment is undertaken on an annual basis, while a quarterly
review of risks materiality is performed quarterly. It is ensured that all material risks are covered by
BCR Group's control and risk management framework. This entails a set of different tools and
governance to ensure adequate oversight of the overall risk profile and sound execution of the risk
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strategy, including appropriate monitoring and escalation of issues that could materially impact the risk
profile of BCR Group.

As part of its risk strategy, BCR Group analyses its actual risk profile and determines a target risk
profile based on its strategic goals. The target risk profile is a result of the risk assessment process in
combination with the boundaries set by the business strategy and the risk appetite framework.

In terms of govemance, full oversight of the risk profile and a sound execution of the risk strategy is
ensured including appropriate monitoring and escalation of issues that could materially impact the risk
profile of the Group.

2. ERM Proportionality Principles

The proportionality principle is a crucial and integral part of BCR Group’s overall risk framework and
strategy. The proportionality principle is applied for the core components of BCR Group ERM/ICAAP
framework (Risk Materiality Assessment / Risk taxonomy, Risk-bearing Capacity Calculation, Risk
Appetite & Risk Profile, Stress testing).

The proportionality concept, the classification categories and criteria as well as process requirements
for implementation, application and roll-out in the context of key BCR Group ICAAP areas are
described. in BCR Group ERM Principles, as a core element governing the application of the Group
ICAAP/ERM framework.

BCR Group level risk management principles, concepts and processes are generally designed,
developed and implemented to address over-arching organizational needs across both group and
local entities/subsidiaries reflecting a high degree of granularity and detail.

However, subsequent implementation and application at BCR Group subsidiaries requires an,
approach that takes differences in business structures, size, complexity and relevance into account.
This will ensure a meaningful, suitable and adequate application across BCR Group in line with local
needs and capabilities while still fulfilling overall BCR Group-level requirements and standards.

The evaluation of proportionality criteria is reviewed on an annual basis and included in the Risk
Strategy. In addition, a re-assessment might be carried out outside the annual review cycle if changed
business parameters indicate a need for a respective re-classification.

3. Risk Profile

Starting from the volume and nature of BCR activity as part of BCR Group, the risk profile of BCR
Group is driven by the Bank risk profile. Thus, the Risk Profile for BCR Group follows in general the
same directions as the Bank, both with regard to overall risk profile and individual risks profiles.

4. Individual risk profiles for the key risk types
4.1.Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined as the current or prospective risk fo eérnings and capital arising from a
borrower’s failure to meet the terms of any contract with the credit insfitution or its failure to perform as
agreed.

In respect of the credit risk profile, in order to lower the risk profile for this risk in 2016, BCR has
targeted the following strategic directions:

* An integrated risk management framework where risk appetite is cascaded down to the highest
granular level in terms of concentration policy, lending acceptance criteria and business strategy;

= BCR Group continued to refine, update, monitor and redevelop its statistically validated scorings,
rating models, risk parameters and tools;

* BCR Group continued to manage the industry concentrations and to align the portfolio composition
with the business strategy.

= Perform periodical stress tests/sensitivity analysis related to the impact of credit risk on the Bank
and Group

More details regarding credit risk, may be found in Notes 39.5 of the Financial Statements.



4.2, Concentrafion risk analysis

With regard to concentration risk, BCR Group implemented a process to identify measure, control and
manage risks concentration. This process is essential to ensure the long-term viability of the Group,
especially in times of an adverse business environment and stressed economic conditions.

The BCR concentration risk framework outlines the standards needed to identify, measure, monitor,
. and mitigate concentration risks, whose implementation is essential to ensure the long-term viability of
any financial institution, especially in the case of stressed economic conditions. In respect of
management of concentration risk, the Bank has implemented a wide framework of limits such as
industry limits, geographic regions, corporate unsecured loan, corporate and Pl limits, FX retail limits,
as well as concentration risk limits on individual counterparties depending on the ratings (maximum /
operational lending limits), market and liquidity risk limits and operational key risk indicators.

4.3.Residual risk analysis

This type of credit risk does not arise due to deterioration of the counterparty’s creditworthiness, but
from an insufficient ability to realize the collateral taken. This may result from the possibility that the
legal mechanism by which the collateral was pledged or transferred does not guarantee that the bank
has.the right to liquidate or seize the collateral or that the collateral will not turn out to be as valuable
as expected.

Collateral and credit enhancement are evaluated pursuant to internally defined rules. Depending on -
rating grade, purpose and tenof, risk bearing products are protected against losses by stipulating

adequate coflateral that is fully and indisputably legaliy enforceabie and sufficiently documented for the

Bank. Nevertheless, collateral and credit enhancement can never substitute repayment capability.

4.4.FX induced credit risk analysis

FX induced credit risk is a risk associated with foreign currency lending to un-hedged borrowers, which
arises due to exchange rate fluctuations of the respective foreign currency. FX induced credit risk
arises from debtors not benefitting from natural (borrowers receive FX income, including cash-in from
transfers or exports) or financial hedging (based on a contract concluded between the borrower and
the credit institution which covers FX rigk).

4.5. Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that may arise due to adverse changes in market prices and to the parameters
derived from them. In BCR Group, market rigk is divided into interest rate risk, credit spread risk,
exchange rate risk, price risk, volatility risk and market liquidity risk. These concem boih trading and
banking book positions. '

Key principles of BCR Group's market risk management are based on the following pillars:

* Identification of market risks - identification of market risks inherent in the investment
operations and in new products, and ensuring adequate procedures and controls before these
are implemented or undertaken:

*  Position keeping and Market Data Maintenance ~ ensuring proper data representation of BB
and TB positions and also sourcing of appropriate market data for financial instruments and
risk factors including data quality checks and cleansing;

* Pricing and valuation — maintenance of appropriate instrument pricing framework and
valuation routines for the calculation of valuation adjustments;

* Risk measurement — calculation of risk exposure using sensitivities, value-at-risk, and stress
testing;

* Validation - On one hand this concerns Value at Risk (“VaR”) back-testing while on the other
hand parameters and models used must be validated on a regular basis;

= Market Conformity of Trading Activily - assuring that trading acfivities are performed at market
conforming prices and rates; )

= Market Risk Limits - development of a comprehensive limit system, limit allocation and
violation reporting;

10



* Market Risk Monitoring and Reporting — timely and accurate reporting of all relevant
information,

More details regarding market risk, may be found in Notes 39.6 of the Financial Statements.

4.6. Liquidity & Funding Risk

BCR Group distinguishes between market liquidity risk (which is the risk that the group entities cannot
offset or close a position at the market price because of inadequate market depth or market disruption)
and funding liquidity risk (which is the risk that the banks in the group will not be able to meet
efficiently both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs without
affecting either daily operations or the financial condition of the group members).

BCR Group has an appropriate reporting framework for liquidity and funding risk management which
includes the scope, possible manifestations and frequency of these risks, and which also designates
the entity responsible for preparing the specific reports.

BCR Bank has an adequate set of limits on the values of various liquidity risk indicators, which enable
it to closely monitor and control liquidity risk. These limits are also cascaded down to the major entities
of BCR Group (i.e. BCR BpL and BCR Chisinau), which have also implemented the limits and set their
own values, based on prior approval from BCR Bank.

In 2016, BCR Bank and BCR BpL have implemented and started delivering to the regulator the
Additional Liquidity Monitoring Metrics (ALMM) reports, thus benefiting from a more comprehensive
analysis of their financing sources. '

With respect to cash flow risks, BCR is actively managing the intraday liquidity positions, such that it
can be able to fulfill at any time the requirements related to payments and settlements, in both normal
and crisis conditions.

Thus, BCR has the capacity to:

1. Measure daily the gross inflows and outflows, to predict as accurately as possibie the time of
the day when these flows will occur, and to predict any financing deficits that may occur du ring
aday; - ]

Monitor the intraday liquidity positions as compared to the expected activities and available
resources (balances, capacity to cover outstanding loans, available collaterals)

Obtain the necessary financing for meeting the intraday liquidity objectives

Manage the eligible collaterals for obtaining the intraday financing

Manage the liquidity outflows according to BCR intraday objectives

Be prepared to face unexpected changes in intraday liquidity flows.

pa

DO w

The mechanisms used by BCR in order to caiculate the liquidity position are based on the following:

1. prediction of cash-flows impacting the current account during the day — as accurately as
possible — including prediction of the timing of these flows throughout the day

2. estimation of the possible cash-flow shortages throughout the day

3. ability to monitor the intraday liquidity position and the expected liquidity requirements
throughout the day. ‘

Potential measures used by BCR for managing liquidity in order to ensure the intraday availability of
funds are:

1. the possibility to access intraday liquidity from NBR in case of neceéSity to cover unexpected
amounts during a day :

2. making payments based on the available resources (and the liquidity position expected during
the day).

More details regarding liquidity risk, may be found in Notes 39.7 of the Financial Statements.

4.7.Operational Risk
BCR Group’s operational risk is governed by an operational risk management policy, which defines:

" the operational risk management structure, hierarchy and governance model (“three lines of
defence model”);

= the risk appetite setting the limits of residual operational risk tolerance (OpRisk scaling matrix):
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= common standards for managing and documenting operational risk within BCR Group;

= the framework that ensure OpRisk (OpRisk concentrations) are adequately identified, assessed,
documented and managed.

The quantitative measurement methods are based on internal loss experience data, which are
collected across Erste Group using a standard methodology and entered into-a central data pool. In
addition to the quantitative methods, qualitative methods are also used to determine operational risk,
such as risk assessment surveys. BCR Group also reviews certain key indicators periodically to
ensure early detection of changes in risk potential that may lead to losses.

To lower the operational risk profile, Bank has undertaken the following measures:

* Permanent development and improvement of control environment;
* Improvement of operational loss data collection;

a Performing periodical stress tests/sensitivity analysis related to the impact of operational risk on
the Bank and Group.

The Bank and its subsidiaries have implemented a wide range of specific ratios for managing
operational risk. The monitoring and reqgular reporting of operational risk indicators (KRI) is enabling
the Bank to detect any change in its exposure to operational risk in due time. Also, the Bank is
monitoring the evolution of recorded events, as well as through implementing/ soiving corrective
measures.

More details regarding operational risk, may be found in Notes 39.8 of the Financial Statements.

4.8. Reputational Risk

Reputational risk issues arise from transactions with clients or through different business activities.
However, due to its nature these usually materiaiize through other risk types. The primary
responsibility for the identification, escalation and resolution of reputational risk issues resides with
business and the relevant risk type owner supports their resolution.

Reputational risk registered improvements in 2016 based on a series of projects such as launching of
the financial education program, launching of public diplomacy initiative, consolidation of corporate
culture, risk return decision tool, new product approval process.

5. ERM/ICAAP framework

BCR Group ERM has confinued to strengthen its comprehensive framework. This includes as its
fundamental pillar the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process) required under Piilar ii
of the Basel framework.

The Enterprise-wide Risk Management/ICAAP framework is a holistic steering and management
model designed to support BCR Group in managing its risk portfolios and its risk bearing capacity by
ensuring that the bank has, at all times, an adequate coverage potential which ensures the necessary
capital adequacy to sustain its business and risk strategy. '

As such, the ERM forms a sound steering and management system and is integral to the bank/group’s
overall- steering and’ management function. This Enterprise-wide Risk Management is formalized
through an umbrella policy serving to lay out its general principles, functions and requirements in order
to ultimately fulfill ICAAP requirements.

A key component of ICAAP is the assessment of the group’s capital adequacy using economic capitai
measures. In the ICAAP, the Group identifies and measures its risks and ensures that it has sufficient
capital in relation to its risk profile. The process also ensures that adequate risk management systems
are used and further developed. The relevant components of ERM framework refer to:

5.1.Risk profile

The risk profile is represented by the aggregated actual and potential risk exposures of the Bank. The
ERM is tailored to BCR Group's business and Risk Profile and reflects the strategic goal of protecting
shareholders while ensuring the sustainability of the organization.

The Group Risk Profile is developed within the Risk Appstite and by evaluating the material risks to
which the bank is exposed. BCR Group Rigk Report monitors the development of the BCR Group Risk
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Profile compared with the Risk Appetite and Risk Strategy and it is presented to the Management
Board and Supervisory Board on a quarterly basis.

5.2. Risk appetite (RAS)

BCR Group defines its Risk Appetite through the annual strategic planning process to ensure
appropriate alignment of risk, capital and performance targets. RAS represents a strategic statement
expressing the maximum level of risks BCR Group is prepared to accept in order to achieve its
business objectives. It consists of a set of core metrics providing quantitative direction for risk steering,
as well as qualitative statements in the form of key risk principles that form part of the strategic
guidelines for managing risks.

5.3.Risk bearing capacity (RCC)

The Risk Bearing Capacity calculation defines the capital adequacy required by ICAAP. Within the
RCC the Group’s risks measured from an internal economic perspective are summed up to provide
the basis to determine BCR Group’'s Economic Capital. The Economic Capital is then compared to
internal capital, as measured by the coverage potential.

The integral forecast, risk appetite limits and the traffic light system support management in its
discussions and decision process. The traffic light system embedded in BCR Group’s RCC helps to
alert the management in case there is need to decide on, plan and execute actions either to replenish
the capital base or to take measures for reducing risk.

5.4. Stress testing

Stress testing is a vital component of the Risk Management framework within BCR Group and is
incorporated into the strategic planning process for business activities, capital and liquidity
assessment. The assessment of the ability of the Bank to sustain losses in severe but plausible
macroeconomic scenarios provides information on the adequacy of the overzll business model, and
supports the planning of emergency and mitigation measures.

Stress testing results and recommendations are incorporated into the process for defining the RAS,
subsequent financial projections and budgeting processes, the assessment of risk concentrations, as
well as in the calculation of the risk-bearing capacity and the determination of the economic capital
adequacy limit.

5.5. Risk Planning and Forecasting

BCR Group has implemented a sound risk pianning and forecasting process, which includes both a
forward and backward looking component, focusing on both portfolioc and economic environment
changes.

Planning of risk relevant key numbers is also part of BCR Group Enterprise Risk Management
framework and it assures the adequate reflection of risks within the steering and management process
of the Group activity.

6. Monitoring of the BCR Group Risk Profile

Oversight of the overall risk profile at the Group level consists of both strategic and operational
oversight.

6.1. Strategic oversight

The Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) sets the boundary for a maximum risk the Group is willing to
accept in order to pursue its business objectives; this includes a set of core steering metrics with
triggers levels providing strategic guidelines for risk management and planning

The Risk strategy sets strategic risk targets based on the targeted risk profile of the Group and the
RAS and provides a balanced risk-return view considering strategic focus & business plans.
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Both are regularly monitored and reported in the BCR Group Risk Report including a traffic light
overview together with respective measures to address identified deviations from strategic plans or
objectives.

6.2. Operational oversight

Risk management by risk type ensures that the risk specific profile remains in line with the risk
strategy and operative limits support the achievement of strategic targets. The development of the
specific risk profile (i.e. retail credit, corporate credit, operational risk, etc.) is reported through
dedicated risk reports in a more granular way and supports risk decision making of the dedicated risk
functions to ensure the risk profile- remains within risk strategy (i.e. retail risk report). These reports
also include specific monitoring metrics that provide an early warning signal for adverse developments
of, e.g., portfolio quality (client, segment, countries and industries) or risk drivers. In instances where
certain risk portfolios or events are identified as potentially in distress, these are closely monitored by
the dedicated risk functions to manage the risk impact and to develop effective strategies to minimize
potential losses. This process facilitates early risk detection and reaction.

8.0rganization of the internal control system’s function

Both supervisory and management functions are responsible for the development and the
maintenance of a proper internal control system ensuring effective and efficient operations, adequate
risk control, prudent business conduct, reliable financial and non-financial information reported at
internal and external level, as well as compliance with the on-going laws, regulations and the internal
policies and procedures.

Every person in the organization has certain internal control responsibilities assigned. All employees
provide information used by the internal control system or otherwise take action effecting control.
Furthermore, ali members of personnel are also responsible for communicating operational problems
upwards, as well as infringements of the Ethics Code or on-going policies and illegal actions.

The internal control system in BCR involves:
a) the existence of a sound internal control framework in place, ensured by:

* clear definition of the role and responsibilities of the management body concerning the
internal control

= identification, assessment and monitoring of significant risks

» control activities definition, segregation of duties assurance and conflict of interest
avoidance

= atransparent framework for information and communication
= continuous monitdring of the activities and correcting the deficiencies.

b) the existence of independent control functions in place (the risk management function, compliance
function and internal audit function) with direct line of reporting to the management body.

The BCR Internal Control System is structured on three levels:

1. Firstlevel or line controls is designed to ensure that transactions are carried out correctly.
Controls are performed by the entities that take the risks and incorporated in specific
procedures. The responsibiiity of this area is allocated to the Business Management.

2. Second-level of control is the duty of Risk Management Function and Compliance Function.

3. Third-level controls are performed by Internal Audit Function, which assesses and regularly
checks the completeness, functionality and adequacy of the internal control system. Internal
audit is independent of both first and second-level lines.

Controls in place for financial reporting process:

1. Each employee has a dedicated back-up which undertakes all the responsibilities of the
employee on leave.

2. Non disclosure agreement signed by all employees;

3. Ethical Code in place;

4. Zero tolerance to confidential information disclosure

5. Clear defined approval flow in accordance with the banking law. ,

6. Dual control in place, validation rules in BCR systems. Implementation of “4-eyes principles” for
each financial report.
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7. Existing standardized labeled folders with restricted access.

9. Important events since the end of 2016

in early January, the central bank has left the monetary policy rate unchanged at 1.75%. Mandatory
reserve ratios for both RON and FC liabilities have also been kept flat at 8% and 10%, respectively.
The central bank expects inflation to spring back into positive territory in the first quarter of this year,
but the magnitude of the rebound will be softer than in the central bank’s forecast which currently
stands at +0.8%. '

In early January, PSD, along with the Alliance of Liberals and Democrats (ALDE) formed a new
cabinet headed by Social-Democrat Sorin Grindeanu. The government was quick to win the
confidence vote and enjoys a comfortable majority in the Parliament {more than 60%), being backed
by ethnic Hungarians and cther ethnic minorities.

There were no important events in Banca Comerciala Romana Group, after the balance sheet date

10. BCR Group’s policy regarding environmental issues

Environmental protection and the responsible use of resources are endeavors integrated in the
business strategies of environmentally conscious companies world-wide, and in Romania.

BCR Group:

e Admits and accepts the fundamental importance of an integrated approach of the
environmental and social factors, as-well as of lasting development principles within its
financing activity.

e Pays adequate attention to its financing processes, securing béfore making the financing
decision, the compliance of the respective projects with the minimal environmental protection,
social protection and occupational safety standards applicable in Romania. -

BCR Group does not finance activities which do not meet environmental requirements specified in the
Romanian legislation, relevant international conventions and agreements to which Romania adhered
expressly.

Analysis of environmental issues is part of the lending process and is mandatory for every transaction.

In BCR Group, environmental activity is coordinated by Credit Analysis & Sabine Department.

CHAIRMAN of the SUPERVISORY BOARD
MANFRED WIMMER

&

/\
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Appendix 1
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016

in RON million Dec-15 Dec-16 % change
Net interest income 19926 1786.7 -B3%
Net fee and commission income 7 7252 7089 -22%
Dividend income ' 57 20 49.8%
Net trading and fair value result B 3084 343 19%
Net resulf from equity method inyes:r:ents - 27 = ’-18 | ~:-34.7%
Rental income from investment;;p:;t.i;;& othero;;e;atiﬁg lease o ‘ 4(;_3‘_ = = -;sgm i i m;;(]:;
.'I;ersonnelexpenses i o T "(7%“7) i (723;)__ ------ IBT%T
Otteradmiistatvespenses  @sy @19 74%
Depreciatonandamortaton (w8 (600 A%
T e
i L T S,
Other operating result (627 4) (589 -17.3%
Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 40120 4705 7%
ﬂf;xé;;"n income o I m'(“;a)”)wm = ng&) 19"‘}-;
P ost-tax profit from continuing operatlons 922.0 1,040.1 12.8%
P rofit from discontinued operations net of tax = o
NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR ‘ 922.0 1,040.1 12.8%
Attributable to non-controlling interests 34 (18) ~158.0%
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT $19.0 1,041.8 13.4%
Operating Income 3,074.9 2,868.2 6.7%
Operating Expenses (1,513.4) (1,570.5) 38%
Operating Result 1,561.5 1,297.7 -16.9%
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Appendix 2

‘Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2016

in RON million Dec-15 Dec-16 % change
ASSETS
Cash and cash balances 94418 e .11,911.9 26.2%
Financial assets - held fortrading L ) n 348.1 6332 155.2%
- Darivatives . I 788 73.5“" -6.8%
Other trading assets 693 559.7 2306%
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit orloss 222 B3 =311%
_Financial assets - available for sale S — . =F 7€033 iy, L .5,,'?,74:.?*._ -212.6“%“
Financial assets - held to maturity R ‘D_,_ﬁi.‘l_ e “13.9042 j__ | m
WLoans and receivables to cradit insEi_t_mig_pg S ooy s B __304.4 e 55.25,.," Te— 130'5:‘;
_Loans andreceivables to custemers U T 32,153;8‘ | 322911 Je ...-0'5?6
reI A e S5 B gn 9 5% e
‘Inveslment properties . P : L - “(35 2. STER 04 - -13.2%
mangie assots _  mo LS
Investments in joint ventures and associates . i '62 e == ﬁ;G 1 m
Sursnttaxasasts T . - e S5 o
mDifE'de 1axas§£53 I o "RE NN m4*2-6._4_“ L 3'22.5 -24 4%
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale S =) -982%
Other asseis B N iy ol v423.8 it 365.7 i m:::;;
TOTAL ASSETS 62,360.0 67,514.6 8.3%
LIABILITIES "
Financial liabilities held for trading 351 g4 94%
nml_Derivatives . ‘1 - 3_3.4 9.4%
FinancL"a"I liabilities measurad at amortised costs o 55,3217mm s 1;%11 7%
Deposits from banks N2472 - 96547 -14.2';61
Deposits from customers N 42,626.0 & 482352 13.2%
Dabt securities issued 922 M;M?;Tz -30.2%
— Other financial liabilities 536.; B -769.6 32.2%
Provisions 27 m-t,mn 35.9%
Current taxliabilities 14 13 -6.5%
Deferred tax liabilities 683 4.0 -36.9%
Other Liabilities 3076 3264 &%
'i'oial equity 5.575.:;-_ i -_6,3044 15.8%
attributable to non-controlling interest e — a1s [ 2534 -B.8%
attributable to owners of the parent 58440 6,779.0 %6.0%
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EIQUITY 62,360.0 87,514.6 8.3%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the shareholders of Banca Comerciala Romana S.A.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
QOpinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Banca Comerciala
Romana SA (“the Bank"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31,
20186, the profit or loss account, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financiai statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated and separate financial position of the Bank as at December 31,
2016, and of its consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and
separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the National Bank of Romania
Order no. 27/2010, approving the accounting regulations compliant with the International
Financial Reporting Standards for credit institutions, with all subsequent modifications and
clarifications.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to the audit of the financial statements in Romania, and we have fulfilied our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Gode. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matter§.-

The English version of Lhe audit report represents a translation of the original audit report fssued in
Romanian fanguage.



EY

Building a better
working world

For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter s provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements” section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our.
audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Key audit matter
Impairment of loans and advances to customers

Management's identification of impairment indicators and determination of the impairment
allewance for loans and advances o customers is a complex process and involves judgement and
use of estimates. Such an assessment is inherently uncertain, involving various factors and use
of assumptions, including the financial condition of the counterparty, expected future cash flows
of the debtors and net cash inflows from the potential sale of collaterals.

Special considerations are given to aspects that are new or experienced notable developments in
2016, iitke i.aw no. 77/2016 re’garding Payment in Kind and sale of significant loans portfolios.

The use of different modelling techniques and assumptions could produce significantly different
estimates of impairment allowance. Notes 2.2, 2.3, 22, 38 and 39 to the financial statements
present more information on the estimation of impairment allowance for loans and advances to
customers.

Due to the significance of loans and advances to customers (representing 47.8% of total - _
consolidated assets and 48.6% of total separate assets) and the related estimation uncertainty,
we consider this a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included, among others, the assessment of the Bank's methodology
regarding the identification of impairment indicators, assessment of specific impairment
allowance respectively collective impairment allowance. We assessed the design and evaluated
the operating effectiveness of internal controls over the monitoring of loans and advances to

_customers and over impairment calculations including the quality of underlying data and relevant
systems.

For impairment allowance for loans calculated on an individual basis, our analysis was focused on
the corporate exposures with the most significant potential impact on the financial statements

The English version of the audit report represents a translation of the original audit report Issued in
Romanian lanquage.
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and considered the key assumptions underlying the impairment identification and quantification

such as estimated future cash flows of the debtors, realizable value of collaterals and astimates

of recoveries subsequent to the loss event.

Our interna! valuation experts were involved, as appropriate, to assist us in performing our audit
procedures. '

For impairment allowance for loans calculated on a collective basis we analyzed the Bank's
methodology, inputs and assumptions used, as well as the model validation where the case.

We further assessed the adequacy of the Bank’s disclosures in the financial statements regarding -
exposure 1o credit risk.

Key audit matter
Provisions for litigations and other risks

The process for recording provisions is an estimation process involving a high leve! of judgement,
therefore there is an inherent risk that the existing provisions at year-end may significantly differ
from the actual foss realized subsequent to the reporting date. The Bank sets up provisions for
litigations and other risks, notes 2.3, 30 and 44 to the financial statements presenting more
information on their estimation. The main aspects for which the management exercised judgment
are litigations for consumer protection issues, Court of Accounts inspection findings for BCR
Banca pentru Locuinte and related litigation and the outcome of the on-going tax authorities’
inspection. '

Provisions for litigation and other risks are significant to our audit because the assessment
process is complex and judgmental.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The audit procedures performed inctuded, among others, an assessment of the Bank's
governance, processes and internal controls with respect to recognition and measurerent of
provisions as well as of the management's assumptions considering the supporting explanations
and documentation provided by management and its internal legal advisors for the recording of
significant provisions.

We obtained written confirmations from the external legal counsels and compared their opinions
with the management’s assumptions and assessment regarding the impact and the disclosures in
the financial statements related to significant litigations.

Our evaluation was focused on the significant matters, especially the ones that were new or that

experienced notable developments in 2016, such as litigations related to consumer protection
issues, Court of Accounts inspection findings for the subsidiary BCR Banca pentru Locuinte and
related litigation and the outcome of the on-going tax authorities’ inspection. Our tax and legal

The English version of the audit report represents a transiation of the original audit report Issued in
Romanian language. '
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experts were involved in the analysis and corroboration of the assumptions used in determining
the provisions and contingent liabilities by considering the relevant legai requirements.

We also evaluated the adequacy of the Bank's disclosures in the financial statements regarding
provisions for risks and litigations.

Key audit matter
information Technology (IT) systems relevant for financial reporting

A significant part of the Bank's operations and financial reporting process is refiant on IT systems
involving automated processes and controls over the capture, storage and processing of
information. An important component of this internal control system involves the existence of
and adherence to appropriate user access and change management processes and controls.
These controls are particularly important because they ensure that the access and changes to IT
systems and data are made by authorized persons in an appropriate manner.

The IT environment of the Bank is complex with a significant number of interconnected systems
and databases. Due to the high automation of the processes relevant for financial reporting and
to the complexity of the IT environment of the Bank, a high proportion of the overall audit
procedures was concentrated in this area. We therefore consider that this area represents a key
audit matter. '

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We focused our audit procedures on those IT systems and controis that are significant for the
financial reporting. As the audit procedures over the IT systems reguire specific experiise, we
involved our IT specialists in performing the audit procedures.

Our audit procedures included, among others, understanding and assessing the overall IT control
environment and the controls in place, including the ones over access to systems and data, as
well as IT system changes. We tailored our audit approach based on the financial significance of
the system and the existence of automated procedures supported by the respective system.

As part of the audit procedures we tested the operating effectiveness of controls over granting
access rights to determine if only appropriate users had the ability to create, modify or delete
user accounts for the relevant applications. We aiso tested the operating effectiveness of
controls around the development and changes of applications to determine whether these are
appropriately authorized, tested and implemented. Additionally, we assessed and tested the
design and operating effectiveness of the application and IT-dependent controls in the processes
relevant to our audit.

The English version of the audit report represents a translation of the original audil report issued in
Romanian language,
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Key audit matter
Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets, represent a significant balance sheet position in the Bank financial
statements and relate to both tax losses carried forward and temporary differences, including
ternporary differences resulted from impairment of investments in subsidiaries.

Management judgement is required to assess whether it is probable that sufficient taxable profit
or taxable temporary differences will be available against which the deductibie temporary
differences can be utilized at the time of their reversal, respectively whether it is probable that
there will be sufficient future taxable profit against which the loss or credit carryforward can be
utilized before its expiry.

Given the relatively high degree of uncertainty involved in such an assessrent and the
magnitude of the deferred tax asset position as at 31 December 20186, in particular in the
context of the on-going tax inspection, we have identified deferred income taxes as a key audit
matter. The Bank's disclosures regarding deferred tax assets are included in Note 2.2, 2.3, 12
and Note 26 to the financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures focused on assessing the key management assumptions for the deferred
tax asset recoverability such as forecasts which underpin the asset recognition, including
summaries of tax losses expiry dates. We evaluated consistency with iong term business plans
‘used by management to manage and monitor the performance of the business.

Our internal tax specialists were involved, as appropriate, in our audit procedures in the current
taxation area and any relevant evaluations were considered for impact in our assessment of the
taxable profit projections.

Furthermore, we assessed the adequacy of the Banks's disclosures regarding deferred tax
assets.

Other information

Tha cther information comprises the Administrators’ Report and Consolidated Administrators’
Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
‘Management is.responsible for the other information.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thefeon.

The English version of the audit report represents a translation of the original audit report issued in
Romanian language.
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in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard. ’

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is respoensible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with the National Bank of Romania Order no. 27/2010, approving the accounting
regulations compliant with the International Financial Reporting Standards for credit institutions,
with all subsequent modifications and clarifications, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs wil! always detéct a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

»_ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

The English version of the audit report represents a translation of the original audil report issued in
Romanian fanguige. ’
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resulting from error, as.fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ahility to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. OQur conclusions are
hased on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group (the Bank and its subsidiaries) to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards. -

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period-and-are therefore the key audit-matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The English version of the audif report represents a translation of the original audit report issued in
Romanian language.



Report on Other l.egal and Regulatory Requirements

Reporting on Information Other than the Financial Statements and Our Auditors’ Report
Thereon

In addition to our reporting responsibilities according to ISAs described in section “Other
information”, with respect to the Administrators’ Report and Consolidated Administrators’
Report, we have read the Administrators’ Report and Consolidated Administrators’ Report and

report that:

a) inthe Administrators’ Report and Consolidated Administrators’ Report we have not
identified information which is not consistent, in all material respects, with the
information presented in the accompanying financial statements as at 31 December

2016;

b) the Administrators’ Report and Consolidated Administrators’ Report include, in all
material respects, the required information according to the provisions of the National
Bank of Romania Order no. 27/2010, approving the accounting regulations compliant
with the International Financial Reporting Standards for credit institutions, with alt
subsequent modifications and clarifications, Annex 1 points 11 - 14 and point 37;

The English version of the audit report represents a translation of the original audit report issued in
Romanian fanguage.
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¢) based on our knowledge and understanding concerning the entity and its environment
gained during our audit of the financial statements as at 31 December 2016, we have not
identified information included in the Administrators’ Report and Consolidated
Administrators’ Report that contain a material misstatement of fact.

On behalf of
Ernst & Young Assurance Services SRL
Registered with the Chamber of Financial Auditors of Romania

No. 77/15 August 2001

et irghsssce Smies SAL |

13 WAR 2007

Signed for igenii. 5.
| Somnat nantru idantificare

Gelu Gherghescu

Registered with the Chamber of Financla! Auditors of Romania

No. 1449/ 9 September 2002

Bucharest, Romania

23 March 2017

The English version of the audit report represents a translation of the original audit report issued in

Romeanian language.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

INCOME STATEMENT
Note Gronp Bank
3122005 3122018 H. 122015 31122016
in RON thousands
[Metinterestineome 0 8 . MesEes . 1708695 1825963 1726483
Net fee and commisslon ingome 4 725,181 708,532 695,461 672,086
Dividend Income 2 5 5,732 2878 31,295 5,004
Net trading and falr value rezult 6 308,413 3417 303,988 309,008
Net rasult from Investments In associates ; == = 2 2,749 1786 - oTEE-
Rental Income from investment proparties and other g lease 7 40268 63549 1,408 1014
Personnal expenses [} (716,721) {720,874) (648,327) . (657,09)
Other administrative expenses 8 {625,077): (671,584) (762,830) (604,823)
Depraciation and amortisaion  ~  © e —————— i B 171.637) (169,029) (119,667) (105,780}
Galns/{tosses) on financial assets and liabilities notmeasured at falr valua through profit or loss, net g 5,008 111,747 {10) 111,754
Netimpainment loss) / reversal on financlal sssets nat measived &1 fair value through prf orkes 10 72903 279,590 58,300 27268
Other operating resudt 1 {627,352) (518,918) (429,876} (468,927).
Pre-tax profit from g operations - 1,012,048 1,470,491 1086703 . 1,006,041
Taxes on inoome 12 {80,027) (1'30,_4;_28) (82,276) (119,955! )
NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR 922,022 1,040,063 963 427 486,088,
Attributable to ner-conrolling interests 3,072 {1,783) - -
Attributable to owners of the parant 914,950, 1,041,846 -
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Group Bank
In RON thousands 2015 2016 215 2018
Netresultfortheperfod 922,022 1,040,083 963,427 Bag,008
Other eonmr;hanslve Income
items that may not be reclassified to profit or logs ] 1]
. Remessuoment of et gain (losses)onbenefitplans T ailg) (] e 4] (854
Deferred taxes relating 1o Items that may not be reclassified 18! 104: 68 105
Total - - (297)) (550)° {358) (548}
Itsms that may be reclassiied to profit or loss
Avaltable for sale reserve 72,511 {133,728) 84,605 {115,741)
Gain{loss) during the period 77,578, {21,962) 84,667 (3,987}
Reclassification to profit or koes {5,087} {111,747): (52) {111,754)
Cashfiowhedgeresere  ° —— = 2417 - {2417) -
Reclassification o profitor loss (2417) ° - (2.417) -
Cumency translation (9,880} 1,460 - -
Deferred faxes relating fo ltems that may be reclassified (11,197} 21,288 (13,150) 18,518
Tatal A = ——— . s|as AL T {ET22a),
Total other compret Income 48, hER i 8 [T R
Total comprahensive incoms $70,642 928,532 1,032,108 788,315
__Total ve [ncome to phnterwety, o e i e 1,717 {4,825): - -
Total compreh Income to ownerz of the parent - 968,926 S3IAET - ———=
AUTHORISED PERSON, AUTHORISED PERSON,
First name and name .
Signatre |
Executive Vice-President, :
Adriana Jankovicova




BCRS

STATEMENT FINANCIAL POSITION

Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Group Bank
Note 31.122015 31.42.2016 31.42.2015 31,12.2016
In RON thousands
ASSETS
Cash and cash balances 14 9,441,833 . 11,911,895 9,265.487 11,648,876
Financlai assets - held for trading 243,108 533,169 248,108 833,189
Derivatives 15 78814 73,486 78,814 73,486
Other trading assats 16 169,204 559,713 169,294 559,713
Fnanclal assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 17 22,248 16,319 . 22,246 15,319
Financial assets - available for sale 18 7,203,260 5,574,087 6,256,238 4,845,303
Flnantial assets - held to maturity 19 10,154,420 - 13,904,201 8,818,660 12,386,197 -
Loans and receivables to credit institutions 21 204,403 552,830 184,631 651,414
Loans and receivables to customers 22 32,450,757 32,291,134 32,648,724 31,162,508
Property and equipment 24 1,008,767 1472604 235,921 1,158,548
Investment properties 24 486 ‘ 422 - -
Intangible assets 25 234,265 283,304 224,239 280,699
Investments in associates 23 16,193 18,568 7,500 7,508
Current tax assets 26 133,192 162,480 . 131,826 158,029
Deferred tax assets 26 426,363 322,508 398,530 310,554
Non-current assets and disposal groups classifled as held for sale 27 301,900 2,202 38,087 2,202
Other assets 28 423,233 365,730 1,080,757 806,775
TOTAL ASSETS 62,360,016 67,514,573 59,480,913 64,088,226
LIABILITIES
Financial liabiiities held for trading 35,102 . 38,381 35,102 38,391
Derivativas 35,102 38,391 35,102 38,391
Financial llablllties measured at amortised costs 20 55,321,688 59,235,059 ' 52,241,984 55,825,328
Deposits from banks ) 11,247,223 9,854,673 ' 10,837 458 5,125,085
Dapeosits from cuslomers 42,826,022 48,235,198 39,973.916 45,354,809
Debt securities issued 912,238 837,192 912,236 837,192
Other financial ligbilities 536,207 708,998 518,376 708,132
Provisions 30 812,717 1,104,102 755,869 1,069,547
Current tax liabilities 26 1,350 1,262 - -
Deferred tax llabilities 26 6,282 3,966 & -
Other Liabilities 31 307,562 | 326,404 244,969 242,726 .
Total equity 5,875,285 6,804,380 6,142,089 6,692,233
Alftributable to non-controlling interest 31,282 25,387 = ] -
Aftributable to owners of the parent 5,844,003 - B,778,902 - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 62,360,016 87,514,573 59,460,913 64,068,225
AUTHORISED PERSON, AUTHGRISED PERSON,
First name and name j First name and name
Slgrature P Signature
: . m“\cf-id}\ . "
Executiye Vice-President, g N Executive Direttor Accounting Division,
.o . § ,‘5. r ) s ) .
Adriana Jankovicova la w2fer, o Adina Georgiana Cotiga




Faye LCREXE SPUEsnaly (g61) NOY "Senpue peqrosde o sBups peurmas spuesnouy) (55'88) NOY ‘Sruser Jaua o sBuves PALIERI Loy SSIpUS F3QI0SGE 6 AAIGE AJITENS 90 UGESUISEA SPUKSIOY] fp7'9 NOY el aBiai,

=) (] YT E Exai ey — iy BT oo —_ WWET SUZZLIE 15 5 KEbs o)
Ehhe 296 (=] [T 5 5 ] = - BUNCO0) SARRIRAIIUID O JURNANE 5.
=

5N Yeos 1)) - THreany - - 8B00E3

- - uEE.._ PR AIGWGS 510,
{120'%) [T {8z’ SBUBIRIEQNE J0 00N
T () T - E5i) . VT TR T o
it ) paueg {ssoqiumdi frumay ATl IO, BAITSE] NS K YGEEEAY SRS Mineal oo stupuze poumisy wmpmead weus mideo pegrosNe SpUvENOLR ROW W
fousamsy ohipay moy yseg
g BIOZ
688°2H'9 {gesel 050'8L E 989°0F 2 £9F' P 0 1'ErZY £0B7'S6E $95°266'2 Q027 1L J0 SEAInbe jB)0L
62089 (z50'a) \zh) 5 50048 ey * E . SUCOUIGHEURNIIOD |0 JUBLIGITIS
Lor'ee 0 . - 5 : 5 . ) ZYE E 5 Doysd au) 1oy {ssolion 18N
90,2601 - (Z50') iz 5 G008 3'e) 5 IZHEN6 - - BUI03| BASIRYAT WG 0L
i) o g . 5 5 1608 aﬁ.ow!_ - - SIEUEL 18410
L6B'HE'S ] “{Log'es) ili'gl S VEQ'GYE 4% 952866 SiFLF £RY'56E 594'z66'2 HOZ'TLE J0 se Aunbe 2jo 1
1€j0] Xe)pousjeg  [seofjjsursh jsuen)dy aniesas aalas bAIaBal sAIBSel 18Y)0) sBurdsge @njwa:d 2iByg  [eydes pagiiosgng spuesnoy} NOY U
uoNE|Suel) ojes 104 qepeay  elpoy mo)y ysesy pauEey
fouauny
yueg [9¥it4
Paye UoHEXE spuesnoy) (961) NQY 'aAesay Jeijo of SBURGO pelligjer gy SERIUS vB._S_.Eo LIesas AICYMEIS S0 UOJESYIBE2on) SPUESAOL) £0Z°9 NDY ‘oaye b,
TSy TR : Z68LLT R0 REL TS 2 W = o8 s: BV PN — PG - ey, K0z LE J0 % Rnba WL
Tieapin) e TBRE V0L OB 1550 Iﬂ._ () = 5 5 L e e
£90'080"). [ET) RE'IP0'L - = - qu:é | - F E "poned o) 104 {so(d oy
=i (528 W) = P S ﬂ_clm _ﬂ_u.. = |§.!_e...| L TR e o = L I | =20l S TSI BUIGO] SARGARICAI00 [0
ST T e (14} e m— i 2 _alil _ Ry T dm— GBS B0
To61) - [T 5 i - [ 429 [ECEN T W — = SSoLapIsga Jo lefiofy
TS T T Yy Ty : :.-_Lw T G 'y i PVErE B TRV — wwawe SUZZV L Jo o Fbe L
2.8 g Bulgans < gusied 2] paLopq {ss0ysufeb wpm Ay SAKS] ONGURY  Sasid G4 Jo) DJEIRRY  GANGA o 30 R0 sBumes pourey  wnjuesd esyg IWidea paposqng SPUTEIRAE NOY U
0L O] HRINGIE fnb @ Jo asums [Riey HKauauny efipec; Moy ye2)
) 1o
S8Z'58'9 ZBZ1E EO00PrE'S [(ITET] ViB'LE Sr0TsZ) Prb'pap o eop'p2lt S1L0p8 E81'56E S99°Z96'2 THIZ ZLEL 10 68 Agnke (wjn |
oze'sr (S T EPH) Y] Toca8) _ sapl {4¥z) g 5 - - 9 G30] BA[3UBYBXIHI GO J6 LB eRg.
Z20'228 ZI0E 05638 5 S E g - E 5088 5 5 Pojiad alp 1oy {s=opintjoxd 1N
Zre'0s6 “A1 GZ6'808 (SEVI) {ay) Toswe) g2l {a¥2) 5 028018 - < H Sl 0aU] eA|SUBYS W02 [@j0]
O - To2) = . 5 5 - 008, lceLon) 5 E - . ebwpeyg
Taerg) (oa's] - 5 S 5 - - S - - - T T T A
94101 8'p S0'4E POL'SLER \az'aL) 196'8L lag's) VZE'08E A¥E 95 L6886 [T £8P 980 495'706'2 Hoz'ale jo euhyinbe moy
|einl #1504 BJUN wisakd Byj X%y podsajad  (asojissuieb (vuRnloy amldeer LY BAIUBRd BAIRER) JRYID sbupion wnjwesd alvyg  jeydes peguosgng spurenayl No Ul
Bugg|espu 023-udu }0 =leuMn [fLO ] uOIIE|SLR] 3 EE 1O ST BAY abpey Moy yseg peurmey
0] 2)qRINGIIN Apnby Asmaung
anedy 902

ALIND3I NI SIONVHO H0 INFWILYLS

8102 1equwsa9sQ £ papua teah sy} Joj yueg pue pajep|josuo)
ALIND3 NI STONVHI 40 INFWILYLS

5454



BCRS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Group Bank
3.12.2015 3.12.2018 3122015 31.42.2016
In RON thousands Note
Net result for the period 922,022 1,040,083 983,427 859,086
Non-cash adjustments for items in net profillﬂoss) for the year
Depreciation, amortisation, impaiment and reversal of impairment, revaluation of assels 8 171,637 168,029 119,667 105,780
Allocation to and release of mpaimen of loans 0 43821 562,306 371,458 497,728
Gains/{lasses) from the sale of assets 9,004 (1,676) 2,652, 2,079.
Other provisions 3 453,641 290,730 451595 | 273284
Tmpaiment of subsidraries KTl . : (4483) 4585
Other adjustments 134,871 04,581 120,800 101,53
Changes In assets and liabilifies from operating activitles after adjustment for non-cash )
components
Financial assets - held for trading 122,724 {385,001). 122,7_2,1 ‘ (385,081)
Financial assets - at fair value through profil or loss 2,341 6,927 734 7
Financia! assats - available for sale 524,312 1,405 444 483,790 1,295-,—WT
Loans and receivables o credil mnstitutions 20878 [(348.427) 206,035 (466,783)
- Loans and receivables to customers {(316,212); (402,883)- 17,091 113,420
Other assets from operating activities (72,158), 58 104 {49,779) 53,006
Financial liabilltles - held for trading [35,025) 3,269 (35,025). 3269
Financial liabillies measured at amortsed cost 2B 43014 (365848) 4023273
Deposits from banks Q2811250 (1,466,264}  (2,894,028)  (1,586,075)
Depashs from customers 2703303 560,62, 24,77 596,205
Other financial fiabities 0,128 172,789 SAT 241,148
Derivatives - hedge accouning {554,005) - {554,005). -
Other fiabillies from operating activities 126,012 T 49 157,080 {2.153)
Cash flow from operating activities 22713017 6,924,718 1,840,184 8,553,433
Proceeds of disposal
Financial assets - held to maturity 2,330,456 2,036,760 . 1,835,354 1_.7'-08.200
Property and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties 10,293 17,507 5,872 4.7_25—
Acquisition of [ ]
Financlal assets - held ta matuity and associated companies @B, (GI0AIE  (L205,050)  (5.25650)
Property and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties (240,677)- (3010 {156,286}, {213,058)
Cash flow from investing activities (TBM (4,053,328) (578,540) (3,758,712)
Dividends paid to non-contralling interests (5,49} - ]
Debt securilies issued (131,972) (275,044) 131,072)  (2715,044)
Giher financing activ lies (132837 (126,286) (132,636)  (126,280)
Cash flow from financing activities (270,108) {401,330 {284,608). (401,330}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8,235,167 9,441,833 8,158,441 9,255,487
Cash flow from operafing activiies 2,213 97 6,924,718 1,940,164 6,553,433
Cash Tlow from investing activities (767 146) -~ (4,053,328) (578,540) (3.758.71J2T
Cash flow from financing activities @70,105)  (4013%0) (264608 (401330}
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 14 9,441,835 11,911,895 9,255,487 11,648,878
Cash flows related to taxes, interest and dividends
Payments for taxes on incame (included in cash flow from operating activ lies) {(B3,367)  (36,846) (42,788) (28,317)
Interest received 28982715 237065 2,112,180 2,260,290
Interest paid (850,903) (554,005) (743,050) (520,506)
Dividends received 5,732, 2678 3,285 5,004




BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. CORPORATE INFORMATICN

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. (the Bank' or ‘BCR)) together with its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) provides retail, corporate banking and
investment banking services mainly in Romania. As a result of the privatization process organized by the government of Romania, Erste Bank
der oestemaichischen Sparkassen AG (‘Erste Bank’) purchased 61.88% of the share capital of the Bank pursuant to a share purchase
agreement dated 21 December 2005. Untii 31 December 2015, Erste Bank purchased further 31.70% from employees and other shareholders
of the Bank, adding up fo 93,5783%. The ulfimate parent of the Group Is Erste Group Bank AG.

As of 31 December 2016, the foundation DIE ERSTE cestemeichische Spar-Casse Privatstiftung (hereinafter referred to as the Privatstiftung’)
controlled a fotal of 29.26% interest in Erste Group Bank AG. 9.91% of the shares were held directly by the Privatstiftung. Indirect participation
of the Privatstiftung was at 9.43%, thereof 5.25% of the shares held by Sparkassen Befeiligungs GmbH & Co KG, which is an affiliated
undertaking of the Privatstiftung; 1.10% of the shares held by Austrian savings banks, which act together with the Privatstiftung and are affiliated
with Erste Group by virue of the Haftungsverbund; and 3.08% of the shares held by other syndicate members. 9.92% interest in Erste Group
Bank AG was controlled by the Privatstiftung based on syndication agreement with Caixabank S.A.

The Group provides day-to-day banking services and other financial services to governmental institutions, corporate and individual clients
operating in Romania and abroad. These services include: accounts opening, domestic and infemational payments, foreign exchange
transactions, working capital finance, medium and long term facilities, retail loans, finance micro and small enterprises, bank guarantees, letters
of credit and through subsidiaries also leasing, brokerage, financial consultancy services and asset management.

Banca Comerciala Romana S.A. is incorporated and domiciled in Romania. Its registered office is at 5, Elisabeta Boulevard, Bucharest,
Romania. '

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Management Board on 13 March 2017.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies apply to both the consolidated (“Group®) and separate financial statements of the Bank, except for accounting of
investments in subsidiaries and associates in the Bank's financial statements.

2.1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified to include the infiation -adjustments under
Intemational Accounting Standard {IAS) 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” up to 31 December 2003, except for available-
for-sale investments, trading financial assets, derivaiive financial instruments and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, that have
been measured at fair vaiue.

The Bank and its subsidiaries which are incorporated in Romania maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial
statements in accordance with Romanian Accounting Regulations and in the case of the Bank and its subsidiaries BCR Leasing IFN SA" and
‘Banca pentru Locuinte' in accordance with Romanian Banking Regulations. The foreign subsidiaries maintain their books of account and
Prepare their statutory financial statements in their presantation currencies and in accordance with the regulations of the countries in which they
operate.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the European Union and uniform
accounting policies for consolidation were used.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Romanian Lei (‘RON'), and all values are rounded to the nearest RON thousands,
except when otherwise indicated. The fables in this report may contain rounding differences.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis.

The Group presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery or seftlement within 12 months afier
the statement of financial position date (current) and more than 12 months after the statement of financial position date (non-current) is
presented in Note 45,

The Bank has the following subsidiaries consolidated in the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

Country of Nature of the husiness Shareholding

Gompany's name incorporation 2015 2018

BCR Chisinau SA Moldava Banking 0.00% 00.00%
Financiara SA ( liquidated ) Romania Financial 97.46% 0.00%
BCR Leasing IFN 5A Romania Financial leasing 98.97% 99.97%
Bucharest Financial Plazza SRL* Romania Real estate 90.60% 000%
BCR Pensii, Societate de Adminfstrare a Fonduritor de P ensii Privale SA  Romanla Pension Fund £0.00% 99.99%
BCR Banea pentru Locuinte SA Romania Housing loans BO.00% 80.00%
Suport Colect SRL Romania Workout 10.00% 90.99%
CIF One SRL Remania Cash processing and storing 90.99% 29.95%:
BCR Real Esiate M anagement SRL* Romania Real estate 00.99% 000%
BCR Fleet M anagement SRL™ Romarnia Operational lsasing 05.07%. 9957%
BCR Payments SPV Romania Payments fransactions 89.99% 20.99%

* Company was absarbed by BCR as at 31.12.2016
** Company held indirectly by BCR through BCR Leasing SA

1) Impact of inflation

Romania was a hyperinflationary economy and was officially declared as ceasing to be hyperinflationary for IFRS reporting purposes as at 1
July 2004. The financial statements of the Group and the Bank have been restated fo take info account the effects of inflation until 31 Decamber
2003 in accordance with the provisions of and guidance in IAS 29. In summary IAS 29 requires that financial statements prepared on a
historical cost should be restated in terms of measuring unit cumrent at the balance sheet date and that any gain or loss on the net monetary
position should be included in the profit or loss and disclosed separately. '

2 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS}) and its interpretations issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as adapted by the EU,

(3) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank as at and for the year ended 31 December each year. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent accounting policies. The Bank's
investments in subsidiaries are accounted at cost in separate financial statements.

The Bank presents the investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements as “Ofher assets”.

Allintra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Bank. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, o
has rights, fo variable retums from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those retums through its power over the
investee. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit or loss from the date of
acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

(4 Investment in associates

An associate is an enfity dvér which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control over those policies.

The judgement made in determining significant influence are the same to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group's investments in its associate are accounted for using the equity method. The Bank's investments in its associate are accounted at
cost in the separate financial statements.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognized at cost. The carying amount of the investment is adjusted to
recognize changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in
the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impaimment.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group's share of the results of operations of the associate. Any change in Other Comprehensive
Income of those investees is presented as part of the Group's Other Comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change
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recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes ts share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes
in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the
interest in the associate.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 'When necessary, adjustments are made to
bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment loss on its investment in its
associate, Af each reporfing date, the Group defermines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the-associate is impaired. if
there is suich evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value, then, recognizes the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group’ measures and recognizes any retained invesiment .at its fair value. Any
diffierence between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss.

22. Significant accounting judgments and estimates

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has used its judgments and made estimates in detemmining the
amounts recognized in the financlal statements. The most significant use of judgments and estimates are as follows:

(1) Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial llabilities recorded on the balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets, they are
determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs fo these models are derived from
observable market data where possible, but where observable markef data is not avallable judgement is required fo establish fair values.
Disclosures for valuation models, the fair value hierarchy and fair values of financial instruments can be found in Note 40 Fair value of assets
and fiabilities.

2 Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each statement of financial position date to assess whether an impaiment
oss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows when detemining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Group makes judgments
avout the borrower's financial siuation and the net realizable valiie of collatiral. These estimates are based on assumiptions abotit a number of
factors and actual results may differ, resulfing in future changes to the allowance.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually insignificant loans and advances are
then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics; to determine whether provision should be made due to incurmed
loss events for which there is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident, The collective assessment takes account of data from
the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of arrears, credit ufilization, loan to collateral ratios etc.), concentrations of risks and economic
data.

The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in Note 39.5.

3 Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments

The Group treats available-for-sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.
The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 20% and ‘prolonged’ greater than 1 year. In addition, the Group evaluates ather factors, such as the
share price volafility.

{4 Deferred tax assats

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Judgement is required fo determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognized, based upon the likely iming and level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. Accarding to the five-
years budgets approved, management estimates that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and the camy forward of unused tax crediits and unused tax losses can be utilized. Disclosures conceming deferred taxes are in Note 12 and 26,
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(5 Benefifs granted on the date of retirement

The cost of the defined benefit consisting of a one-off payment of up to four menthly gross salaries on the date of refirement is determined using
actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of retumn on assets, future salary
increases and mortality rates. Due to the long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. See Note 30 for
the assumptions used. )

2.3. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the separate financial statements of the Bank and of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out below:

{1) Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in RON, which is the Bank's functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and ftems included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

{D) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the functional sumency at the rate of exchange ruling at
- the statement of financial position date. All differences are taken fo ‘Net trading and fair value result’ in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are transtated using the exchange rates as at the dates
of the inttial transactions. Non-monetary ilems measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined,

{ii) Group companies

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the Bank's presentation currency (RON) at the
European Central Bank (ECB) rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date, and their profits or losses is translated at the
average ECB exchange rales for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On
dispasal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in equity relating fo that paricular foreign operation is recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income in 'Clier oparating result’.

2 Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(i} Date of recognition

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognized on the settiement date, i.e. the date on which the agreement is settled by delivery of assets that are subject of
the agreement,

Any change in the fair vaiue of the asset to be received during the period between the trade date and the settiement date is not recognized for
assets caried at cost or amortized cost (other than impairment losses). For assets camied at fair value, however, the change in fair value shall
be recognized in profit or oss or in other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Derivatives are recognized on frade date basis, i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset,

When the fransaction price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument, or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the Bank immediately recognizes the difference between the
transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 profit or loss) in Net trading income. In cases where fair value is determined using data which is not
observable, the difference befween the fransaction price and model value is only recognized in the income statement when the inputs become
observable, or when the instrument is derecognized.

(ii) Initial recognition of financial instruments
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and
8
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their characteristics. All financial instruments are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilifies
not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly affributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

{iii} Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

Derivatives include currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and interest rate options. Derivatives are recorded
at fair value and camied as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilifies when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives held for trading are included in ‘Net trading and fair value result’

(iv) Financial assefs and financial liabilities held for trading

Financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading, comprising financial instruments held for trading other than derivatives, are recorded in the
statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in ‘Nef trading and fair value result. Inferest and dividend
income or expenses are recorded in ‘Net trading and fair value result’ according to the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment
has been established.

Included in this classification are debt securities, equities and short positions in debt securities and sacurities which have been acquired
principally for the purpose of selling of repurchasing in the near term. '

{v) Financial assets or financial lfabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities classffied in this category are designated by management on initial recognition when the following criteria

are met;
*  the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or

liabilities or recognizing gains of losses on them on a different basis; or

the assefs and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabflities or both which are managed and their performance

evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or

+  the financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, uniess the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash

fiows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded. '

Financial assets and financial liablliies at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recorded in ‘Nef trading and fair value result. Interest eamed or incurred is accrued in interest income or expense,
respectively, according to the terms of the contract, while dividend income is recorded in ‘Dividend income’ when the right to the payment has
been established.

(vi) Held-to-maturity financial investments

Held-to-maturity financial investments are those which cany fixed or determinable payments and have fixed maturiies and which the Group has
the intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity financial investments are subsaquently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortization is included in 'Net interest
income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income line ‘Net impairment loss on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss',

If the Group were fo sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amount of held-fo-maturity investments before malurity (other than in certain
specific circumstances), the entire category would be tainted and would have to be reclassified as available-for-sale. Furthermore, the Group
would be prohibited from classifying any financial asset as held to maturity during the following two years.

{vi}) Loans and receivable fo credit institution and to customers

‘Loans and receivable to credit institution and to customers’ are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that
are not quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as
Financial assets held for trading’, designated as ‘Financial investments - available-for-sale’ or Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss’. After initial measurement, amounts dus from banks and loans and advances to customers are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost s calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisiion and fees and costs that should be an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortization is included
in ‘Net interest income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income in ‘Netimpairment (loss)/reversal in financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss'.
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(viij) Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as financial investments at fair
value through profit or loss, trading financial assets, held-to-maturity or loans and advances. They include equity instruments, investments in
mutyal funds and money market and ather debt instruments. After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized directly in equity in the 'Available-for-sale reserve’. When the
security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in
‘Gainflosses from financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss'. Where the Group holds more than ene
investment in the same security they are deemed fo be disposed of on a first-in first-out basis. Interest eamed whilst holding available-for-sale
financlal investments is reported as interest income using the effective interest rate. Dividends eamed whilst holding available-for-sale financial
Investments are recognized in the profit or loss as ‘Dividend income’ when the right of the payment has been established. The losses arising
from impaiment of such investments are recognized in the profit or loss in ‘Gainflosses from financial assets not measured at fair value through
profit or loss’ and removed from fhe available-for-sale reserve.

{ix) Debt securities issued

Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as liabiliies under
‘Debt securities issued’, where the substance of the confractual amrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or
another financial asset to the holder, or to safisfy the obligafion other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of own equity shares. After initial measurement, debt issued and other bormowings are subsequently measured at amontized
cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and
costs that-should be an integral part of the effective interest rate,

(%) Reclassification of financial assels

For a financial asset reclassified out of the 'Available-for-sale’ category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognized in
equity is amortized to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the
new amortized cost and the expected cash flows is also amortized over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rafe method. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the profit or loss, Reclassification is at the
election of management, and is determined on an instrument by instrument basis. The Group does not reclassify any financial instrument into
the fair value through profit or loss category after inifial recognition.

{3) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
{i) Financial asseis

A financial assef (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized where:
the rights fo receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the Group has transfemed its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material detay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ amangement;
and

*  gither {a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b} the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transfered its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through amangement, and has neither
fransferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the fom of a guarantee over the fransferred asset
is measured at the lower of the original camying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

(ii) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the Eability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,

such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective cammying amounts is recognized in profit o loss.
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{4) Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Transactions where securilies are sold under an agreement to repurchase at a specified future date are also known as ‘repos’ or 'sale and
repurchase agreements’. Securities sold are not derecognized from the statement of financial position, as Group refains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership because the securities are repurchased when the repo transaction ends. Furthermore, the Group is the
beneficiary of all the coupons and other income payments received on the transferred assets over the period of the repo transactions. These
payments are remitted to the Group or are reflected in the repurchase price.

The coresponding cash received Is recognized on ihe statement of financial posiion with a comesponding obligation to refum it as a liability
under the line fem ‘Financial lizbilities measured at amortized cost, sub-items ‘Deposits from banks' or ‘Deposits from customers' reflecting the
fransaction's economic substance as a loan to the Group. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is freated as interest expense
and recorded in the income statement under the line ftem ‘Net interast income” and is accrued over the life of the agreement.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell-at a specified future date are not recognized on the statement of financial position.
Such fransacfions are also known as ‘reverse repos’. The consideration paid is recorded on the balance sheet under the respective fine items
‘Loans and receivables fo credit institutions’ or ‘Loans and receivables to customers’, refiecting the transaction's economic substance as a loan
by the Group. The difference between the purchase and resale prices is treated as interest income and is accrued over the life of the agreement
and recorded in the income statement under the line tem ‘Net interest income”,

{8)  Securities lending and borrowing

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are usually coflateralized by securities or cash. The fransfer of the securities to counterparties is
only reflected on the statement of financial position if the risks and rewards of ownershlp are also transferred. Cash advanced or received as
coliateral is recorded as an asset or liability.

Securities borrowed are not recognized on the statement of financial position, unless they are sold to third parties, in which case the obligation to
retum the securities is recorded as a Iradlng fiabifity and measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in ‘Net trading and fair value
result’

{6) Determination of fair value

The fair value for financial instruments fraded in active markets at the statement of financial position date is based on their quoted market price
or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for fransaction costs.

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is defermined by using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation
techniques include pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash
flows are based on management's best esfimates and the discount rate is market related rate at the statement of financial position date for an
instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where pricing models are used, inputs are based on market related measures at the staiement of
financial position date. Where a fair value cannot reliably be estimated, unquoted equity instruments e.g. Investments in subsidiaries (see note
29) that do not have a quoted market price in an active market are measured at cost and periodically tested for impairment.

(7 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objecfive evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash fiows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of bomowers is experiencing significant financial
difficutty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization
and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in amears or
- economic conditions that comelate with defaults. Disclosures conceming impairment of financial assets are in Note 39.5.

(i} Loans and receivable fo credit institution and fo customers

For amounts due from banks and loans and advances to cusiomers carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses individually whether
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impainment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impaimment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
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assels's carrying amount and the present value of estimafed future cash flows (excluding fufure expected credit losses that have not yef bean
incurred). The camying amount of the asset is reducad through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be recognized on the reduced camying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the
asset. Inferest income reduces the allowance account. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impaiment loss increases or

- decreases because of an event ocourring after the impaimment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. Loans fogether with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been transfemed fo the Group. If a write-offis later recovered, the recovery is credited
to the 'Net impairment (loss)/reversal on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or oss'.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment foss is the cument effective interest rate. The calculation of the present vaive of the
esfimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtalmng and
selling the coltateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group's internal credit grading system
that consiclers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant
factors.

Future cash flows on a group of financiai assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the years on which the historical loss experience is based and to
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist cumently. Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are
directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices,
commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude). The methodology
and assumptions used for estimating future cash fiows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience,

The Group seeks to use collateral, where possible, to mitigate its risks on financial assets. The collateral comes in various forms such as cash,
securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables, inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting
agreements. The fair value of collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and periodically after the incepfion date.

To the extent possible, the' Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets, held as collateral. Other financial-assets which do riot
have a readily determinable market value are valued using models. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data
provided by third parties such as mortgage brokers, housing price indices, audited financial statements, and other independent sources.

{li) Held-to-matunity financial investments

For held-to-maturtty investments the Group assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If there is objective
evidence that an impaimment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ camying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The camying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in
the profit or loss to the ‘Net impairment loss on financia! assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss',

if, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estlmated'lmpamnent loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impaiment was
recognized, any amounts formerly charged are credited fo the ‘Net impairment (loss)reversal on financial assets not measured at fair value
through profit or loss’.

{1} Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the profit or loss — is removed
from equity and recognized in the profit or loss. Impaiment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the profit or loss; increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognized directly in equity.

In the case of debt insfruments classified as available-for-sale, impaiment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at
amortized cost. Interest continues to be accrued at the original effective interest rate on the reduced camying amount of the asset and is
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recorded as part of ‘Net interest income’. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occuning after the impaimment loss was recognized in the profit or loss, the impaimment loss is reversed through
the profit or loss.

{iv) Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Group seeks fo restructure loans rather than to take possession of coliateral. This may involve extending the payment
amangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due.
Management continuousiy reviews renegoliated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that fuiure payments are likely to occur. The loans
continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan's original effective interest rate.

For clients with renegotiated loans with an exposure larger than EUR 400 thousands and who have either default or watch flag or are in a
workout process, the impainment test s performed on a monthly basis on account level, but for the entire exposure.

(v) Collateral repossessed

The Group's policy is fo defermine whether a repossessed asset is best used for its intemnal operaticns or should be sold. Assets dstermined to
be useful for the intemal operations are fransferred to their relevant asset category at their fair value. Assets that are determined better to be
sold are immediately transfemred to inventories at their fair value af the repossession date in line with the Group's palicy. Inventories are valued
at lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs necessary to make the sell '

{8) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only i, there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amaounts and there is an infention to seffle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master nelting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the statement of financlal position.

(9) Leasing

The determination of whether an amangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfillment of the amrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the amangement conveys a
right fo use the asset,

{i) Group as a lessee

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substanfially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased items are operating
leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term. Contingent
rental payables are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incumed.

(i) Group as a lessor

Finance leases, where the Group transfers substantially all the risk and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the lessee, are
included in the statement of financial position in ‘Loans and receivable to customers'. A receivable is recognized over the leasing period of an
amount equalling the present value of the lease payments using the implicit rate of interest and including any guaranteed residual value. All
income resulting from the receivable is included in ‘Net interest income’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

The lessor In the case of a finance lease reporis a receivable from the lesses under the fing iten: “Loans and receivables to customers® or
“Loans and advances to credit insfitufions”. The receivable is equal to the present value of the contractually agreed payments taking into
account any residual value. Interest income on the receivable is reported in the income statement under the ling item *Net interest income”.

In the case of operating leases, the leased asset is reported by ihe lessor in “Property and equipment or in investment properties® and is
depreciated in accordance with the principles applicable fo the assets involved. Lease income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term in the income statement under the line item “Rental income from investment properties and other operating leases'.

Lease agreements in which the group is the lessor almost exclusively comprise finance lease.
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{10} Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue/expense Is recognized fo the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will inflow/outfiow to the Group and the
revenue/expense can be reliably measured.

(i} Net interest income

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest bearing financial instruments classified as available-for-sale financial
investments, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is the rate that discounts estimafed fulure cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net camying amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument and includes any fees
or incremental costs that are directly atiributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit

losses. ,

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, interest income
continues to be recognized using the original effective interest rate applied o the new carying amount.

The amounts related to the interest accrual from derivatives classified in the category “held for trading’ which is hedging instruments from an
economic but net accounting point of view are reported as interest income and expenses, to present comect interest income and expenses from
the financial instruments that are hedged. These amounts are included as a part of the items “Interest income- Financial assets held for trading’
and “Interest expenses- Financial liabilities held for trading”.

(7)) Net fee and commission income

. The Group eams fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the
following two categories:

Fee Income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time

Fees eamed for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued qvér that period. These fees include commission and asset
management income, custody and other management and advisory fees. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and
other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment fo the effective interest rate on the
loan. When itis unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognized over the commitment period on a straight line
basis.

Fee income from providing fransaction services

Fees arising from negotiafing or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party - such as the arangement of the acquisition of
shares or ofher securities or the purchase or sale of businesses — are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or
components of fees that are linked fo a certain performance are recognized after fulfiling the comesponding criteria. These fees include
underwriting fees, corporate finance fees and brokerage fees.

(i) Dividend income

Revenue is recognized when the Group's right to receive the payment is established.

{iv) Net trading and fair value result

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related interest income or expense for financial
assefs and financial liabilities held for frading. This includes any ineffectiveness recorded in hedging fransactions.

(11) Cash and cash balances

Cash and cash balances as refered to in the cash flow statement comprises cash on hand, current accounts with central banks and amounts
due from banks on demand and ovemight.

{(12) Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost {restated for hyperinfiation for assets acquired prior fo 31 December 2003 — Note 2.1) excluding the
costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impaimnent in value. Changes in the expected useful life are
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accounted for by changing the depreciation period and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to their residual values over their
sstimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

«  Buildings 3010 50 years (mainly 50 years)
o (ffice equipment : 3to 10 years
o (Other fumiture and equipment 3to 15 years

An item of property and equipmént is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising ‘on derecognition of the asset {calculated as the difference between the net dispesal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is recognized in ‘Other operating result in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognized.

(13} Investment properties

An investment property is measured initially af its cost taking info account any expenditure directly atiributable to the purchase {e.g. fees paid to
the estate agent, notarial fees, property transfer taxes and fees).

After initial recognition an investment property is measured at cost (cost model) in accordance with IAS 16. Following that, an investment
property is camied at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposad of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the camying
amount of the asset is recognized in the profit or loss in the period of derecognition,

{14) Business combinations and Goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.

Goodwill is inifially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of the
acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

After initfal recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment festing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisifion date, allocated fo each of the Group's cash generating units that are expected to
henefit from the synergies of the combination, imespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goedwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the camying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

{14.1) Business combinations with entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfers of interest in entities that are under the common control are accounted for as if the acquisition had
occurred at the effective date of the merger. No restatement of the comparatives was presenied. The assets and liabilities of the absorbed
entities are recognized at the carrying amounts recognized previously in the Group's controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements.

(15} Intangible assets

Intangible assets include the value of computer software and licenses. Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date -of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Infangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful
economic life. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattem of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their esfimated
useful iives as follows: ‘

Computer software and ficenses 35 years
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{16) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses atf each reporting date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate thaf the camying value may be
impaired, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impaiment
testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. Where the camying amount of an asset (or
cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generafing unif} is considered impaired and is written down fo ifs
recoverable amount.

{(17) Non-curent assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-cument assets are classified as held for sale if they can be sold in their present condition and the sale is highly probable within 12 months
of classification as held for sale. If assets are to be sold as part of a group that may also contain liabiliies (e.g. a subsidiary) they are refered to
as disposal group held for sale. '

Assets classified as held for sale and assets belonging to disposal groups held for sale are reported under the' balance sheet line item ‘Assets
held for sale’. Liabilities belonging to the disposal groups held for sale are presented on the balance sheet undsr the line item ‘Liabilities
associated with assets held for sale’.

Non-current assets and disposal groups that are classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of camying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Fair value is based on an independent valuer report. Shoukd the impairment loss in a disposal group exceed the camying amount of
the assets that are within the scope of IFRS 5 measurement requirements, there is no specific guidance on how to treat such a difference.
Group recognizes this difference in ling ‘Other operating resulf’

(18) Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of lefiers of credit, guarantess and acceptances. Financial
guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value, in ‘Other liabiliies’, being the premium: received. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group's liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amortized premium and the best estimate of expenditure
required to settle any financial obligation arising as a resulf of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guaraniees is taken to the staiement of comprehensive income in ‘Other operating result’ and in
the statement of financial posiiien in “Provisions”. The premium received is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Net fees
and commission income’ on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails o perform a contractual obligation. Such contracts do
not transfer credit risk, Performance guarantees are initially recognized at their fair valug, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees
received. This amount is amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the contract. At the end of each reporting period, the performance
guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of (i} the unamortized balance of the amount at initial recognition and (i) the best estimate of
expenditure required to settie the contract at the end of each reporting period, discounted to present value if the discounting effect is material,

The Group has the ‘contractual right to revert to its customer for recovering amounts paid to seffle the performance guarantee contracts, such
amounts are recognized as loans and receivables.

{19) Employee benefits
() Short term service benefits

Short-term employee benefits include wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions. Shortem employee benefits are recognized
as expense when services are rendered.

(i) Defined contribution plans

The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania, in the normal course of business make payments to the Romanian State funds on behalf of its
Romanian employees for pension, health care and unemployment benefit, Al employees of the Bank and of the subsidiaries in Romania are
members and are also legally obliged fo make defined contributions (included in the social security confributions) fo the Romanian State
pension plan (a State defined contribution plan). Al relevant contributions to the Romanian State pension plan are recognized as an expsnse in
the profit or loss as incurred. The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania do not have any further obligations.

The Bank and the subsidiaries in Romania do not operate any independent pension scheme and, consequently, have no obligation in respect
of pensions.
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(i) Long-term service benefits

The Bank's net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits is the amount of future benefit that smployees have eamed in retum for their
service in the current and prior periods. On the basis of the Collective Labor Agreement, the Bank an one of ifs Romanian subsidiaries have a
contractual obligation to make a one-off payment of up to four {the Bank), respactively two (the subsidiary) gross monthly salaries to retiing
employees on the date of refiring. The defined benefit obligations are calculated by a qualified actuary taking into account the estimated salary
at the date of retirement and the number of years served by each individual.

{20) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliatie estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

I the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost.

(21} Taxes
(i) Current fax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the
statement of financial position date.

(if) Deferred fax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their camying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

«  where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, af the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting proft nor taxable profit or loss; and ,

o in respect of taxable femporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, fo the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the camry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except:

#  where the defered iax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and -

# in respect of deductitle femporary differences associated with invesfments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be ufilized.

The carrying amount of deferred fax assets is reviewed af each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no lenger
probable that sufiicient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset fo be ufilized. Unrecognized deferred fax
assets are reassessed at each statement of financial position date and are recognized fo the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Defarred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liabiliy is
seftled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacfed at the statement of financial position date. -

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity are also recognized in other comprehensive income and not in the
profit or ioss.

Deferred fax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against curent tax
liabifities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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(22) Fiduciary assets
Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not reported in the financial statements, as they are not the assets of the Group.
{23) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Group's shareholders.
Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the discretion of the Group.

Dividends for the year that are approved after the statement of financial position date are disclosed as an event after the statement of financial
position date.

(24) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group:
¢+ that engages in business acfivities from which it may eam revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating
to transactions with other compenents of the Group), ,
*  whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group's chief operating decision maker to make dagisions about resources fo
be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and
¢ forwhich discrete financial information is available.

An operating segment may engage in business achivities for which it has yet fo eam revenues, for example, start-up operations may be
operating segments hefore eaming revenues,

{25) Comparatives related to merger

In 2016 BCR Bank absorbed two of it's subsidiaries, namely REM and BFP. The effective date of the merger was 31 December 2016.
In preparing the Bank's individual financial statements in accordance with [FRSs as endorsed by the Europaan Union, the following methods
were applied: ‘

- a) Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 was presented for BCR after the merger took place, out of which inter-
company fransactions were eliminated, while the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 is presented by BCR
individual
b) Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2016 was presented for BCR Individual, while the statement
of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2015 was also presented by BCR individual (only the impact of deferred tax
from merger is reflected in BCR Statement of comprehensive income)

- ©} The effect of the merger for the three entifies is presented on Statement of changes in equity as of 31 December 2016.

No restatement of the comparatives was presented for the year 2015.

24. Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following amended IFRSs which have
been adopted by the BCR Group as of 1 January 2016:

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (amended)

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. This amendment allows enfities to use the equity method
to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements and will help some jurisdictions
move to IFRS for separate financial statements, reducing compliance costs without reducing the information avaitable fo investors.
Management had not made usa of this amendment.

IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (Amendment) .o

The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements further encourage companies to apply professional judgment in determining
what information to disclose and how to structure it in their financial statements. The amendments are effective for annual pericds beginning on
or after 1 January 2018. The namow-focus amendments to IAS clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The
amendments relate to materiality, order of the notes, subtotals and disaggregation, accounting policies and presentation of items of other
comprehensive income (OCI) arising from equity accounted Investments. Management has not made use of this amendment.
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1AS 16 Property, Plant & Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible assets (Amendment): Clarification of Acceptable Methods.of Depreciation
. and Amortization

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The amendment provides additional guidance on how the
depreciation or amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets should be calculated. This amendment clarifies the principle
in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that revenue reflects a patfem of economic benefits that are generated
from operafing a business (of which the asset Is part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result,
the ratio of revenue generated fo total revenue expected to be generated cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may
only be used in very limited circumstances to amortize intangible assets. Management has not made use of this amendment.

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements (Amendment): Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. IFRS 11 addresses the accounting for interests in joint
ventures and joint operations. The amendment adds new guidance on how to account for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that
constifutes a business in accordance with IFRS and specifies the appropriate accounting treatment for such acquisitions. The Company had no
transactions in scope of this amendment.

IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans (Amended): Employee Contributions

The amendment applies to contributions from employees o third parties fo defined benefit plans. The objective of the amendment s to simplify
the accounting for contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee service, for example, employee contributions that are
calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. The Company does not have any plans that fall within the scope of this amendment.

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments)

The amendments address three issues arising in practice in the application of the investment entities consolidation exception. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The amendments clarify that the exemption from presenting consolidated
financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an invesiment entity, when the investment entity measures all of its
subsidiaries at fair value. Also, the amendments clarify that only a subsidiary that is not an investment entity itself and provides support services
to the investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at fair value. Finally, the amendments to IAS
28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain the fair value measurement
applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture fo its interests in subsidiaries. Management has not made use of this amendment.

* The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to IFRSs. None of these
had an effect on the Company’s financial statements. ‘

s  IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: This improvement amends the definitions of 'vesting condition' and 'market condition’ and adds
definitions for ‘performance condition' and ‘service condition' (which were previously part of the definition of 'vesting condition').

* IFRS 3 Business combinations: This improvement clarifies that contingent consideration in a business acquisition that is not
classified as equity is subsequently measured at fair value through profit o loss whether or not it falls within the scope of IFRS &
Financial Instruments.

*  IFRS 8 Operating Segments: This improvement requires an entity to disclose the judgments made by management in applying the
aggregation criteria to operating segments and clarifies that an entity shall only provide reconciliations of the total of the reportable
segments' assets to the entity’s assefs if the segment assets are reported regulary. -

¢ IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: This improvement in the Basis of Conclusion of IFRS 13 clarifies that issuing IFRS 13 and
amending IFRS 9 and IAS 38 did not remove the ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rate
at their invoice amounts without discounting if the effect of not discounting is immaterial.

*  1AS 16 Properly Plant & Equipment: The amendment clarifies that when an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the
gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the camrying amount.

«  |AS 24 Related Parly Disclosures: The amendment clarifies that an entity providing key management personnel services to the
reporting entity or o the parent of the reporting entity is a related party of the reporting entity.

*  |AS 38 Intangible Assets: The amendment clarifies that when an intangible asset is revalued the gross canylng arnount is adjusted in
amanner that is consistent with the revaluation of the camying amount.

* The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements fo IFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to [FRSs. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. None of these had an effect on the Group's financial
statements.

» [FRS & Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: The amendment clarifies that changing from one of the
disposal methods to the other (through sale or through distribution to the owners) should not be considered to be a new plan of
disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is therefore no interruption of the application of the requirements in
IFRS 5. The amendment also clarifies that changing the disposal method doss nof change the date of classification.
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» IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute
continuing involvement in a financial asset. Also, the amendment clarifies that the IFRS 7 disclosures relating to the offsetting of
financial assets and financial liabilities are not required in the condensed interim financial report.

»  |AS 19 Employee Benefits: The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the
currency in which the obligation is denominated, rather than the .country. where the- obligation is located. When there is no deep
market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, govemment bond rates must be used.

»  |AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting: The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim
financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included
within the greater interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). The Board specified that the other
information within the interim financlal report must be available fo users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and'at
the same time. If users do not have access to the other information in this manner, then the interim financial report is incomplete.

25, Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IASB Effective Date: 1 January 2018)

IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 8 addresses three main areas of
accounting for financial instruments: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

IFRS 9 introduces two classification criferia for financial assets: 1) an entity's business model for managing the financial assets, and 2} the
coniractual cash fiow characteristics of the financial assets. As a result, a financial asset is measured at amortised cost only if both of the
following conditions are met: a) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal outstanding and b) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows. Measurement of a fair value through other comprehensive income is applicable to financial assets that
meet condition a) but the business model applied to them is focused both on holding the assets to collect contraciual cash flows and selling the
assets. All other financial assets are measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, an entity may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to measure them at fair value with changes recognised
in other comprehensive income. BCR Group intends to use this election for some of its investments in equity instruments which are of a long-
term nafure and do not have quoted market price.

IFRS 9 does not change classification and measurement principles for financial liabilities compared to IAS 39. The only change is related to
financial liabilties designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). The fair value changes related to the credit risk of such
liabilities will be generally presented in other comprehensive income. IFRS 9 provides an option to apply this requirement early, however BCR
Group does not intend to make use of this option.

The standard provides a uniform impainment mode! applied to both financial assets and off-balance sheet credit risk bearing exposures (loan
commitments and financial guarantees). For the financial instruments where no significant deterioration of credit risk is identified subsequent to
initial recognition a loss allowance in the form of 12-month expected cred losses is recognized. Lifetime expected credit losses are to be
recognieed for all inetrument whose credit risk increases significantly after initial recognition.

Based on the accounting policy choice embedded info the fransition requirements of IFRS 9, BCR Group will not restate comparative
information upon initial application of IFRS 9. Instead, the one-off impact from initial application of IFRS 9 will be reflected in the opening equity
as of 1 January 2018.

During the year 2016, BCR Group has completed the development of business requirements documentation addressing the changes in group-
level policies, procedures, processes and systems, assessed as necessary in preparation for transition fo IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.-On this
basis, Group’s entities (notably. the parent bank and subsidiaries) started the localization of the group-level requirements, both in terms of local
implementation of new group-wide solutions (e.g. in respect of fair valuation of non-SPPI non -rading debt instrument assets, allocation of
financial assets to business models, or in respect of calculation of expected credit losses), and in terms of adapting existing local solutions to the
groupdevel requirements. As part of this- effort, iterative financial impact studies (notably with regards to classification/measurement and
impaiment of financial assets but gradually also with regards to regulatory capital and ratios) continued across the Group. Starting with the
second half of 2017 a fully-fledged parallel run of the ‘as is’ IAS 39 and the 'to be’ IFRS 9 driven processes for classffication, measurement,
impairment and disclosure/reporting for financial instruments is planned. The above mentioned financial impact assessments and the simulated
IFRS @-driven outputs throughout the parallel run will bear an inherent degree of approximation, that is expected to reduce along with different
IFRS 9-driven-functionaliies being implemented, tested and transferred from festing to the bank's operating systems, at the level of each
affected group entity before the first application in 2018, Reliable quantitafive estimates of the IFRS 9 |mpacts are expected to be available
throughout 2017 and will be disclosed accordingly.

On this basis, BCR Group upholds its previous expectations that this standard will have a significant effect on balance sheet items and
measurement methods for financial instruments.

In the area of classification and measurement, BCR Group concluded that part of its loan portfolio might be measured at fair value through profit
or loss, due to the contractual cash flow characteristics. Thus, mitigation acivities have been undertaken across the Bank in respect of the
affected lending products in onder fo reduce this portfolio. As a result of these activities it is cumently expected that such measurement would
finally be mostly limited to loans bearing interest rates featuring imperfections that might not pass quantitative testing required by the standard.
On the other hand, some debt securities currently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income may be measured at amortized

20



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

cost due to the *held-to-collect contractual cash flows’ business model applied to them. Ctherwise no significant changes are expected based on
the business model criterion. This is because financial assets held-for-trading will continue to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
and SPPI-compliant loans will part of the business model of holding assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and will continue to be
measured at amortised cost.

In the area of expected credit loss modeling and ensuing impaiment loss, the Group believes that one of the key drivers of the expected impact
from adopting the new impairment model required by IFRS @ is the assessment of significant increase in credit risk for exposures that are not
identified as creditimpaired. In this respect, across portfolios and product types, quantitative indicators defined for assessing significant increase
in credit risk will include adverse change in lifeime probability of default and days-past-due status. Qualitative indicators will include specific
early-warning-system risk- or forbearance-type flag or work-out iransfer flag being assigned. Some of the qualitativs indicators {assignments of
some specific flag types) will inherently rely on experienced credit risk judgment being exercised adequately and timely. The related group-wide
and entity-level credit risk confrolling policies and procedures {most of them already in place, some of them in progress of being adapted in
preparation for [FRS 9) will ensure the necessary governance framework. Also, the Group believes that another significant driver of the
expected impact from adopting the IFRS 9 impaiment model required by IFRS 9 is incorporation of forward-looking macro-economic
information. In this respect, the Group has developed a methodology for lifetime probabilities of default calcutation that requires the application
of a macroeconomic overlay. That is, the probabilities of default are modified by using 2 macroeconomic function as estimated for stress testing
purposes {ie. function linking selected macroeconomic variables with probabiliies of defautt). In consideration of these methodological
requirements, credit loss allowances are expected to increase significantly for non-defaulted exposures.

Also, the Group expects that the structure of the financial statements {both main components and explanatory notes) will be have to be

-~ atlapted, notably in the light of the new reporting and disclosure requirements of IFRS 7, as friggered by IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The standard is effective for annual perieds beginning on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model that will apply to
revenue eamed from a contract with a customer (with limited exceptions), regardless of the type of revenue fransaction or the industry. The
standard's requirements will also apply to the recognition and measurement of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that
are not-an output of the entity’s ordinary acfivities (e.g., sales of property, plant and equipment or intangibles). Extensive disclosures will be
required, including disaggregation of tofal revenue; information about performance obligafions; changes in contract asset and liabifity account
balances between periods and key judgments and estimates. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the
financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications)

The Clarifications apply for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitied. The objective of the
Clarifications is to clarify the 1ASB's intentions when developing the requirements in [FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
particularly the accourting of identifying performance obligations amending the wording of the “separately identifiable” principle, of principal
versus agent considerafions including the assessment of whether an entity is a principal or an agent as well as applications of control principle
and of licensing providing additional guidance for accounting of intellectual property and rovalties. The Clarifications also provide addifional
practical expedients for entities that either apply IFRS 15 fully retrospectively or that elect to apply the modified retrospective approach. These
Clarifications have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the financial
position or performance of the Group.

-

IFRS 16: Leases

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parfies to a contract, i.e. the customer (lessee’) and the supplier (lessor). The
new standard requires lessees to recognize most leases on their financial statements. Lessees will have a single accounting model for all
leases, with certain exemptions. Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged. The standard has not been yet endorsed by the EU. The Group
is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendment in [FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets befween an investor and its associate or joint venture., The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or
loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when
a fransaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB
postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the financial
pasition or performance of the Group.

-

* 1AS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses (Amendments)
The Amendments become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted. The objective of
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the Amendments is to clarify the requirements of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses in order fo address diversity in practice in the
application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. The specific issues where diversity in practice existed relate to the existence of a deductible temporary
difference upon a decrease in fair value, to recovering an asset for more than its camying amount, to probable future taxable profit and to
combined versus separate assessment. These amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the
impact of this amendment in the financial position or performance of the Group.

* |AS 7: Disclosure [nitiative (Amendments)

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with eariier application permitted. The objective of the
Amendments is o provide disclosures that enable users of financial statsments to evaluate changes in liabilities aiising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The Amendments specify that one way to fulfi the disclosure
requirement is by providing a tabular reconciliation befween the opening and closing halances in the statement of financlal position for liabilities
arising from financing activities, including changes from financing cash flows, changes arising from obtaining or losing confrol of subsidiaries or
other businesses, the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, changes in fair values and other changes. These Amendments have not yet
been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the financial position or performance of the
Group.

IFRS 2: Classification and Measuremant of Share based Payment Transactions {Amendments)

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earfier application permitted. The Amendments
provide requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-seftied share-based
payments, for share-based payment transactions with a net setiement feature for withholding tax obligations and for modifications to the tems
and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the fransaction from cash-setied to equity-settied. These
Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the financial
position or performance of the Group.

IAS 40: Transfers to Investment Property (Amendments)

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitted. The Amendments
clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or development into, or out of investment property. The
Amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property mests, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is
evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management's intentions for the use of a property does nof provide evidence of a change in
use. These Amendments have not yet been endarsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the
finanial position or performance of the Group.

IFRIC interpetation 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application permitied. The Interpretation
clarifies the accounting for transactions that inciude the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign cumency. The Interpretation
covers foreign curmency fransactions when an entty recognizes a non-monetary asset or a non-monetary liability arising from the payment or
receipt of advance consideration before the entity recognizes the related asset, expense or income. The Interpretation states that the date of the
transaction, for the purpose of determining the exchange rate, is the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or defermed
income liability. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for each
payment or receipt of advance consideration. This Interpretation has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing
the impact of this amendment in the financial position or performance of the Group.

The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 ~ 2016 Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to IFRSs.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 for IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests In Other Entities and
on or after 1 January 2018 for IFRS 1 First-fime Adoption of Intemational Financial Reporting Standards and for IAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures. Earlier application is permitied for IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. These annual
improvements have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group is in process of assessing the impact of this amendment in the financial
position or performance of the Group.

> IFRS 1 First{ime Adoption of Intemafional Financial Reporting Standards: This improvement deletes the short-term exemptions
regarding disclosures about financial instruments, employee benefits and investment entities, applicable for first time adopters.

»  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: The amendments clarify that the election to measure at fair value through
profit or loss an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is venture capital organization, or other
qualifying entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial
recognition. )

»  IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than
those of summarized financial information for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary,
a joint venture or an associate that is classified as held for sale, as held for distribution, or as discontinued operations in' accordance
with IFRS 5.
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3. NET INTEREST INCOME

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016
Interest Income '
Financial asssts hald for trading 53633 48,986 53.633 43,986
Available-for-sale finaneial asscts (1) . 256,884 188,314 ) 214,188 ' 148,370
Loans and receivables (i) 1,952,024 . 1.615,642 1,916,127 1,568,999
Held-to-maturity Investments (Il 457401 450,843 405,001 411,219
Derivatlves - Hedge accounting, interest rate risk 16,153 - 16,153 -
Other assels 13,788 50,415 12,068 43,269
Total interest income . 2,760,793 2,368,200 2,817,171 2,226,843
Interest expenses
Financial liabilities held for trading {26,042) (23,500) (26,042) © (23,500)
__ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost {iv) ) (738,580) (551.882) {661,803) (470,773)
" Derivatives - Hedge accounting, Interest rate risk {53) o | (63) 5
Cther liabilities (3,523) {6,123) (3,510) (6.107)
Total interest expense {768,198) |SHLEDS) (61, 204) | BIII)
Net Interest Income 1,992,595 1 TBEHOE 1,825,662 {7 daa

{) Interest income from loans and receivables position include alsc interest income from impaired loans in amount of RON 81,013
thousands (2015: RON 162,846 thousands) for the Group and RON 79,730 thousands (2015: RON 157,466 thousands) for the
Bank. Due to sale of loans in 2015 and 2016 (see note 22} interest income from loans and advances to customers significantly
decreased. Furthermore in the context of low inferest rates environment, proactive measures were taken in order to support
customers. Significant repricing campaign has been performed starting Q4 2015 on the outstanding mortgage portfolio.

(i} Interest income from Avaitable-for-sale financlal assets decreased due lower volumes of new investments compared to the run-offs
and lower yields according fo market conditions compared to the high vield of the matured investments.

(i) Interest income from held to maturity investments registered a slight decrease on Group level due to lower yields of new
investments according fo market conditions compared to the higher yields of run-offs; for the Bank the decrease of vields was
compensated by higher new invested volumes compared to the run-cffs.

(iv) On liabilities side, the decrease in interest expense was mainly favored by lower market rates and change in statement of financial

position structure by higher share of sight deposits, coupled with gradual decrease in long term funding in line with the Bank's
strategy to focus on local currency lending by relying on its strong self-funding capacity in RON.
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4. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

Group Bank
In RON thousands 2015 2018 2015 2016
Securities 4,839 4,857 4,839 4,857
Securities Transferorders 4,839 4,857 4839 4857
Clearing and settlement (45,027) (A9.592) (45627} {HrE12)
Asset management 21,726 26,8993 § —o - |
Custiody . K39 i HoB e A B,73 f
Payment services 86,701 50584 o _!1_‘-.‘.}.__1._. = 4-3;,2:‘ |
..Paymentservices-Cardbusiness . 0088 68,737 R L)
_Paymentservices-Others g (BH3)  (Mm7) (B22)
Customer resources distributed but not managed 397,849 415940 7;___ 421738 AWM
Insurance products 4810 - 50,669 46,6859 46,792
Building society brokerage - 1221 23,736 1640
Forreign exchange transactions 12,004 H3p 12,094 3
Other () 336545 349031 33250 351960
Lending business 80,437 0476 #1970 BB
Loan commitments given, Loan commitments received 6,521 B.429 "B-,521 BA429
Guarantess given, Guarantees received ve3z 20,408 y 23,542
Other lending business ] 45984 41639 L 44mee
Other 164,260 EHEE 122378
Net Commisslon Income 725,181 R332 595,461 ETZ,080
Fegand commigsion Income 882,403 83831 843,094 79284
Fee and commission expense __(®m7222) {130,380} (¥7633) [‘20.r28)

(i)  Other customer resources distributed but not managed includes fees from payment orders from customers, cash transferred and

distribution of asset management products

Net Fees and Commission Income evolution has been pressured in 2016 mainly due lower brokerage fees from subsidiaries {"Other” position)
and lower interchange fee income following changes in related regulation {"Payment services" position). Lost part of commissions from BCR
Banca pentru Locuinte in 2016 ("Other" position) together with lower fee contribution from Erste Asset Management were partially compensated
by higher fees for cash transactions as a consequence of bank strategy o enhance electronic channels usage ("Customer resources distributed

but not managed" position).

Starting June 2016 the Point of Sale (POS) aclivity was transferred to an external payment provider, while the accounting freatment for the
related fees has been changed from Net Fees and Commission to Other Operating Result {impact in "Clearing and settlement” position).

5. DIVIDEND INCOME

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016
Financial assets held fortrading 227 - — rgﬁ? s -
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit orloss 304 - 304 -
Available-for-sale financial assets (i) 5,201 .. 2878 5201 2,878
Dividend income from equityinvestments (i) - - 25,563 2,126
Dividend income 5732 ZET8 31,285 5,008

(i) Dividends from equity investments in 2015 and 2016 were mainly received.from BCR Banca pentru Locuinte, BCR Payments and
investments in associate Fondul de Garantare a Creditului Rural tFN SA (and eliminated at group level). No dividend were paid in

2016 by Banca pentru Locuinte (2015: RON 21,984 thousands)

(i)  Dividends received from investments available for sale: VISA, Mastercard, Biroul de Credit, Transfond, Bursa de Valori Bucuresti
decreased, as in 2015 dividends received from Transfond were cumulative for 3 years RON 2,454 thousands, as compared to RON

635 thousands in 2016.
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6. NET TRADING AND FAIR VALUE RESULT

Group EBank

in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2018
Net Trading result 308,695 315,465 304,270 310,246
___Securities and derivatives trading I e b T 54,898 . 5B58n: @ G4809 55BM1

. Forelgn exchange transactions (1) ) 253,796 259,654 249,371 254,435
Galns or losses on financlal assets and llabilities =4 o

282 1448 282 114

designated at fair vajue through profit or loss { ) {__7__'_______ __A__m__!“_ _l‘____‘___;__r___
Galn/ (loss) from measurement / sale of flnancial assets designated at fair 0
value through profit orloss ) (282} ke (282) (143)
Total net trad'lng and fair value result 308,413 314,317 303,988 049,098

() Increased slightly due to Foreign exchange transactions, which include gains and losses mainly from money market instruments
and also from currency swaps, spot and forward contracts.

7. RENTAL INCOME FROM INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER OPERATING LEASES

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016
Investment property -1’643 239 =L =
Operating leases 38615 53,310 1406 101
Total 40,258 53,549 1,406 1,014

Operating leases are mainly from car fleets rentals and other buildings which do not meet the criteria for investment property. Reported increase
is in iine with expectation of operating leasing business of the Group.
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8. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 215 2016
Personrel expenses (i) {716,721). {729,874} (648,327) {657,036)
Other administrative expenses (I} - (625,077) {671,594} {762,830) (804,923)
Depreciation and amartisation (ili) {171,637). {169,029) (119,667) (105,780)
Total {1,513,435). {457 0,487) {1,530, 524§ {1,567, 728}
Personnel expenses
2015 2016 2015 2016
Wages and sslaries (558,961) {567.831) {505,634) (511,505)
Compulsory soclal security (130,772) {130,256) (118,750) (117,418)
Long-term employee provisions 22 {1,477) : N7 (1,346)
Other personnal expenses {27,010) (30,311) (23,860) {2B,7686)
Total {716,721) {TI5.874) {848,377 (BET DR
Other administrative expsnses
2015 2016 2015 2016
Payments into deposit insurance fund (94,431) (65,271) (86,565) (58,621)
IT expenses {161,898) {178,115) {155,942) {172,265}
Expenses for office space {129,500) {130,301) (247,193) (239,163)
Office operating expenses (90,269) {107,123} (140,618} {161.274)
Advertising / Marketing - h (37,960) (43,309) {33,684) . {40,608)
Legal and consulting costs ! (63,284) (84,182) {58,998) {79,526)
Sundry administrative expensas (47,635). (63,293) (30,630) (53,466)
Jotal (625,077) (B71,554) iT62 B30; (B0 az3)
Depreciation and amortisation
2015 2016 2015 2016
Sofiware-and other intangible assets (79,459) (70,823) (74,768) {67,471)
"Real estate used by the Group /Bank ) (36,370) _ (386,767) (16,320) {14,439)
Investment Property [ . (248). (64) e 2
Amortisation of customer relationships - o = - -
Office furniture and equipment and sunery property and equipmant {55,562): (61,375) {28,579) (23,870)
Jotal {171,637) {183, 020) {118,867} (105, T80}
(i} Personnel expenses for the Group in 2016 are higher with RON 13,153 thousands compared with 2015 driven mainly by

(i

(i)

enhancements in Retail sales force.

Long term employee provisions are described in Note 30. Compulsory social security includes mainly contributions for State
pensions. Contributions for private pensions are included in other personnel expenses. Bank's contributions to state and private
pensions are in amount of RON 120,132 thousands {2015; RON 121,316 thousands).

Other administrative expenses for the Group in 2016 are higher with RON 46,517 thousands compared with 2015, driven mainly by
legal and consuling costs related to consumer protection litigation, “Datio in solutum’ and notary fees related to REM and BFP
merger project, higher investments in IT and in other operational projects, higher advertising and marketing costs partly off-set by
lower deposit insurance fund due to lower risk profile of the bank.

Payments into deposit insurance fund is calculated according to Regulation 2/2016 issued by Deposits insurance fund, based on
eligible deposits volume as of end of previous year and it is booked as general administrative expense in the current year. The
amount was paid on 28 April 20186.

Depregiation and amortization for the Group in 2016 is lower with RON 2,608 thousands compared with 2015 driven mainly by lower
IT software depreciation due to end of useful life of different applications, partly offset by higher depreciation for goods under
operating lease in BCR Fleet Management due to business growth.

The number of Own emplayees of the Bank at 31 December 2016 was 6,134 employees (31 December 2015 was 6,125 employees).

The number of the Gwn employees of the Group at 31 December 2016 was 7,078 employees (31 December 2015 was 7,065 employees).
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The key management remuneration paid during 2016 were of RON 10,139 thousands (2015: RON 12,434 thousands).

in RON thousands 2015 2016

(Gross amount) (Emplovertaxes) (Gross amount) (Employertaxes}

Short-term employee benefits i i k434 1881 0,139 - 1583
- fixed compo nent 10,652 1585 7,123 102
- variable compeo nent 1782 296 3015 491

Below find comparison of the average number of own employees during the financial year (weighted according to the period of employment):

261 2018

Domestic 7,000 7,046
Banca Comerciala Romana 6,135 6,81
BCR Leasing IFN SA N W I E e . 92 80
BGR Pensll, Socletate de Administrare a Fondurilor de Pensil Private SA 44 44
"BCR Banca pentru LocLinte SA : 80 75
SuportCalect SRL " =
CIT Cne SRL . - 555 562
B CR Real Estate M anagement SRL ’ e . 1 -
BCR Fleet M anagement SRL I 5 5
B CR Payments SPV - &8 79
-Abroad 72 T4
BCR Chisinau SA 72 T4
Total 7.072 7,120

9. GAINSILOSSES FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR

LOSS
Group Bank
In RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2018
(Gain / (loss) from sale of financial assets available for sale 5,005 111,747 {10) 111,754
Total .2,1_)05 111,747 {10} 111,754

In June 2016, VISA Europe LTD shares were acquired by VISA Inc. which resulted in a gain of RON 110,228 thousands.

10. NET IMPAIRMENT GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Bank
'in RON thousands ' 2015 2016 2018 2018
Loans and raceivables 74,338 282,003 59,733 219,301
Allocation to risk provisions forloans and receivables - (1,354,352) __(900827) {1255,853) {823,596 -
Relaase of risk provisions forloans and receivables 1288,726 1029995 149272 906065
Direct write-offs of loans and receivables (367,895) (691674) —  (264877) (580,187)
Recoveries on written-off loans and sale of loans J 507,857 844,309 43191 - 717,029
Held to maturity instruments - allocations {1,433) (2,013) - {1,433) (2,013}
Total 72,903 279,980 58,300 217,288

Based on the extensive portfolio sales performed throughout the year, coupled with improved recovery capabiliies for the Retail workout
portiolio, healings registered on the Corporate portfolio and unexpected, one-off recoveries from several Corporate insurance claims, BCR
Group recorded a provision release of RON 279,990 thousands in terms of net charge of impaimments on financials assets not measured at fair
value through profit and loss. The recoveries from sales of loans are in amountt of RON 580,238 thousands for the Group and RON 496,009
thousands for the Bank. The rest on the same position represents insurance claims in amount of RON 110,207 thousands, recoveries from debt
to asset from witten off accounts in amount of RON 61,595 thousands {including “Datio in solutum® law) and recoveries on written off loans in
amount of RON 92,269 thousands. :
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11. OTHER OPERATING RESULT

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2018 2015 2016
Result from real estates/movalble/properties/sofiware/other assets (i) [ ,7_91) (50.973) {39,477) {45,377)
Allocation/releass of other provisions (see Note 30} {445,517) (305,484) {433,173) [287.482)
Allocation/release of provisions for commitments and guarantees given {see Note 30} (28,862) 21,080 - (28,865) 21,086 .
Other taxes . (23213) {20,747) (3,267) {4.290)
Impaimment of subsidiaries (3, S - 144,834 (46,858),
Result from other aperating {expenses)incomaili) {77,969) {153,751) (69,938} {106,978)
Jotal (627,355} {518 ST E] IEIRETE (468 537

{ij In 2016 it includes mainly impainment for repossessed assets in amount of RON (48,068) thousands (2015: {31,877) thousands) for the
Group and RON (46,540} thousands (2015: {26,707) thousands) for the Bank.
Gains/(Losses) on property plant and equipment are in amount of RON 7,260 thousands (2015: (6,000) thousands) for the Group and RON
4,578 thousands {2015: (5,015) thousands) for the Bank, _ ‘

i) Impairment of subsidiaries includes allocation of impairment of subsidiaries in amount of RON (45,856) thousands {31 December 2015
release in amount of RON 144,834 thousands) which is eliminated at Group level, Details are presented in Note 28;

(i) Includes sundry expenses: insurance, recovery and resolution fund, Itigations, penalties.

12. TAXES ON INCOME

Taxes on income are made up of current taxes on income. caloulated in each of the Group companies based on the results reported for tax
purposes, and the change in deferred taxes.

Group Bank
n RON thousands . 2015 2016 2016 2016
Cumrent tax (expensa) / Incomea (4,698) (7.692) . - -
Deferred tax {expense) / income {85,320} (122,736) (92.276) {119,955}
Total § . {90,027) {130,428) {92,276} (119,955}

The following table reconciles the income taxes reported in the income statement to the pre-tax profitioss multiplied by the nominal Romanian
tax rate.

o Group Bank

n RON thousands W15 2016 2018 - 2018
Pre-tax, profiti{loss) 1,012,040 1170489 1,065,703 _ . 1.0CED
Incomea ax expense for the financial year at tha domwstic stelutory tax rate (16%) {181,628) {187.279) {108,812) (160,867}
Impact of tax-exempt samings of i it and other tax-exompt income £3,802 85,857 80,578 48,908
Taxincreasss dqua 1o non-deductibla expanses, additlonal business tax and similar sfements {140,585) {142,388} (134,837} (127.118)
Impsct of other slements of deforred {axincome jaxpanse) 160805 "~ 113200 150,805 T 1zi2m
“Tax income not atribitable h;ﬂ:lo-mpurtim peﬂ;:bd S {7,321} == -
“Income tax (oxpanse) f release reported In the income statement (90,1177} 1158 ki Ty [1in N
The effactive HE rate 2.80% 11.14% 8.74% 1%

For the Bank variation on income tax (expense), between 2015 and 2016 was mainly due to decrease of non-taxable revenues {coming mainly
from reversal of provisions for off balance sheet items and for other debtors) which exceed the decrease of non-deductible expense {coming
mainly provisions for litigations, for off balance sheet items and for other debiors).

The Bank performed a reassessment of the recoverability of the fiscal ioss, taking into consideration the following:
taxable profits forecasts as per the budget for the period 2017-2021;

limit the “lookout period to § years and not 7 years as provided by the local legistation (foreseeable future for esfimating probable
outcome is 5 years for the Bank). ,
In the assessment of probability of sufficient taxable profits, the Bank took into consideration the fact that itis achieving the level of budget.

In 2016 the Bank continued to be profitable and thus a significant portion of fiscal loss was utilized.
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income:
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Sroup,

2015 2016
N Bafore-tax Net-of-tax Beforetax Not-of-fax
ir RON thousands amount Tex banefit i — Tax benefit e
Avallable for sale-reserve (including curency translation) 464,444 (74177) 380,287 334,403 (53.479) 280,924
Rereasurement of net gain {losses) on benefit plans + 7791 {12,475) 65,496 77,316 {12,371} 84,945
Currancy translation (25,046) (26,046) {23,541) - (23.541)
Other comprehensive income 517,368 (86,6562) 430,717 388,178 {65,850} 322,328

Bank

015 2018
. Before-tax Net-ol-tax Before-tax Net-ghtax
in RON thousands b Tax benefit amount ——— Tax benefit Pl
Available for sale-reserve (including curency translation} 430,836 (68,902) 361,734 314,865 (50,383} 264,512
Remeasurément of net gain {losses) on benefit plans 78,050 {12,487) . 65,563 77,386 {12,382) 85,014
QOther comprehensive income 508,686 [81,389) 427,287 392,24 (62,785) 320,528

According to the five-years budgets approved, management estimates that future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the camry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

Deferred tax asset (DTA) is recognized for entire unused tax losses as of 31 December 2016;

In RON thousands 2014 DT_A
Fiscal Loss g 42156 8,745
Fiecal Loss expiry 2021

13, DIVIDENDS PAID
No dividends were paid in 2016 (2015: RON 5,496 thousands).

14. CASH AND CASH BALANCES

Group Bank

in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016
Cash on hand (i} . 2,26951 . 4,333,186 2,257 658 4,322,634
Cash balances at central banks {ii) - 6,885,041 7422789 6,747,119 7,246,274
Other demand deposits o 287,280 155,920 250,710 79,870
Tofal cash and cash balances 9,441,833 11,911,885 9,255,487 11,648,878

i} The cash on hand balance growth was mainly driven by the accumulation of structural surplus in foreign cumency on the local
market.
(i} The cument accounts held by the Bank with National Bank of Romania are mandatory to comply with minimum mandatory reserves
requirements of National Bank. Mandatory reserve rates at the end of 2016 were for RON 8% (December 2015: 8%) and for foreign
- currencies 10% (December 2015: 14%). Minimum mandatory reserve account held at central bank increased significantly for RON in
2018: 5,183,397 RON thousands (2015: 3,490,655 thousands) due to significantly increase in current account and deposit collected
in RON during 2016. In the same fime it was a decrease for minimum mandatory reserve in currencies: RON equivalent in 2016
2,062,800 thousands {2015: 3,256,208 thousands), due to decrease in rate applied fo current account and deposits in currencies. As
a net effect, result an increase in total minimum mandatory reserve in amount of RON 499,155 thousands.
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15. DERIVATIVES - HELD FOR TRADING

Group / Bank
2055 2076
Fair value Fair value
Hotlonalimayat Positive  Negative oL YL T Positive Negativa
in RON thousands

Degrivatives hald fn Trading book 3,628,005 20,483 22,300 5,526,138 28,371 36,081

Interest rate instruments and related derivatives - 3,416,178 ) 8,129 20,024 5,040,753 27587 29245
Equity Instruments and related derivatives : 287,360 - sl 242087 N . B8

Fareign exchange trading and related derivatives 29042 1448 785 220,88 651 56

Commaodities antl related derivatives 5425 908 908 - .. . 420 B3 3

Derlivatives held in Banking Book 4,221,581 58,331 12,802 3,529,541 45,115 8,300
___Interest rate instruments and related derivatives 622,984 49,24 2243 e B 37g3e 188

Equityinstruments and relatéd derivatives 287,380 573 - 243038 88 -
Foreign exchange trading and related derivatives 331237 8,634 10,569 - Fita sl 6978 8484
Total 7,849,586 78,814 35,102 9,057,677 73,488 38,301

Trading book portfolio increase mainly due to higher volume interest rate derivatives trades in 2016 replacing deals maturing in 2015.
Banking book portfolio decrease mainly due to expired cross currency swaps during 2016 and lower FX Swap positions.

16. OTHER TRADING ASSETS

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016
Equity instruments (i) 2,4ﬁ 538 2,417 538
Debt securities 166,877 558,175 168&1 559,175
General governments (i) 66,877 559,175 166,877 550,756 -
Financial assets held for trading 169,294 559,713 168,284 568,713

{ii Equity investments include: shares issued by Erste Bank and also shares quoted to Bucharest Stock Exchange; The decrease
represents the sale during 2016 of shares Erste Bank and Fonduf Proprietatea.

(i) Debt securities include: treasury bills and bonds denominated in RON. The amount significantly increased during 2016 due to new
acquisitions of treasury bills and bonds, both issued by Ministry of Public Finance. '

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS - AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2018
Equlty Instruments (i) 4,279 - 4,279 -
Debt sacurities 17,967 - 15,319 17,967 15,319
General govemments (ii) 7,967 B3B8 7,967 B30
Total finangial agsets designated at fair value through profit or loss 22,246 N 27 340 1531

(i} Equity investments include in 2015: shares issued by Financial Investment Companies (SIFs). In 2016 this portfolio was sold:
(i} Debt securties issued by municipalities.

The financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss form parts of a group of financial instruments that together are managed on a
fair value basis.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS - AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2018 2015 2016
Equity instrumants {I) - . 266,258 197,435 266,037 197,214
Deabt securitles (ii) 6,837,002 = £,376,652 5,090,201 4,648,089
General governments . 6,922_,3_20 5,367,873 5,990,201 4,648,089 |
Credit institutions ‘¥.682 8,679 - -
Total available-for-sale financlal assets 7,203,260 2. BTADET G.256,258 4. 845,305

(i) Equity instruments include investments in shares quoted on Bucharest Stock Exchange and intemational markets.
(i) The decrease in 2018 compared to 2015 is due to maturity of bonds issued by Ministry of Public Finance, compensated partially by
new-acquisttions of bonds issued also by Ministry of Public Finance. The net effect is a decrease of RON {1,554,347) thousands.
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS - HELD TO MATURITY

2015 Group
Total assets Collective
in RON thousands (gross carring Carrying ameunt
allowance
amo unt)
Debt securities
General governments 10,142,974 (1445) 0,41529
Credit institutions 2881 2,891
Total financial assets held to maturity 10,155,365 (1,445} 10,154,420
2018 Group
. Total assets {groas
in RON thousands eaning amount) Collective allowance Carrying amount
Dobt securitlies
Genoral govarnments 18,007.681 (3,480) 13,804,201
Total financial assets held to maturity 13,907,661 (3,460) 13,804,201
2015 Bank
Total assets
Collective .
in RCN thousands {gross carring allowahte Carrying amount
amount}
Debt sacurities
General govemments 8.820,105 {1445) 4,848,660
Credit institutions o =
Total financial assets hald to maturity 8.820,105 {1,445) 8,818,860
2016 Bank
Total assets (gross
m RON thousands carving amount) Collective aliowance Carrying amount
Dabt securitles
General governments 12,359,657 {3,480) 12,386,187
Total financial assets held to Mmaturity 12,389,657 (3.460) 12,386,141

Larger volumes of held to maturity financial assets acquisitions fully compensated the maturities and significantly increased the balance of
financial assets booked under hekl to maturity. The net effect is an increase around RON 3,567,537 thousand.

On 1 November 2009, the Bank reclassified the ISIN RO0717DBN038 from ‘Available-for-Sale' to Hekl-to-Maturity category. Available-for-sale
reserve at the time of reclassification was RON 63 million, which is amortized through profit o loss over the remaining maturity of the instrument
using the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate is 11.55% and the estimated amounts of cash flows the entity expected to recover, as
at the date of reclassification of the financial asset were RON 533,779 thousands. At 31 December 2018, the balance of available-for-sale
reserve related to this instrument is RON 4,593 thousands (2015: RON 12,246 thousands).

Carryin,
in RON thousands amount _ Falr value
Financial agsets previouslyreclassified as at 31Dacember 2086 349,348 35544
Financial assets previously reclagsified as at 31December 208 341038 373341
Financial assets pravio usly reclassified as at 31December 2014 332,731 383472
Financial assets previously reclassified as at 31December 2013 324423 373,454
FInancial assets previo usly reciassifled as at 31December 2012 3B, 349,068
Financlal agsets previously reclassified as at 31December 201 307,806 333,686
In RON thousands 2015 2016
Galn/{Loss) recorded in ot_hg'cu mprehensive income 33,336 15,400
_Gain/{Loss) recorded in profit orloss we4dr BATE
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20. SECURITIES

Group
Flnanclal assets
. Firancial assets dasignated at fair Available-for-saly Holt-to-meturity -
Securities ! ] " X Total
held fortrading ~ value through profit financial assets Investments
and loss
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2018 2015 0%
Bonds and other interest-baaring securities 166,877 559,175 17,867 15,319 8,937,002 5,376,652 10,154,420 13,904,201 47,276,266 19,855,347
Listed 64301 200,78 7,967 38 5321380 308406 10,0772 1,884 855 55008 B,5538
Uniisted D248 258597 by c 16%5,68. 1AN726 47248 BIE 765347 1880020
Equity related securltles 2,417 538 4,279 . 239,641 171,055 . - 246,337 171,593
Listad 247 538 4279 - 18,351 H4670 - - 5,087 #5208
Unlisted 4 - - - 250 26385 - - 01250 26385
Equity holdings - - . - '26,617 26,360 - 26,617 24,360
Total 169,294 559,743 22,246 15,3190 7,203,260 §,574.087 19,154,420 13,904,201 17,549,220 70,053,320
Bank
Financial assets
Securilles Financlal assets  designated at fair_ Avallable-for-sala Held-to-maturity Total
held for trading  value through profit financlal assets Investments
and logs )
n RON thousands 2015 0% 2015 2016 2015 2015 2015 2016 2015 2016
Bonds and other Interest-bearing securities 166,877 559,115 7,967 5,389 5,090,202 4,648,089 8,818,860 12,386,M7 144,083,708 17,608,780
Listed 64301 300,78 7967 538 439791 328380 8818560 356,87 1,299,929 6,990,506
Unfisted 12486° 256007 - - 1592201 1358277 - - :: 1694777 168,214
Equity related securities 24T 534 4279 - 239,641 70834 . - 248337 fard
Listed 247. o34 4219 - 05,31 HETO - - 5,087 ‘H5.20&1
Unlisted - 11250 26,84 - 5 11250 26,84
Equity holdings - - - - 26,395 26,380 - - 26,385 26,380
Tetal 169,294 556,78 22,246 15,30 6,256,238 4845303 8,815,660 12,386,%97 15,266,438 17,806,532
21, LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
— = 2015 Group
clal as&els
in RON thousands {gross carring (;::::::;t“l:: Ca::r:ll‘r:g
- amount)

Loans and receivables 205,743 (1,340) 204,403
Central banks 2,424 - 2,424
Credit institutions 20331 {1340) 201979

Total loans and recelvables to credit institutlons 205,743 {1.340) 204,403

2018 Group

q iEite 8 s Sats Ceolective Carrylng
in RON thousands (gross carring

amount) allowance amount

Loans and recelvables 557,468 (4,836) 552,830
Central banks 227 - 227
Credit institutions 557,238 (4,838) 552,603

Total loans and recelvables to credit institutions 557,468 {4,636} 552,830

2015 Bank
Total assests

srosscarmg  Solectve  Cerrying

amount)

Loans and recelvables 185,971 (1,340) 184,831
Central banks 2,424 . R 2424
Credit instltutions 83,547 {1340) 82,207

Total loans and receivables to cradit institutions 185,971 (1,340} 184,631

2016 Bank

Total assais
in RON thousands (gross carring el A Carrying
allowance amount

amount)

Loans and receivables 656,050 (4,638) 651,414
Central banks 227 = 227
Credit institutions 655,823 {4,636) 85187

Total loans and receivables to credit institutions 656,050 (4,6386) 651,44

The increase in 2016 compared to 2015 is due to higher placements by BCR fo other banks,
institutions. The cumulative effect is an increase of RON 469,207 thousands.

S

and also fo the increase of loans granted to credlt

32



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016 _

ALLOWANCES FOR LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

2015 Group
Exchange-rate
tn RON thousands ?::::::g Allocations Releases and other :;?:ni:g
changes (#-}
Collectlve allowances
Loans and receivables (2,507) (225) 1443 (51 (1340}
Credit institutions (2,507) (225) 1443 (57 {1,340)
Total {2,507) (225) 1,443 {51) (1,340)
2016 Group
Exchange-rate
in RON thousands ooames  Allocations  Releases pndisther :;?asr::g
alance changes (+/-)

Collective allowances

Loans and receivables (13400 (3.707) 378 82 {4.638)

Credit institutions (1340) (3.707) 379 2 (4,636)

Total {1,340) (3,707) 379 32 (4,8638)

2015 Bank

Exchange-rate
In RON thousands Opening Allocations Releases and other e
balance Balance

changes (+-}

Collectlve allowances

Loans and receivables (2,507) (225) 1443 (519 {1340)

Credit institutions {2,607) _(225) 1443 (57 {1340)

Total {2,507) (225) 1443 {51) {1,340)

2016 Bank
- Exchange-rate
in RON thousands ‘ %gr"r:: Allgcations Releases and other :ahl,:r::
£hce changes (H-) )

Collective allowances

Loans and receivables (1340) (3.707) 378 32 {4,638)

Credit institutions {1340) (3,707) 379 32 {4.636)

Total (1,340) (3,707) 379 32 (4,636)

The exposure o banks increased in 2016 compared to 2015 and tha collective aliowances maintainad the same trend.

22. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CUSTOMERS
2015 Group
Total assets

in RON thousands (gross carring allos:::t:?: iﬂ::::::: caz:?:::

amount}

Loans and receivables 38,441,948 (5,369,124} - (622,087) 32,484,757

-_General govemments 4,653,529 {28,574) (31506) 4,503,449
Otherfinancial corporations 373696 {28,93) (2,87 . 242,38
Non-financial corporations 1,028,67 (3,753,358) (377,354) 9,057 445
Households 19,386,566 (1558,999) (270,020) 17,557,547

Total loans and receivables to customers 38,441,948 {5,369,124) (622,067) 32,450,757

2016 Group
Total assets . .
in RON thousands {gross carring Specific  Collective Carrying
allowances allowance amount
amount)

Loans and receivables 35,884,581 (2,993,897) (599,550) 32,291134
General govemnments 4,493329 (24,687) (27.458) 41184
Other financial eorporations 356,857 (22,5533 (6.478) 287868
Non-financial corporations L0604 _ (18003%B) (235059 0,057,327
Households 18,272,661 (1187.341) (330,563) 17,804,757

Total loans and raceivables to customers 35,884,581 (2,993,897} (599.550) 32,291,134
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2015 Bank
Total assets -

in RON thousands {gross carring allos:::;?: 2;2::2:; (:a:r:::::

amount}

Loans and receivables - = 38,M8,547 (4,969,281 {600,542) 32,548,724
General governments i 465314 (28,572) (3%) 4503044
Other finangial corporations 624,986 (2808) T (3.072) 593,808
Non-financial corporations 13,686,776 (3,623,875) {298,684) 10,064,277
Households B 18,853,671 {1288.8%) {267,290) 17,207 584

Total loans and receivables to customers 38,118,547 (4,969,281) (600,542) 32,548,724

2016 Bank

in RON thousands kel ".m (gross Specific T Carrying amouin

carring amount} allowances allowance

Loans and receivables 34,532,671 (2,703,018} (576,546) 31,162,508

General govemments 4,193,151 (24,687) {27,454) 4,141,010
Other financial corporations 651,633 (22,057) * 6,363} 623,223
Narvfinancial corporations 10,766,985 {1,723,082) {214,048) 8,820,945
Housaholds 18,828,602 {1,023,780) (327,791} 17,577,331

Total loans and racalvables to customars 34,532,671 (2,793,816} {576,646} 31,182,500

Net customer loans have been impacted both on Group and Bank by the decrease in the Non-Performing Loan (NPL) volumes in line with the
bank's NPL resolution strategy, which more than offset the increase of the performing book, to a large extent driven by Retail

The loans and receivables to customers balance as of 31 December 2016 were impacted by the elimination of intra-group loans granted to
REM and BFP in amount of RON 775,067 thousands, as a result of the merger. '

ALLOWANCES FOR LOANS AND RECEIVABLES TO CUSTOMERS

2015 G
Oponing balance  Aliocakions” Uses™ Relesses”  Inturestincomefiom Enchange-ratesnd Closing Baiance (-} Recovarios on writtenoff Directwﬁ:nlfsof
8} impaired loans  ofher changes (¥} loans and sale of kians*  foans and receivablps®
In RO thousands
Spacific alowances
Loans and racoivalles (7,119,84) {129,208 218, 1,180,982 16234 {395,220) (5,369,124} 45T {157.05)
General qovernments {20,105) (12479 - 1784 438 1476 {4,13%) {28,573) 568 {318)
O firencial corporations {14.926) 124842 1857 1,25 1808 {5.40) (28,162) 10510 {8,004)
Nonfrancial corporafions {5,0M,856) {797.926) 1,306,091 MM - 85,285 (279.4%9) [3,7%53,360) 47948 {330,078)
Houssehokis (2073.124) {523,950) 81,671 20341 3 (108,345) {1,556,500) 16,11¢ {28,407) -
Collociive allowances
Loans and recsivablis {887,258) {54,023) . 1532 (6.206) {622,067)
General govemments {27,808 (8716) S 31% = 277 k]
Other firancial corporabions {803) {1210} . 5993 . 5] [3187)
Norvinancid corporalions (376,218) #1,186) kek ] . . (Bz0) (382,34)
Hoyseholds [276,347) {2811) . 81,954 . {818) {165,038)
Toial {7,867.070) {1,354,177) 218103 1,207,263 162,46 o {5.991,191)
218 Grews
Opening balance  Allocations” Ugeg™ Relesses®  Wbarestincome from  Exchangedfateand Closing Balance {+) Recoverios on writien-off  Direct write-offs of
@ impaired loans othar changes (4 Ioang and s2la of oans* foang and racoivalifes®
In RCN thousands
Specific allowances
Loans and receivabies (5369128 (759,220 2719448 %04H 8112 {s75,469) {299,897} [T {i1,6574)
General goiamirents (85T {4514) % 1,145 1402 {5,09) {24,687 17 {111)
Other frencial corporaions {28,150} (1.100) 1313 495 ™ {8%3) {22,553) % . {060)
Nor-Fnzneial corparations {3753.3%0) Enem)  1em2y SRos W\ E@s2) (1.8 5748 (566,604)
Households {1,55908) 26%) W 878 05 R0 (1) L R
Callertive alfowances
Loans ad raceivables {622,007 {137.700) I 8177 1,040 (893,550)
General govemments (31.507) [3.162) - LIRE: - (387) 127.45)
Other financlal covparafions {@,18n {5813} - 2306 = 16 6.478)
Non-inancial comorations (3334) {46,908) - 5,867 - 15034 (235,051)
Households (185,039) [61.87) - 153% - {B5422)° 330,569
Total {5,5%1,191) @96.520) 20048 1029516 1,012 {54412) {1540

) Allocations, releases, recoveries of amounts previously wrilten off and amounts written off represent the income statement effects (se Note 10).
*) Uses represents the decreases of alowances for Impaimment due to written off and sold loans.
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My mek

Qpeningbalamce  Allocatiors* Usas™ Relcases*  Interestincome from  Exchengesatoand Cloging Balance (- Rncm‘nomvrimw:oﬁ Direct write-ofls of
[¢] impaired loans  other changes (H-) ) loans and sale of hoans®  Ians and recolvables*
in RON theusands
Spacific allowances
Loms sl rscaliables I ) 151513 1428532 15148 (B (sa 3,181 (264877)
General goveminents {20,108) (12478) 1784 4996 1378 [43%) (#851) 858 [318)
Ot Frangial corporaiions {14851) (24,888) 158 125 1,508 (3.24) (0 10510 954
Nor-iencial corporaons {ATIH81) Az 103 823,248 3% NEIE (e 5N (227,060)
Househalds {1.418810) {45955 53518 209,187 73,757 (112.156) 1,288,816} 16082 {28.407)
“Collchve alowances
Lot v recobvebies {660,868} {3805) T (o018 {0542
Genentlgowerments ~ (Teey  era) g Ay
e frencil comorsons (78%) {149 5366 8 o)
Nanfinencil cooraiions 39.58) {anaom g7 1,050 {262
Houschlds {33 .40} z B35 #7) {17
Total (6,836,324) 1,265,628) 1315138 1,147,820 " 1546 (304,304) {5.569,823)
6 Esn
Opening balance  AllocaBiofis* Usog™ Release*  intarestincome fom  Exchangeate and Closing Balsce |- Recoveries anwritenof  Directwrtigeafis of
H. impalrealoans  other changes (44 ] loans and saie of Ians™  loans and recshvalries™
mRON thousands
Specific llowances
Loans and recoivables {4.963.:281) {697,134 2093484 BT 79730 {139,568 [2.783,618) il {580,487
Generel governments (B5H) {4814 951 5 1,102 (5007) {24587) 12% {111}
Other financial corparations Bo17) {600) 1577 ATT8 m 884) )] % Lo
Non-inancial comoraions (3523874 {54590) 180524 Ha1N 3% (68%)  (tmneg) a7 55210
Howseholds {1.28816) {31h B2 35078 0061 (876 (170 86300 124000
Collegtive allowansrs
Loans and recelvabies (600,542) (A 65,949 B2 (576, 546)
Ganersl govemmenls {31485) {12} 2 Hin B (27 454y
Oftier freneiel corporzbons o) (5552) L 2241 ] 835
Nervfiarcial corporations {372628) {3217) - 14 148457 {21438}
*_ Househokls {847 (81.24) - 1198 (B45%8) (327,761}
Total {5588,629) (43,856} 2083484 905,685 870 {59350} 30482

*) Allocations, releases, recoveries of amounts previoushy written off and amounts written off rapresent the income statement eflects (see Note 10),
**) Uses rapreserts the decreases of aowances for impairment due to witten off and sold loans.

In 2016 and 2015 Group sold a part of non-performing loan portfolio. These sales resulted in the following changes that were reflected in the
financial statements. :
Sales and write off of loans in 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

In RON thousands Group
2015 2016
Transfer of loans Gross camylng amount Related aliowance Gross canying amount Related allowance
Selson balance Joans R - —— ___ . -.aaaz 561,695 2,631,021 2,083,347
Write off on belance loans 1,682,390 1,671,416 320,766 321,830
Sales from previously writen off loans 175,943 175,943 2,949,870 2,949,870
Total exposurs reduction from gale and write offs 2,551,385 2,409,054 5,910,650 5,325,047
in RON thousands Bank
2015 2016
Transfer of loans Gross carnying amount  Related allowance Gross camying amaunt Related allowance
Sale on balance loans 893,032 561,886 2,376,901 1,877,986
Write off on balance loans 1,019,544 1,008,682 310,456 303,498
Sales from previously writen off loans 119,477 119,477 2,423,774 2,423,774
Total exposure reductlon from sale and writs ofis 1,832,054 4 EEhEED CREEBER Y] Lapsser

During 2016 BCR Group has realized two main sales of non-performing loans portfolios:

1) corporate and retail ioans in amount of RON equivalent 4,393,761 thousands

2) retail loans in amount of RON equivalent 1,058,531 thousands

The rest up to RON 5,210,650 thousands represents other smaller sales.

Total reduction in net exposure for sales and write offs was in amount of RON 585,603 thousands for the Group {2015: RON 142,311
thousands) and RON 506,874thousands for the Bank (2015: RON 141,199 thousands).
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has a 33.33% interest in Fondul de Garantare a Credituiui R'ural, which is a financial institution whose main role is to facilitate the
companies from the agriculture industry to obtain loans from the banks. The Group interest in Fondul de Garantare a Creditului Rural is
accounted for using the equity method In the consolidated financial statements.

The table below shows the aggregated financial Information of company accounted for using the equity method:

in RON thousands 2015 2018
Financial institutions 16,193 16,568
Total 16,193 16,568
in RON thousands 2015 2016
Total assels 1,240,420 | TaTAB
Total liabilities ) 1,191,837 687,728
Total equity 48,583 49,708
Proportional of the Group's ownership 33.33% 33.33%
Carying amount of the investment : 16,193 18,568
In RON thousands B 2015 2018
Income 21,825 17,843
.Expenges ) (13,381) (11,308)
Profit befora tax 8,434 8,535
Income tax expenses (187) (1,149)
Profitfloss 8,247 5,386
Proporfional of the Group's ownership 33.33% 33.33%
Group's share of profit for the year 2,749 1,795

As of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, there is no published price quotations for BCR Group investment accounted for using the
equity method. .
The contribution of the Fondul de Garantare a Creditului Rural {0 the BCR Group total assets is 0.02%.
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24. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group
Property and squipment - Acquisltlon and producticn costs
Offlee and plant
in RON thousands Land and buildings equipment / :mer IT assets {hardware) LU LGRS i
fixed assets property equipment properties
Balance as of 01.01.2015 1094, M6 343,787 481,521 203,361 2,123,387
Additions in current year (+) %94 2842 3 72230 U643 -
Dispasals and write off{-) {25,18) (24011 (37,769) (2,088) (89,057) (9,023
Reslassification (4-) 70,808 {1440) (6,354) (9472) 53531 9,636
Curencytranslation (4-) {60) {737) {487) - (1284) -
Balance as of 31.12.2015 1,155,257 345,642 468,082 264,021 2,233,002 613
Balance as of 0101.20% 1,185,257 345,642 458,082 264,029 2,233,002 613
Addtons hourentyear(y) I T T 057 208603
Disposals and wite off (-} (20,907) (B,063) (36,86) {5.756) (859%) -
Reclassification (+-} (787) (3,76) 4420 ; 457 -
Assets hekd for sale - 2078 - S i = mms .
Curencyranslation{#-) 5 0 % - R B
Balance as of 3112.2016 1,434,086 377,84 473,374 351922 2,637,200 613
Group
Property and equipment - Accumutated depreciation
Office and ptant ;
in RON thousands Land and buildings equipment / :lher IT assots (hardware) HOTEIOLY gl G L LT
fixed assets : proparty equipmant properties
Balance as of 0101.2015 {316,345) (268,453) (444,280 (37,609) (1.068,777) .
Amortisation and depraciation (-) (36,370) -(24620) (11904 (9037} (01839 (47
Disposals (#) 24374 20210 35,579 123 81346 T465
impaiment.) ) (80 - (550) (1402) -
Reversal of impaimment (+) 208 - - 798 1006 -
Reclassification {#- (71856) 1445 6,357 702 {57.42) (7.345)
Currencytransiation (4 ] 572 35 -
Balance as of 3112.2015 {401,153) - {270,868} (413,873) f&E 355} (145 588) T
Balance as of 0101207 {401,153) (270,866) (413,873} 140G 353) {18 2] W
Amerfisation and depreciation(-) (36,767) (B8] (B508) By -f'.‘li;hfm_‘ e )
Disposals (4 4T 2758 B T Y )
Tipament] - (9 - i
Curencytrnsiaton(+-) . 3) (84 (89) . e
Balance as of 3112.2016 (4214486) {276,487) (392.477) (74,188 {14594 {5}
Qroup
F roperty ang equipment
O!ﬁce nd plant Movable other  Total properly and Investme nt
in RONK thousands Land and buildings equipment / other IT assets {hardwara}
Tl Assats property equipment proparties
Balance as of 3112.2015 754,104 74,778 58,208 215,868 1,008,757 486
Balance as of 3112.2016 1,012,840 104327 §0,901 277,734 1,472,602 422

37



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

Bank
Froperty and squipment - AcqulsiBon and production costs S
in RON thousands Land and bulidings  2® 2" b IT 2soets (hardware) i "':::I";"m’.“n‘:
Balance as of (1.01.2015 314,678 202,381 472,580 1,070,918
Adkitions In curent year (+) — 10,704 25431 29,285 85,421
Dispozats and write off () (3.210) (23,675) {37.48T) (64.346)
Raclassification (+) : 239%6 {1,407 {6,354} 15,235
Balance as of 31.12.2015 248,468 202,70 458,031 1,087,228
Balancs as of 01.01.2016 - ‘ 346,463 ' 292,730 458,03 1,097,229
Addilions In curent year (+) . 17822 32,808 35,818 85,747
Dispocts and wiits off (-} (16.160) (8,625) {35.152) 158,937)
Merger sffacts (+) : 1,097,015 21,886 - L hd
‘Reclassification (+£) (788) 3417) 4,420 ]
Assels held for ke () 36,260 & 38280
Balanca as of 31.12.2016 1,418,837 335,420 463218 2218475
Bank
Property and ~Accumulaed depreciation
in RON thousands Land end buildings  OTC '“";';’::g:‘;".“s‘::g . IT atosts (hardwars) i "’::::“'s'::
Balance as of 01.01.2015 {178,358) (241,092) (437,930} {667,380
Atortlsation and depredation (-} (16,320) {17,824) {10,758} {44,009
Disposals (+) : 2,210 19,971 35,088 58,803
Impainment{) I RS L e 1)) BT (84 = {%5)
_Recassification (+£-) {25,264) i 1,407 ] 5,354 {17,803
Balance as of 31.12.2015 ] [216,643) {237,622) {407,043) {861,308}
Balanca as of 01.01.2016 (216,843} {237,622} (407,043) (881,308}
Amorticaion and depreciation (-} (14,438) {11,480) {12,390) {38,309)
Di ) 18,132 8428 34,278 54,638
Morger effects (+) (203,718) {15,416) = (219.134)
Ampairmien (- - (14 = 14
Balance as of 31.12.2018 {418,688) {256,104) {385,158) {1,059,927)
Bank
Propetty and equlpment
Office and plant Total property and
in RON thousands Land and buildings equipmant ! other T assets (hardware} il
equipment
flxed assets
Balance as of 31.12.2015 20,825 55,108 50,088 235,921
Balance as of 31.12.2016 1,001,469 79,34 78,063 1,168,548

There are no fixed assets pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015.

The total cost of the Group's tangible fixed assets in use and fully amortized at the end of 2016 was RON 613,878 thousands (2015: RON
623,282 thousands}. _ 7 .
The total cost of the Bank's tangible fixed assets in use and fully amortized at the end of 2016 was RON 590,907 thousands {2015: RON
618,540 thousands).

The fair value of land and buildings is RON.672,177 thousands for the Group and RON 114,964 thousands for the Bank. The fair value of and
and buildings has been assessed as at 31 December 2015 by an independent valuator.

Details refated to assefs reclassified in assets held for sale are in Note 27.

The investment properties are presented at cost and as at 31 December 2016 the fair value is RON 613 thousands and the carrying amount is
RON 422 thousands. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited extemal Independent valuator.
During 2015 the Group have disposed some investment property and the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the camying
amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss in Other operating result and is in amount of RON 16 thousands.

As a result of the merger between the bank, BCR Real Estate Management and Bucharest Financial Piazza, as of 31 December, 2016, the
following fixed assets (cost and related accumulated depreciation) were transferred into the Bank's portiolio (RON thousands):

]

Absorbed entity Cost Accumuiated depreciation Total Net book value
REM 792,459 (200,193) §92,268
BEP 286,242 _{18,84%) 247,301
Total merger effoct 1,068,701 (218,134} 839,667
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25. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
Intangible asse’s - Acquisition and production cosls
Selfconstructed
in RON thousands Customer relationships Sofwarmacqured  solwarewitintie OO Hoenses, Total
Group paleaty, oc)
Balanee £3 of DLOT2015 HESH ] 14425 A B1E
Addiions In curront yer (+) - 84243 . - [T
Disposals and wite of [} - (@.801 - (83821} {B7.728)
Redlassificaion (+) 5 {15,8%) (2,35} - {16.33)
Gurmency ranslation (+4) - {my - - ) {171)
Balance as of 31.12.2015 106:944 782,673 11,616 [ [N
Balance as of 01.01.2018 106,44 TR2813 11,616 - [ Wiaa
Addions tn currant year (+} : %638 3,144 - 24,182
Disposals and writa off (- - {108,944) £2,9%) {1,149 - {41,083
Reclassifcation [+ - (15:564) 510 - 54y
Currency iranslaion (+) § - 10 - = 110
Balance s of 31.122M6 - 838,061 8721 n 300270
Broup,
Intangible assets - Accumulated depreciation
Salf-constructed
in RON thousands Custorer relationships Sohwarascqured  softwasawithn tho m“.f"’e"‘ Total
Group patants, efc.}
‘Belanca es of 1122015 {16344 {12502 19,628 4277 R
Amoriisation and depreciation (-} - (77,950 (1,500 [&] (79.450)
Disposale and wril off (-} i o 3,763 ‘- 83870 87633
Retlassification () - 15,104 240 . 1754
Assats held for sale {-) - - - - .
Currency translation (+-) 17 _ - .17
Balange as of 51,1223 106,944 531,578) 8725 {411 [B7.658
Balance as of 01.01.2016 108,44 {531 578) [8.725) [4tt) {647.658)
Amortisallon and depresiafion {-) ‘ - (58,254 {12,560) ] {0,822}
Disposals and wiite off [ 106,94 s - - 108,040 -
Impaiment (-} i : {137 o (] .44
Cumency fransiation (+-) i ; - - )
Balance as of 31122016 - [589.197 21,265} 1492) (610374
Group
Intanglble assets
Self-construcied Others
in RON thousands : Customer refationships Software acquired software within the . Totat
patants, ele.)
Group
Balance e3 of 31122015 : 21,25 ] H 134245
Balance 25 of 31121016 - 245,864 4342 - 289304
Baﬁ
Intangliie assets - Acquisition and production costs
Salf-construcied
In RON thousands. Softy qui within the Totat
Group
Balance as of 01.01.2015 §62.401 14,015 arals
Additions in cumen year (+), 90,865 - 240,885
Digposals and wilte off (-} *. R . ~ @) - 3,731)
Reclessification (+/.) ' {13,836} ,388) {18
Balance as of 31,12.2015 735,699 698 741,214
Balance as of 01.01.2016 735699 18 _Td1 214
Addiionsin cumerkyear(t) - A 88,168 30,144 12112
Digposals and write off {-) (2.458) {1,143) {3,641)
Memer effects (+) 3,083 - 3083
Reclagsification (+/} ‘15.564! 15,108 455
Balanice as of 31.12.2016 808583 84,725 ur's!m_s"

39



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

Bank.
Intangikle asssts - Accumulated deprecistion
Self-constructed
in RON thousands quirad fhy within the Total
— Group S
Balance as of 04.01.2015 {452,817} (0&4’ {968,541)
Amodtisation and depreciztion (-] — (73,268) ~ (1,500) ~ {74,768)
Disposals and wiiteoff (-} = 3730 - 3,13
Redassification (+-) 18104 2400 17,504
Balance a8 0 31,12.2015 . (514,351) (8,724} {523,075)
Balance as of 01.01.2018 ]51&351! (8,724} (523,075}
Amortisation and deprecistion {-) {54,912) {12,559} (87,471)
Disposals and wrile off {-} 2,088 - 2,088
Morger effedts (+) (3,083) - 12.083)
Impaiment-) = S R (17374 I 1:374)
Reclassification {+/-) 2 2) -
Balance as of 31.12.2016 (511,628} (21,265} 912
Bank
Intangible assete
Sofiware Self-constructed
in RON thousands acquired sofiware within the Total
Group
Balance as of 31.12.2015 221,348 2,892 224,239
Balance #s of 31.12.2016 237,259 43,441 280,809

Cuistomer relationships arise from acquisition of pension contracts by the subsidiary BCR Pensi, Societate de Administrare a Fondurilor de
Pensii Private SA, from another pension fund. In 2014, given the volatiity in the cumment economic environment, the Group has performed an
impairment test on the customer relafionship (for both Pillar 2 and Pillar 3). During 2016 Customer relationship has been written off

The method used for impaiment test was the discounted cash flow, which took into consideration all future cash-flows generated by thess
portfolios of participants, which are influenced by account atfrition, expected lives, discount rates, interest rates, servicing costs and other
factors.

The Group considered significant changes in these estimates and assumptions, which adversely impacted the valuation of these intangible
assefs and consequently the camying amount was reduced to zero.

Land concessions in BCR Real Estate Management in amount of RON 83,695 thousands were writien offin 2015,

The fotal cost of the Group's intangible fixed assets in use and fully amortized at the end of 2016 was RON 403,669 thousands (2015: RON
284,259 thousands).

The total cost of the Bank's intangible fixed assats in use and fully amortized at the end of 2016 was RON 391,108 thousands {2015; RON
200,496 thousands).

The merger effect is represented by intangible assets transferred from BCR Real Estate Management, having a gross bock value in amount of
RON 3,083 thousands, fully depreciated as of 31 December 2016.

26, TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

— Group
Reat variance 2016
Taxasssts  Taxasssts Taxllabilies Tax labilities Through profiy _Trough othar
in RON thousands 2016 2018 2018 2016 Total or loss comprahansive
. income
Temporary differences relats to the following iams:
Loans and edvances t cradit institutions and customets. e at3® 3154 ¢ B 70 (o78) ]
Financla asssla - brogle L T e (@) go2en T (58 (aesm @) - 21268
Property and equi 12,157 13214 5 = (1,057) 1,067
It stments Jh subsidiaries 168,647 157,020 - - 9,627 {9,827}
Long-term employee provisions 8,777 8,123 g = {1,348) 1,241 105
Sundry provisions 41,707 161,114 - L (119,407} 119,407 L
Canyforward oftexlossss _ 240,878 8,745 = 233,633 {233,033)
Othor - 73,160 23,380, 2 83 w8 I 3
Tetal deforrad taxes 426,303 222,608 (6,282) {3,068) 101,899 (122,736) 21,503
Current taxes 133,192 162,480 {1,360) {1,262) {28,378) {7,892)
Total taxes 660,555 484,088 (7,632} {6,228) 72,163 (#30,428) 21,393
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Bank,

—
Net varlancs 2018

Theough other

in RON thousands L ",:;t; = ”;::: Total Througl;'plr::].! comprehsnsive
incoma
Temporary differences relate to the following iterma:
Loans and advances to credit institufions and customers LA I e o = o -
“Financial assate - available foreale i : (88,802) (50,383) 18,518 5 18,518
Proparty and equipment ) . . 11,850 27,030 2,829 2820 -
Irvestmants in subsidiarics 168,847 157,000 {0.627) {9,827} -
Long-tarm employse provislons : E = TE PRI - 8123 1,531 = 1,426 105
“Sundry provisions B R R 41,560 181,110 119,550 110,550
Garry forward of tax loec 3 . 240,678 8,745 {2523,033) (233,033}
Other - -
Total dafarred taxss 398,530 310,584 104,331} (119,985} 18,622
"Current 1axes 131,628 159,029 - - -
Totnl taxes 530,358° 469,563 (101,331} (119,958) 18,024

Deferred tax was impacted by RON 13,460 thousands from merger effect on property and equipment position.

The current tax asset recognized as of 31 December 2016 was also impacted by current tax liabilities recognized in the trial balances of the two
absorbed subsidiaries (REM and BFP) and presented on anet basis in the Bank's financial statements after the merger, in amount of RON 559
thousands (REM) and RON 556 thousands (BFP).

Al the moment of preparation of the Financial Statement, the Bank is under the Tax audit of National Agency of Fiscal Administration, in terms
of corporate income tax and VAT. Management considers that all potential aspects communicated by the fiscal authorities are included in the
financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are a significant figure in Bank's consolidated financial staterments and relate to both tax losses and temporary differences,
including from impairment of investments. =~ . '
Management assesses there are sufficient future taxable profits available against which the deductible temporary differences and loss of credit
forward can be utilized.

27. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In 2014 the Group has decided to pursue a strategy of optimizing the real estate network, by selling the following categories of properties: non-
core properties (€.9. hotels and training centers), vacant properties, properties targeted for branch relocations and other locations subject to
implementation of new safe storage solutions. '

Reclassiflcatlon impact on  Reclassificati t
IRONHouS g [AEIE BiS as 81 31.122016  on PAL as at 31.12.2016 36
Entity NBV AS AT 01.01.2016 NBY AS AT 31.12.2016
BCR 38,037 (36,280.00) 488
BCR REM ' 80,832 (67,670.00) 2,614 807
BFE - 183,031 (176,764.00) 6,180 1,484
Total 201,900 (280,714) 8,280 2,201

Since the approval of the Real Estate Sale plan was obtained, 26 properties were sokd and for another 2 properties we have a firm commitment
to be sold in the next period. '

Currently, the BCR management is still committed to execute thie sales plan, however the sales of the remaining portfolio is not highly probable
to oceur, , therefore these assets were reclassified from Assets Held for Sale to Property and Equipment.

Buring 2016 11 properties were sold having a net book value of RON 14,459 thousands. The gain cbtained from selling these properties was
2,867 thousands RON and it was recognized in “Other operating result”.

Total impact of reclassification was RON 10,070 ihousands, split as follows:

- Impaiment in amount of RON 9,273 thousands from reclassification of buildings & land from Sales Plan reported in Other Operating Result.
- Depreciation in amount of RON 797 thousands reported in Depreciation and amortization”,
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28. OTHER ASSETS

Group Bank
in ROM thousands 2015 2018 2015 2018
Accrued income 55,052 54,674 5313 R
Inventories () = 262,965 197,861 181,908 138,008
Subsldiaries (i) _ _ 5 - 867,223 [T
Sundry asseis 84,938 113,195 35,313 41,486
Total 423,333 365,730 1.090,757 606,775

()] Under this positicn the major item is represented by "Repossessed Assets”, which amounts to net of RON 133,510 thousands
{2015: RON 181,908 thousands) for the Bank and RON 62,584 thousands (2015: RON 101,057 thousands) for subsidiaries.
Impairment of repossessed assets in amount of RON 173,171 thousands {2015: RON 121,269 thousands) for the Group and RON
114,247 thousands (2015: RON 67,708 thousands) for the Bank was booked as a result of comparing camying amount with net
realizable value.

(i Bank's investments in subsidiaries and other companies are-in amount of RON 622,150 thousands (2015: RON 867,223
thousands). There is no active market for these investments and the Bank intends to held them for the long tem. This position has
been impacted by the elimination of Bank's parficipations held in BCR Real Estate Management, in amount of RON 161,179
thousands).

At 31 December 2016 the allocation of impainment for investments in subsidiaries was in amount RON {45,856) thousands and consists of
allocation of impairment for BCR Chisinau, BCR Leasing, CIT One.

in RON thousands 2015 2018,
Suport Golect SRL — (983,047) (865,047)
BCR Lessing IFN SA (127,523) (158,881)
Financiarg (60,166) -
BCR Chisinau 5A, - (128,111) {137,097)
CIT One 6RL 6,945 (11677)

Vol 11,308,792} (1:291,482)

The recoverable amount of the subsidiaries have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, using cash flow projections hased on
financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five—year pericd.
The following rates are used by the Group:

Foreign
Local subsidiaries ~ subsidiarias -
commercial hanks

Discount rate D40% 0%
nflation rate* - _ : - 6.00%
“long term infiation in Moldavia

The calculation of value in use for both foreign and local subsidiaries is most sensitive to interest margin, discount rates, market share during
the budget perfod, projected growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period and local inflation rates.

Discount rates

Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risk specific to each cash generating unit. The discount rates were estimated based
on specific parameters (e.g. risk free rate, market risk premium, size premium and country risk premium for foreign-subsidiaries) estimated for
commercial banking indusiry and other financial services. '

Market share assumptions

These assumptions are important because, as well as using industry data for growth rates, management assesses how the unit's relative
position to its competitors might change over the budget period. Management expects the Group's subsidiaries share of markets to be stable
over the budget period. .

Projected growth rates and local inflation rates

Assumptions are based on published industry research.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Sensil analysis
Sensivity discountrate+-% — - 1.00%
_Impact on impairment of subsidiaries: discount, rate decrease - — 38,743
.Impact on Impalrment of subsidiaries: discount rate increase + = (31,080)

29. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COSTS

Credit institutions Group Bank

In RON thousands 2015 201 2015 2016
Current accounts / overnight deposits 255,392 75,589 25386 75,784
Term deposits from other banks o NI . 6,430,572 4,626,521 6,479,946 490426
Bormowings and financing lines 228,067 2435583 1281672 154,233
Subordinated loans™ 2341975 2344778 234975 234779
Repurchase agreaments* 3217 8,201 480,048 546,63

Total deposits by banks 1,247,223 9,654,673 10,837,456 9,125,095

“include associated liabilities for collateral repledged in amount of RON 8,201 thousands.
**no changes in subordinated loans occurred in 2016 compared to 2015

In 2012, the Bank contracted one subordinated loan in EUR as follows:
»  EUR 100,000 thousands with the maturity date of 27 June 2022.

In 2009, the Bank contracted one subordinated loan in EUR as follows:
o EUR 120,000 thousands with the maturity date of 30 September 2016. On 28 November 2013 was signed an amendment to the
subordinated contract through the maturity of the ioan was prolonged until 30 September 2021.

In 2008, the Bank contracted two subordinated loans in RON as follows:
+  RON 550,000 thousands with the maturity date on 17 April 2018;

s RON 780,000 thousands with the maturity date on 18 December 2018.

The loan agreements do not stipulate circumstances in whichi eady disbursement is required and- contain no provisions for converting
subordinated debt in equity or other liability.
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Customer Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 201 2016
Current accounts { overnight deposits
Savings deposits
General govemments - i .. DU

Other financial corporations

Non-financial corporations

Households 1413 . 1629

Non-savings deposlts s
General ggvemments 906,820 1320,799 906,820 - 1320799
Other financial corporatlong 57,750 . 584 557 517,750 584,557
Non-financial corporations 7,186,062 7980,735 . 7,118,669 7861222
Households - 567772 . 937338 5,668,854 9,380,643

Deposits with agreed maturity

Savings depasits
General governments o+ - -
Other financial corporations - =
Non-financial corparations - - ) 5 i -
Households 2366280 2875978 - -

Non-gavings deposits - ) )

General govemments 344,905 2539456 344,905 2,530 A56
Otherfinancial corporations 74_5,'53 6§3,_906 = _‘jlilﬁﬂ 8’95_69
Non-financial corparations . 538667 523798 5,504,781 5222918
Households . . 13,993,770 17 666,902 18,980,208 17,645,745

Total deposits from customers 42,626,022 48,235,998 39097391 45,354,909
General govemments 1251725 | 3,860,255 1251725 3,880,255
Other flnancial corparations 1262,903 1238,483 1449881 1404,28
Non-financlal corporations 57228 . B2BES3 12,623,450 3,084,40
Households ' 27,539,975 2997 827 24,649,060 27,006,388

Deposits from Customers have seen a strong upward development driven by both Retail and Comporate clients. Mare specifically, high inflows
came from the Retail cument accounts, Group Large Corporates negotiated term deposits and Public Sector collateral deposits.

Deposits with Customers balance as of 31 December 2016 were impacted by the elimination of intra-group deposits from REM and BFP in
amount of RON 39,933 thousand, as a result of the merger.

Debt sacurities Issuad Group Bank

In RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2018

Subordinated liabliites 247,956 129,189 247,950 129,189
Subordinated issues and deposits i 247,956 129,189 247,956 129,189

Other debt securitles in issua §64,280 508,003 664,280 508,003
Bands (ot subordinated) 664,280 508,003 664,280 508,003

Total debt securities issued 912,236 637,192 912,236 637,192

As of 31 December 2016, the outstanding nominal amount of subordinated bonds issued by the Bank decreased due to matured bonds: EUR
21,000 thousands (2015: EUR 33,500 thousands and RON 20,000 thousands).
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30. PROVISIONS

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2016
Restructuring provisions . = - .
Long-temm employes provisions 42,452 45734 41,856 45,028
Panding legal Issues and tax liigation (I} o 526,491 . B3R5t 510,250 799,205
Commitments and guaramessgiver 242,720 22534 242,709 26314
Provisions for commitments and guarantses - off balance (defaulted customers) 178,726 167,940 178,728 167,940
_ Proyislens for commitments and guarantaes - off balance (non defauled custorners) T 63,992 57402 63,981 57,374
Qther provisions 1,054 36 1,064 -

_ Provisignsforonerousconacts LB 1054 s 1054 p—
Other provisions ) - 36 - -
Total provisfons 812,717 1,104,102 795,889 1,008,547
{i) Having in view the increasing frend in the number of liigations with clients for contracts which contain “zllegedly abusive clauses’

and the history of past relevant court resolutions, the Bank has recognized provisions for its obligation to reimburse the customers counterparty
in such contracts who are likely to initiate kigations in the future. The provisions recognized represent best estimate of potential economic
outflows refated to relevant accounts with clauses that might be assessed as allegedly abusive. .

The expected timing of any resulting outflows of economic benefits was estimated for the near future.

Given the fact that the amount recognized as provision resulted as being significant, it will be reviewed semi-annually by the Bank in order fo
take account of the future trends in litigations, new court resolutions for lifigations with clients for contracts which contain “allegedly abusive
clauses” {of ANPC type or not) and future changes in the relevant legistation.

As at December 2016, the Bank recorded provisions for unfair terms included in contracts which contain “allegedly abusive clauses’ and which
are not subject to a litigation file as at 31.12.2016 in total amount of RON 708,193 thousands {December 2015: RON 449,203 thousands).
Distinctly by the provision for the future ltigations, the bank established a provision for all pending cases having as object individual clients
claims regarding abusive clauses. For individual claims, the Bank has established a provision of RON 51,780 thousands.

Provisions for other litigations are in amount of RON 39,232 thousands for the Bank.

MOVEMENT-IN PROVISIONS
215 Group
Additians, includ. Unused amounts Changes In
In RON thousands Opaning balance increases In exist iArounta w;: revarsed during the discountad and Eﬂ:::ﬂm Closing batance
provislons [+ period [ amount s
Provisions: Restnicturin 13,926 . (3,404) {10,522} - -
Provisions: Pending legal issues and lax Migation (ses Note 11] 74,436 489,772 {116) (37,443) - (158) 526,491
Commitmerts and guarantsas given (see Note 11) 20,8m 129,518 .- (100,654) 2,081 928 242,720
Provigions for puaraniees - off balanca (defaulted cuslomers) 131,338 75,698 - {30,349) 2,081 2 178,728
Provisions for guaranie3s - off balance (non defaulted customers) 79,533 53,881 - {70,308) - - 83,992
Other provisions 739 25048 {25.048) 6:812) - 475 1,054
Provisians for onereus contracts 5,608 - - (5027} - 475 1,054
Othsr proviglons i 25008 (25,047) [1,786) - - -
Total lons k5 long-term am) [ons 308,624 544,336 (28,568} (155,431) 2,081 1243 170,265
2016 Group
Addifions, includ. Unused amounis Changes In
In RON thousands Opening brlance Inereases in exfst. Anounts "‘?; reversed during the discountad ] 3::' '::::ﬂ: Closing balance
provislons v} perlod amoynt ® o
* Provisions: Pending legal ispwes and tax iigation {see Note 11} - 526,431 326,739 {1,27) {20,234} - 1,022 832,91
Commitments gnd querantess glven (sesNote 1) 3 242720 12083 gl {141,885) 187 1.84 225,341
Pravigions for guarantees - off balance (defs customers) 178,728 HE1T - 81,134 1,837 1,892 167,840
Proviglons for cff balance {non defaulted b -~ 63,982 44218 o (50,752} & {58) 57400
Oherpoweors 0= L 25118 & (28,127} © 2 %
Provisions for anerous conlracts 1,054 & - (1.054) - - -
Other provisions . 25,116 i} {25,073) B 2 - ®
Total fos |ong Jong-term erpl Islong 770,285 472680 {1,096} {188,246 1857 2,858 1,058,389
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218 Batk
Addltions, includ, Unusad amounts. Changes In
In RGN thousands Opening balanca Incraases in exist. LIZ) “:_: g during the i d and m:m Closing balsnce
provishons {+) parlod {+) amount
Piovisions: Restructuring 1356 : (3.404) (1052) - = -
Provisions: Pending teqal Issues nd tax Migation {ses Mate 11} 70,234 476,322 o (36,336) - 0 510,250
Commitments and guaraniees given (see Nata 11) 210,867 128,454 - (t00,638) 2,061 926 242,709
Proviglons for grrarantess - off balance {defautiod customers) 131,34 75,636 - (30,349) 2,061 46 178,728
Provislons for guarantess - off balance (non defaulted cusiomers) 7555 53,856 - {70,290) - 860 63,881
Other provisions : 7,391 24,773 (24.772) (6.813) - 475 1,054
Provisians for onerous contracts i . 5,606 - = (5027 ? o a7 1,064
Ohar provisions - E 1,785 24773 [24772) (1.788) o : -
Tofal provislons ke3a long-term employes provislons 302,418 630,569 [28176) 154310} 2,061 143 1843
e Bac
Additions, includ, Unused amounts Changes In
In RON thousands QOpaning batance Increases In exist, L m';: reversed during the discounted o ma:’?:u fals Closing balance
provisions (+) period {1 ameunt L
Provisions: Pending lapallssubs and tax igation {see Nota 11] 10,20 N80Tz E tose - a0 700,006
Commitments and guarantoes given (saa Mot 11) 2242109 120,798 g {141,864) 1.8%7 1834 225314
Pravisions for guarantess - off balance (defaulled cusiomers) 178728 8617 - (01,139 1,837 1,892 167,540
Provisions fof guarentess - off balanca (non defauted customers ] 63,981 4418 - _50.730) - ) {58) 57,314
Other provisions 1,054 2501 - {26,125) - - -
Provisions for anereus contracts 1,054 - e (1.054) - o .
Giherp g 2501 - (114] - = -
Total fons i3 long-term em| rovisions 754,013 453,341 . (87515 1,837 2243 14924519
Long-term employse prnvislon; Greup Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 2018
Opening defined banafit obllgation 40,775 42452 40276 41856
Interest cost 1462 148 1449 1403
Cugrent service cost 4,18 4210 4023 4,06
Past service cost - (1855) - (1883)
Benefits paid ) (%7 (267} - (B {220)
Actuarial (galns)loss an cbligations 4% - 654 427 653
effect of changes infinanclal assumptions 1880 ©5 1868 ©4
affect of experience adjustments (1464) 529 {1441 529
Settlaments gain (4,%8). (878) (4,58) (678)
Total 42,452 45,734 41,856 45,028

According to the collective labor agreement, employees are entitled fo one lump sum payment on the date of normal age refirement, of up to 4
gross montthly salaries (the Bank) and up to 2 gross monthly salaries {the subsidiaries), depending on seniority,

This is a defined benefit plan that defines an amount of benefit that an employes is entitied to receive on the date of normal age retirement,
dependent on ane or more factors such as age, years of service and salary. A full actuarial valuation by a qualified independent actuary is
carried out every year.

The pian liability is measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, The defined benefit plan liability is discounted using
rates equivalent to the market yields at the balance sheet date of govemment bonds that are denominated in the currency in which benefits will
be paid and that have a maturity approximating to the terms of the related liability. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the statement of changes in equity.

The principal assumpfions used in determining the defined benefit obligation of the Group's plan are shown below:

2015 2016
% %
Discount rate . _ 339% 3a7%
Future salaryincreases . 2.80% 2.80%
Moriality rates - ETTL-PAGLER - ETTL-PAGLER
Disabifity rates : ETTL-PAGLER ETTL-PAGLER
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Sroup Bank

Sonslitivity analysls 2015 2018 2015 2016
Sensivity - Discount rate +- % 0.650% 0.50%' 0.50% 0.50%.
impact on DBO: Discount rate d - 2922 385 3,12 3274
Impact on DBO: Digcount rate Increess + . {3,058) . {3.24) (2,827) (2.880)
Sensivity - Salary increasa rate +- % 050% - 0.50,6.: 050% 0.50%
Impact on DB O: Salary Increasa rate - (3.087)- (3.54). (2,856} (3,008)

Impact on DB O: SalaryIncrease rate + 2,925 3,97 . 3,m 3,277

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 15.7 years.

The expected service cost for 2017 is RON 4,487 thousands for Group and RON 4,363 thousands for the Bank.

31. OTHER LIABILITIES

Group Bank
in RON thousands Y2015 2016 2018 2016
Deferred income and accured axpenses 0608 . s SRR i
Sundry liabilities . 200,774 - 22108 18,327 139,996

Total - 307,502 326,404 244,969 242,728

Sundry liabilities consist mainly of debts regarding wages and salaries and local taxes, which are not overdue.

32. |SSUED CAPITAL

The statutory share capita! of the Bank as at 31 Decamber 2016 is represented by 16,253,416,254 ordinary shares of RON 0.10 each (31
December 2015: 16,253,416, 145 ordinary shares of RON 0.10 each). The shareholders of the Bank are as follows:

2015 2016
Porcentage Percantage holding
i RON thousands Number of shares holding (%) Number of shares )
Erste Group Bank Cepa Halding GmbH 15,209,668,849 93.5783% 15,209,668, 849 93.5783%
Societatea de Investit| Financiar ("SIF") Banal Crisana” 1 0.0000% == 0.0000%
Sotietatea de Investiti] FI SIF) .M i 1 0.0000% 1 0.0000%
Socletatea de Inveatitii Financlare (“SIF) Qltenig™ . 1,023,534,303 6.2973% 1,023,534,303 6.2973%
SC Actinvest SA 226,802 0.0014% 228,802 0.0014%
FDI Gertinvest Dinamlo S O D o S 13,699 0.0001% 13,699 0.0001%
BCR Leasing SA . - 0.0000% 109 0.0000%
tndlviduals 19,972,490 0.1220% 19,972 490 0.1229%
Total 16,253,416,145 100.0000% 16,253.416,254 100.0000%
The effect of hyperinflation on the share capital of the Bank is presented below:
in RON thousands 2018 2016
Share capital before the affect of hyperi a i 1,625,342 1,625,342
TAS 29 hyperinflation adj it in prior years (i.e. untll 31 Decamber 2003} = 1,327,224 1,327,224
Share capltal . 2,952,566 2,952,586

Regarding the merger, Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Mesting held on 30 September 2016 approved that the Merger will take place as it
follows: :
a) The Bank (BCR) absorbed BCR Real Estate Management (BCR REM) considering that BCR interest in BCR REM is 99.90995%
and .
b) The Bank (BCR) absorbed Bucharest Financial Plazza (BPF), 100% owned by BCR REM. -

The merger between BCR, BFP and BCR REM was approved by Bucharest Tribunal on 30 January 2017, The Court ordered the registration in
the Trade Registry of the merger between BCR, BFP and BCR REM. By the date of Financial Statements, the reasoning of the Court was not
issued. The Court decisionwas challenged by Societatea de Investitii Financiare Oltenia SA by means of an appeal.

On a different note, Socletatea de Investitii Financiare Oltenia SA filed a dlaim against BCR requesting the cancellation of the Extraordinary
General Shareholders' Meefing decision approving the merger between BCR, BFP and BCR REM. The claim is registered with Bucharest
Tribunal. By the date of Financia! Statements the date of the first hearing was not scheduled.

The effective date of the merger is 31 December 2016. Following the merger, 109 shares were issued by BCR in favor of BCR Leasing in
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consideration of its holding in BCR REM of 0.00005%. The shares of BCR REM and BFP were cancalled under art 250 a) of the Company Law
3111990 as subsequently amended and supplemented.

As BCR already owns 100% of the share capital of the absorbing company BFP, as a result of the merger with BCR REM, and it is in ihe
situation to remunerate its own shares. The shares hekd were cancelled under art. 250 letter (a) of the Company Law 31/1990, as subsequently
amended and supplemented {"No shares in the absorbing company may be exchanged for shares issued by the absorbed company and held
by the absorbing company, directly of through persons acfing in their own name, but on behalf of the company.”).

According to the provisions of Order 887/2015 (appendix 1, art. 14) “companies undergoing seorganization and which hold shares in each
other's share capital shall cancel them at the book value on account of equity elements”, BCR eliminated the interests held in BFP amounting to
RON 1 y,QO0,000, as recorded in the financial statements of the absorbing entity en 31.12.2015.

The merger premium was calculated as the difference between the net contribution to the Merger of each of the Absorbed Companies and the
share capital increase recorded by BCR in the case of each of the Absorbed Companies:

(i) BCR REM's entire net confribution to the Merger {BCR REM's net assets) amounting to RON 82,732,569.1 was recorded by BCR
as merger premiurn; and

(i) BFP's entire nef contribution to the Merger (BFP's net assets) amounting to RON 143,443,342 was recorded by BCR as merger
premium.

(iii) BCR eliminated the interests held in BCR REM amounting to RON 161,178,890, as recorded in the financial statements of the
absorbing entity on 31.12.2015, as well as those held in BFP, amounting to RON 141,900,000.

Consequently, the result of the negative residual value is in amount of RON 78,902,979.
The accounting policies related to this merger by absorption are presented in Note 2 (14.1).

33. SEGMENT REPORTING

The segment reporting format is determined fo be business segments as the Group's risks and rates of retum are affected pradominantly by
differences in the products and services produced. The operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of
the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different
markets. '

For management purposes, the Bank and Group are organized into the following business segments;

A Retail banking (RETAIL)
The Group provides individuals and micro clients with a range of financial products and services, including lending
(consumer loans, vehicles purchase, personal needs, morigages, overdrafts, credit cards facilities and funds transfer
facilties), savings and deposit taking business, payment services and securifies business.

B. Corporate banking

Within corporate banking, the Group provides corporations, real estate and large corporate clients with a range of
financial products and services, including lending and deposit taking, providing cash management, foreign commercial
business, leasing, investment advices, financial planning, securities business, project and structured finance
transactions, syndicated loans and asset backed transactions. Principal activity is of handling loans, other credit
facilities, deposits, and cument accounts for corporate and insfitutional customers, investment banking services and
financial products and services provided by the leasing, insurance, brokerage, asset management, real estate services
and financial consultancy sarvices operations of the Group.

Main Corporate segments consist of

1. Small and Medium Enterprises {SME) which represent clients with the foliowing main characteristics:
* companies having annual tumover between 1 to 25 million EUR
» dclients requesting financing of real estate projects less than 3 million EUR
¢ intemational clients with more than 50% foreign capital and annyal tumover between 10 to 25 million EUR
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2. Public Sector (PS)
* municipalities representing local authorities and companies managed by local authorities
» public sector representing central authorities and companies owned by state, public funds

3. Local Large Corporates (LLC) _ ‘
» companies with a consolidated annual tumover threshold above 25 million EUR, which are not defined as Group Large
Corporate customers according to the Group Large Corporate client list

4. Group Large Corporates (GLC)
s companies with substantial operations in core markets/extended core markets of Erste Group with an indicative
consolidated annual tumover of at least 500 million EUR

5. Commercial RE (CRE)
* companies which request financing for real estate projects more than 3 million EUR

Other banking segments:

6. ALM & Local Corporate Center:
» Balance sheet management - principally providing assets and liabilities management, funding and derivative
transactions, investments and issuance of bonds operations;
+ Local Corporate Center - unallocated items, items which do not belong to business ines and Free Capital.

7. Treasury (GMT): - principally providing money market and treasury operations, syndicated loans and structured financing transactions,
foreign currency and derivative transactions, financial instruments trading.

8. Financial institutions (GMFI); - companies that provide financial services for their clients or members and acf as professional and active
participant on financial markets for the purpose of proprietary trading or on behalf of their clients {banks, central banks,
investment banks, investments funds, brokerages, insurance companies, pension funds, credit unions).

The business segment reporting format is the Group's basis of segment reporting. Transactions between business segments are conducted at
am'’s length. :

Segment assets and liabiliies include ftems directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated items mainly comprise property and equipment, intangible assets, other assets and other liabilities and taxation. The mapping of
individual accounts by main line tems of income and expenses, respecively assets and liabilifes and equity, for purposes of segment reporfing
is done on an intemal management approach, rather than an external financial reporting approach.

In order to spiit the Group results on business lines the following subsidiaries are allocated entirely on Retall segment: BCR Pensii SAFPP,
Banca pentru Locuinte, Suport Colect and some of the consolidation adjustments; BCR Leasing and BCR Chisinau are allocated on Corporate.
Intragroup eliminations and the rest of the consolidation adjustments are allocated on Corporate Center.

In geographical segmentation Erste Group .show_s BCR entirely under geographical area ROMANIA. Furthermore, the only business done
outside ROMANIA is performed by BCR Chisinau, but the contribution to Balance Sheet and P&L is insignificant. There is no other
geographical steering information used by BCR management, therefore this segmantation is not shown hera.

Starting with 2016, the business segmentation was changed. More specifically, Large Comporates segment was split into Local Large
Corporates, -Group Large Corporates and Financial Institutions. Public Sector segment is no longer reported under Small and Medium
Enterprises, currently being shown separately. Furthemmore, Other Corporate clients are no longer reported separately and are currently split
between Corporate segments.

49



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

In RON thousaads 2018 Group
AN &
Local
Corporate
Broup RETAIL SME LLC GLC___ CRE P§ Center’ GuT GNFl
‘et Interest income . 190055 190250 183 7861 UM /W B 699 7 57
Netfee and commizsion income. . T2581 BT B 449 56 7667 8,748 (34549 237 228
Dividendhcome S 57112 - - . - - 5732 - .
Nettndngadiarvaveresdl 4D D HPE 547 628 670 2666 205) g | 836
‘Netresukflomequiymethodimiasiments © . 2749 - o - o 2749 - -
Rentalincome fi PIOP d ofher nperaling lease 40,288 35878 - B = 4579 R B
General Adminlstrative expenses (1673435) (1234,330)  (212,692)  (83.28)  {20973) (8@2) (8880 49,558 {12,008)  (4.00)
Gains/{kissce}on financial assets and labilitles not dat fairvah profltor s, net 5005 - - - - - - 5005 5 o
Nel impaimentloss on frencil essats nol mazsurd alTar value trough proftor s TegW  (E4%) B B 256) &34 (oam)  (5om) (B 45
Otheroperatingresult - (RTan)  (emaped)  (0388) (36.728) 544 [15506)  (M06) (50409 (202) (383)
Pro-tax profit from continuing operatlons ] ' 012,049 112,888 178,560 267,259 25,143 86,854 #1028 16,701 Tl.1_H 34,022
Taas onincoms (80,027) [BOBZ)  (857) (874) (19 (Beon  (22802) 50z {B305) (5444
" Post-tax profit fram continuing operations 922,022 94,828 150,007 237,555 18,584 12,957 4,136 4,730 65,849 28,574
NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR 922,022 94,028 50,007 227,555 584 72957 8,16 M4T30 050400 20,57
Attrbutable to lingintarests 3012 2584 5 - - [ -
Attributable 1o owners of the parent 818,950 91342 #50,002 227,555 18584 12957 19,86 4647 85,640 20,578
Operating 30745 PRET 9661 AR Ri% 5 e [T
Opersting Exp (504%)  (iioh)  (usw) (@20 (agn 2] (B3 W5 (DA (AP0
Operating Result 1561453 14628 103882 13829 22700 660% WIS 1410 78400 29,056
Cast icome Rafo [ - T R ) Wh % JWh  Taww _ WHEBOR
* Al intercompany eliminations are included in the Local Corporate Center
in RON thousands 2015 Group
ALM &
Group Local
. Corporate
RETAIL __ BME LLe GLC CRE PS ____Cemter  GMT GMFL
ASSETS ]
Cash and cash balances 9441831 2235863 9174 - 6.853.686 50,245 78,365
Financial essets - hald for trading _ 248,08 = = 5 —T8EW %97 :
Derivalives j 78,84 = . - B - 78,84 - -
Other fradi a3 ) ‘69,204 - - - - 59,294 -
Flrarciel assets deslgriated at fair valus through profit or loss 22£4§ - - 7,967 4,279 B -
Finanzisl agsets - avallable for sals 7,203260 923479 29,088 - - 22931 5021322
Financlal assets - heid to maturity 0,564,420 1301404 34,356, - (1445) 8,820,105 -
Loans and ta credh Insituti 204,403 673,468 50672 - - - - ©3201% 7,274 -
Loans and recelvables to 2460757  WABAGN 409030 28534685 1273,546 280 4754581 B1300 2737 (2624)
_Propertyand equipment 088,757 1836 225753 - - - . 8154 = -
Intanglble asseta 234265 3994 3603 - - 226,668 - -
Investments inassoclates 683 - - - 6,83 -
Currant taxassets B3, 82 - - - 83,52
Deterred taxassel 425,363 T - ATH70
Non-curent assets and dispasal groups classTied as held for sale 301900 - - 301900
Ofherassets 2055 5300 3.1 - 5 - 5 5
TOTAL ASSETS 62,360,018 23,147,880 4,620,511 2,853,485  1273,545 1402612 5,000,474 23556609 429,550 78,241
LIABILITIES
Financlal liatiities held for trading 365,72 - - 36,12
Derivatives ] 36,102 - - - - - 3,102 . -
Firancia labilles alemontisedcost TGI2IEE 3190pa8  4AAN  Zoaw S FaEe 29B5A__ IEMTET WATZATS 60052 1a00.823
Depasits from barks . 247223 “H5,565 1233971 - - - 9,642,074 63220 492393
Deposits from customers o - 42626022  B4989  3,068978 1251685 384589 26524 2681690 (17,369 - 1107,830
Dabt issued $2.2% = - - - - - 92238 - .
Other financlal liabiities 36,207 45,490 4,382 7651 B5T9 & 465,526 4852
Dertvatives - hedge sccaunting o - - - - - - - -
Provisioang SRIT 20559 30,767 127,661 61545 726 5,335 556,24
Curent jaxliabilitieg . T30 . . " = 5 @_‘ﬁ 5
Defered LaxTiabiities [F7] 5570 226 = . 485 -
Otter Liahiitiss ‘ N - - - T : -
Total equity EET5285 1™ 5W288 475320 445 T35 504304 260754 48,302 )
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 62,380,096 33,281,185 4,875,568 1862318 3,369,202 476,606 3,201,426 13,875,694 18,354 1,301,680

* Allintercompany eliminations are included in the Local Corporate Center
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in RON thousands F.] Group
ALW &
Loce!
Comortts GMT GMFI
Group RETAIL SHE LLC GLe CRE PS5 Center*
Net interest income: 1708,695 1200767 2512 82023 50 557 7180 {E) 12 g7
Netfee and commissionncome. _ T3 545202 66484 53 56443 5440 2847 4,53 204 Bin
Dividend income e B 251 - E - E 2618 f k
Net trading and fair value msul FLED 183462 Ll 501 560 464 B4 003 92 1888
Net msull from equitymathad investments 1705 L L - - - - 1795 .
Rental income from investment properties and other opersting le2ye 53548 4048 - - - - 480 - -
Ganara! Administrative sxpenses (\570497) (L243,426)  (2B380) (A4TE7)  [7A5E)  (NM08) (22,040 57d54 (taST) 9480
. Galnsi{losses) on finencial assets and iabilities nt measured at fairvalue throwgh profil or lo s, nel 47 - - - - . - T . .
Netimpaiment loss onfinancial assets not measured et fairvaiue hmugh profl arlass 279900 E1 ] {BA%3) 7528 [588) W 451 071 {2208)  (2445) (320
Other opersting rasut (GBI5) (60243  (6eW)  Wr (B e 0 B (TR (84 il
P rg-tax profit frem continying ¢perations L0491 2734 M3 23705 22022 #238B 203828 247 80,867 18,260
Taesanincome (BIA%) Wm  (2sy  [TO (A (50M) (326%) M0 (27) 22
P ost-tax profit from continuing cperations 1040,163 229478 20,700 199,252 042 60,43 Tk 4757 61,Y80 12098
NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR 1040,053 229478 ©000  BB252  B499 DG 1M2H TAIST  GrE0 2208

Altibutabl o rar-conlzolinginierests i) {17903 4 @)

Attribuiable to owners of the parent 10410846 231288 20,691 98,252 8,499 186,341 T12% 25159 81,760 22,058
Operatingncome 256888 1854431 BEAE WP B 0 WM (BB MR 45
Qperating Eenses (SOAT) (1243006 2R (MBn 0B () (234 STH4 (BT (hean)
Operating Result 1297668 §HO05  TLE03 56,660 36,68 56,12 #1198 28,567 8%,1¢ 21,568
Costncoma Ratio H76% §7.05% SIET% J66% ] BB% 2% o2k % BAT%
* All intercompany eliminations are included in the Local Corporate Center
in RON thousands 209 Sroup

ALM &
a Local
raup Corporata
RETAIL SME LLG GLC CRE P38 Center GMT GMFI
ASSETS =
Cash and cash balances NBMESS  AZ3/A0  BA2W - - TAR A W05 58306
_Finanalale3ets - held for treding = s - - - - - 73,350 56078 - -

Derivatives .. wilo L o > = e = o 2 -

Othortrading assets G _ 66078 - - = = = - 6075 ~
Financlal asaats designeled at fair value through proflterloss J _5xe = = = - 530 . - - -
Financlal assats - avallabie for sole 5514087 876,113 (A ] = I 798 4802040 o 4

Flanclalcisels-heldtomatunty B4 1406608 EE B = (BsaQy wrwpsr - T -
Loans and reseivables fo credit instltutlons 552430 743,002 58,020 - - T5 (748,389 405295 228
Loans and receivables fo custamers I22NB4 B,050871 4031008 2,722 458 1667, 84 1421683 429247 TF448 azar 8,782
Derivatives - hadge accounting - - N - - - 9 - = S
Changes in fair vakie of porifalko hedged items = S = = o = = R e R T Eat

_Propertyand equipment - 1472004 2821 2% - - - BO70 -
nvastmentproperties i T 2 5 422 - z = 5 E
Inlangibla assets 289,304 2843 3,288 - - - m,s_rg_ -

_Mvosimonts In gesoclates e B5E3 - B E A= e —="T=
Curent taxassels - #2450 = — = = = Ll = =
Defarsd laxasssts 322,508 210 K] = E . 30820 5 3
Noncureni assels and diaposal groups classiied as held foreale ~~ °  ~ ggep T == — = 5 D702 . 3
Other aasats g - o msm 90,063 w02 . - =7 R =

"1OTAL ASSETS 67,5M,57° 25,312,000 4,608,008 2,732,466 1,567,184 1421993 4541926 20,080,785 1,073,248 [TXE]
LIABILITIES
Financial llabllillss held for trading 38,591 - — XN = 3

Darivatives = 38,301 = = e : 30901 -
Financial Fabfilies measured at amortisad cosls EJ.?.SJ,O_GU 33.283,5!‘” 4451975 184807 4200543 05208 1.503,350 0,058,528 204879

Deposits ot banke 0854473 95861 1540990 - - - - TR34BS 8201

Dapasits from cusiomers CUaa2a5Me amm0ge2 | 2908 18023 4J0i0As .

Debt securities lssuad 837,82 - - - =

Oifies Tsnancisl ligbillties i ToBGG oroet 250 2= 06081 waATs

Derivalivas - hadga accounting 5o - = = = S are—

Proviglons . 10412 340,260 28256 18,254 -

Cument laxllabillies e - ———
Deferred Laxllabiitias T TTTamRT O e e

Other Lisisiilins 220,404 38,941 36,708 s z E

Total 8,804,380 2022008 5% 653 413,500 21,838 20,848 A2 556 0909

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 67,644,573 16,086,300  5,008,%50  2,138,861 4,608,704 §22,678 6,000,800 12,084,101 80,678 1,820,800

* Allintercompany eliminations are included in the Local Corporate Center
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In RON thousands 20% . Bank
ALN &
Lozal
Corporate
Group RETAIL SME LLE GLC  CRE P§ Conter  GMT GMFI
Netintarestincome 1925363 1265409 BABM 0 TiB%  MID WA 326 13,865 057 573
Nelfesandcommissionincome ) 625461 32956 N MM 6 T8N 9746 (Mgee) 237 2%
Dividendincome | ) 31295 - - . . . - 31205 - 5
Net tracing and fair valug result ficl 0460 - 4505 5437 628 6738 26546 2006 6nam B35
Rantalincome from investment prapertias and other oparating lease ' 1406 . . . - - - ws - .
General Adminisirative expenses : [1530,824) - (F97,774)  (183300) (83.249) (20.973) (8,72) (%6881 {23,778} (12,908}  {4,46%0)
Gainsi(losses) on financial assets and fabiities not measured at fair valug through profit orloss, net m . - - . . . . (10} .
. Netimpalmant loss on financial assets not measured at falr valus thugh profit orloss 58300 (7505 U865 8000 (250) 45524 (ﬁ.!l!_s_) (5378) (53) 4448
Other o parating resut (26B76)  [46B4ET) (3896} (6728 54 (26608)  (MDBR) 1680 @ (383)
Pre-tax profit from continuing operations 1,055,703 71033 BL007 267444 25764 B6.053  M1826 9560 T4 34022
Taxeson ncome 92276) (1365 (574 (874 (nED) (BRI (RMD 4505 (D5} (54M4)
Post-tax profit from gontinuing operations 963 A% 50,468 55246 2110 8585 72856  MB6 235473 65615 284878
MET PROFIT OF THE YEAR 963,427 50668  BE246 22770 W55 7086 196 2A5473  6SET5 2578
Attributah's o non-gontroling inferests - - - - -
Attributable to owners of the parent $83,427 23566 (442,318) {04,24) 396,035 M,856
Operaling come P I 7 T A T
Dperafing Expenses - (ip)  (1B7774)  (B3A06)  (B32%) (M) (BFD) (BAR] - TR (UME) S0
Operating Result 1427.289 115,351 BEIND  REM 22783 6608 MLIB 81096 78439 29,857
CoslinomeRatn - SR % bid% A% WEm 0% Gw%  NeTe  BG%  BE
In RON thousands 2015 Bank
ALM &
Loeal
D Corporate
RETAIL SME LLG GLC CRE ] Centar aMT GMFI
ASSETS
Cagh and cash bal 8,265 487 242409 D - - 6883068 0,245 78,865
Financial assets - hel for trading i 248,08 - - - - 7034 59,204 -
Derlvatlves 780% - - - - 78894 = -
Othé} trading assets 89204 - . - - - %92 -
Flnarcial assets designated at far value thraugh profit orloss 22,248 - - - - = FE6T 4270 - -
Financial assets - avallable forsale 6,256,230 - 5,553 - - - 229.:‘!11 6,0213% - -
Financlal assets - held fo maturity 8,888,560 - - - - - {1445 8,820,105 -
Loans and receivables fa credit Insthutions 84631 - - - - - 5 77,357 07214 L =
Loans and recelvables to customers : 32548724 1742368 2058849 2653485 12713545 140080 4754581 1562871 2797 (26524
Propertyand equipment " 235921 - - - - - 235,621 - -
Intanglble assets 224239 o = - - - 224,238 -
Ivesiments in asso clates 7509 - - - 7508 -
Current 4 1 11826 11826
Defermed taxassets 398,530 - - - - - 368530 =
Non-curment assets and disposal groups classFled as held foz sale 30,037 - - - o 28,037 B o
Otherassets 1090,757 - - - - - - 1090,767 - -
TOTAL ASSETS 59,460,013 19,784,777 3,084,502 2,853,465 1.273,545 1,402,012 5,000,474 26,575,627 429,550 76,241
LIABILITIES
Financial Fabilitles hakl for trading 35,12 - - - - 35,102 -
Derivatives 3542 - - . - - 35,12 -
Financla! liabilities measured at amorlised costs 52241984  283586% 2955031 125833  3M3%8 208524 2681787 1,760 68052 13002324
Deposits from banks ' 11,037 466 7 - - - . 1581838 63,220 52,393
Deposits fram customers 997368 28338207 2950648 1251685  3,B4580 206524 2681800 28,552 - 07E
Dabt securities issued 92236 - - - - - = 98,238 o B
Other financial ighilities ] 58,376 27,308 383 7651 8579 - 97 465,525 4532 -
Provisions 795,860 818 207326 7,661 81545 726 335 553,80 - -
Other Liablitles 244 869 - - - - o 244,989 - 5
Total equity 6,142,980 1788306 382577 490,881 64489 7356 504,304 2,585,001 48563 1342
JOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 59.460,913  30.156,14  3.366,934 13771,876 3,969,202 476605 32,201,426 15,694,472 16,61 1,901,668
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In RON thousands e Bank
ALM &
Local
Corporate
Group RETAIL SME LLE GLE CRE ] _Canter* GMT GMFI
Netinterestncome 1726463 {¥0p66 B4 204 08 RET a0 B 1620 37
et e and commissian income G206 SOOM G5B SAM G40 SM0 0T M09 2 6%
Dividend hcarme e 50 i = z = S T
Net tracing and fair value result 29088 14,560 0372 *Hi5%0 5661 4564 040 020 %02 7486
Net resuét from equitymethodinvestmasls - . 3 3 : . 3 = - -
Rentalingome fioun investment praperfies and other operating laase __ i - - - - ¢ W~ 108 - -
Genral Admisisiraliva expensas {1567738) (LBOJZN  (150.973) (4787} (Tisw) (MR} (22,081 (AA)  (f851)  [8.427)
hG::s:&sses)on fingneisl as-;sets anvd liabifitias notmeasured at fair value through profitor s ~ N 754
Net inpaimen oss on fancial gssels L NEsuredalFarvalue Evough o orloss W OB G06Y  Wgm bW W1 or (W) (o) . (3]
Otteraperating restit {4680z (an2m) 30 U7 M5 (#30) Lomy  {magme) i) 1
Pre-tax profit from continuing operatlons f008,041 238573 106483 - 235 22013 62383 203,828 (1134) 20,667 26,240
Taissonfgome {10355  (BPR  (RRI) (7S (RN (256M) {326%) SAN (BHT  [4A)
Posi-tax profit from continuing operations 486,086 200,402 89,446 09,250 8489 138343 26 (8] 67760 22088
NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR BB6088 4402 88,448 9,252 6490 18,34 f192%  [I0880) 67760 22,058
Qperatingincome 210565 {IATE 22,88 L Y [2F] L] {2028) o483y  3TAGS
Operafing Expenses (G67738) (180720 {BOO%) T (MEW) (fa08) {2t (M40} (MBST)  (BA2T)
Operating Result 1145826 597,654 111,28 96,660 36,682 53,12 #1297 (46430}  B3LM6 27568
Costizome Rallo BITT% G679 OIW% Gk Bo0%  BAO%  f%  JBAIgR  UA% A%
in RON thousanda 2018 Bank
ALW &
e Leoal
Gorporate
RETAIL SME LLC 6L CRE T} Genter GM T GMFI
ASSETS —
Ge3hand cash balances — MB4BETE 400061 - 7,468,827 20,006 50,085
Financlal asgats - held for trading L C e _ 73488 , BeaTm i
Darivatives 73486 - e e DA
Othar trading sssats e 586,71 -~ = - - - OTE -
Financlal assels designated st alr valua through profid orloss 538 - = - 6319 = .
Financlal agaels - available for sale i 4,845,803 = et »iee 4._202.9}0 o=
Finanola sesets -held o maturly LELT T : .. B0 edmesr | T =
* Loans and receiveblas to cradit Inatitutions 85144 : = - - - B3505 485293 220
Loans and recelvablos to cusiomers 02500 7,370,369 2,806,762 2,722.456 156784 1421683 4,202, 18 570570 8237 ne
Propartyand equiptent 164548 == - ] 156548
Intangible assets 20080 e - EBD&G — L:
Investments In assoplates 7,509 = 7508
Currenlt taxassets 58,028 BB 29 =
Deforred taxassats - 30554 i 30554
Non-curent aasets and disposal groups classilied as heldforsaie 229 i 2w
Cther asssts 808,775 =5 - 808,775
TOTAL ASSETS UENHERE BLEI0EED N TGNAMN EPERESE  IEBTM94 4420003 4,649,024 27,004,797 1,077,248 85,873
LIABILITIES
Flnanciat liabifiies held for trading * ww - - = - 38381 = 3
Dorivatives : o e Serinung i L P
Financial liabilltles meaaured st amorfisad costs 55325328 OO0BOW  27MAE  1GWBOT  AJNBA9 306208 4500550 | TO0ADF | 20pTE RS
Daposils from banks - 9,25,008 - - - - - apalue 8201 w58
Deposits from customera . 64000 30253058 27158 16321 4201043 395208 456220 74,178 - 1436391
Dbt securltiss issuad 697,102 —— - & - - - 637,02 5 Z
Otherfinencl iabiltiss TmEz G 5% oA B80T T Tame goimss  oAir . Ad
Derivativas - hedge accaunting — B S 5 -_ 5 : a __l ——i
Provisions . T 3WASS 5 wem TR 520 833 545,561 - 1
Other Lisblities 242,726 - = - = s 242,126 3
Tolal equlty 6E32233  18%08B 356,365 48500 22253 26,848 42283 322,78 40022 7,835
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY B4SRLITE IRERAMAT BERTEZ  J.uelui 4509858 622,576 5,000,010  W,145,303 6,700 1,623,843
34, RETURN ON ASSETS
Retum on assets (net profit for the year divided by average total assets) was:
Group - Bank
31.12.2015 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 31.12.2016
Return on assets 147% 1.60% 1.61% ~ 1.43%
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35, LEASES

a) Finance leases
Finance leases receivables are included under the balance sheet item 'Loans and advances fo customers”.

The Group acts as a lessor under finance leases through the subsidiary BCR Leasing SA, mainly on motor vehicles and equipment. The leases
are mainly denominated in EUR and typically run for a period of between 1-15 years, with transfer of ownership of the leased asset af the end of
the leas term. Interest is charged over the period of the lease based on fixed and variable (based on EURIBOR) interest rates. The receivables
are secured by the underlying assets and by other collateral. Loans and advances to retail and corporate customers include the following
finance lease receivables:

2015 201
Qutstariding minimum lease payments 1041596 1261629
Gross investment 1,041,506 1,291,629
Unrealisad financial incoms (90,285) {78,540}
Net invastment 951,310 1,215,089
Present value of minimum lease payments 951,34 1,215,089

The maturity analysis of gross investment In leases and present vaiues of minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases is as follows
(residual maturities):

Gross invastmant

2015 2018
< {year 332818 426,251
15 years 680,233 854,58
> 5 years 28,549 10,865
Total A 1,041,595 1,291,629

b) Operating leases
Under operating leases, BCR Group and Bank leases both real estate and movable property to other parties.

Minimum lease payments from non-cancellable operating leases, from the view of BCR Group and Bank as lessor, were as follows:

Group Bank
2015 2018 2015 201e
<1year 41,014 101,906 287 1,041
15 years B 125,327 308,827 267 781
> 5 years 280 225,653 - 585
Total 166,621 . B33386 574 2406

Minimum lease pavments from non-cancellable operating ieases, from the view of BCR Group and Bank as lessee, were as foliows:

Group Bank
2016 20% 2015 2016
< {year 6.3§§ . B,B?Zk__ 96‘,678 = 6,400
15 years 7825 26493 o@esi2 | 230
>5 years ) 12,985 32,682 4,85 32,682
Total 26,875 68,146 387,396 61,384

Lease payments from operating leases recognized as expense in the period amounted o RON 57,710 thousands (2015: RON 56,462
thousands}) for Group and RON 163,083 thousands {2015: RON 166,839 thousands} for Bank, in line with the previous year

36. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, atiention is directed to the substance of-the
relationship, not mereiy the legal form.

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties with whom the Group entered into significant transactions or had significant
balances outstanding at 31 December 2016 and 2015 are detailed below. Transactions were entered into with related parties during the course
of business at market rates.
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Transactions with parent

All fransdctions were carried out at market conditions.

Transactions with management

The Group entered into a number of banking transactions with the management in the normal course of business.

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the aclivities of the
Group. This includes the members of the Supervisory Board , Executive Committee and executive management.

These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.
Remuneration paid related to key management personnel is presented in note 8.

Transactions with subsidiaries

The Bank holds investments in subsidiaries with whom it entered into a numbsr of banking transactions in the normal course of business. These
transactions were camied out on commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

The following transactions were camied out with related parties:

Ealanves ana off-paisce exposuras wih related partios. Grality
2015 08
q Keoymanagement ~ Kay managamertt
. - Parent Aucciates f—— Dthar relsted parties Parent Aasociates ol Othar ralted partles
Finencle) assets - - 180,820 7,840 $6,228 17,50 - b3 76,282
Trh and cash eqUivalents Y P ! e
Derteaive franchal eumants 55,865 270
Equry meinuments - - 4 - =
Loans and advances 39,152 T840 G296 32,751 1713 To.282
Toans anv advarces will credii inethdions B E = 2.7 = s —— 3
Lo and edvances with cusktmers B 7040 96,226 - T3 0,282
Other masols B - 28,40
-Finemelad Nabilites £,840,104 37480 7,012 Th424 14583 4850 Ti283 17034
5,806,785 310 1012 79,624 8447208 45,520 T35 470,349
: 5,806,765 5 o 5766 BT - 3 28
Depoalis by cuaformers o FE 7,012 T2 o 4,55 7283 G
Terfuaiive franclal iy nIW E 35,035 = o
Cther Eabllides 18,104 urn 11,143 AT8T
"Loars conwliments, RHancI guarantsss and oher CSMAERARTS Ve - 3
Imevocable [noticnal amount] E i B2 2 L B4
Toans commitroents, ARenara TEIANt#es nd othar commITRetE ghan -
Ravocablle jnetional amount] 4018 L 4,18
L financial d other rocalvatl 226,858 mns
Durivatives [notionsl amount] 5,001,556 5181,829
Related partle 3: cupensrs and ated by b tians with relsted parties Group
016 o
RON Hiousands Koy managsment . Hey managamant
In al Parent Associstey paracansl Cthar related parties Parent Antoclsien paraoanel Oty reiatnd partios.
Inersat leome 82669 o M 1504 [T L] - 25 1,180
Indarast supansus 350,401 x] Y 563 204524 (<13 -] L7¢]
Dhvidand incoma - 4,168 1,668
Fes and comminzlon income 975 3 i H 3,06 3838 3 » 4010
Feo and commission expenses 1BET T8 - [ 18
Nt frading rsults (incomelmganse {36,620) - 748N -
Openating Income: 1418 20 A
Gporating sxpansa 14300 &8,600 18,868 70,248
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Balancys and off-balacs mpomutas with releisd parlive Hank
Fi —on
Koy monagemext Koy rmnagement  Otharsaladed
Pt [T Ansoelzti o) Ot il partes Paent Bubaifimie fsoslatas i p
I ROH thistsands — — — —
Fimockd asarts = 130741 150 HI¥ 02,76 70 [RE )
 Cathand ash aivilents AT W - i 1] - -
. Doviltwe eareilinsinanere .. BapEE - z = e ——
EcutyTreiriments . - - - - - -
Loaws and mhances BN 13055 1340 02 20 AT [XE] 2T
Loans and advances with crod Tnstidions EIE] 20 - - 274 105756 - -
[ arcetwih alomon 1370 784 e - 3053 071 T
o whiohc Impeired francll oty - g . B f -
. : o : = 263 : N — £
Financia lnbiwie [ BT FIAE] T TR0 AR 000 I ] TR 1100
_ Doposfls 5084330 CINE CAE) 1012 T 71008 om0 7] 10 [T
Daposis by banks 200430 [ - - 575 7470050 BRIT - - 28%
Doposit by cust,men ; - 24606 FRE] 7012 T - 19 A 28 WAl
Derivelive finangid imiumenia 03N - - - 585 - - .
[ 18,008 ] FY] IR [T 40
Loms o ot == . —— =
Fl "
! 3 [t um "] It 5% i
Loars [ —] P -
&
owesblaotors ) 240404 o7 804,185 1
WWEWM-.wmrMmm L mE
Duibuxitv [sotlonal ameur] 5501588 BivA
Rabsbnd and licoie transactiops with w!xted Bak
4] 201
0RO ot zade Parwt il e Dl s
Intear 4 inoome 82836 2901 . s 1,58 TS TR )
Interes tepaniey 3,734 142 F 1) U 25 [=3 3 50 i [T
Divkdand Incoma - BN 1845 - 415 - 1 =]
Faa sewl commission Income 1] 0367 ] 1@ [T LER [TT] i B [
Fos end mpocr 4% . : oo m i A~ B Gy
Qains or (4 lossea on dereoognition of fisanclal r.sats and [isbifties not i e
Seminiwnbogpoitors e B .
Increres oe ) dserreo during the perlod in impakment axd provisions for (184539 £LY E
inapeired debt inpiremants, defadted + i difaulied commit.ont MR a1
ot tracing raprit finooreeferpanso [ELT -
Qpessting Ingome 1318 - - . [ ]
Sprtingoxpenso ___ MEH___ dew it L] T e

For the purpose of the merger, as of 31 December 2016, the following inter-company balances between BCR, REM and BFP wers eliminated:

Absorbad sniity Short desctiptions. RON thousanda

BFP Daposits from custormers 30,582

BFP Loans and advances to customars 133,768

REM Dsaposits from oustornars . 9ee

REM Other Liabifitles 559
" REM LonmlMadmmltoum;n;; o 642,770

REM Other assets. a8

37. PLEDGED COLLATERAL

Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 20%5 201
Finanial assets - availabla for sale . - 224,026 4681222
Financial assets - held to maturity 53,233 780,65 118,99 831003
Total - repurchase agreements 853,213 TED 155 1352 238 1,343,225

On 31 December 2016, government bonds with a total nominal value of RON 802,130 thousands (31 December 2015: RON 823,170
thousands) have been used as pledge for funding received from IFls and to ensure final settlement of interbank multilateral clearing operations
according to NBR regulations, for the setlement of transactions through ROCLEAR Bucharest, NBR's Clearing House, and VISA and

MasterCard card transactions.

Pledged collateral include securities used for repo transactions.
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38. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS - REPURCHASE TRANSACTIONS AND SECURITIES LENDING

38.1. REPURCHASE TRANSACTIONS AND SECURITIES LENDING

Transfer of financial assets — repurchase transactions were done within BCR Group, therefore eliminated at consolidated level,

B ank
Carrying Carrying
amount of amount of Carrying amount Carrylng amount
[ L) G transferred assoclated of transferred of assoclated
assets liabilities assets labilitias
2015 2016
Repurchase agreements .
Flnancial assets - available for sale . 224,026 212,553 461222 438,186
Financial assets - held to maturity 284,986 264,277 00,848 90,796
Total - repurchase agreements 488,992 476,830 562,070 537,962

The transferred financial instruments consist of govemment bonds issued by Romania,

The total amount RON 562,070 thousands (RON 488,992 thousands at 31 December 2015) represents the camying amount of financial assets
in the respective balance sheet positions for which the transferee has a right to sell or repledge.

Liabilities from repo transaction in the amount of RON 537,962 thousands (RON 476,830 thousands at 31 December 2015), which are
measured at amortised cost, represent an obligation to repay the borowed funds. :

The following table shows fair values of the transfered assets and associated liabilities which have recourse only to the transferred assets,
These assets and liabilities relate to repo transactions.

Bank
Fair value of

in RON thousands Fair valua of associated Fair value of Fair value of

transferred assets liabilities transferred assets  assoclated liabilities

2015 2016

Flnancial assets - available for sale 224,026 212,478 461,222 438,008
Financlal assets - held to maturity 279,314 264,182 104,874 99,760
Total 503,340 AT BED 586154 Rar,Teh

Repurchase agreements are primarily financing transactions. They are structured as a sale and subsequent repurchase of securities at a pre-
agreed price and time. This ensures that the securities stay in hands of lender as collateral in case that bomower defaults in fulfiling any of its
obligations.

Cash and non-cash financial collateral involved in these transactions is restricted from using it by the transferor during the ime of the pladge.
The camying amount of assets pledged is included in note 37.-

As at 31 December 2016, The Bank concluded reverse repurchase transactions in amount of 8,237 RON thousands, with mafurities between
26.06.2017 and 21.07.2017. The Bank received as collateral financial assets consisting in govemment bonds issued by Romania having a fair
value of RON 9,700 thousands. The Bank has the right to sell or repledge the asset in the absence of default by the owner of the collateral. As
at 31 December 2018, the collateral was repledged by the Bank. Associated liabiliies for collateral repledged are in amount of RON 8,201
thousands.
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38.2. TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS THAT ARE DERECOGNISED IN THEIR ENTIRETY BUT WHERE THE BANK HAS
CONTINUING INVOLVEMENT

The following table summarizes the impact on the Group's and Bank's statement of financial position and maximum exposure to risk as a result
its continuous involvement:

Group
D e Carrying vaiue Fair value Maximum exposure 1o loss
Mr of lcana 34.006 31,313 48,928
Bank
Carrying value Fair value Maximum exposure 1o loss
Tramloana 28,824 25,680, 40,620

The following table summarizes the impact on the income statement at the time of the transactions and as a result of its corinuous
involvernent:

Group

In RON thousands Yeoar te dato profit / {loes) Cumulative profit/ {loss)

Tranafer of loans (34,008) {34,008)

Bank t

Yoar to date profit / {loss) Cumulative profit! (loss)

Transier of loons {28,624) {29,624}

In 2016, the Group sold two portfolios of loans to an unrelated third party. The fransaction resulted in full derecognition of the financial assets
from statement of financial position. Following this ransfer, the Group only continuing involvement in the transferred assets is as follows:
for the first portfolio, the buyer can exercise a put back clause within 6 months from the transaction closing for the loans which do not
meet the representations and warranties st out in the loan sale agreement; the transaction was closed in June
for the second portfolio: '
o anindemnity is paid back to the buyer based on a Qualified Court Ruling establishing that the respective amounts were
illegally paid to and received by the Assignor prior o Closing.
o anupside sharing is received after a certain level of profitability/collections woulc be realized by the buyer monthly.
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39. RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk Management is embecided within the dally aperation of the Bank, from strategy formulation and capital projects, through to operational
planning and processes. In adopting this approach, the Bank provides a visible assurance of transparency and effective self-governance to
stakeholders. At the same time the risk process assists the Bank in the planning of its resources, setting priorities, identifying opportunities,
agreeing a relevant program of intemal control and audit, and ensures that clear responsibilty exists for the management of each area of risk.

39.1. RISK POLICY AND RISK STRATEGY

The Risk Strategy forms an essential part of the Group’s Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM) framework. It sets out the general principles
according to which risk taking is performed across the Group and the main elements of its management framework to ensure an adequate and
consistent implementafion of the risk strategy.

The Risk Strategy also includes the formulation of the risk appetite and the risk profile for all identified risks in the context of its overall business
strategy and defines, for each main risk type, the current and targeted risk profile.

The core function of the Bank is to take risks In a conscious and selective manner and to manage the risks professionally. The Group's
proactive risk policy and risk strategy aims at achieving balanced risk and retum in order to generate a sustainable and adequate retum on
equity.

The Group uses a risk management and control system that is forward-looking and taflored to its business and risk profile. This system is basad
on 2 clear risk strategy that is consistent with the business strategy and focused on early identification and management of isks and trends. in
addtion to meeting the intemal goal of effective and efficient risk management, The Group's risk management and control system has been
developed to fuffill extemal and, in parficular, regulatory requirements.

Given the Group's business strategy, the key risks for the Group are credit risk, market risk, operational and non-financial risks, and liquidity risk,
In addition, a risk materiality assessment is undertaken on an annual basis. It is ensured that all relevant material risks are covered by the
Group's control and risk management framework. This entails a set of different tools and govemance to ensure adequate oversight of the
overall risk profile and sound execution of the risk strategy, including appropriate monitoring and escalation of issues that could materially
impact the risk profile of the group. The Bank always seeks to enhance and complement existing methods and processes in all areas of risk
management. ,

in 2016, the management has continued to steer crifical portiolios, including active management and sales of non-performing exposures, and
further strengthening of the risk profile. This has been particularly demonstrated by the continuous improvement of the credit quality and the
ongoing decrease of non-performing loans and risk costs. Management actions resulted in improved profitability, asset quality, lending and
capital levels. In addition, emphasis was put on strengthening risk govemance and ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements.

The Group uses e Intemet as the medium for publishing is disciosures under NBR Regulation no. 5/ 2013 regarding prudential requirements
for credt insitutions and fo Article 434 of the Regulation (EU) No. 5752013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment
firms (Capital Requirements Regulation - CRR). Details are avallable in the Disclosure Report on the website of the Group.

39.2.  RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Bank has developed a govemance model based on a framework which ensures efficiently organized corporate govemance. It also helps
ensuring the Bank's stability and maintains the corporate govemance standards and of business conduct.

The Risk Govemnanice structure is presented below:
Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board secures the supervision of the Management Board in ifs operational management of the Bank and monitors the
compliance of the activities performed by the Management Board pursuant to the Applicable Legislation the Bank’s Charter, the resolutions of
the Bank's general shareholders meetings and the Bank's strategies and policies.

The Risk Management Committee of the Supesvisory Board

The Risk Management Committee has an advisory role, being established for the purpose of assisfing the Supervisory Board of the Bank in
camying out its roles and responsibilities in respect of risk management.

In performing its responsiblities, the Risk Management Committee of the Supervisory Board prepares and issues recommendations related to
the subjects that require discussions as well as for all decisions that will be taken by the Supervisory Board in its area of activity.
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The Audit and Compliance Committee

The Audit and Compliance Committee has an advisory role, being established in order fo assist the Supervisory Board in its roles related to the
intemal control, compliance, audit, financial crime and lifigations.

Management Board

The Management Board ensures the curent steering of the Bank, performs its activities under the supervision of the Supervisory Board, has its
responsibiliies established by the Applicable Legistation, the Bank's Charter and the resolutions of the Supervisory Board and shall act in
accordance with the Management Board intemal Rules.

The Management Board is responsible for the overall risk strategy of the Bank, including the Tisk tolerance/risk appetite, as well as for the risk
management framework.

Risk Committee of the Management Board

The Risk Commitiee of the Management Board is an operative committee that supports the Management Board as refated to the main issues in
respect of risk management (j.e. risk strategy, risk policies, operational risk). On the other hand it represents a forum for discussions of issues
related to risk together with the representatives of the business lines.

39.3.  RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION

Risk control and risk steering within the Group are performed based on the business strategy and risk appetite approved by the Supervisory
Board. Risk monitoring and control are achieved through a clear organizational structure with defined roles and responsbilities, delegated
authorities and risk limits.

The management of retail and corporate credit risk, market risk, operational risk, fiquidity as well as reputational risk and strategic risk, the
assessment of collaterals and other risk related activities are consolidated under the Risk functional line. The Compliance Division (in charge
with compliance risk) and Financial Crime Prevention Division (in charge with fraud risk management) are reporting under Executive VP Risk
Line.

In these terms, risk management specialists are clearly delimited from an organizational point of view from the employees of the operational and
support functions.

The Risk Maragemerit function is & central organizational function, structured so it can implement risk pollcles and control the risk management
framework.

The main roles of the Risk Management function are:
v Ensures that all material risks are identified, measured and properly reported;

= implements the Enterprise Risk Management principles and ensures that adequate and consistent risk management policies are
developed and implemented for all material risks; and

*  Ensures that the Bank has effective risk management processes in place by heing involved the elaboration and review of the -
strategies, in the decision-making process, as well as in the risk monitoring process.

The Risk Management function performs regular reports both at individual material risk level and at bank-wide risk exposure level {.e. complete
view of the whole range of risks) to the Management Board, the Risk Committee of the Management Board, the Risk Management Commitiee
of the Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board of the risk aspects that are considered within the decision making process of the Bank.

Reports include information on aspects such as:
*  Risk exposures and their development;
= Keyrisk indicators evolution and specific limits;
*  Results of the stress testing exercises; and
*  Intemal capital adequacy (i.e. risk bearing capacity).
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The Risk Management function is consolidated under the Risk Functional Line, coordinated by the Chief Risk-Officer (Vice-President) to which
the following organizational units performing the risk management function are subordinated:

Senior Executive Director - Ris:ig

Retail Risk Management Divisioh

Corporate Underwriting Division

Corporate Loan Administration Division

Strategic Risk Management [
Risk Controlling Division

Security Management anH
Business Continuity Division

Compliance Division
Financial Crime Prevention Division

Corporate & Real Estate Workout Division

—
Executive VP Risk CRQ

Retail Workout Division

Workout Operations Division

W Portfolio Management Division

Figure :Organizational structure of Risk Management Function as of end 2016

394, GROUP-WIDE RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The main purposes of the Group's capital management policies and practices are to support its business strategy and to ensure that it is
sufficiently capitalised to withstand even severe macroeconomic downtums.

The Group considers the management of risk and capital to be among its core responsibiities and a key factor in providing a stable, high retum
to shareholders. The Group's capital management aims to ensure efficient use of capital to mest the Group's overall capital targets.

Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM) enables an increased focus on holistic risk management and ensures comprehensive, cross-risk
Group-wide risk portfolio steering.

ERM drives key siraegic cross-risk initiatives to establish greater cohesion between the risk strategy including the risk appefite and limit
steering. ERM involves all risk functions and key divisions fo strengthen risk oversight group-wide, covering capital (RWA and ICAAP), credit,
liquicity (ILAAP), market, operational and business risk.

At the Bank level, Strategic Risk Management / Risk Controlling Division is responsible for the group's Infemal Capital Adequacy Assessment

61



BCRS

-NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

Process (ICAAP) including the sfress fesfing framework, and furthermore for the proper calculation of risk-weighted assets (RWA), risk portfolio
steering with respect to material risks, risk planning and risk input into capital planning, risk appetite and limit management, as well as liquidity &
market risk / operational risk steering.

As in prior years, the Group's risk management framework has been confinuously strengthened. In particular, ERM-has continued to
strengthen its comprehensive framework. This includes as its fundamental pillar the Infemnal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP),
as required under Pillar | of the Basel framework.

The ERM framework is designed to suppdrt the bank's management in managing the risk portfolios as well as the coverage potential to ensure
that the bank holds at all times adequate capital for the nature and magnitude of the bank’s risk profile. ERM is tailored to the Group's business
and risk profile, and it reflects the strategic goal of protecting shareholders while ensuring the sustainability of the organization.

ERM is a modular and comprehensive management and steering system within the Group and is an essential part of the overall steering and
management instruments. The ERM can be clustered as follows;

. Risk appelits statement;
' Portfolio & risk analytics, including:
- Risk materiality assessment

- Concentration risk management

Stress testing
. Risk-bearing capacity calculation
s Risk planning & foreg:asting, including:
Risk-weighted asset management
- Capital allocation
" Recovery Plan.

In addition to the ICAAP's ultimate goal of assuring capital adequacy and sustainability at all times, the ERM components serve to support the
bank's management in pursuing its strategy.

39.4.1. Risk Management Principles

The Group aims at achieving balanced risk and retum in order to generate a sustainable growth and adequate retum on equity. Hence, the
scope of this strategy is to ensure that risks are assumed in the context of its business, recognized at an early stage and properly managed.
This is achieved by fully integrating risk management into daily business activities, strategic planning and developing the business consistently
with the defined risk appetite.

The relevant risk management principles are presented below:

*  Core risk management responsibilities embedded in Management Board and appropriately delegated to designated committees to ensure
execution and oversight. Also, the Supervisory Board regularly monitors risk profile;

*  Risk management govemance ensures full oversight of risk and sound execution of risk strategy including appropriate monitoring and
escalation of issues materially impacting the Group's risk profile;

*  Risk strategy based on Risk Appetite and Strategic Guidelines to ensure full alignment of risk, capital and performance targets;

*  Stress tesfing and concentration risk analysis conducted to ensure sound risk management in line with risk strategy & RAS and holistic
risk awareness;

*  Allmaterial risks managed and reported in coordinated manner via risk management processes;

*  Modeling and measurement approaches for quantifying risk and, where applicable, capital demand as well as regular validation;
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*  Data, effective systems, processes and policies as critical components of the risk management capability; and
*  Policy framework clearly defines key requirements related to creafing, classifying, approving, implementing and maintaining policies
across the Group;

= Anintegrated and instifution-wide risk culture, based on a full understanding of the risks taken and how they are managed, taking into
account BCR risk appetite / tolerance;

*  The Bank has a risk management function independent from the operational functions and which must have sufficient authority, stature,
resources and access to the management body;

*  Risk management function ensures that all material risks are identified, measured and properly reported. It is playing a key role within the
bank, ensuring that it has effective risk management processes in placs;

*  The risk management function Is actively involved in elaborating the institution's risk strategy and in all material risk management
decisions and that it can deliver a complete view of the whole range of risks of the institution;

= The Bank has robust govemance arrangements, which include a clear organizational structure with well defined, transparent and
consistent lines of responsibility, effective processes to identify, manage, monitor and report the risks they are or might be exposed to,
adequate intemal control mechanisms;

*  Allmajor risk classes are managed in a coordinated manner via risk management process, including credit, market, operational, liquidity,
reputational and strategic risk;

*  Appropriate monitoring, stress festing tools and escalation process in place for key capital and liquidity thresholds and metrics;
= Effective systems, processes'and policies are a criical component of the riék management capability;

*  The Bank's operational structure is consistent with the approved business strategy and risk profie;

*  The management body is responsible for the approval of sound strategies and policies for establishment of new structures;

*  The management body establishes, maintains and reviews, on an on-going mode, -ade'quate strategies, policies and procedures for
approval and maintenance of such structures and activities, to provide that they remain consistent with their declared scope.

39.4.2. Proportionality Principles

The principle of proportionality Is an important part of Pilar Il requirements. The organizational requirements depend on nature, scale and
complexity of the Bank and its activities.

Risk management principles, concepts and processes are generally designed, developed and implemented to address over-arching
organizational needs across the Group reflecting a high degree of granularity and detail. The proportionality principle is an integral part of the
Group's overall risk framework and strategy. The Risk Strategy is presented both on an individual basis (for BCR, hereinafter the Bank) and on
a consolidated basis (the Group).

The subsidiaries set their own govemance responsibilities and evaluate any the Group decisions or practices to ensure that they do not put the
subsidiary in breach of regulatory provisions or prudential rules applicable on a solo basis in Romania and in other countries where they
activate.

39.4.3. Risk appetite

The Group defines its Risk Strategy and Risk Appetite Statement (RAS} through the annual sirategic planning process to ensure appropriate
alignment of risk, capital and performance targets. The Group RAS represents a strategic statement axpressing the maximum level of risk that
the Group is prepared to accept in order fo achieve its business objectives. It consists of a set of core metrics providing quantitative direction for
risk steering and qualitative statemenits in the form of key risk principles that form part of the strategic guidelines for managing risks. The key
objective of the RAS is to:
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* ensure that the Group has sufficient resources to support its business at any given point in fime and absorb stress events;
*  set boundaries for the Group's risk-return target setfing;
= preserve and promote the market's perception of the Group's financial strength and the robustness of its systems and controls.

The setting of the Group risk appetite is forward-looking in order to foster risk retum steering and ensure proacfive management of the risk
profile. External constraints such as regulatory requirements set the ceifing for the RAS and the amount of risk Group is wiling to accept. In
order to ensure that the Group remains within the targeted risk profile a Red Amber Green system was established and assigned to the core
metrics. This approach allows a timely delivery of information to the respective govemance and the implementation of effective remediation
measures. A pre-defined threshold describes a level or event which triggers an escalation o the designated govemance and the discussion of
potential remediation actions. The breaching of a pre-defined limit, inifiates an immediate escalation to the designated governance and a prompt
implementation of remediation actions.

Moreover, stress triggers are defined for selected core mefrics and integrated info the assessment of the stress test results. They are reported
as earty waming signals o the Management Board to support proactive management of the risk and capital profile.

In addition, strategic risk limits and principles are defined based on the Group RAS in Group Risk Strategy. These limits and principles support
the implementation of the mid fo long term risk strategy. Risk management govemance ensures full oversight over all risk decisions and the
proper execution of the risk strategies. Risk mitigating actions are undertaken as par of the regular risk management process to ensure that the
Group remains within its defined RAS.

The RAS horizon covers 5 years to ensure a stronger interplay with the other strategic processes such as long-term planning, budgeting. The
remunerafion program was also directly linked to the Group RAS to reinforce the risk culture and risk awareness within the Group. In that light,
the determination of the annual bonus pool must consider if the relevant core metrics are within the Group RAS. The Group RAS 2016 was pre-
approved by both Management Board and the Risk Committee of the Management Board and approved by the Supervisory Board, as part of
the increased role of the Supervisory Board in RAS setfing and monitoring. The Group also developed an aggregated and consolidated risk
appetite dashboard (RAS Monitor) illustrating the Groups' risk profile developments by comparing the risk exposure and risk limits.

The Group RAS framewaork streamlines core capital, liquidity, and risk/eamings metrics as well as reinforces key risk principles that form part of
guidelines for managing risks. In addition, tie Group RAS strengthens intemal govemnance responsible for oversight of the risk profile
development, embeds RAS info strategic planning and budgsting processes as well as day-to-day management, and ensures timely
management actions in case of adverse developments,

39.4.4. Portfolio and risk analytics

The Group uses dedicated infrastructure, systems and processes to actively identify, control and manage risks within the scope of the portfolio.
Portfolio and risk analytics processes are designed to quantify, qualify and discuss risks in orcer to ralse awareness fo management in a fimely
manner.

39.4.4.1. Risk materfality assessment

The Bank has implemented and continuously develops its risk materiality framework. This process is not limited to the risk function and-
therefore various bank entities are involved in order to ensure the comprehensiveness of the assessment. Such broad involvement of the Bank
improves the understanding of the sources of risk, clarifies how risks relate to specific business activities, and provides the best chances of
identifying newly emerging risks. '

The risk materiality assessment is an annual process with the purpose of systematically identifying new and assessing existing material risks for
the Group. The process uses a combination of quantitative and qualitative factors in the assessment of each risk type.

This assessment represents the starting point of the ICAAP process, as identified material risk types need to be considered either directly by
dedicating economic capital or indirectly through adequate consideration within other ICAAP framework elements, Insights generated by the
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assessment are used to improve risk management practices and further mitigate risks within the group. The assessment also serves as an
input for the design and definition of the Group’s Risk Strategy and Risk Appetite Statement.

39.4.4.2. Risk Profile

The risk profile is represented by the aggregated actual and potential risk exposures of the Bank. As part of ts risk strategy, the Group analyses
its actual risk profile and determines a target risk profile based on its strategic goals. The risk profile is a result of the risk assessment process in
combination with the boundaries set by the business strategy and the risk appetite framework. The risk prafile is a key input in setting the
business objectives, policies, risk appetite and the internal control environment in the Bank.

39.4.4.3. Risk concentration analysis

The BCR conceniration risk framework outiines the standards needed to identify, measure, monitor, and mitigate concentration risks, whose
implementation is essential to ensure the long-term viability of any financial institution, especially in the case of stressed economic conditions.
Concentration risk is addressed through the banks' comprehensive limit framework and specific concentration analyses.

39.4.4.4. Stress testing

Stress testing is a key risk management tool which supports the Bank in taking a forwardHocking view in risk management as well as in
strategic, business, risk, capital and liquidity planning. In this sense, stress testing is a vital element of the bank’s Enterprise Risk Management
(ERM) framework.

Stress tesfing the Bank’s vulnerability to severe but plausible future deteriorations of the economic environment provides key insight in the
sustainability and robusiness of the bank and helps regarding timely preparation and execution of contingency plans and mitigating actions.

Results of stress tesfing have to be analyzed for further considetation, particularly with regard to the bank's planning and budgeting process,
Risk Materiality Assessment or the Risk-bearing Capacity Calculation,

Based on forward - looking hypothefical severe macroeconomic scenarios, BCR performs a yearly comprehensive stress testing exercise
which seeks to identify any potential vulnerabilities of the bank and provide further robustness to the measuring, steering and management

system.

Reverse stress testing, which assesses scenarios and circumstances that would jeopardize the bank's solvability, eamings and economic
capital adequacy, complements the bank’s stress testing program. Unlike the comprehensive stress testing, reverse stress testing starts from
an outcome of business failure and identifies under what circumstancss this might occur, for the purpose of identifying possible combinations of
risk events / concentrations.

Under the comprehensive stress test exercise, the bank assessed the sensitivity of its loss experience fo changes in its key risk parameters.
Two adverse scenarios, stress and worst, characlerized by a progressive deterioration of the macroeconomic context both at a national and
international level were used to impact, amongst other elements, the default rate and recovery rate of the institution,

Under the stress scenario at an increase in the defauit rate by 16 basis points for the Bank and 21 basis points for the Group, coupled with a
reduced recovery capacity, the loss experience increased compared to the business as usual forecast by RON 142,029 thousands for the Bank
and RON 207,123 thousands for the Group respecively.

Similarly under the worst scenario, the loss experience increased compared to the forecasted values by RON 161,942 thousands for the Bank
and RON 241,352 thousands for the Group, driven by an increase of 27 basis points in the default rate of the Bank and 32 basis points for the
Group.
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Group Bank

In RON thousands 31.12. 2016 31.12, 2016

Change in loss experiente (abs) -
Increase budget vs stress scenarioc by 207,123 142,029
Increase budget vs worst scenario by 241,352 ' 161,942

39.4.4.5. Risk Capacity

Risk capacity (also known as risk-bearing capacity) represents the Bank's overall abllity to absorb potential losses. Risk capacity can be
measured in terms of cash and cash equivalents to meet liquidity demands and in tems of capital and reserves to cover potential losses.

The Bank defines the Risk-bearing capacity as a prospective view of risk that is useful in establishing allocations of risk, capital or both to drive
value for the shareholders and the organization as a whole. e

The risk-bearing capacity of the Group represents a measure of the total risk exposure for Pillar Il purposes. Risk Capacity is the maximum
amount of risk which the Bank is technically able to assume before breaching one or more of its capital base, liquidity, and borrowing capacity,
reputational and regulatory constraints. The risk capacity represents the upper limit beyond which a breach is likely to result in failure. The Bank
defines the risk capacity of the organization prior to framing strafegy and setting risk appetite.

Within the risk-bearing capacity calculation (RCC), the quantified risks are aggregated and compéred to the coverage potential. The integral
forecast, risk appetite as well as a traffic light system support management in its discussions and degision processes.

Based on the Group business and risk profile, the three main types of banking risks — credit risk, market risk and operational risk — are
considered directly in the Risk-bearing Capacity Calculation. Besides the Pillar | risk types (credit, market and operational risks), in the context of
Pilar JI, there are additional risks that the Bank explicitly considered within the required economic capital via intemal models.

39.4.4.6. Risk planning and forecasting

Planning of risk relevant key numbers is also part of BCR Enterprise Risk Management framework and it assures the adequate reflection of
risks within the sfeering and management process of the Bank. Risk management and forecasting is used by the Bank in strategic decision
making. Implementing risk-based financial forecasts that link capitalfiquidity adequacy to changes in macroeconomic conditions represents a
powerful way o develop an understanding of risk.

The Bank ensures that there is a strong link between the capital planning, budgefing and strategic planning processes.

The Bank responsibility for risk management includes ensuring sound risk planning and forecasting processes. The risk planning and
forecasting process includes both a forward- and backward-looking component, focusing on both portfolio and economic environment changes.

39.4.4.7. Risk-weighted asset management

As risk-weighted assets (RWA) determine the actual regulatory capital requirement of the bank and influence the capital ratio as a key
performance indicator, particular emphasis is devoted to meet targets and to the planning and forecasting capacity for this parameter. Insights
from RWA analyses are used to improve the calculation infrastructure and the quality of input parameters and data as well as the most efficient
application of the Basel framework. ‘

39.4.4.8. Risk monitoring

Risks will constantly change and wil therefore need o be reviewed in a timely and appropriate manner.

Risks and the progress in implementing recommendations to reduce risks are kept under review and any new practices are evaluated. This
enables the Bank to monitor if the actions have had the desired effect of reducing risk, and creating a more stable environment for its acfivity.

66



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

Monitoring and review is a planned part of the risk management process and involves regular checking or surveillance. The results are recorded
and reported extemally and intemally, as appropriate. The results are also an input to the review and continuous improvement of the Bank's risk
management framework.

Monitoring and review of risks is required, to evaluate any changes in the risk or control environment. Risk management also requires regular
monitoring of risks in light of new developments, providing early waming if risk levels change.

39.4.4.9. Capital planning and capital allocation

Based on material risks identified, the Bank assesses its overall capital adequacy, and develops a strategy for maintaining adequate capital
levels consistent with its risk profile and business plans. This is reflected in the Bank's capital planning process and the setiing of intemal capital
targets.

The Bank ensures that a well-defined process is putin place to translate estimates of risk into an assessment of capital adequacy.

Adequate systems and processes for managing risks are in place and implemented effectively, with consideration for providing appropriate
capital for any residual risks that cannot be reduced to satisfactory levels.

The capital planning process is dynamic and forward-looking in relation to the Bank’s risk profile.

Sound capital planning is critical for detemmining the prudent amount, type and composition of capital that is consistent with the Bank long-term
strategy of being able to pursue business objectives, while also withstanding a stressful event.

Animportant task integral fo the risk planning process is the allocation of capital to enfities, business lines and segments. This is done with close
co-operation between Risk Management and Controlling. All insight from the ICAAP and controfiing processes is used to allocate capital with a
view fo risk-retum considerations,

39.4.4.10. Recovery plan

BCR has available a comprehensive Recovery Plan, issued based on the provisions of the Romanian Banking Law (i.e. the Emergency
Ordinance no. 99/2006), of Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive 2014/59/EU (BRRD), of EBA guidelines and regulatory technical standards
and of the EGB Group Racovery Plan.

The BCR Recovery Plan sets a govemance framework for the drawing up and the implementation of the plan as a main pillar of strengthening
the financial resilience of BCR and restoring its financial position following a significant deterioration.

It identifies a set of recovery measures which could be taken in order to restore BCR financial strength and viabiity when it comes under severe
stress.
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39.4.5 The Group’s aggregate capital requirement by risk type
The following diagrams present the composition of the economic capital requirement according to type of risk as of 31 December 2016;

Economic Capital aflocatlon in %, 31.12.2016
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39.5. CREDIT RISK

Definition and overview

Credit risk is the risk of a partial or complete default on contractually agreed payment obligations. Credit risk refers to the negative
consequences associated with defaulfs or the non-fulfilment of concluded contracts in Banking operations due to deterioration in the
counterparty’s credit quality.

The Bank also defines credit risk as the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from a borower's failure to meet the terms of
any contract with the credit institution or its failure to perform as agreed

Credit rigk is inherent in the following forms:
Lending facilities represents the ful amount of the repayment obligations to the Bank by debtors / borrowers.

Contingent liabilities represent the potential amount that the Bank has recourse to its client in respect to transactions undertaken
but not yet settled, i.e. underwriting, pending setflement date etc.

Commitment liabilities represent the potential amount that the Bank has récourse 1o its client in respect to committed transactions
that are subject to future actions of such client.

Financial markets transactions represent the deemed risk amount arising from the non-setfiement of fransactions andor the
replacement cost of various financial markets contracts based on methodologies and calculation formulae approved by the Bank.
Such transactions with individual counterparties may also be accounted for on a “netfed"/"cross-collateralized” basis where such
amangements have clear legal precedent or are well established in market practice.

The Bank grants loans to the corporate customers that can generate appropriate cash-flows, with a good reputation in the business
environment, that have a proper credit rafing and to the retail customers which have stable incomes and are trustworthy as regards the
fulfifment of the contract obligations towards the Bank.

In the loans approval process the Bank is mainly interested in the first credit repayment source, the customer’s capacily to generate cash-flows
(for comporate customers) and to gain stable incomes (for refail customers).
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Credi risk includes subcategories among which:

Country risk means the risk of exposure to loss caused by events in a foreign country. This risk category encompasses country and polifical
risks, sovereign risks and transfer risks.

Concenération risk which refers fo the potential adveise consequences, which may arise from concentrations or interactions between simitar
risk factors or risk types, such as the risk arising from loans to the same client, to a grotip of connected clients, to clients from the same
geographic region or industry, or fo clients who offer the same goods and services, as well as the risk arising from the use of credit risk
mitigation techniques and in particular from large indirect credit exposures. '

The results- of the concentration risk assessments are actively used to proactively steer and manage the Bank through the use of results
regarding, for example, the definition of the risk appetite statement, definition of stress factors for stress tests or the setting of limits. For the
purpose of monitoring and reducing the loans portfolio concentration, BCR established risk concentration limits for diferent areas / portfolios
that might induce such a risk.

Internal rating system

Overview

The Group has business and risk strategies in place that govem policies for lending and credit approval processes. These policies are reviewed
and adjusted regularly, at minimum on a yearly basis. They cover the entire lending business, taking into account the nature, scope and risk
level of the transactions and the counterparties involved. Credit approval considers individual information on the creditworthiness of the
customer, the type of credit, collateral, covenant package and other risk mitigation factors involved.

The assessment of counterparty default risk within the Group is based on the customer’s probability of default (PD). For each credit exposure
and lending decision, the Group assigns an intemal rafing, which is a unique measure of the counterparty default risk. The intemal rating of
each customer is updated at least on an annual basis (annual rating review). Ratings of customers in weaker rating classes are reviewed with

higher frequency.

The main purpose of the infemal ratings is to support the decision-making for lending and for the terms of credit facilities. Intemal ratings also
determine the level of decision-making authority within the Group and the monitoring procedures for existing exposures. At a quantitative level,
intemal ratings influence the level of required risk pricing, risk allowances and risk-weighted assets under Basel 3 Pillar 2, - '

Internal rafings take info account all available significant information for the assessment of counterparty defeult risk. For non-retail borowers,
intemal rafings take into account the financial strength of the counterparty, the possibility of external support, flexibility in corporate financing,
general company information and extemal credit history information, where available. For retail cliants, intemal ratings are based mainly on
payment behavior versus the Bank and, where applicable, credit bureau information, supplemented with information provided by the respective
client and general demographic information. Rating cefling rules on credit quality are applied based on membership in a group of economically
related entities and the country of main economic activity (applicable to cross-border financing facilities).

Internal specialist feams develop and improve intemal rating models and risk parameters in cooperation with risk managers. Model
development follows an intemal Group-wide methodological standard and utilizes relevant data covering the respective market. In this way, the
Group ensures the availability of rating models with the best possible productiveness across its core regions.

All rating models and their components {scorecards), whether retail or non-retail, are reguiarly validated by the central validation unit based on a
Group-wide standard methodology. Validation uses statistical techniques to evaluate the acouracy of default predicion, rating stability, data
quality, completeness and relevancy, and reviews the quality of documentation and degree of user acceptance. The results of this validation
process are reported to the management and regulatory bodies. In addition o the validation process, .the Group applies a regular monitoring
process on the performance of rating tools, reflecting developments in new defaults and early delinquencies.

Risk grades and categories
The classification of credit assets into risk grades is based on BCR's infemnal ratings. BCR uses two infemal risk scales for risk classification: for

customers that have not defaulted, a risk scale of 8 risk grades (for private individuals) and 13 risk grades (for all other segments) is used.
Defaulted customers are classified into a separate risk grade.
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For the purpose of extemal reporting, infemal rating grades of BCR are grouped into the following four risk categorigs:

Low risk: Typically regional customers with well-established and rather long-standing relationships with BCR or large internationally recognized
customers. A strong and good financial posifion and no foreseeable financial difficulfies. Retail clients having long relationships with the Bank, or
clients with a wide product pool use.

Management attention: Vulnerable non-retail clients that may have overdue payments or defaults in their credit history or may encounter debt
repayment difficulties in the medium term. Retail clients with limited savings or payment problems in the past triggering early collection
reminders. These ciients typically have a good recent payment history. '

Substandard: The borrower is vuinerable to negative financial and economic developments. Such loans are managed in specialized risk
management departments. -

Non-performing: In line with EBA's Technical Standards on forbearance and non-performing exposure, this category includes:
The non-performing exposure fo defaulted customers in the sense of art. 178 of EU Regulation no. 575/2013 including unlikeliness
to pay, overdue material amounts with more than 90 days past due, restructuring resulting into a loss fo the lender, realization of a
loan loss and inifiation of Bankruplcy proceedings; '
The non-performing non-defaulted forbome exposures.

An exposure is considered as non¥perfonning forbome, if at the moment of forbearance measures implementation client meets at least one of
the condifions mentioned below:
- The accountiproduct is already classified as non-performing exposure;

- The account/product becomes non-performing after the concession implementation.

Non performing forbearance can be allocated as a resutt of a downgrade from a performing/ performing under probation forbearance status.

If for a performing forbome contract the customer mests any of the default event criteria defined in the Group intemal default definition, the
account will be classified as non-performing. ' _
Iffor or a performing under probation contract at least one of the below triggers wil take place, the account will be classified as non-performing:

- an additional forbearance measure is extended at account ievel, this being at least the 2nd restructuring measure at client level, in more than 2
years from receiving the last forbearance measure or '

- the account has more than 30 day past due during the monitoring period, or

- the customer meets any of the default event criteria defined in the Group intemal default definition.

Cradit risk review and monitoring

I order to manage the credit risk for large corporates, Banks, sovereigns and country risk, credit limits are established to reflect the maximum
exposure that BCR is willing to have towards a particular customer or group of connected clients. All credit limits and the transactions booked
within the limits are reviewed at least once a year.

For Corporate clients there is a procedure in place related o Early Waming Signals identification and monitoring, through which it is ensured the
detction at early stage of the sensitive exposure through a pro-active approach of the clients and maintaining an adequate payment behavior
of the Comporate clients. Once adverse developments are identified, an agtion plan containing corrective measures should be initiated at WSC
{Walchlist Subcommitiee) level.

For smaller enterprises (micro-banking) and Pl customers, the portiolio monitoring and management is based on an automated early waming
system and MIS {Management Integrated System) Group standards. In retail risk management the following earty waming signals indicate
potential adverse portfolio developments if left unaddressed: '

deterioration of new business quality,

decreasing collections efficiency,

increase of clients share with sub-investment rating grade on the portfolio

Credit portfolio reports for asset classes and business lines are prepared ona regular basis. Watch-list meetings are held on a regular basis to
monitor customers with a poor credit standing and o discuss pre-emptive measures to help a particular debtor avoid default,

Credit risk exposure
Credi risk exposure refates to the following balance sheet items:
Cash and cash balances - other demand deposits, including cash at central Banks,
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Financial assets - held for trading (without equity instruments),

Financial assets - at fair value through profit or loss (without equity instruments),

Financial assets - available for sale (without equity instruments),

Financial assets - held to maturify,

Loans and Receivables,

Derivatives - hedge accounting, and ] i

Contingent credit risk liabilities (imevocable financial guarantees and undrawn imevocable credit commitments).

The credit risk exposure comprises the gross canying amount (or nominal value in the case of off-balance-sheet positions) without taking into
account loan loss allowances, provisions for guarantees, any collateral held (including risk fransfer to guarantors), nefting effects, other credit
enhancements or credit risk mitigating transactions.

The gross carrying amount of the credit risk exposure of the Group increased by 2% or RON 1,481,186 thousand, from almost RON
70,189,066 thousands as of 31 December 2015 to approkimately RON 71,670,252 thousands as of 31 December 2016.
39.5.1 Maximum credit exposure without taking into account any collateral or other credit enhancements

The following table shows the reconciliation between the gross camying amount and the camying amount of the separate compoenents of the
credit risk exposure.

Greup
In RON thousand 2015 2018
O i Alowamees e Ot o G
Cashbsiances at central banks and other domand depoalts 7.72.321 3, 7.w2321 | 7.51’!'"” - _ TAT8. 700
Loans and to credit . 206.743 1340 204008 557,488 4,090  eszam
Leans and recalvables to oustomerns 38,441048 500101 32,450,757 395,884,582 3563448 22084
-Retail . 20,138,372 2,181684 8,008,070 BADEI5 1553,300 8,086,456
+ Corporate B,303576 3,859,488 HA44,078 8,284,797 2.04b,068 224,679
Financial asssts - held to maturity- Debt Securities D, B5565 1445 064420 807 B 3460 B04.201
Finanaial aasets - held for trading - Derivatives TBEH - 7881 73408 - 73488
Flnancial asaata - held fo r trading - Debt Securtties . 68p75 - 80,678 550,70 - " 589,78
Financial asgete - at fair value through proftt or loes - Dabt Securities 7867 - 17;8;" ___- = -‘5:3; C ol - “‘-‘A;;ﬂ'-
Finenclal assets - available forsale -Debt Sscurities 6,937,001 - sss’r.oo; Al = E_.Q-TT.MZ-—l St s:s:m-;ez =
Totsl on balancae 03.178,537 5,002,077 57,184 80 ¢ 83,053,080 3001544 . 60351600
Commitments, financial and performance guarantess* 7or52a 242,720 -6,765,800 7.71?03 225; - 7,491.861‘ i
- Commitments 4331077 40,357 420000 4p72087 ‘2370 dabems
-F inl and perf 2,880,562 202,363 2,478,180 2,745,106 201682 2B43474
Total off balance ] 7.012.829 242,720 8,700 809 777,208 225,341 7491361
Total on balancs and off-balanse 70,189,060 8.236.697 63,952,370 71870252 3,528 885 ' 87 843,368

* The gross carrying amount refers to the nominal value, and allowances refer to provisions, Contains only irrevocable financial guarantees and undrawn jrrevocable
credit commitments,
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Bank

In RON thousand 2018 2018

T iy Alowaners  Coing G i e S
Caah balances at central banks and othor dsmand depoalts. 8,087 820 6,007,628 7326244 - 7220244
Lo ana and raseivables to cradit metitutio ns ‘B50T2 1340 84,631 ) 866,060 i 4,838 ﬁﬂ‘“
Loans and recelvables to cuatomers 38,18,547 5,588,824 32543.*24 34,530.480 3,376,977_ 3116525608
- Retail ‘W.548 558 1784, 22 17,7&4436
- Carporate 9.506,080 87as, 7 14,78"4,285h
Finanoial aseets - haki to maturity - Debt Securitles 8,820,106 1445 B.B_lﬂg_ .
Finanial assets - held for trading - Derlvatives 7884 . L _
Financial assets - hekl for irading - Debt Seouritien BaGTE - + 100078
Financlal agsete - at fair valre through profit o rioss - Dabt Sacuritiee. 7 08T - To87
Financial asseta - avallable fo raale - Debt Securitles 5,990,202 Q 8290202
Total on balance 60,3703 13 3.872,800 04,803,703
Commitments, financla! and parformance guaranteea* 7,040,860 242,700 8,797,081 T.708,249 22534% TAB2035
- Commitments 4,332,142 40,348 4201780 44100 23832 . 497528
-Financial and perfo rmance guarantess 2,708,527 202363 2,508,185 = “;.;&J':mﬂ-- T ;aﬁ;z‘m i 2.5&:“:0‘
Total off balance 7,040,089 242,709 8,797,981 7.708.248 22834 7482935
Total on balance and off-balance 67,416 082 5,815,318 81,801,664 67 81,758 3,810,368 84,306,300

* The gross carrying amount refers to the nominal value, and allowances refer to provisions. Containg only irrevocable financial guarantees and undrawn irrevocable

credit commitments.

39.5.2 Credit risk exposure by industry and financial instrument

The following tables present Group's and BCR credit risk exposure by industry,

indicated.

2015

broken down by financial instruments, as of each reporting date

Group
20%

Loans and recelvables

In RON thousand

to customers

Commitments, financial and Loans and receivables
performance guarantess®

to cuatomers

Commitments, financlal and
peifennance guarantieea™

Agriculture, fo ngetry ahd fishing 746828 50,653 587.281 87555
Mining end quamying 7654 s " 3paan 2
M anufactuing 4,572,695 202 apesE 02368
Elactricity, gas, steam and eir conditio ning supply 766,902 53,780 & ‘73.;.461“ T --h‘—-_d_lf.;;s_.
Water supply 259,482 34,828 232205
Construction 2,684,900 1755391 163661
outofwhich: evelopment of bullding projects 1801726 345,245

Wholeaale and_remll!mda 2209770 1400.208
Tranaport end sto rage 775,009

. Accommadation and food gervice activitles 84,934
Infarmatio n end communicatio n 343553
Financial and Inaurance sarvicss 434,889

aut of which: Ho kling companies 210,736

Real estats activitias 929 1204 85347 w51
Professional, 2clentific and technical activities 281429 89,39F 80,389 79,999
Administrative and suppott servics activities 0188 45,780 1;,574 4,200 ]
Pulsc admi d daf co lsary soclal rity 454889 73,501 i 3.9&.794 458339 [
Education ) 8,352 2025 e Ty
Human health services and social wosk activitles 05,727 9,908 - ™,248 . ‘8.8:)
Arts, entertainment and recreation 8433 2,M 3350 2595
Other services s1285 7238 am kT
Private households 9269005 1aaran D282 ’ ‘w2536
Others n - 2 2
Toatal 38,441,948 7,012,529 35,884,582 7,717,203

* Irrevocable financial guarantees and wndrawn irrevocable credit commitments
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2015

Bank
2016

in RON thoyaand

Loane and recéivables
to cuatomers

Commitments, flnanclal and
performance guarantess™

Loane and recalvabise
to custemers

Commitmenta, financial and

parfornmance guarenisas®

Agriculturs, foreatry and flshing 5294 55,686 - 453315 57,41
Mining and gquamrying 14,656
Manufasturing 4441630
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply 765,202
Water supply 23138
Conatruction 2,5¢7,0m8

aut of which: Development of bullding praject: 1488435
Whalesale and retall irads 3 2001871
Transport and sterage ' 434072
Accommodation and fao o service activities 5292
Infanmatia n and co mmunication 34,120
Financlal and Insurance servicea 817247 ) 88,223 62586 96,223

- out of which: Hokding companles 20,736 25577 il ‘82547 : 50,407
Resl estate activitios ’ 1650575 w7 744 w0
Professional, scientific and technlzal activitiea 249,931 49,481 1280 81258
Administrative and suppart service activities ) 63,82 48437 ‘_ ‘i I 865.!'_8 B e e 5.344
Public administraticn and defance, compulscryacclal security 4,548,50 73,501 3822302 450,339
Educaflon 8,587 202‘5 E 1947 9.890'
Human health services and soclal work activities BZ,B1 9,780 02594 0,645
Arts, entertalnment and recreation 6,928 2 498 2,505
Other services 4788 7,189 3&.995 IS 1).%8‘
Private households B.846.387 133671 8829208 1422 802
Others n 71'2 {
Total 38,118,547 7,040,603 145 3% 4BE - fiin2es

* Irrevocable financial guarantees and undrawn irrevocable credit cominitmenis.

39.5.3 Loan Portfolio on time bands

The overdue amount not impaired spiit on overdue days bucket_s (Gross camying amount for Loans and Advances to Customers):

2015 Group -
‘n ROM thousands TOTAL Exposure past due, but not Impaired
LOANS 1-30 days 31- 80 days M ore than 90 days
Il.Corporate Cllents 572,489 451,087 83,089 33,344
Il. Retall Cliants 2,179,087 1855,697 237,172 26,217
TotalLeans {I1+) 2,751,578 2,306,754 325,261 119,561
2016 Group
in RON thousands TGTAL Exposure past due, but not impaired
LOANS 1+ 30 daye 31- 90 days More than 9C daye
i. Corporate Ctlents 507,261 463,334 13,166 30,773
I Retall Cllents 2,125,421 1808,648 27625 40.861
Total Loans (1+1]) 2,632,683 2,271,280 289,388 71,333
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2015 Bank
in RON thousands TOTAL Eupbsure past due. but not Impalred
LOANS 1- 30 days 31- 30 days M ore than 90 days
I. Corporate Cllents 431635 375875 23,869 32,081
Il. Retall Clients 2,170,778 1851325 233,815 85,638
Total Loans (I+1} 2,602,414 2,227,000 257,684 117,730
2016 Bank
in RON thousands TOTAL Exposure past due, but not impaired
LOANS 1- 30 days 31- 90 days M ore than 90 days
I. Corporate Clients 368,722 328,793 0,894 30,038
It. Retail Clients 2,082,222 1800324 242248 ; 30,850
Total Loans {I+1) 2,451,845 2,129,117 253,142 GEAIE

39.5.4 Impairment assessment

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impaiment as a resulf of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a oss event) and that loss event {or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash fiows of the financial asset or group of financial asséts that can be reliably estimated, such as:

. Significant financial difficulty of issuer o obligor;

. A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal péyments

. The lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the
lender would not otherwise consider; A

. It is becoming probabl'e that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

* Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets

since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group;

BCR has developed a methodology for assessing the expected loss of the “Datio in solutum” eligible performing portfolio of the Bank and
collective provisions were booked. Specific allowances are booked for all loans where notifications were received based on low's provisions
(77/2018). Until December 312016, the total number of notifications received based on law 77/2016 provisions were related to 1119 accounts
(out of which 400 are active accounts at 31* December 2016).

The Bank addresses impaiment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances.

Individually assessed allowances

The Bank determines the allowances appropriate for each loan of the individually significant clients -means clients with On and Off balance
exposure higher than 400.000 EUR equivalent or advance on an individual basis. ltems considered when determining allowance amounts
include the sustainability of the counterparty's business plan, its ability fo improve performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, projected
receipts and the expected dividend payout shouid Bankruptcy ensure, the availabilty of other financial support and the realizable value of
collateral, and the fiming of the expected cash flows. The impaiment losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen
circumstances require more careful attention,

Colleclively assessed alfowances

Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances of the clients that are not individually significant - means dlients with On
and Off balance exposure lower than 400.000 EUR equivalent and for individually significant loans and advances where there Is not yet
objective evidence of individual impaiment. Allowances are evaluated on each reporting date with each portfolic receiving a separate review.

The collective asssssment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even though there is not yet identified
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evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impaiment losses are estimated by taking into consideration the following information:
observed historical iosses on the portfolio, number of months since defautt, current economic conditions, the approximate delay between the:
time a loss is {ikely to have been incurred and the time it will be identiied as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and
expected recoveries once impaired. Local management is responsible for deciding the length of this period which can extend for as long as one
year. The impaimnent allowance is then reviewed by credit management to ensure alignment with the Bank's overall policy.
Financial quarantees and lefters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.

2016 Group
Nalther past due ner impairsd [ — duc.hut Individually Total
M anage mesnt Non- not iImpaired impaired **
in RON thousands Lew Risk Attention Substandard performing
Cash balances af central banks and other a " -
demand deposits 7,047,075 128,248 - 7,172,321
Loans and recaivables to orsdit
Anstitutions OHLR) 09002 1 205,743
Financlal assets designated at falr vajus
T, ea¥ - 17,807
through profit or loas
Derivative financlal instrumenta 71,276 2.516 4,022 - 78,814
Financial assats held for trading 108,876 188,878
Listed dabt instruments 94,301 - = 84,301
Unltsted debt inatruments D2487 - - 12,487
Leans I!!d racelvables to customersa 21,948,158 5,847,208 476,813 368,230 . 2,761,674 7,281,968 28,441,948
Financial Investments - availlable for sale 8,831,472 385 1,698 1,080 1486 - 8,037,001
Listed dabt Instrumenta 5,919,800 388 1008 1980 ) 18 - 5321071
Unlisted debt Inatruments 1055012 - =1 - 185,880
Flnancial Investnents - held to maturity 10,185,865 - - - 10,155,808
Commitments, flnanclal and parformance
D &,168,308 1,285,323 50,720 508,835 1283 7.012,829
TOTAL 51,603,738 _ 7,170,789 533,254 A65,045 2,754,296 7.264,985 70,189,084
* Irrevocable financial guarantees and undrawn irrevocable credit commitments,
** clients’ exposure with provisions specific individual & specific rule based.
20% Sroup
Nalthet past due nor impaired P st dus but tndividually =
In RON thousands Low Riak Managemant o o are Non- nel impeired Impeired -
Attention pearforming
Cash balapces at central banks and other =
demand deposita 2,373,061 6.2043,452 1,296 - 7,678,709
Loans and receivables to oredit
lnatitutions J12 842 Do) K g s 537,488
Financlal ansets designated at falr valt= e e e e e e,
N 15,319 5,30
through profit or loaa
Dorivative financlal instruments 86,734 2.118 3,834 73,488
FInanclal aassts held for trading B89,178 = 569,178
Listed debt instruments 200,78 ey = = 3 300,78
Unlisted dabt iInatruments 258,008 T e = e = s T T
Loans and recalvables te customers 23,122,923 5,806,124 B1F12 12,588 2,632.683 4,128,155 35,884,682
Financial Inveatments - availlable for aale 5,374,205 - "r z,331 5,3?5.!52
Llatad debt instrumente 2,080.4084 - 1w 2,84 3pe7as
Uniiated debt instruments 1384,720 - : w7 1364 ,868
Financial Inv-.-lm-nh - hald to maturity B HOF. ER - 13,807,681
Commitments, flnancial and performancs
_guarantess 5,817,108 1,631,187 2,352 371331 10,180 7.717,202
TOTAL 61,749,728 12,588,704 228.11% 383,717 2,645,203 4,129,158 71,670,282

* Imevocable financial guarantees and undrawn irrevocable credit commitments
** clients' exposure with provisions specific individual & specific rule based,
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2015 Bank
Nalther past due nor impairad P ast due but Individually
In RO d L. Risk Management Substandard Non= not Impalred impaired * ot
n N thousands ow Ris, Attention standar psrtormin
Gash balances at sentral banks and cthar 125 _ . - 8,957,028
B et 6,872,302 437
Loans and recalvables to cradit 5,072
o 48,080 137,201 1 188,
Financial essots deslgnated at falr valus N
17.087 17,087
‘through profit o
Darlvative flnanclal Instrumenta 71278 3,515 4,022 7d,8M
Financlal assets held for trading 168,678 a - . 158,878
Ligted debt Inatruments 64,381 - - - - - 84,391
Unlisted debt Inatruments 02,487 - - - - - 02,487
Loans and receivables to custemers 22,774,808 5,207,538 458,754 344,005 2,602,414 8,730,220 38,118,847
Financlat investmants - avallable for sale 5,084,872 3858 1,608 1880 1,498 o 5,890,202
Listed debt Instruments 4,992,382 ass + 1898 19E0 1KE - 4,397,503
Unlisted debt Instruments 1562,281 - - - iy ] - 1582,000
Financlal Investments - hald to maturlty 9,020,108 - 4 - - Q,820,108
Commitments, financlal and performanca - 5,188,500 4,302,854 62,881 508,836 5 - 7,640,809
guarante
TOTAL 40,925,078 8,778,821 528,168 862,820 2,803,879 8,730,230 87,418,982
* Irrevocable financial guarantees and undrawn irrevocable credit commitments,
** clients' exposure with provisions specific individual & specific rule based.
2018 Bank
Neither past due nor impaired P ast dua but Individually et
. M anagement Nen- not impalred Impalred *
in RON thousands Low Riak Attention Substandard parformin
Cash balances at central banks and other
demand deposita ) 2,122,179 204,088 o - . - 7,328,244
Loans and receivabies to aradit ) a ~ 1 956,050
Financial asasats desigrated at Talr val: B T EEr e Rl S A it
15,318 - - LR
Ahrough profit or loss s A g i e e e i o
Darivative financial instruments 66,734 3,18 3,634 - - - 73,488
Financlal assats hald for trading ERAAT - - - BE9. 176
Listed debt instruments 300,78 =2 3 = s z 200,78
Unlisted debt instrumants ] 288,008 = = = = z 5  2rape8
Loans and recelvables te customers 22,273, T12 6,785,448 71,767 12 144 2,481,946 : 3,838,470 34,539,488
Financial investments - avallable for sale 4,848,842 - "r - 2,334 - 4,048,089
Listed debt Instrumants 3,260,001 17 - 2,84 - 3283202
Unfisted debt Instruments 1384740 - - u7 = 1384,808
Financial Investments - held ta maturity 92,389,657 - - - - - 12,388,857
Commitments, financiaf and perfermance N T R A A T
_guarantses 8,788,050 1,608,207 41,752 371,331 - - 7,708,240
TOTAL AR 44T ADD Zqr.2Th 383,475 2.454,275 3,838,470 67,015,758

¥ Irrevocable financial guarantees and undrawn irrevocable credit commitments,
** clients’ exposure with provisions specifis individual & specfic rule based.
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The following table presents the spiit of impaired loans and receivables to customers broken down by industry:

Group '‘Bank
| 2015 | 20186 | 2015 | 2016
In RON thousand ~_Impaired loans
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 22707 75380 208,730 48,043
M Ining and quarrying 03,154 80333 02858 000000 WI082
M anufacturing = 1746,553 . 188,81 1704,301 112,848
Electriclty, gas, steam and air conditio ning supply 108,258 78435 17,138
Water supply 6038 33743 __39837 -
Construction 1285040 - _..203248 1235389 0
Development of bullding projects 545,804 ) - 90,788 532,751 e
Wholesale and retall trade 81,223 400,848 7866823 @
_Transport and storage 97288 == 67,384 86836
Accommodation and food service activities 18,621 34675 2,664
Information and co mmunication 67,885 38285 57,131
Financlal and insurance services 54,633 54304 50,793
Holding companles i 63 24 63
Real estate activities 296498 _B5,84.06 2 288,670
P rofessional, scientific and technical actlvities 36,430 L 35,840 Fo
Administrative and support service activitias E 23,950 3,470 23,34 -
Public administration and defence, compulso ry saclal security 40,769 36622 - AQ768
Education — . A7 280 07
Human heglth services and so cial work activities 43,807 Ho07 . 42,280
Ars, entertainment and recraation 8848 . 228 8,420 FERENTCE=RTRIIme 276
Cther services 5021 ] 4,952 e oD
Private households . 2,1318%6 == 1501161 E 188,531 14375,9_64;_
Others - [ - 2
Total 7,261,965 4,129,155 6,730,230 3,839,470

30.5.5. Collatsral coverage for credit exposure

The following tables present the spiit of over - and under - collateralized on-balance credit exposures, for Group and for BCR, taking info
account the current value of collateral {accepted value) of the types.

- Real estate: This includes both residential and commercial real estate,

- Financial collateral: Cash deposits, .

- Personal Guarantees provided by govemments and Banks.

Group
2015 2018
in RGN thousands | Over-collateralized | Under-cellateralized | Over-collateralized | Under-collateralized |
Neither past due nor
impalred )
Gross axposure 4,394,523 24,033,884 2268288 26854456
Collateras 6,670,561 8,702,002 BAT2837 . BADI944
Past due but not Impaired RN T
Gross exposure 490,18 2261450 4050% 2,226,769
Collaterals —__1008,746 118,032 661708~ . B45,562
Individually impalred [ |
Gross exposune 499,901 6,762,065 335,705 3803450
Collaterals 043,16 1879,066 - 670080 896480
Bank
2015 2018

in RON thousanis
Neither past due nor
impaired

Over-collateralized | Under-collateralized | Over-collateralized | Under-collateralized

Gross exposure 4974830 2381073 2455859 25,79221
Collaterals 8.4728% 8,758,479 5,768,372 6,376,388
P ast due but not impaired - -

(5ross exposurg 453,701 2,118,713 391088 2,080 877
Collaterals 902,290 113,963 834,106 BAT 6T
individually impaired - -

Gross exposure 47090 6,259,398 319,998 358472
Collaterals 899,533 1732,751 634,764 827,57
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39.8. MARKET RISK

Definition and overview

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise due fo adverse changes in market prices and to the parameters derived therefrom. These market
value changes might appear in the profit and loss account or in the statement of comprehensive income. Market risk is divided into interest rate
risk, cumrency risk, equity risk and commodity risk. This concems both trading and bank book positions.

Methods and instruments employed

Potential losses from the trading book that may arise from market movements are assessed using the value at risk (VaR). The calculation is
done-according to the method of historic simulation with a one-sided confidence level of 99%, a holding period of one day and a simulation
period of two years. The VaR describes what level of losses may be expected as a maximum at a defined probability — the confidence lavel -
within a certain holding period of the positions under historically observed market conditions.

On the one hand, the confidence level is limited to 99%, and on the other hand, the model takes info account only those market scenarios
observed in each case within the simulation period of two years, and calculates the VaR for the current position of the bank on this basis. In
order to investigate any extreme market situations beyond this, stress tests are conducted. These events include mainly market movements of

low probability.

The VaR model was approved by the Financial Market Authority (FMA) as an intemal market risk model to determine the own funds
requirements of the frading book of Erste Group‘ pursuant o the Ausrian Banking Act.

Methods and instruments of risk mitigation

Market risks are controlled in the trading book by setting several layers of limits. The overall imit on the basis of VaR for the trading book is
allocated by the management board within the Risk Appetite Framework while taking into account the risk-bearing capacity and projected
eamings. -

Al market risk activities of the frading book are assigned risk limits that are statistically consistent in their entirety with the VaR overall limit. The
VaR limit is assigned in a top-down procedure to the individual trading units. This is done down to the level of the individual trading groups or
departments. Limit compliance is verified on a daily basis by the Market and Liquidity Risk unit. On demand limit reports can also be triggered
by individual traders or chief traders on an ad hoc basis,

Analysis of market risk

Value at Risk of trading hook _

The following tables show the VaR amounts as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 respectively at the 99% confidence leve! using
equally weighted market data and with a holding period of one day: '

in thousands RON
Total Trading
FX position Fixed Income  Money Market Equify Book
As of 31 December 2016 g 439.0 101.1 88.7 463.3
As of 31 December 2015 51 65.4 508.8 65.8 505.1

In the above table, the VaR measure is also reported for the major portolios of the trading book: bends portfolio, money market fransactions
and equity porffolio, ‘

Interest rate risk of banking book

Interest rate risk is the risk of an adverse change in the fair value of financial instruments caused by @ movement in market interest rates. This
fype of risk arises when mismatches exist between assets and liabiiities, including derivatives, in respect of their maturities or of the fiming of
interest rate adjustments.

In order to identify interest rate risk, all financial instruments, including transactions not recognized on the balance sheet, are grouped info
maturity bands based on their remaining terms to maturity or terms to an interest rate adjustment {re-pricing). Positions without a fixed maturity
{e.g. demand deposits) are included on the basis of modeled deposit rates that are determined by means of statistical methods.

The following tables list the open positions held by BCR by currency and re-pricing as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015. Positive
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values indicate a surplus of asset items and therefore the unfavorable evolution would be a decrease in the interest rates; negative values
represent a surplus on the liability side.

December 2015 .
_ths. RON RON EUR Other currancies
Weightin Net Weighted Net  Weighted Net Weighted

Maturity band fg:ttorg position pogltlon position pogition position pogitlon
<1m ' 0.08% 796,452 637 4,224,805 3,380 (186,124) {149}
>1m,£3m 0.32%  (2,441,564) (7.813) 812,122 2,599 (59,664} - (1981)
>3m<6m 0.72% 471,537 3.395 66,524 479 {265,649) {1,913)
>6m,<12m . 1.43% 978,570 13,894 (1,296,550) {18,541) {249,181) (3,563)
>1y,< 2y 2.77% 2,022,978 56,036 (434,137} {12,026} {90,338) (2,502)
>2y.< 3y 4.49% 1,228,890 55,177 (252,460) {11,335) (68,645) (3,082)
>3y, s 4y 6.14% 641,560 39,392 539,564 33,129 (68,172) {4,186)
>4y,s 5y . 7.71% 952,012 73,400 2,426,656 187,095 {63,727) __{4.913)
>6y,s 7y 10.15% 718,092 72,886 (737,628) (74,869} (137,725) {13,979)
>7y.< 10y 13.26% (76,060) {10,086} 705,405 93,549 (128,066} {16,982}
>10y,< 15y 17.84% 3,893 695 {267,773) (47.771) {133) (24)
>15y,< 20y 2243% 1,553 348 - 1,618 363 0 ‘0
>20y 26.03% (767) (200) {55,649) {14,485) (26) (M)
Total 297,862 141,566 __(61,491}
December 2016
ths. RON RON EUR Other currencies

i Weightin Net Weighted Net . Weighted Net Weighted
LIy bapd factor: position position ) -position position position position
£1m 0.08% 295,837 237 3,568,728 2,855 -13,447 =11
>1m,£3m 0.32% -1,836,687 -5,877 -128,006 -410  -152,878 -489
>3m,s6m 0.72% 456,256 3,285 -575,139 -4,141 -317,085 - 2,283
>6m,<12m 1.43% -446,780 -6,389 -1,395,207 -19,951- . -489,205 -6,997
>1y,< 2y 2.77% 1,101,229 30,504 -47,166 -1,306 -115,226 -3,192
>2y,< 3y 4.49% 723,134 32,469 475,768 21,382  -106,619 -4,787
>3y, 5 4y 6.14% 1,774,478 108,953 2,214,492 135970 102,233 -  -8,277
>4y,s 5y - T.7T1% 2,335,627 180,077 946,770 72,996 -108,925 -B,244
>5y,s 7y 10.15% 679,887 69,000 -828,905 -84,134 214,221 -21,743
>7y,5 10y 13.26% 691,025 91,630 77.900 10,329  -173,672 -23,029
>10y,s 15y 17.84% - 502,822 89,668 53,369 9,521 -138 : -25
>15y,< 20y 22.43% 413 R ) - 5822 1,261 81 18
>20y 26.03% -1.273 -331 -50,926 -13,256 -100 -26
Total - 593,326 - 131,096 " -77,084

The weighting factors are the regulatory factors from the standardized approach for interest rate risk for banking book of Regulation 5/2013,
where the assumed shocks are of 200 basis points. The potential impact of the paraliel shift of the interest rates in the market value of equity
(MVoE) under this approach is illustrated in the tables below. The regulatory and intemnal limit for this impact as a percentage from own funds is
20%, while the wamning level is 17%.

Bank ) Bank
December 2015 (RON thousands) December 2016 {RON thousands)
l : 7,655,941
Own Funds ‘ 5,879,523 Own Funds
[F] )]
% RON | 297,862 Th % RON 593,326
DL S o EUR | 141,566 Potential o EUR | 131,008
Decrease in 5 : D S = :
the Market 2 USD | 51,491 the Marbot 2 usD | 77,084
2] B
V:":;t_f’f € Total | 490,919 Value of £ Total | 801,506
ulty % of Own Equity % of Own
Funds 8.35% Funds 10.47%
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Group
December 2015 (RON thousands)
Own Funds 6,902,085
@
=
The E RON | 347,634
Potential g EUR | 131,285
Decrease in S
U 1,
the Market % S | 91248
Value of £ Total | 530,167
Equity % of Own
Funds 7.68%

Group
December 2016 (RON thousands)
Own Funds 7,777,782
The 3 RON | 650,659
-
Potential 2 EUR 123,524
Decrease =
in the 2 usD 76,573
Market c Total | 850,756
V:lu? of % of Own
ity | Funds 10.94%

The following table shows the changes in NIl (Net interest Income) for a 1 year period and the impact on AFS reserve (equity) due to an
instantaneous parallel shift of the yield curves with +1%, +2%. In case of downward scenarios the calculation doss ot shift inferest rates below

Risk from open foreign exchange positions is the risk related to exchange rates that derives from the mismatch between assets and liabilities, or

Zera.
2015 RON thousands
- Shift Sensitivity of Net Interest Income Sensftivity of AFS reserve (equity)

+2% (24,281) {218,733)

+1% {10,114} {112,366)

-1% (13,397) 91,769

-2% (38,311) 146,550
2016 RON thousands
Shift  Sensitivity of Net Inferest Income _ Sensitivity of AFS reserve {equity)
+ 2% (53,636) (268,862)
+1% (17,948} (137,738)
~-1% (65,451) 144,801
-2% {159,240} 207,658

Exchange rate risk

fom cumency-related financial derivatives. These risks might originate from customer-related operations or proprietary trading and are
monitored and managed on a daily basis. Foreign cumency exposure is subject to infemnal limits.

The table below presents a sensifivity analysis in Profit or ioss and AFS reserves of a {#/-) 5% shock in EUR/RON and USD/RON rates on FX

positions as of December 2016 compared to December 2015.

Bank
RON thousands P/L Sensitivity Sensi:tivity of AFS reserves
Ch‘f;gge?;: EUR .- usp_ EUR usD
exchange  Adusted e lgl(- Adjusted  IMPRCt If=o): Exposure Ampact |f=°)2 Expostre iy Igl(-
currencies @XPOSUr® yposure  SXPOSUre exposure axposure eXposure
2015 5% 2,919 660.44 _ .(31,975) (6,631.19) 22,248 5.033.02 31,494 6.531.38
-5% (660.44) 6,631.19 (5,033.02) (6,531.38)
2016 5% - (45,144) (10,250.17) {36,155) (7,779.29) 130 20.52 38,791 8,346.47
-5% 10,250.17 7,779.29 {29.52) {8,346.47)
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Group
RON
thousands P/L Sensitivity Sensitivity of AFS reserves
Changein EUR usb EUR UsD
foreign ' Impactin- ] impact in Impact in Impact in
exchange | Adjusted " FX Adjusted FX Exposure FX Exposure FX
curencies | ©Xposure exposure | SXPOSUre exposure exposure exposure
2015 5% (35,069) {7,934} (33,334) (6,913) 22,248 5,033 31,494 6,531
-5% 7,934 6,913 (5,033) {6.531)
2016 5% (173,939)  (39,494) (36,590) (7,873) 130 30 38,791 8,348
-5%, 39,494 7,873 (30) ) (8,346)

30.7.  LIQUIDITY RISK

Definition and overview

The liquidity risk is defined in the Group in line with the principles set out by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and the local regulator
{National Bank of Romania). Accordingly, a distinction is made between market liquidity risk, which is the risk that the Group enfities cannot
easily offsat or close a position at the market price because of inadequate market depth or market disruption, and funding liquidity risk, which is
the risk that the banks in the Group will not be able fo mest efficiently both expected and unexpected cument and future cash flow and collateral
needs without affecting either daily operations or the financial condition of the Group members.

Funding fiquidity risk is further divided into insolvency risk and structural liquidity risk. The former is the short-term risk that current or future
payment obligations cannot be met in full and on timie in an economically justiied manner, while structural liquidity risk is the long-term rigk of
losses due fo a change in the Group's own refinancing cost or spread.

Liquidity strategy

The Liquidity Strategy was defined in accordance with the Group's risk appetite and it was compilant with intemal and regulatory limis. The
Liquidity Strategy contains developments, rules and targets including (but not limited to) regulatory requirements {e.g. LCR, NSFR), liquidity
buffer, funding plan and maturity profile of issued debt and secured and unsecured interbank funding.

Msthods and instruments employed
Short-term insolvency risk is monitored by calculating the survival period for each significant currency and total portfolio in the case of the Bank,

This analysis determines the maximum period during which the entity can survive a severe combined market and idiosyngratic crisis while
relying on its pool of liquid assets. The chosen worst-case scenario simulates very limited money market and capital market access and af the
same time significant client deposit outflow. Furthermore, the simulation assumes increased drawdown on guarantees and loan commitments
dependent on the type of the customey.

Additional to QIS monitoring 'éocdrding to BCBS guidelines and reporting of Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio
(NSFR) according to CRR, the Group is reporting LCR intemally according to Delegated Act since October 2015. The ratios are monitored at
both entity and group level, and since 2014 LCR is part of the infemnal Risk Appefite Statement. :

Additionally, the traditional liquidity gaps (depicting the going concern maturity mismatches) of the subsidiaries and the group as a whole are

reported and monitored regularly. Funding concentration risk is continuously analysed in respect to counterparties. The Group's fund transfer
pricing {(FTP) system has also proven to be an efficient tool for structural liquidity risk management.
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Methods and instruments of risk mitigation

Short-term liquidity nsk is managed by limits resulting from the survival period madel, intemal stress testing and by intemal LCR targets at both
entity and group level. Limit breaches are reported to the Asset Liabilty Committee (ALCO). Another important instrument for managing the
liquidity risk within the Group and in relation to its subsidiaries is the FTP system. As the process of planning funding needs provides important
information for liquidity management, a detailed overview of funding needs is prepared on a quarterly basis for the planning horizon across the
Group. .

The Contingency Plan of the Group ensures the necessary coordination of all parties involved in the liquidity management process in case of
crisis and is reviewed on a regular basis. The contingency plans of the subsidiaries are co-ordinated as part of the plan for the Group.

Analysis of liquidity risk

Liuidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

The ratio of the Group's liquidity buffer o its net liquidity cutflows over a 30 calendar day stress period as defined in CRR Part VI with regard to
liquidity coverage requirement for credit institufions. The evolution of BCR LCR on both solo and group level are presented in the following table:

LCR Group

in RON thousand ‘ Dec-15 Dec-16 -
High Quality Liquid Assets 20,456,064 25,758,362
Total Net Cash Qutflows 6,866,839 6,597,753
LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO 298% 390%
LCR Bank

In RON thousand Dec-15 Dec-16
High Quality Liquid Assets 17,699,175 23,146,123
Total Net Cash Qutflows 7,042,938 6,427,546
LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO 251% 360%

Compared to December 2015, Liquidity Coverage Ratio as of December 2016 on both group and bank level has registered an increase due to
higher liquid assets. The volume of high liquid assets has increased by 30.8% on solo leve! and by 25.9% on group level, The variability in the
loans to and deposits from financial customers with residual maturity up to 1 month were the main drivers for the LCR volatility during the year.
Financial liabilities

Maturities of contractual undiscounted cash flows from financial liabilities as of 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 respectively for the
Bank were as follows:
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Carrying Contractuai 1-3 3-6 612
Bank amounts cash flows S UL months months months 1-Syears >3years
As of 31 December 2016, in thousands RON
ﬁ:&;ﬁfgg’aﬁ"e 55,117,196 56,201,869 28,276,443 8,708,547 4,505,939 5545202 7120743 1,954,005
Y 6,780,316 7,266,022 875,571 333,713 741126 1,061,340 3024163 1,230,109
Customer
doposits 45354909 45446903 27,363,372 8,294,522 3,831,290 4,389,200 1,409,509 158,911
i?,leig;j:"”'“i* 637,192 726,551 33,050 52,880 10,318 44014 585,400 0
ﬁ':;ﬁt'lde?a‘ed 2344779 2,762,303 4450 27,443 13205 49739 2101671 565,885
Contingent
i 7,708,249 7,708,249 7,708,249 0 0 0 0 o
Financial .
Bl R 2,767,239 2,767,239 2,767,239 0 0 0 0 0
Irrevocable
i 2 4,941,010 4,841,010 4,941,010 0 0 0 0 0
Derivatives 38,391 7,691,473 2,797,823 156,444 404,657 995,378 3,092,420 244,742
Carying  contractual 13 36 6-12
Bank amounts cash flows SRt months months months 1-5years > 5 years
As of 31 December 2015, in thousands RON
ﬁ:l;'i;;:f;“'aﬁ"e 51,723,608 53,806,677 24,261,208 8,638,723 3,853,541 4,434,663 8,737,172 3,881,370
E:ﬁ::fm by 8495481 0,852,468 252,321 69,420 664,552 1245227 5047396 2,573552
dc::g?::r 39,973,916 40,045,605 23,902,874 8,531,227 3,151,804 3042555 1,275012 142133
gﬁg;jg"“”“* 912,236 1,049,307 101,601 230 138 96,986 817,500 32,843
?;gﬁt’i‘;g‘a“’d 2341975  2,850.207 4412 37,846 37,047 49,895  1,507.255 1132,842
Contingent
R 7,040,669 7,040,669 7,040,669 0 0 0 0 0
Financial
i 2,708,527 2,708,527 2,708,527 0 0 0 0 0
Irrevocable
e 4,332,142 4,332,142 4,332,142 0 0 0 0 0
Derivatives 35,102 7,032,529 2,558,128 143,041 360,980 910,102 2,827,495 223,774

Compared to 2015, the volume of deposits (customers and banks) for the Bank as of 31 December 2016 increased from RON 48,469,397

thousands to RON 52,135,225 thousands.

As of year-end 2016, the cumency composition of the deposits consisted of approximately 57.69%
EUR {41% as of year-snd 2015), 5% USD (4% as of year-

end 2015} and the rest 1% in other currencies,

RON {53.62% as of year-end 2015), 36.65%
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Maturities of contractual undiscounted cash flows from financial liabilities as of 31 December 2016 and 31 Decem

Group, wers as follows:

ber 2015 respectively for the

Carrying Contractual 1-3 36 612
Sraup cashflows ~ ' MoMth o onths months months 19 Years > 5years
amounts )
As of 31 December 2016, in thousands RON
I’::I;;ﬂ;’;"a“"e 58,527,063 50,379,133 28,729,800 8,821,797 4,831,423 5,874,900 0,166,308 1,954,005
Depasits by 7,300,894 7,377,079 880,734 362071 741126 1061340 3,101,699 1,230,109
g:psé"s’i't’se’ 48235198 48,513,110 27,811,566 8379414 4,066,774 4718907 3,377,538 158,911
gﬁ‘s’;ﬁ:"“ﬁﬁ* 637,192 726,561 33,050 52,860 10,318 44014 585400 0
ﬁ;;’"‘i’{ideis"ated 2344779 2,762,393 4,450 27,443 13,205 49739 2101671 565,385
Contingent
e 7,717,208 7,717,203 7,717,203 0 0 0 0 0
Financial
T 2745106  2,745106 2,745,108 0 0 0 0 0
Irrevocable
phinide 4872007 4972097 4,972,007 0 0 0 0 0
Derivatives 18,391 7,691,473 2,797,823 156,444 404,657 995378 3,002,420 244,742
Carrying  contractual 13 36 6-12
Group U cashflows = 1Month o nths months months 1> Years > 5years
As of 31 December 2015, in thousands RON
7 :f:g;ﬁ;:’;"a“"e 54,785,481 56,758,813 24,438,035 8,707,067 3,048,218 4,768,519 10925258 3,073,716
E:r?;sslts by 8,905248 0,803,218 254037 103842 664,587 1,249,804 5047396 2,573,552
g::;g?;er 42626022 42956991 24,077,985 8,565,149 3,246,446 3,360,834 3,463,008 234,470
i?f;g;j:c“”"es 912,236 1,049,307 101,601 230 138 96,986 817,509 32,843
ﬁ‘;‘é’il‘;{ig':ated 2341075 2850207 4412 37,846 37,047 49,885 1,507,255 1,132,842
Contingent
T 7,012,529 7,012,529 7,012,520 0 0 0 0 0
Financial
P 2,680,552 2,680,552 2,680,552 0 0 0 o 0
Irrevocable
commimments  H331.977 4331977 4,331,977 0 0 0 0 0
Derivatives 35,102 7,032,520 2,558,128 143,041 369,980 910102 2827495 223,774

Compared to 2015, the volume of deposits (customers and banks

thousands fo RON 55,545,002 thousands.

) for the Group as of 31 December 2016 increased from RON 51 931,270
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39.8. OPERATIONAL RISK

Definition and overview

In line with Article 4 Section 52 regulation (EU) 575/2013 (CRRY), the Group defines operational risk as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or falled intemal processes, people and systems, or from extemal events. Operational risk includes legal risk, model risk and information
technology related risk (IT risk), but exclude strategic and reputational risk.

According with National Bank of Romania regulation no. 512013, the legal (judicial) risk is defined as the loss risk following fines, penalties and
sanctions for which the credit institution is liable in case of not applying or deficiently applying the legal or contractual dispositions, as well as the
fact that the contractual rights and liabilities of the credit institutions and/or of its counterparty are ot established adequately. _

IT risk means a subcategory of operational risk, that concems the current or prospective risk of adverse impact on eamings and capital, arising
from inadequate IT strategy and policies, information technology or processing, in tems of manageability, integrity, confrollability and continuity
thereof, or from inadequate use of the institution’s information technology.

Model risk means the potential loss a credit insfitution may incur, as a consequence of decisions that could be principally based on the output of
internal modeis, due to emors in the development, implementation or use.of such models.

Both quanfitative and qualitative methods are used to identify operationa risks. Consistent with intemational practice, the responsibility for
managing operational risk rests with the fine management.

Methods and instruments employed

The quantitative measurement methods are based on intemal loss experience data, which is collected across BCR Group using a standard
methodology and entered into a central data pool. Additionally, in order to be able to model losses that have not occumed in the past but are
nonetheless possible, scenarios and exteral data are also used at Erste Group level (sources extemal data from a leading non-profit risk-loss
data consortium).

Starting with October 2010, the Bank uses the AMA (Advanced Measurement Approach for operational risk) as per National Bank of Romania
and Austrian Financial Markets Authority approval. AMA is a sophisticated approach to measuring operational risk, Pursuant to AMA, the
required capital is calculated using an intemal Value at Risk (VaR) mode, taking into account intemal data, external data, scenario analysis,
business environment and intemal risk control factors. '

Methocis and instruments of risk mitigation

In addition to quantitative methods, qualitative methods are also used to determine operational risk, such as risk assessments. The Group also
review certain key indicators periodically fo ensure early detection of changes in risk potential that may lead to losses. The Key Risk Indicators
(early wamings on the risk level or quality of controls within the organization) are periodically monitored and reported to management.

BCR Group uses an Erste Group-wide insurance program, which covers fraditional property insurance needs and bank-specific risks. This
program uses a captive reinsurance entity as a vehicle to share losses within the Group and access the extemal market.

The quantitative and qualitative methods used, together with the insurance strategy and the modeling approaches described above, form the
operational risk framework of the the Group. Information on operational risk is periodically communicated to the management board via various
reports, which include capital requirements value, describe the recent loss history, loss developments, top losses, mitigation measures, key risk
indicators with limit breaches (also related to outsourced activities), main operational risk achievemerts, insurance management, the results of
risk and control seif-assessments, as well as the operational risk VaR.

Distribution of operational risk events
The event type categories are as follows:
_ Infernal fraud: Losses due to acts of a type intended to defraud, misappropriate property or circumvent regulations, the law or company
policy, excluding diversity or discrimination events that involve at least one intenal party.
_ Extemal fraud: Losses due to acts by a third party of a type intended to defraud, misappropriate property or circumvent the law.
. Employment practices and workplace safely: Losses arising from acts inconsistent with employment, health or safety laws or agree-ments,
from payment of personal injury claims, or from diversity or discrimination events. -
_ Clients, products and business practices: Losses arising from unintentional or negligent failure to meet a professional obligation to specific
clients (including fiduciary and suitability requirements) or from the nature or design of a product.
. Damage to physical assefs: Losses arising from loss of or damage to physical assets caused by natural disaster or other events,
_ Business disruption and system faifures: Losses arising from disruption of business or system failures.
_ Execution, delivery and process management: Losses from failed transaction processing or prosess management. Losses pertaining to
relationships with trading counterparties and vendors or suppliers.
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40. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lizbilty in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if such exists. Credit Value Adjustment/Debt Value
Adjustmgnt Is included int the fair value of derivatives and it is immaterial both at 31 December 2016 and 2015. '

Level 1 of the fair valug hierarchy

The fair value of financial instruments assigned to level 1 of the fair value hierarchy is determined based on quoted prices in active markets for
identicaf financial assets and liabilities. More particular, the evaluated fair value can qualify as a level 1 input if transactions oceur with sufficient
frequency, volume and pricing consistency on an ongoing basis. .

These include exchange traded derivatives (futures, options), shares, govemment bonds as well s other bonds and funds, which are traded in
highly liquid and active markets. - N

Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy

In case a market quote is used for valuation but due to restricted liquidity the market does not qualify as active (derived from available market
liquidity indicators) the instrument is classified as leve! 2. If no market prices are available the fair value is measured by using valuation models
which are based on observable market data. If all the significant inputs in the valuation model are observable the instrument is classified as level
2 of the fair value hierarchy. For level 2 vaiuations typically yield curves, credit spreads and implied volatiliies are used as observable market
parameters, These include over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives, less liquid shares, bonds and funds as well as and own issues.

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

In some cases, the fair value can be determined neither on the basis of sufficiently frequent quoted market prices nor of valuation models that
rely entirely on observable market data. In these cases individual valuation parameters not observable in the market are estimated on the basis
of reasonable assumptions. If any unobservable input in the valuation model is significant or the price quote used is updated infrequently the
instrument is classified as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. For level 3 valuations besides cbservable parameters typically credit spreads
derived from infemally calculated historical probability of default (PD} and loss given default (LGD) measures are used as unobservable
parameters, '

40.1. Financial instruments whose fair valus is disclosed in the notes

The following table shows fair values and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments whose fair value is disclosed in the notes for the year-end:

2015

: Group

Bank
2:r|rorylu:tg Fair valus Falr value hlerarchy (::'r?:::lg Fair valus Fair value hierarchy
In RON thousands Lavel 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3
ASSETS — — e
__Loans and advances 32,655,150 34,806,224 34,805,224 32,733,355 34,876,322 . 34,870,322
With credit instutions 440 204,643 204,649 B451 B4ETS BT
Romania 204403 04649 - 204,610 1631 BASTS 4475
with customers 245751 AB0DATS - UB0STE  WEIBTH G0N - HEIAT
Held-to-maturliy Investmants 10,120,063 10,65%,485 1,617,120 34,3657 8,815,660 9,284,797 9,284,792 -
- Debt seourities 0006 TR G6me8 34357 BEBEGD 02847 0204792
Sesuritios listed, quoted on active : ’
markets DO2E6 06006 DBMOE BOBHED 9T 0284792
Securities listed, quoted eninactive
markets 2,891 a1 1,1 5
Securiies uisted W37 34357 s 3BT
LABILITIES
Financlal ahilities measured ]
ut amortised cost 55,321,688 55,334,220 990,377 54,334,843 52,241984 52,250,664 999,377 51,251,287
__Daposlts 53,873,245 53,798,636 53,798,636 50,81,372 50,732,911 - 60,732,901
_ from benks 247223 fi2464a7 246437 0837456 1,533,546 10,833546
fom customers Qp6I2 05w 42,552,890 WITIFE 30899365 30,800,365
Dbt securities issued 9036 R0aT7 990377 5 90,73 990377 998317 5
Other financial labilifes 536,207 536,207 536,207 58376 58,378 58376

86



BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

: 216
Group Bank
Fairvalua hierarchy . Fair valug higrarchy
Carrying amount  Fair valua Camrying amount  Fair value
i1 RON thousands Level 1 Level 2 Leval 3 Level Level2 Level3
Loans and advances ) 32,543,964 33,287,739 - - pefkrire:] 11 EE Lre e W3
with credil ingtifufions 552,80 553408 - - 553,408 ! 851,414 850,926 - - 650,926
Romania ! 552,830 653,408 - - 553,406 651,414 650,826 - = 660,926
with customers 2,201,134 32,7843 - - 32,764,333 $.162500 31,850,310 = - 3,850,310
Held-to-maturity Invesiments 13,504,200 T, 254, 1Y 14,244 497 14,624 5,166 12,386,197 12,741,270 2TH.a0 -
Securities listed, quoted on acfve maﬂoets | 13,884,895 14,244,407 14244407 - - 12,356,197 12,721,270 12,721,270
Securiffes llsted, quoted on inactive
merksls 14,439 14624 - 14,624 -
Securities unifsted ‘ 5,166 5,166 = = 5,106
‘DABILITES
"~ Financhal labiEas mesurod ot
amortised cost . 5B.235059 ST - 706,840 5013468 . 55826328 56,045,787 : WIER  EnaiE
Deposits 57 8mem 56,455,738 FHiEgTl 54,480,004 54,656,135 ' 54,656,738
from banks 9854673 9,683,969 2 = 9,683,960 9125085 9,382,330 = = 8,382,330
frem customers 48,235,188 45,771,768 - - 46,771,788 . 45354800 45,274,405 - - 45,274,405
Debt secuifis lssued ' eaT12 06,840 - Tepw e TR - Mg -
Other financial liabilifies 708,906 678,855 . - - 678885 T08,132 881.!2[1 - - 881,420

The fair value of loans and advances to customers and credit institufions has been calculated by discounting future cash flows while taking into
consideration interest and credit spread effects. The interest rate impact is based on the movements of market rates, while credit spread
changes are derived from PD's used for intemal risk calculations. For the calculation of fair value loans and advances were grouped into
homageneous portiolios based on rating method, rating grade, maturity and the country where they were granted. The fair values of financial
assets held to maturity are either taken directly from the market or they are determined by directly observable input parameters (i.e. yield
curves).

The fair value of issued securities and subordinated iiabilties measured at amortized cost is based on market pricas or on observable market
parameters, if these are available, otherwise it is esfimated by taking into consideration the actual interest rate environment and in this case they
are allocated to Level 2.The fair value of other liabilifies measured at amortized cost is estimated by taking into consideration the actual interest
rate environment and own credit spreads, and these are allocated to Level 3.

40.2, Financial instruments measured at fair value in the statement of financial position

Srowp.
Quoted market pricss inactive  Merkod lomodel based on ~ Marked to model based on Toal
markals Leve) 1 ohservable market data Level 2 non-obsarvabile inpuls Esvel 3

InRON thousands - FIH 2018 2M5 FUil] 2015 206 FIiH 2018

ASSETS -

Financial assets held for trading 167,851 554,228 75,827 74,600 4430 411 246,108 83,109
Derivatives held for rading - - 74,883 60,85 ksl 368 78914 TaA
Other trading assets _ 167,881 554228 W 4947 489 169,204 558,73

Financlal assats designated at FY throughprofitorless : 4279 - - - 17.967 15,318 2,246 15,319

Financial ac efs available fo sale - BAOB1BS 521873 2.8 TR SITH1 20BN 7203200  GGMAOE

Total Assots - 6,900,315 5770965 103,111 A5t.307: 385,188 300,332 TATYEM 8,222,505

LIABILITES

Financial s hekd for fading - = - e B ! - ®iw K]
Derivatives hald for trading - - %,102 383 - - 3,102 X

Derivafives - Hedge acoowrl - - - - - :

Total Lidblties - . B0 38391 . . 35102 9
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Bank
Quoted market prices in active  Marked to medelbased en Marked to model based on Towsl
markets Leval 1 observable market data Level 2 non-obearveble inputs Level 3

inRON thousands . s P M5 18 2005 0g 208 6 -
ABSETS
Firarcial assals held for frading 187,851 554,228 75,827 74500 4430 4171 248,108 633,100

Derivalivas hakd far lrading f B 74,683 69,853 3.0 3633 76,814 73463

Other Irading assats - 167,851 554,28 B4 4047 400 538 169,284 559713
Financial assats designated at FV fivough proftor loss " 47w - g ] 17,067 15319 2,246 15,318
Financlal assats awailable fo saig 5B4708 4,540,624 8,263 24,057 302,500 200822 625623 4845303
Total Assals ) 84,700 88,857 19,986 WOM2 6526582 SN
LUBILITIES ]
Finencial liabiliics hek for trading - - 35,102, [T - - 35,102 38381

Derivalives held for rading. - : 1 3,102 BH N - 35,102, BH
Derivatives - Hedge aceounting - - - - - . o " =
Tolal Lizbilitiys . . 35,102 38301 . - 35402 EX

During 2016, BCR Bank has reclassified BVB share (ROBVBAACNOR) from level from level 1 to level 2 due to the fact that prices were not
quoted on the market for more than 1 week. .

Also, during 2016, the Bank has reclassified a bond issued by Ministry of Finance (RO1517DBP010) which is riot actively traded from level 310
level 2 but the theoretical pricing uses observable parameters in the market: contractual cash flows and the RON sovereign yield curve.

The market prices {dirty) reclassified are in amount of RON 3,314,294, réspectively RON 3,202,601 as of December 2016.
40.3. Valuation of level 3 financial instruments

The volume of level 3 financial assets can be allocated to the following two categories:
*  Market values of derivatives where the credit value adjustment (CVA) has a materal impact and is calculated based on
unobservable parameters (i.6. infemal estimates of PDs and LGDs).
*  MNiquid bonds, shares and funds not quoted in an active market where either valuation madels with non-observable parameters have
been used {e.g. credit spreads) or broker quotes have been used that cannot be allocated to Level 1 or Level 2.

The unobservabie inputs from CVA calculation are the probability of default (PD) and loss inen default (LGD). The probabilities of default are
the result of the rating models development intemally (at ERSTE Group level} and are used to evaluate the credit risk including CVA, According
to the allocated rating, each counterparty has assigned a probability of default. The value of LGD parameter for the calculation of CVA is 60%.

In 2016, most of the financial assets classified according to fair value hierarchy as Level 3 were municipal bonds. The outstanding volume of
municipal bonds held by BCR as of 31 December 2016 was RON 243,396 thousands while at year-end 2015 was RON 253,757 thousands.

In order to mark to market the municipal bonds classified as Leve! 3 in Fair value Hierarchy, the bank proceeds as follows:
*  Municipal bonds are mark to market by the Kondor+ tool, using standard methods implemented for the bank sector, by Thomson

Reuters.

*  The yield curve used by Kondor+ tool is developed using linear interpotation method and is based on observable data from the
market. i

*  Add tothe yield curve, a margin which incorporates the credit risk of each debt issuér. The PD's used as vary from 0.059 to 26.148.
Assumed LGD was 25%. :

The following table shows the impact of different shocks applied to the credit spread on the fair value of the municipal bonds classified as fevel
3

Credit spread Impact in fair value
variation (in b.p.} {in ths. RON)
+100 (12,314)

-100 13,277

+50 {6,272)

-50 6,513
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BCR has also in portfolio investments in equities at cost classified according to Fair Value Hierarchy as Level 3. These minority participations
held by BCR:in available for sale portfolio as of 31 December 2016 have total book value of RON 26,380 thousands (31 December 2015: RON

26,395 thousands).

As of 31st December 2016, the fair valuation of VISA Inc preferred shares was based on reasonable assumptions and estimations and was
consequently classified in level 3. The shares cannot be sold before a minimum holding period of 12 years and are limited to certain conditions
which may restrict the conversion of preferred shares into fradable VISA Inc shares. Due to these limiing conditions the fair value of the
prefemed shares was capped based on assumptions compared to free tradable VISA Inc. class A common shares. The price of class C
common shares was determined based on the conversion ratio of 1:13,952 and an additional haircut of 15%.

40.4 Movements in Level 3 of financial instruments carried at fair value

i Group
Galns Losses|inprofor . Gains {Logses) m omer

InROK thousends 4 bss  compehensivelncome  Pumhaze  SaleSetfements TransforintoLevel 3 s

= e =

Financlal assets hek for trading 453 (o) L 4430
Derfvatives held for radng 48 &) - Bh4l
Other traing ascats - . . L %

Finenial 2scats designated at felr value through Profit& Less 2035 (3%3) o . {205 - 1197

Financlal assefs avilable forssle - 080 5 ) {16052} - 80781

Total Ascats w54 {1,181} B8 Wiz {18,114) 0 5180

) M6 Grovp
Gains NLosses)n proftey  Gains ALOSGE3 I e

in RON thousangs s Ipss comprohensive Income  Purchass Sales/Bettioroents  Transterinto Lovel 3 06

= -

Finencil racof bld for g : = iz i i = ]
Derivatives hok for vaxting 393 1293 . 360
Other traxing 2238ts A 0 e 38

Financial 3031 designated 21 fir value tiough Profit § Loss T e . . £ 1538

Frandal s tols available for <2l g 445 {1,586} 46,_591’ (131,333 200,842

Total Assets 5113 3461 (1,586} 48507 (133.238} 300,332

25 Bank
Galng Losacr) I profler  Gama Losaea) In othan

In RON thousands 014 loss comprehensiveincome  Purchate  SalsiSeifements  Transker Into Level 3 M5

ASBETS B = =

Financid 21508 sk for Fading [T {B01) L 44
Redvatves hald for irading 4 {901} . 3,81
(her trading ansats - - 48 4

Financial ¢ designatod at far value Hrough Profit & Loss 0350 {339) - - (2058) q 1706

Fnancial asgats availate for e 5005 5 03,787 Ui {16027) 5 362560

Total Assals 5 1,101} 3,767 i {18,086) ] 384,088

F.i 3 Bank
Gains flLosses) mproi or  Galna f{Losses) m ofher

in RON thousands 015 loss comprehensive income  Purchase Sales/Setflements  Transforinto Level 3 .0

ASBETS

Fiancial aac3ts hetd for raring 4430 [EC) 417
Desivative-s hald for trading 394 X R1,<5)
(Offux irading 2asets 4% # 56

Financlal ass e de onafod 2t far value through Prot & Luss 1797 (143) e . {1.505) 15418

Financial zsats avallablo for s 362,569 446 {1,566} 48507 (131,331) 280,422

Total Assals 34965 3481 0588 4650 {133,236} 00412
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The acquisiion of shares in VISA Europe by VISA Inc. was effectuated according to plan in the second quarter of 2016, The initial offer of VISA
Inc. from November 2015 included a cash payment, VISA Inc prefemred shares and a potential Eam-out-payment in the year 2020. In the
course of the fair valuation of the VISA shares as of 31st December 2015, all parts of the offer were taken into account. In May 2016 the offer
was adjusted, whereas the eam-out-payments was replaced by a future payments 3 years after closing. This adjustment resulted in an
additional increase of the fair value via other comprehensive income. The sales price of RON 110,228 thousands comprising cash payment,
VISA Inc preferred shares and future payments was considered as a Level 3 sale.

41. FAIR VALUES OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following table shows fair vaiues and fair value hierarchy of non-financial instruments at the vear-end 2015 and 2016:

2015 Group

Quoted market Marked to model  Marked o

Garrying N based on modal basod on
LA (UL amount Baiyelus :::::::::::: observable market non-ohservable
data Level 2 inputs Level 3

Assets whose Falr Value is disclosad In the notes
Investment property 486 623 - 623
Assets whose Falr Value is presented in the Balance shaet i *
Agsets held for sale (IFRS 5} 301500 33701 = = 343,701

2016 Group

Quated market Marked to model M arked to

Carrylng based on model basad on
EIRONthousands amount RElSILe ;r:-;:::c:!vl: observable market non-observable
Fve data Level 2 Inputs Level 3
Asseis whose Fair Value Is disciosed in the notes i
Investment property 7 N
Assets whose Falr Value is presented in the Balance sheet
Assets held for sale (IFRS 5) - 2292 4,646 = .- 4,648
2015 Bank
Marked to model M arked to
Quoted market
Carrying based on modef based on
in RON thousands amount Fair value pr:;::t:n::‘::e.‘ observable market non-observable
O data Leval 2 inputs Level 3
Assets whose Fair Value Is disclosed In the notes
Investment proparty
Assets whose Falr Value ls presented in the Balance sheef
Assets held for sala (IFRS 5) 38,037 46,156 - - 48,156
2016 Bank
Carryln inl ekt r:;::::.o - r'::::it:ed on
In RON thousands N3 o value prices In aclive a
amount oy e observable market non-observable
data Level 2 inputs Level 3
Asggets whose Fair Value is disclosed in the notes
Investment property
Asgsete whase Falr Value is presentad in the Balance shest
Assels heldfor sale (IFRS 6 2282 4646 4840

Investment property is measured at fair value on recurring basis. Assets held for sale are measured at fair value on non-recurring basis when
their carying amount is impaired down fo fair value less costs o sell.

The fair values of non-financial assets are determined by experts with recognized and relevant professional qualification.

For non-financial assets owned by BCR Group the valuations are camied out mainly using the comparative and investment methods.
Assessment is made on the basis of a comparison and analysis of appropriate comparable investment and rental transactions, fogether with
evidence of demand within the vicinity of the relevant property. The characterisfics of such similar fransactions are then applied to the asset,
taking into account size, location, terms, covenant and other material factors. Such measurements are presented in Level 3 of the fair value
higrarchy.
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BCRS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated and Bank for the year ended 31 December 2016

43. AUDIT FEES AND TAX CONSULTANCY FEES

The following table contains fundamental audit fees and tax fees charged by the auditors {of BCR Bank and subsidiaries, the auditors being
Emst & Young) in the financial years 2016 and 2015:

Group Bank
In RON thousands . 2015 2018 2015 2018
Fees for the audit of the financlal statements and the consolidated financial ) 4,750 4,226 4,051, 3,885
Other sarvices Invalving the issdanes of a report ) 20 o 5 5
Other services (i) 747 884 747 453
TOTAL " 5,517 5,145 4,798 4,338
(1) Other services include fees for non-audit services (consultancy, tax)
44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Group Bank
in RON thousands 2015 2016 2015 bz
Commitments . 7,106,946 8,254,350 . 7,348,015 8,702,985
Revocable 2774969 | 3,282 272 3,015,873 3,781,975
Irevocable 4331977 4972097 4,332 142 4,841,010
Financial guarantesd . 1,586,875 . 1,642,794 1,612,937 1,664,827
Performance guarantess 1,093,677 . 1102312 1,085,580 1,102,312
Total . . 9,787,408 10,999.475 10,058,542 11,470,224

The Group issues letters of credit, guarantees (including standby letters of credit) and commits to make payments on behalf of customers in the
event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods.

Contingent fiabiliies include performance guarantees in amount of RON 1,102,312 thousands (December 2015: RON 1,085,590 thousands).
Performance guarantess aré contracts that provide compensation if another party fails fo perform a contractual obligation, Such contracts do

not fransfer credit risk. The risk under performance guarantee contracts is the possibility that the insured event (i.e.. the failure to perform the
confractual obligation by another party) oceurs.

in RON thousands 2015 2018
Performance guarantees at 1 January ‘ 1,012,684 1,095,580
Amounts pald for clzims sefement (27,678) (1,068)
New guarantess issued during the period 141,551 393,456
Guarantees axpired during the period (30,967) {:385,668)
Performance guarantees at 31 December 1,095,590 1,102,312

Undrawn loan commitments

Undrawn loan commitments represent contractual commitments to grant loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally have fixed expiry
dates or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements. '

At the same time, the pofential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent
unil the customers maintain specific standards. The Group mornitors the maturity of credit commitments as longer-term commitments generally
have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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Legal claims
Litigations related to the merger with Bancorex

In 1999 as a result of the distressed financial situation of one of the Romanian banks having the State as majority shareholder, Banca Romana
de Comert Exterior - “Bancorex, the Govemment of Romania launched a series of measures designated to limit the effect of Bancorex's
insolvency on the economy of Romania.

These measures included placing Bancorex under special administration for a limited period, transferring certain non-performing loans of
Bancorex to an Asset Recovery Agency (AVAB) and transfeming all other activities to the Bank. The Bank received Romanian govemment
securities having simitar maturity as the deposits and other creditor’s accounts fransferred from Bancorex.

On 6 July 2000 the Romanian Government issued the Emergency Ordinance No. 131/2000 and subsequent Decision 909/2000 stating that the
Govemment will issue unconditional letiers of guarantee in favor of the Bank against litigations up to an amount of ROL 38 billion (3.8 milion
RON) and USD 118 million against litigations for which the Bank is the defendant, arising from activities of the former Bancorex, before it was
removed from the Régister of Trade.

Based on the Emergency Ordinance No. 18/2004, all off-balance shest, other commitments and all the risks to the Bank arising from Itigations
related to former Bancorex are guaranteed, remain and will be guaranteed by the State. According i the Emergency Ordinance No. 18/2004
and Government Qrdinance No. 832/2004, the Ministry of Public Finance issued Letters of Guarantee for 56 litigations in which the Bank is
involved following the merger with Bancorex.:

After that, acconding to the provisions of Govemment Decision no 1087/2006, the value of guarantees was supplemented, by issuing of other 18
letter of guarantees for iitigations resulted from Bancorex's activity,

As at 31 December 2013, the Bank requested to MFP the increasing of guarantee ceiling with EUR 402,760,385 and RON 10,791,084 resulted
from Bancorex’s litigation. After that, the bank’s request were updated, respectively the amount was diminished until RON 1.414.605, following
the favorable solutions obtained in the cases. On December 22, 2016 the bank received a final answer from Ministry of Finance through which
the authority rejected the bank's claim for guararitee ceiling increasing, considering that the payment was a legal obligation of the bank and not
a damage resulted from a litigation. ‘

As at December 2016 the bank was not involved as defendant in any case resulted from Bancorex's éctiv‘rty.

Other litigations

As at 31 December 2016, the Bank was involved in the normal course of its business in a number of 4,620 other lifigation as defendant.
In the opinion of management, after taking appropriate legal advice, the outcome of these legal claims will not give rise to any significant loss
beyond the amount provided at 31 December 2016.

Contingent fiabilities on Unfair terms

Starting with the enactment of Govemment Emergency Ordinance no.50/2010 on loan agreements for private individuals, as subsequently
modified (*Ordinance 50°), the Bank was involved in consumer liigations with certain financial implications. The Law 288 enacted in December
2010 modified Ordinance 50 so that certain provisions are not applicable to foan agreements with individuals existing at the date of the
Crdinance 50 issuance.

Foliowing these changes, litigations under the Ordinance 50 were generally dismissed by the Courts and the Bank won most of cases.
However, clients have continued to take court actions against the Bank on the grounds of Law no.183/2000 on unfair terms in confracts with
consumers, as subsequently modified, that transposes into national law the Directive no. 199313/EC en unfair terms in consumer contracts.

Currently, BCR is involved in a number of liigations with ANPC (National Consumer Protection Agency - 10 disputes fled by the institution},
having as grounds the interpretations over Law 193/2000 featuring potentiai cross portfolio contamination effects. All the litigations with ANPC
are in progress, but out of the total 10, the bank has won two in first court. There is no relevant precedent in the market with respect to similar
cases. In 2016, following the assessment of the bank’s experts on this topic, a contingent liability disclosure was included.in the notes to the
financial statements.
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The audit mission of the Romanian Court of Accounts - BCR Banca pentru Locuinte (BpL)

In 2015 the Romanian Court of Accounts (hereinafter referred to as “the CoA”) conducted a control at the BpL. Following the mission, the CoA
claims that several deficiencies were identified, the vast majority grounded on a different interpretation of the applicable legal provisions.
On 15 December 2015, the CoA issued the Decision no. 17, maintaining all the claims included in their inifial report and requested Bpl to
establish exactly the amount of the prejudice. On December 23, 2015, BpL appealed the Decision no. 17 of the CoA, appeal that was rejected
by the Commission for Solving Claims of the CoA through Decision No 2/29 February 2016, maintaining as such the Decision no. 17.
Two actions were submitted to the Court of Appeal, Section VIl Administrative and Fiscal, as follows:
Request of suspension of Decision no. 17/2015- approved by Bucharest Court of Appeal - therefora the effects of the Decision no.
17/2015 are cumrently suspended. CoA appealed this decision. No hearing date was established yet.
An action for annulment of the decision of CoA - first hearing was set for 23 June 2016 and subsequently, several postponements
of the hearings were made until 1st February 2017 when the Court postponed the decision 2 times until March 1st 2017.

On 1st of March 2017, the Court of Appeal decided in favor of BpL for 5 out of 8 claims. The 3 claims maintained have a disputed amount on
closed or assigned contracts estimated by the Bank at RON 10 million (principal). Considering the likelihood of winning the respective Iitigation
BpL did not book any related provisions as at 31 December 2015 and neither as at 31 December 2016, considering that no motivation of the
Court of Appeal was issued at the date of the Financial Statements and BpL chances to win the litigation on all counts remained unchanged.

Given the complexity and uncertainties relaied to the result of possible scenarios defiving from the final Court decision, the outcome and
amounts involved may differ from the current estimates.

The litigation is not expected to be finally concluded during 2017.

Non-performing loan portfolic sale
In 2016 Group sold a part of non-performing loan portfolio in several transactions. Some of them include features for contingent liabilities:

Sale contract/September 2016 with December 2018 closing includes a call option of BCR to take back selected sold loans, in exchange of the
original price repayment (adjusted by collections). The call option Is assessed as at 31.12.2016 to be highly improbable o be exercised, having
a nil estimated value.

One of the sales resulted in contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2016 due to put-back coniractual clause (in case it is demonstrated Group
failure to meeting is representations and warranties made to the buyer, and assumed thought the contract, regarding the sold assets as at sale
date, for example over the existence of the asset, related guarantes, accurate description of enforcement status).

BFP Litigation

On 23 December 2016, the BFP has received a request made by City Hall Bucharest to Intemational Court of Arbitration of the Intemational
Chamber of Commerce, consisting of amounts due under the joint venture conract for the period from 2001 to 2013, The dispute shall be
setled by a court of arbitration consisting of three arbitrators: one arbitrator appointed by each party and the third by the Intemational Court of
Aubitration. The lawyers’ assessment according to which the chances of being handed a favorable arbitration award for BFP are over 50%.
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45. SPLIT BETWEEN CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The tables below show an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to when they are expected to be recovered or setfled.

Group
Dacembat 2016 December 2018

In RON thouaands <1 yoar > 1 yoar < 1 ysar > { yaar
Cash and cash balances i 9,441,833 ’ - 11,911,605 =)
‘Financiel e3aats - hakd fot trading == B e 186075 53,038 602,962 130,247
Derivatives 25,7681 53,033 9,431 4,055
Other frading assets 169,284 - 483,521 66,192
Financial g:3sels - designated at fair value through profit or loss. - 22,248 - 15,319
Financiel asssts - available-for-aale 3,283,209 3,820,021 721,617 4,852,470
Flnanclal £734ts - held to maturity - 2,054,812 8,099,808 1,745,142 12,160,050
Loans and recoivables to credit inatifuions 173,007 31,308 524,200 26,830
‘Loans and rocoivables to customers e e 10,332,078 22,118,679 7214238 25,076,808
"Derivatives - hedge sccounfing T R BN - g ", 2 B
Property and equipment 1,008,757 - 1,472,604
Invaotment properties 4B8. - 422
Intanglble assets 234,285 - 280,304
Investments In aesociates and joint ventures 16,183 = 18,688
Tax az3ate 133,182 = 162,480 -
Deferred tax asssts - - 426,363 - 322,704
Non-current aczef= and dlspasal groups classified as halcl fnr s_ali , 301000 - 2,282 -
Other assats T amiata zogse 104,530 amam
TOTAL ASGETS 2679, 5 LN R T R Eh AN s A0 &4
Finanacial I:biliﬂae - held for trading 32,859 2,243 8,470 28,921
Derivatives 32,350 2,243 9470 28,521
Other trading labilities = o c =
Financial lisbilifes designated at fair value through profit or loc3 - - - -
Daposlts from banks = = = ]
Deposlts frem customers 5 \ y = a
T Debt |eaued = = - — — E
Other financial liabilitiss _ e — il 3 o —
Financial liakilities measured at amortised cost 40,310,606 15,011,082 48,108,822 13,127,237
Deposits from banks ) | 2,566,302 8,880,921 3,112,514 6,542,088
Deposits from customens 38,850,058 5,675,084 42 165,551 8,089,647
Debt securiies ixsued 267,139 855,007 121,701 515,491
Cther lisbllie s 536,207 - 708,890 -
Darivatives - hedge eccounting - = o
Changes In fait value of portiolio hedged tems 7. . : - H
Provislons 16,020 706,607 32,063 1,072,088
Current, tax liabilltey 1350 - 1,282 .-
Defarred tax linbilities - 6,282 - 3,966
Llabiliiee associated with z3sets hekd for sale s - & o
Other liablllfea 307,326 268 325,475 20
TOTAL LIARILITIES 40,668,101 15,816,570 4BAT7,002 14,233,002

The amounts over one year related fo those derivatives classified in the category “held for trading” which are hedging instruments from an

economic but not from accounting point of view.
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Bank
December 2015 Dacember 2018
Tn RON thousands < 1 yaar > ] yeor < 1 year >4 year
Cash and cesh balances 8,255 487 - 11,648,878
Repurchase racalvables - = = =
Financlal assels - held for trading 195,075 53,003 502,852 130,247
Dertvatives ] 26,781 53,093 0431 64,055
Ofertreding assets 180,204 — o 403821 85,162
Financial assets designated at fair valus tiough profitor loss. B I 0000 - 15319
Financial assets - for sale 3,035,753 3,200,485 280,443 4,556,860
Financial ¢ 3sets - held to maturity 1,764,581 7,064,078 1,567,333 10,798,964
Loans and racet fo credit - 153,235 31,396 546,284 06,130
Loans and recelvables to ©,763,146 22,785,578 7,221,104 23,041,405
Darivativea - hedge accounting - - - 3
Property and - 235,921 - 1,158,548
Irve atmient - - - -
Intangible assats. - m4ze = 220000
Investments In sasoclates ” —— 7,508 - 7,500
Tax sssels 131,826 - 159,028 -
Defermed tax £3sals - 398,530 - 310,554
Non-current £3sets and dlsposal groups dassified £3 held for sale 38,087 - 2,202 -
Other assets 41,625 1,046,132 45,484 761,261
TOTAL ASSETS 247781108 i T &LDE] s
Financlal liabllitie held for treding 32,859 © 2243 8,470 28,021
__ Derlvatives 32,850 2,243 0,470 28,421
Oﬂ\ﬂ-lm'.llng Tiabilitie T - = ) - . -
Financial liakiliies d at falr value through profit or locs - - - -
Deposits fram banks - = - -
Deposlts from oustomners - - - -
Dabt zecwitles i susd 3 - = &
Other financinl liabilities - - - -
Financial liabiliiea measured at amortised coste 40,088,418 12,155,566 45,388,337 10,438,991
. Doposits from banks . i 2765548 8,071,908 3,390,803 5.788.202
Deposits from cusiomors 1=l =5 36,545,355 426,561 a2zien 4185208
Debt sectritie s isaued T B T CTasram T emsoer 2701 s164m1
Other fi lsbllities 818,378 - 708,132 B
Destivativea - hedge accounting = B = =
Changes In falr value of portiolio hedged items - - - -
Provisions 1,084 764,815 - 1,089,547
Current tax liabilities = d & -
Defarsed tax linbilities - - = -
Llabllities ez300i with disposal graups hekd for sale .- - - -
Other Liabilities 244,069 - 242,728 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 40,345 300 1892 634 45,840,533 18,538458
The amounts over one year related to those derivatives classified in the category “held for frading” which are hedging instruments from an
economic but not from accounting point of view.
The table below show the contractual expiry by maturity of the contingent liabilities and commitments:
Group
Derember 2015 Decernber 2016
In RON thousands <1 year > 1 yoar < 1 year > 1 year
-Financial guaranteed 2,415,497 265,055 2,570,628 174,277
Commitrnents 5,527 8 1,578,928 5,572,587 2,681,772
Total 7,942,515 1,844,983 2,143426 2,854,049
Bank
Decamber 2015 December 2016
in RON thousands <1 year »1year <1 year > 1year
Financial guaranteed 2,443,656 264,87 2,593,418 173,821
Commitments 5,782,388 1,565,617 6,049,653 2,653,132
Total 8,226,054 1,830,488 8,643,272 2,526,353
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46. OWN FUNDS AND CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

Own funds disclosure

Regulatory Requirements

Since 1 January 2014, BCR Group has been calculating the regulatory capital and the regulatory capital requirements according to Basel 3. The
requirements have been implemented within the EU by the CRR and the CRD IV as well as within various technical standards issued by
European Bank Authority, which were enacted in national law in the National Bank of Romania, Regulation No 5/2013.

All requirements as defined in the CRR, the NBR and the aforementioned technical standards are fully applied by BCR Group.

Accounting Principles

The financial and regulatory figures published for BCR Group are based on IFRS. Regulatory capital components are derived from the
statement of the financial position and income statement which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Adjustments to the: accounting
figures are considered due to the difference for items where the regulatory treatment is not equal to the accounting requirements.

The unifom closing date of the consolidated financial statements and consolidated regulatory figures of BCR Group is 31 December of each
respective year.

Comparison of consolidation for accounting purposes and regulatory purposes
Disclosure requirements covered by: Art, 436 (b) CRR. |,
Scope of Consolidation _

The financial scope of consolidation is used to describe the scope of consclidation required by the Intemational Financial and Reporting
Standards (IFRS), which are applicable fo the financial statements of BCR Group.

The regulatory scope of consolidation is used as a synonym for the scope of consolidation, that follows the regulatory requirements for
consolidation as defined by the CRR and CRD IV and enacted by NBR into national law.

Financial scope of consolidation (pursuant to IFRS)

The relevant scope of consolidation for the financial statements of BCR Group includes the parent company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies. ,

The BCR group subsidiaries are those entities which are directly or indirectly controlled. Control over an entity is evidenced by the Group's
ability fo exercise its power in order to affect any variable retums that the Group is exposed to through its involvement with the entity (as defined
by IFRS 10). An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, but not a controlling interest, over the operating and
financial management policy decisions of the entity. Significant influence is generally presumed when the Group holds between 20% and 50%
of the veting rights.

Regulatory scope of consolidation

The regulatory scope of consolidation is defined in Part One, Title Il, Chapter 2, Section 3 of the CRR.

The definition of entities to be consolidated for regulatory purposes are mainly defined in Article 4 (1) (3) and (16) fo {27) CRR in conjuncticn
with the Articles 18 and 19 CRR. Based on the relevant sections in Aricle 4, CRR entities to be consolidated are determined based on the
business activity of the relevant entities.

Main differences between the accounting scope and the regulatory scope based on the different requirements as defined within IFRS
and CRR as well as the NBR

Based on the CRR and NBR regulation, mainly credit instituions pursuant to Article 4 (1) (1) CRR, investment firms pursuant fo
Article 4 (1) (2) CRR, ancilary services undertakings pursuant to Article 4 (1) (18) CRR and financial institutions pursuant to Article 4
(1) (26) CRR have to be considered within the scope of consolidation. In contrast, under IFRS all other entities not required to be
consolidated under CRR, such as insurance undertakings, must be included in the financial scope of consolidation.

Exclusion of entities from the regulatory scope of consolidation can be applied based on Article 19 CRR. According to Article 19 (1)
CRR, entities can be excluded from the regulatory scope if their fotal assets and off-balance sheet items are less than the lower of
either EUR 10 mn or 1% of the total amount and off-balance sheet items of the parent company. BCR Group dossnt make use of
Article 19 (1) CRR.

- According fo Article 19 (2} CRR, entities can also be excluded i the limits defined in Article 19 (1) CRR are exceeded, but are not
relevant for regulatory purposes. Exclusion of entities based on Article 19 (2) CRR needs the prior approval of the competent
authorities, For entities that exceed the limits as defined in Article 19 (1) CRR by insignificant amounts, BCR Group doesn't make
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use of Aricle 19 {2) CRR. BCR Group's scope of consolidation according to IFRS is disclosed in the Financial Statements, see
Agcounting Palicy page 6. BCR has the same scope of consolidation for CRR purposes.

Consolidation methods

Main differences between the financial consolidation method and the regulatory consolidation method, considering regulatory
adjustments

BCR Group applies full consolidation according to [FRS 10 for acoounting purposes. At equity method according to the intemational accounting
standard (IAS) 28 is applied to participations between 20% and 50% in associated entities.

For the calculation of consclidated own funds, BCR Group applies the same consolidation methods as used for accounting purposes.
Consideration of consolidation methods for the calculation of consolidated own funds pursuant to the CRR

The amounts used for the calculation of the own funds are derived from the statement of the financial position according to IFRS as reported in
the audited financial statements. The financial and regulatory consolidations have the same scope. The amounts that are used as the basis for
the calcutation of own funds are based on the definition of the regulatory scope of consolidation pursuant to the CRR. Amounts that relate to the
own share as well as fo the minority interest in fully consolidated entiies are therefore determined based on the regulatory scope of
consolidation according to CRR. Minority interests are calculated based on the requirements as defined in Articles 81 to 88 CRR. Minority
interests that relate to entities other than credit institutions are excluded from the own funds. Minority interests that relate to credit institutions are
limited to capital requirements that relate to the minority interests in the relevant credit institutions. BCR Group made use of Arficle 84 {2) CRR
and did not include any minority interest of credit insfitutions as of 31 December 2016. According to Romanian fransitional provisions, 40% of
the non-eligible minerities have to be excluded from consolidated own funds in 2016. As BCR Group applies the Romanian fransitional
provisions on Group-level this percentage was applied to the exclusion of minority interest in own funds as of 31 December 2016. Amounts that
relate to minority interests in other comprehensive income are neither included in the consolidated own funds of BCR Group nor considered in
the calculation according to the final CRR provisions or during the transitional period.

Consideration of non-consolidated financial sector entities and deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability arising from
temporary differences within the calculation of consolidated common equity tier 1 of BCR Group

Carrying amounts representing the investments in financial sector entities have to be deducted from the own funds based on the requirements
as defined in Articles 36 (1) (h), Article 45 and Article 46 CRR for non-significant investments and Articles 36 (1) (i) CRR, Asticle 43 and Article
45 CRR for significant investments. For these purposes, non-significant investments are defined as investments in financial sector entities in
which the participation is equal to or less than 10% of common equity fier 1 (CET 1) of the relevant financial sector entities, while significant
investments are defined as investments that are above 10% of the common equity (CET 1} of the relevant financial sector entities.

To deteniine the participation in the relevant financial sector entifies, these participations are calculated based on the direct, indirect and
synthefic holdings in the relevant entities.

According fo Article 48 (1) CRR, holdings in non-significant investments have fo be deducted only if the total amount for such investments
exceeds a defined threshold of 10% in relation to CET1 of the reporting insfitution. Deduction shall be applied to the amount that exceeds the
10% threshold. Amounts that are equal o or less than 10% of the CET1 of the reporting insfitution are considered within the RWAs based on
the requirements according to Article 46 (4) CRR. ' )
For the deduction of significant investments in the CET1 of financial sector entities, a threshold is defined in Article 48 (2) CRR. According to
Article 48 (2) CRR, significant investments in the CET1 of financial sector entities shall only be deducted if they exceed 10% of the CET1 of the
reporting institution. If the 10% threshold is exceeded, the deduction is limited to the amount by which the defined threshold is exceeded, The
remaining amount has to be considered within the calculation of the RWAs. The risk weight (RW) is defined at 250% according to Article 48 (4)
CRR. :

In addition to the aforementioned threshold, a combined threshold for the deduction of significant investments according to Article 36 (1) (i} CRR
and for deferred fax assets that rely on future profitability and arise from temporary differences according fo Article 36 (1) (c) CRR as well as
according to Article 38 CRR is defined in Article 48 {2) CRR. The combined threshold according to Arficle 48.(2) CRR is defined at 17.65% of
the CET1 of the reporting institution. If the threshold is excesded, the exceeding amount has to be ceducted from the CET1 of the reporting
institution. The remaining amount has to be considered within the RWAs. A 250% RW shall be agplied for the amount not exceeding the
17.65% thresheld according to Aricle 48 {4) CRR.

Beside the 17.85% combined threshold, a 10% threshold related to the CET1 capital of the reporting institution is applied for deferred tax assefs
that rely on future profitability arising from temporary differences according to Article 48 {3) CRR. In case the amount for defered tax assets that
refy on future profitability that arise from temporary differences exceeds the threshold of 10% of CET of the reporting insfitution the exceeding
amount has to be deducted from the CET1 of the reporfing institution. The amount that is equal to o less than the threshold as defined in Article
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48 (3} CRR has to be considered within the calculation of RWAs. The RWA that has to be applied for the remaining amount of deferred tax.
assets that rely on future profitability and arise from temporary differences is defined with a RW of 260% according to Article 48 (4) CRR.

At the reporting date, BCR Group did nof exceed any of the aforementioned thresholds. Hence, direct, indirect and synthetic investments in
financial sector entifies were not deducted from the consolidated own funds of BCR Group and therefore are considered in RWaAs,

Presentation of the scope of consolidation

Number of entities within the scope of consolidation

IFRS IFRS CRR CRR
Full Equity Full Equity
Credit institutiona 3 0 . 3 0
Financial institutions, financial holding companles and mixed
3 1 3 -1
flnancial helding companles
Ancillary service undertaklngs investment firms 3 4] 3 0

The number of companies consolidated pursuant to IFRS and to regulatory capital requirements were 9 as of 31 December 2016.

Changes within tha fully consolidated entities within the regulatory scope of consolidation in 2016 in accordance with Art. 436 (b)
CRR

During 2016 the changes fo the regulatory scope of consolidation of fully consolidated companies : Financiara was liquidated and BFP and
REM were absorbed by BCR Bank.

Group Own Funds

For the disclosure of own funds, BCR Group follows the requirements under Article 437 CRR as well the requirements defined in the
Implementing Technical Standards (EU) No 1423/2013.

Based on the requirements defined by the European Bank Authority in the Implementing Technical Standards, the following information must be
provided:

- Afull reconciliation of CET1 items, Additional Tier 1 {AT1) items, Tier 2 (T2) items and fiters and deductions applied pursuant to
Articles 32 to 35, 36, 56, 66 and 79 fo own funds of the institufion’s statement of the financial position in the audited financial
statements in accordance with Article 437 (1) (a) CRR.

- Adescription of the main features of the CET+, AT1 and T2 instruments issued by the msﬁtubon according to Article 437 (1) (b} CRR

(see section Capital instruments).
A table designed by the European Bank Authority to show the capital structure of regulatory capital. Presentation of this table that
shows the details on the capital struciure of BCR Group including the capital componenis as well as any regulatory deductions and
prudential filters. Disclosures in this table cover the disclosure requirements as defined in Article 437 (1) (d) CRR, separate disclosure
of the nature and amounts of each prudential fiiter applied pursuant fo Arficles 32 to 35 CRR, each deduction made pursuant to
Articles 47, 48, 56, 66 and 79 CRR as well as items not deducted in accordance with Articles 47, 48, 56, 66 and 79 CRR (see section
Own funds template).

Statement of financial position
Disclosure requirements covered: Art. 437 (1) (a) CRR and Annex 1 from EU Regulation 1423/2013.

CRR Statement of financial position
At 31.12.2016 the IFRS scope of consolidation and the regulatory scope of consolidation were the same, the statement of the financial position
figures are presented in the Group Consolidated Financial Statements 2016 (IFRS) under “Statement of financial position”.

Reconciliation of IFRS and CRR items included in the Statement of financial position

The following tables provide a reconciliaion of IFRS statement of the financial position items to CET1 items, AT1 items, T2 items and fitters
according to Articles 32 to 35 as well as deductions as defined in Articles 36, 56, 66 and.79 CRR.

Last column contains a letter to link the amount derived from the accounting figures to the related eligible amount as disclosed below in the
Group own funds template.
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Total equity for the Group Dac-16
Own funds
. Regulatory disclosure
in RON thousands IFRS {audited) CRR Adjustments Own funda table -
Raference
Subscribed capital 2,952,565 2,052,565 2,952,565
Capital reserve 305,483 395,483 395,483
Capital Instruments and the related share premium 3,348,048 3,348,048 3,348,048 A
accounts
Retained eamings from previous periods 936,100 936,100 936,100
Profitfloss in the pericd 1,041,846 1,041,846 - 1,041,848
Retained earnings 1,977,946 1,977,946 1,877,946 b
Other comprehensive income {(OCI) 322,326 322,326 322,326 - 3]
Available for sale reserve net of tax 280,922 280,922 280,922
unrezlized gains acc. fo Art. 35 CRR - - 319,945 - d
unrealized loss acc. to Art, 35 CRR - - {39,023)
Cumrency translaticn {23,541) {23,541} {23,541)
I?.em.easurement of net liabllity of defined beneflt 77,316 77,316 77.316
obligation
Deferred tax {12,371} {12,371) (12,371)
Other reserves 1,130,670 1,130,870 1,130,670 c2
Equilty attributable to the owners of the parent 6,778,980 6,778,990 6,778,990
Equity attributable to non-controlling interest 25,397 25,397 (16,056) 9,341 <
Total esquity 6,804,387 6,804,387 {16,058) 6,788,331

Further details regarding the development of IFRS equity are disclosed in the Group Consolidated Financial Statements 2016 (IFRS) under

“Statement of Changes in Equity”.

Intangible assets for the Group Dec-18
IFRS Regulator : il hLE)
in RON thousands CRR g y Own funds  dlsclogure table -
{audlted) adjustments
Reference
Intangtble assets 289,304 289,304 289,304 f
Intanglble assets 289,304 289,304 - 288,304

Details regarding the development of intangible assets are disclosed in the Group Consolidated Financial Statements 2016 {IFRS) under Note

25 "Intangible assets”.
Deferred Taxes for the Group Dec-16
Own funds
IFRS { CRR/Own  disclosure
L () U BT (audited) Funds table -
Reference
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability and do not arise from temporary 5 648 5.648 h
diffarences net of associated tax liabilities ! '
related DTA allocated on or after 1 January 2014 for which 60% deduction is required
L. ) 5,848 5,648
according to CRR transitional provisions
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability and arise from tem porary
differences net of associated tax liabilities * 320,589 ) .
Deferred tax assets that do not rely on future profitability 927 927
Other deferred tax liabilitles (13,658) (13,6586)
out of which deferred tax liabilities associated to other intangible assets (13,973) {13,973) [*]
Defarred tax assets 322 508 322,508

* Based on the threshold definition according to Article 48 CRR Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability and arise from temporary
differences are not deductible for BCR Group at year end 2016. In accordance with Ariicle 48 {4) CRR the non-deductible amount is risk

weighted with 250% and considered within the credit risk.
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Subordinated liabilities for the Group ' Dec-16
Own funds
IFRS Regulatory disclosure
in RON thousands (audited) CRR adjustments Own funds table -
Reference
Subordinated issues and deposits and supplementary capital 2,473,969 2,473,969 (1,018,305} 1,457,664 j
Subordinated liabilitles 2,473,969 2,473,969 {1,016,305) 1,457, 664

Details regarding subordinated liabiliies are disclosed in the Group Consolidated Financlal Statements 2016 (IFRS) under Note 29 ‘Financial

liabilities measured at amortised costs”.

In accordance with NBR Regulation 5/2013, the subordinated liabilifies with less than 5 years maturity, are amortised.

Threshold calculations according to Articles 46 and 48 CRR

Group treshold calculatlons according to Articles 46 and 48 of (EU) Regulation no.575/2013 Dec-18
. in RON
Non significant lnv:stmenls in financlal sector entlties thousands_
Threshold {(10% of CET1) 843,650
Holdings in CET 1 (28,732)
Holdings In AT 1
Holdings In T 2 T N e
Distance to threshold 614,918
Significant iInvestments in financlal sector entities ,
“Threshold {10% of CET1) 843,650
Holdings in CET 1 (16,568)
Distance to threshold 627,082
Deferrad tax assets
Threshold {10% of CEF) R 643,650
Deferred tax assets that are dependent on future profitability and arise from temporary differences (329,589)
Distance to threshold 314,081 -
Combined threshold for deferred tax assets and significant investments :
Threshold (17.65% of CET1) 1,136,041
Deferred tax assgats that are dependent on future prof itability and arise from temporary differences and CET1 (346,157)
instruments of financial sector entities where the institution has a significant Investment !
788,884

Distance to threshold
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Transtional Provisions based on CRR- from the NBR Regulation 5/2013 used in 2016 for the Group and for the Bank

a) Capltal Ratios

Capital Ratfos
Common Equity TIER 1{CET1) ' 465 (1) CRR 4.50%
Subordinated Capital (T2} . : 465 (1) CRR 2.50%

b) Transitional Provisions concerning CETY

Minority interast

Minorty interests ) ) 480 (1) CRR 40%
Prudential Fliters )

Unrealised losses AFS reserve 467 {2) CRR 100%
Urrealised gains AFS reserve 468 (2) CRR T 80%

Gains or losses on liabilities valued at fair value regulting from changes in own

credit standing 468 (4) CRR 100%
Regulatory Daductlons
Losses for the cument financial year ' 36 (1) a) CRR 100%
Intangible assets ' 36 (1) b) CRR 80%
!Jlre_ct !'mldlngs in CET1 capital Inslrumlents of financial sector entities where the 36 (1) b) CRR §0%
institution does not have a significant investment _
Defearred tax assets that rely on fulure profitability and do not arise from
1 CRR %
temporary differances booked before 2014 8 Me) 20
Deferred tax asseats that rely on future profitabllity and do not arise from 36 (1) ¢) CRR 60%
temporary differences booked in 2014 or afterwards
Direct holdings in GET1 capital Instruments of financial sector entlties where the 36 (1) ) CRR 60%
Ingtitution has a significant inv estmemt . . _ o w
c} Transitional Provislons concerning AT1
Minority Interasts }
Minerity Interests 480 (1) CRR 40%
Regulatory Deductions )
Direct holdings in AT1 capital instruments of financial sector entities where the
institution does not have a significant investment oSICHCRE o
Direct holdings in AT1 ¢apital instruments of financial sector entities where the
institution has a significant investment oEld)ICRR e
Difference between prudential adjustments and adjustments for impalrment 20%
according to IFRS
d} T\'ansitnonal Provlslons concernmg T2
Minoraty interests
Minority interests 480 (1) CRR 40%
Regulatory Deductions
Difference between prudential adjustments and edjustments feor impairment
20%
according to IFRS i ]
e) Daduction of remaining amounts
Remaining amounis out of CET1 deducted from AT1
Intangible assets 472 (4) CRR . 40%
Direct holdings in CET1 capltal instruments of financial sector entltles where the .
institution does not have a significant Investrment ) R IV
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability and do not arise from o
temporary differences booked before 2014 RS ICRE B
f d t:
Defearrad tax assets that rely on future profitabllity and do not arlse from 472 (5) CRR RW

temporary differences booked booked in 2014 or aftenvards

Group Own funds template

Disclosure requirements covered by Art. 437 (1) (d) (€) CRR with respect to Art. 437 (1) {f), a nil report is made.

Own funds under Basel 3 consist of CET1, AT1 and T2. in order to determine the capital ratios, each respective capital component after
consideration of afl the regulatory deductions and filters, is compared to the total risk. According to the final rules, thie minimum ratio for CET1 is
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4.5%, which can be increased based on the buffer regime according to CRD IV. The minimum capital requirement for tier 1 capital (CET1 plus
AT1) and for total own funds are 6% and 8%, respectively. Additional capital buffers were required for the year end 2016

0.625% - capital conservation buffer

1% - other systemically important instifutions (O-Slls) -

The table below presents the composition of the regulatory capital during the transitional period based on the Implementing Technical
Standards on the disclosure of own funds published in 1423/2013 EU.
In column {A), the current amount, which considers all the transitional requirements, is disclosed. Column (C) discloses the residual amount,
implying full CRR implementation. Column (D} provides information of data comparable figures within the IFRS annual report related to equity,
intangible assets, deferred tax assets and subordinated liabilities as shown in section Reconciliation of IFRS and CRR items included in the

Statement of financial position.
(B) i |
Nnm s&hjm to pre- o
) EDNo St o Referenceto
Dot 2016 SR013 m"mw“" * | reconciation
articie : tablgs
anoount of naguﬂlm
rofersnce (EU) 5752013
26(1),27,28,
29, EBARS26
1| Common equity Tier 1 [CET1) capitak instruments and reserves 330 | @
ofwhich: odnary shares susoae | 806 8
2 | Retaied samings 1gr7e | %0 b
®{{
1 1 Accumrated other comprehensive income (and any ofter reserves) 1,452,996 c1+c2
5 | Minorty interests {amourt alwed In consoidaied CETH) g3 | %@ 8
-~ Common mmngcmjmmww 6,785,331
7 wmm\alwad[mm(nagaﬁmmum (1acog) | 34198
] ] 36{1) (5, 37,
8 Immlﬂeassds(natofrahtedmllablm)(negatwmmﬂ s | 420 &
wmmmmmonmmmwwmmmamm from femporary BN,
iflerence (net ofreated tax liabilty where the condtionsin Arcle 36 (3) are mat) @
{negative amau)
10 {5,648) 2250 Hh
Gainﬁmhwmlhhﬂmmmmmbimmumhmmmﬁhmmn BB
14| danding _57)
i AU . . 38(1}(h. 42,
7 Directand indirect hokdings by an instituion of own CET1 instruments {negative amount) @ | 20
25 Forasecable tax charges reatirg to CET1 items {negative amount) ) BN
Reguiatory adjustments appied fo Commian Equity Ter 1 in respact of amounts subject
2 | 1preCRR peaiment {15,
Regulatory adustments relafing to unreatised gairs and fosses pursuent fo Aricles 467 :
260 | andded (127.978)
of whih unveaised gains pzrgny | 4 14
Anwuﬂt:bsdemdadiumuraddedmmmmmEqLﬂyﬂer1mphlmmregadm 81
actiora s and dedcios requed pre CRR
b 112,301
ofwhich Intangibte assels {net of robaed tax Iahliy) 150,132
ofwhich Deferred tax assefs that ety on fidure proftabiity excluding those arsing fiom
wummmwwmmnymaaMmMmMWam
: 2250
Quallying AT1 dadtuiunsil'elmadstheAﬂ capital of the instiution (negative %)
a7 | amount {10,132 Afgl0d
- Tolat {#68.215)
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C)
8 a(lmourmsuhiedm
pre-
Roguidion | . ulaton fEU)No (0}
EUNo S5R0 matmentor | Loreneato
Dec 2016 5752013 prescribed residul racontiliation
aticle amourt of requlation s
CETTET {EU) 57502013
6220118
ot bUA Rt Rena Ilison-Adius menh :
Reguiatory ajstment agypier i Additonl Tier 1 capzlin rexpect of amounts subject
fopre-CRR treatment and transitionaltreatments subject to phase-out a5 preserbed in
Reguiztion (EU) No 57512013 (e, CRR residusal amorts)
4 ' S
472,473,
Residual amourts dedcted fom Acddiiaral Ter 1 capitel wit regard to dediucion from 472 (4),472(6),
Contmon Exuity Ter 1 capal during the ranstional period pursuantin aride 472 of 472 (8 (a) 472
Regulation {EUYNe 57542013 @412 (10 (@), +
4m (1))
ia (410.132)
afwhichItengiie asses (ko eaed o by {11 . {irgrod
43_|Totalroquifony ek o Acitonal e 1(ATH) et {110,132)
- Excans of dadyction from AT1 Hems over AT1 110,132
“ Tierd (AT} capita
;4 capktal (14 = CET1 +AT1) 620,116
4 promium 1457864 | 6283 c i
51 <Tor 2 (T2) capitl bofore ogestory austent 487,664
i 1
i 1457604
50 [ Totalcapl (G =T1+T) LA,
§_|: Toal ekwighied assets P
and s
61 _}".Common Equity Tier 1 (a5 a percerdane of tokal risk exposrs smount 15.45% | 92(2)(a) 465
82| Tir (a5 peroenksge of o sk exposure e 1545% | ®2(3p),465
1 ' 1900 | 20)e
36(1) (h), 45,
46,472(10)
Dictan incirect hoklings ofthe captal of frarvil secior s where the insttuton ﬁé‘i%ﬂ
does ot have 8 signfcant vestment in thoss enties {amout bekow 10% ivesheld gl
72 | ane netof ekgioke short posions) wrp | B T0ATH
w , (1) (1,45,
Direct and indirec hokdings ofthe GET1 insuments offrancal seckor erifies where the 48,470,472
inshtuton hes.a signifcant vestment n those eniis famaount bekow 10% freshokd i
73 | ani neto et short postions) 18568 L
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@ J(lcn)mmsubhuh
Regulafion | o

' regulation {EU) No
* {Elf o STsR03eamentor | hoeenceto
Dec 2015 752013 i vaconciiaion
s amoun of reulation SiE
Teesonce fEV) 5752013
i RON thousands |
36(1) (6. 3,

Deforred ta assets arising from temporary diference famount below 10 % theeshold 48,470,4725)
75| netof eaied tax by where the coneiionsin Avice 38 (3) are mel) 320509 : !

Own funds davelepment for the Group

in RON thousands
CET1as of 1Jan 206 5,149,342
Release of share prem|um (shift to retalned earnings) ] -
D vidends declared -
Increase retained eamings : - 1037, 170

net profit i 122897
shift from share premfum -
Increase accumulated other comprehensive income (108,390)
Increase minority Interest
Increase prudentlal filters (T1806)
Changes in regulatory deductions {55.054)
goodwill o =
other intanglbles : (55,054)
Other [ 308,654
Changes in CET1 E 170,774
CET1as of 310ec 2086 8,320,118

Additional Tler 1develo pment, phasein
AT1as of 1.Jan 206

Net increase / decrease in AT 1
Changes in regulate ry deduction

Other

Changes In AT1
AT1as of 31Dec 208

1 ||| )

Tier 2 devalo pment, phase in

T2 as of 1Jan 206 1,752,743
Net decrease in T2 (295.079)

Changes in regulatory deducticn

IRB Excess and SA credit risk adjustments

Changes In Tier 2 (295,079).
T2 as of 31Dec 2006 1,457,664
TotalownTunds = 7,777,780
Bank Own Funds disclosure

Reconcliiation of IFRS and CRR items included in the Statement of Financial Position

The following tables provide a reconciliaion of IFRS statement of the financial position items to CET1 items, AT tems, T2 items and filters
accarding to Articles 32 to 35 as well as deductions as defined in Articles 36, 56, 66 and 79 CRR.
Last-column contains a letter to link the amount derived from the accounting figures to the related eligible amount as disclosed below in the

Bank own funds templats.
Bank Total Equity Dec 16
Regulatory . O amunds
in RON thousands IFRS (avdited) - CRR Own Funds disclosure table -
Adjustments
reference
Subscribed capital 2,052,665 2,052,505 S 2,952,565
‘Capltal regerve 395,483 395,483 - 305,483
Capital instruments and the related share
_premium accounts 3,348,048 3,348,048 - 3,348,048 a
Retained eamings from previous periods 1,197,803 1,197,803 .- 1,197,903
Prof lt/loss in the period 886,086 886,088 - 886,088
“Retained earnings 2,083,989 2,083,989 - 2,083,988 b
Other comprehensive income (OCI) - 3%6 329,526 - 329,526 - ¢l
Av ailable for sale reserve 264,513 284,513 - 264,513
- unrealised gains according to Art.35 CRR - 298,980
unrealised losses according to Art.35 CRR - (-54,487)
Remeasurement of net liability of defined benefit
obligation 85,013 65,013 - 65,013
“Other reserves 1,130,670 1,130,670 {960) 1,129,710 , 62
Total Equity 6,892,233 6,892,233 (960) 6,891,273
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Bank Intangible assets Dec 16
Own funds
. Regulatory disclosure
In RON thousands IFRS (audited) CRR Adjustments Own Funds table -
reference
Intanglble assets 280,699 280,699 - 280,699 d
Intanglble assets 280,699 280,899 - 280,693
Bank Deferred taxes Dec 16
Own funds
In RON thousands IFRS {audited) CRI'::‘?‘:: disclosure table -
referonce
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitabllity and do not arise from 5.648 5.648 .
temporary differences net of associated tax llabillties: ' '
related DTA allocated on or after 1 January 2014 for which 60% deduction
) - g 5,648 5,648
Is required according to CRR transitional prov isions o
Deferred tax assets that_rely on f utur.e_ prof itability and arlse from temporary . 318,775 318,775 §
differences net of associated tax liabilities
Other deferred tax liabilities (13,869) {13.869)
out of which deferred tax liabilities assoclated to.other intangible assets (13,869) (13,869) g
Deferrad tax assets ¢ 310,554 310,554
Bank Subordinated llabilities Dec 16
Own funds
in RON thousands I.FRS CRR R.egulatory Own Funds disclosure table
taudited) Adjustments
- rgference
Subordinated issues and deposits 2,473,969 2,473,969 {1,016,305) 1,457,664 h
Subordinated liablllties 2,473,969 2,473,969 {1,0186,305) 1,457,664

Details regarding subordinated liabilities are disciosed in the Group Consolidated Financial Statements 2016 (IFRS) under Note 29 “Financial

liahiliies measured at amortised costs”,

In accordance with NBR Regulation 5/2013, the subordinated liabilities with less than 5 years maturity, are amortised.

Threshold calculations according to Articles 46 and 48 CRR

Bank Treshold calculations according to Articles 46 and 48 of {(EUJ) Regulation no.575/2013

in RON thousands

Nen significant investments in financial sector entitles

Treshold (10% of CET 1) 655,814
Holdings in CET 1 (28,732)
. Holdings in AT 1

Holdings n T 2

Distance to treshold 627,082
Slgnificant Investments In financlal sector entities

Treshold {(10% of CET 1) 655,814
Holdings in CET 1 (7.509)
Distance to treshold 648,305
"Deffered tax assets

Treshold (10% of GET 1) ] 655,814
Deffered tax assets that are depandent on future profitability and arise from temporary differences {318,775)
Distance to treshold 337,039
Combined treshold for deffered tax assets and significant investments

Treshold (17,656% of CET 1} 1,157,512
Deffered tax assets that are dependent on future prof itability and arlse from temporary differences and CET 1 (326,285)
Instruments of financial sector entities where the institution has a significant investment !
Distance to treshold 831,227
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Bank Own funds template

The table below presents the composition of the regulatory capital during the transitional period based on the Implementing Technical

Standards of UE no 1423/2013,

In column (A), the current amount, which considers all the transitional requirements, is disclosed. Column {C) discloses the residual amount,
implying full CRR implementation. Column (D) provides information of data comparable figures within the IFRS annual report related fo equity,

intangible assets, defermed tax assets, subordinated liabilities.

B [ shintoprompiton ©
® 3 | Rogulaion(EU)ro, iy :
bt | "o | | T | e
RIS | o Regulation (EU) 5752013
I RON Shounends
26(1),27, 28, 29, EBA
1 | Cagital nstruments and the related share premium accounts 38048 st26(3) a
ofwhich: onfinary shares 334848 26(f)(c)
2 | Relained eamings 2,083,963 26(1) b
3 | Accumulated ather comprehensive income {and any ofher reserves) 1459236 26(1)(h e1he2
Common Egusty Tier 1 (CET1) capXial befor reguisory adjusiments 6,881,273
| Commen Equiy Tiec1{CET) capla: rguisiory ausirarts
7_| Additional vahe adjustments (negative amount) (17,170} 34,105
8 | intngible asses s ofrelete ity (negafive armoutt {266,831) 3601 (), 37,472(4) | dtg
Defermed tax assets that rely on fulure profitahilty excluding those arising fom temporary
. diffierence (et of related tax Gablity where the conditiens in Aricie 36 (3) are mef) (negative
10 | amound {5,648 36(1)(c), 38, 472 (5) 2250 e
14 GaimurkxsasonIhbliiesmlmdatfa‘nﬂluarewlimiumcha[gghmmdtda@g 571} B
16 | Disectand indireet holdings by an Inetifion of own CET1 instruments {negafive amourit) (82) | 36(1){h,42,472(8)
250 | Foresesahle tax chames relafing fo CET1 &ams (neqafive amount) (42,828) MM
Regulainry adjustments applied fo Common Equity Tier 1 in respect of amounts subject o pre-
2 | CRR ireaiment {10,601)
263 | Regulatory sdustments relafing o urrealised gains and losses pursuant to Ariicles 467 and 468 (118592)
ofwhich unrealised losses - 487
of which unrealised geing (115,562) 48
Amount to be deducted from or added to Common Equity Tier 1 caphal with regard to addiional
266 | fiters and deductions required pre CRR. 108,581 481
of which Intangyible assets (net of related tax liabiity) 106,732 {d+g)* 40%
of which Deformed tax assats that rely on future profiabity excluding those arising from
temparary diflerence (et of related tax labity where tha condiians in Article 38 (3) are mef} 2259
Fi MmAﬂdedudhnstedsheAT1gg@lofﬂminsﬂuﬂun|nMa’ ameunty (230,738) B0
28 | Tob reguintory adjustments to Comemon Equity Ter 1 (CET1 (574487)
2 CMEWHEH)@H z 6,316,806
Additional Tier 1 : instrumenis
36 | Additional Ties 1 (AT before reguilatory adiustmonts
Adional Tier 1{AT1) capltal: regusatory adjusimants
Regulatory adhustmants applied fo Addiioral Tier 1 capital In respect of amourds subject o pre-
CRR tretment and ransiional reatments subject i phase-out as prescrbed in Reguiation (EU)
41 | No5752013{le. CRR reskiual amounts) (230,737)
412, 473(3)a), 472 (#),
Residua! amownts deducted fram Addional Tier 1 capitalwith regard to deduction fiom 472 (B), 472 {B){a), 472
Comman Equity Tier 1 capial during the transiional period pursuant o article 472 of Reguiation (9), 472 {10) (a), 472 (11)
41 | {EU}No5TSR013 {108.732) {8)
ofmullrlamﬂem(naufreuedhxl'a@!) {106,732 d+g) *40%
Ammmhededudedﬁmﬁaddadhﬁddﬁnﬂﬁu1ﬁhiwihregaﬂbadﬁmlﬁhs
41¢ | and deductions required pre- CRR {124,005) 467,468, 481
dmmmmlm-dmmmmladimmmwimmm
Impairment acoording o [FRS (1185300
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& m(c) o prw-regplation (EU i)
@ 3 | Ry, | <HTCPEE ST Referencato
Decembar 261 m;mg Prescrived Reskiua Amoont | reconciiation taties
of Ragulation (EU) 5752013
 ofwhich Localler- exposure fom kansgrants i e snployass in mose Exouzble
condtions than market [5475) -
43 | Total meguiatory adjustments to Addicional Tler 1 (AT} capial 230 -
Excess of deduction from AT1 Nems over AT 230,737 .
45 | Tior1 capitel (T1=CET1 +ATY) 6,316,208 .
Tier 2 nsiruments and 1
46 | Capialinsinments and tharelated shars premium accounts 1457 664 h
51 | _Tier2(72) capital befors requiatory adfisstment 1457864
| Tior 2(T2) capital mquistory acjustmonts
Reguiatory adjustments appied to ier 2 in respect af amounts subject o pre-CRR freatment and
ranskional treatments subjectio phase out as prescribed in Reguiation (EU) No 5752013 (e,
86 | CRR residualamounts) (118528}
Amourts to be deducted from or added in Tier 2 capital with ragard o sddiional fers and
§6c_| deductions requied pre- CRR (118520) 467,488, 481
uf which Local prudentia fiker - difleranice batwoen prudential adjustments and adjsiments for
impaimnent according 1 FRS {118525)
57_| Totd s to Tier 2 (T2} capitd {118,528
58 | Tier2(72)capltal 1,339,135 -
59 | Total capital (TCaT1+T2) 7,855,041 .
6 | Totalrisk-weighied assets 30,297,234 -
spital ratios and buffers
6t | _Common Equly Tior 1 {as 8 percenkage of bl sk exposiee amount 17.36% 52 (2) (a), 485
B2 | Tier1(as a percentage of bkl risk exposure amount 17.38% 92 (2) (b} 465
83 | Totel caphal{as a pencartage of okl risk axposire amount 21.80% AL
Amounts boiow the thresholds for dedusction (hefore risk-waighting)
36(1){h), 45,46, 472
Directand indvact holdings of the capkal ofinancial secior enffies where the Inetfuion doss not i
have a signficant Investment i those entiies {amount below 10% thrashold and net of eliibie 56 (c), 59, 60, 475 {4), 66
72 | shott 287 {c), 69, 70,477 (4}
Diet and indiect hokdings of the CET1 insiruments of inanciak sector enfiies where the
insitufion has & signifcant investmentin thoge entiies (amount below 0% Sreshoid and net of 36(1) i), 45,48, 470,
73 | sigitlo short positions) 7509 m)
74 | Empiysetn the EU o =
Deferred tax a5 ts arising from temporary diferance (amounk below 10 % threshold , net of : 36(1}{c), 38,48, 470, -
75 | reiated tax liabilty wheee the conditions In Aricle 28 (3) are met) 38175 472(5) . i
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Bank Own funds developmant

In RON thousand
in RON thot : . : B E_
CET1as of 1Jan 206 : 5,288,901

Release of share premium (shift to retalned eamings)*

Dividends declared

Increase / Decrease retained eamings 840,808
net profit . (773419
Increase / Decrease accumulated other comprehensive Income- (87,771
Increase / Decrease minority interest - -
Increase / Decrease prudential fliters = —.(004)
.Ehanges In regulatory deductions (58484)
goodwill : i -
otherintangibles (56,484)
Other e 002273
Ch in CET1 . 1027005
CET1as of 31Dec 2086 ‘ . 5a305,808

Additifonal Tier 1development, phase in

AT1as of 1Jan 206 j i o
Net increase / Decrease / decrease In AT1 [ = e,
Changas in regulatory deduction E
Other .
"Changes in AT . .
AT1as of 31Dec 208 —

Tier 2 development. phase in ] L e
T2 as of 1Jan 208 1,586,652

MNet decreasa in T2 (295.079)
Changes In regulatory deduction 47,562
IRE Excess and SA credit risk adjustments IF
LChangesinTler2 (A7 517
T2aso0f31Dec 206 ! %339,135
Totalown funds _ - . . 7855841

Since 1 January 2014, BCR Group has been calulating the regulatory capital and the regulatory capital requirements according to Basel 3, The
requirements have been implemented within the EU by the CRR and the CRD IV as well as within various technical standards issued by
Eurapean Bank Authority, which were enacted in national law by the National Bank of Romania, Regulaion No 52013,

Allrequirements as defined in the CRR, the NBR and the aforementioned technical standards are fully applied by BCR Group.

Own funds according to CRR consist of common equity tier 1 (CET1), additional tier 1 (AT1) and fier 2 (T2). In order to determine the capital
ratios, each respective capital component - after application of all regulatory deductions and filters - is considered in relation to the total risk.

The Bank monitors the capital rafios, at individual and consolidated level, based on financial statements prepared in accordance with
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), taking into consideration also the local provisions.

The main reason for differences in RWA and own funds computed for Bank and Group is the prudential fiter used for BCR solo reporting o
NBR. In December 2015, 60% of the gap between prudential value adjustments and IFRS provisions was used for RWA and own funds
computation in BCR solo reporting (332.182 th. RON). In December 2016 only 40% of the gap was used for RWA and own funds computation.
in BCR solo reporting (237.059 th. RON), as this prudential filter will be phased out until 31.12.2017.

Prudential filter represents the gap between local prudential value adjustments and IFRS provisions. According to NBR Regulation no. 5/2013,
the usage of the prudentiaf filter will be phased out until 31.12.2017 (the percentages applicable are 40% in 2016 and wil be reduced by 20%
p-a. untif 0% in 2018). According to the legislation, prudential fiters are used only for individual level (BCR standalone}; for consolidated level
(BCR group) the IFRS provisions are considered.

The total credt risk capital requirement is calculated as 8% of the risk weighted assets. Also, in order to calculats the capital adequacy rafio, the
Bank computes a capital requirement for market and operational risks, both individual and consolidated level.
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Group Capital structure according to EU directive 575/2013 (CRR)

Group Dec-15 _ Deec-16
In RON thousands Bagel 3 Basel 3

Article pursuant to CRR P hased-in Final _Phasaed=in Final
Common equity tfer 1 capital {CET1) TR

26 (1) (a}{b), 27 to 30, 38 {1{1), ’
Capltal instruments sliglbia as CET1 2 - AMEN 3340040 B SRRIG D80
OwnCETfinstruments 36 42 o 3

“Retained eamings 26 {1 (c), 26 {2) 21828 21826 936,099 835,089
Interim profit 26 (2) 918,950 91,950 1041847 1041847
Accum ulated other comprehensive Income 4 (1) {100}, 26 (1) {d) 430,786 430,76 322328 22,326
Other reserves Ar.4{t7) Art. 26 (1 (e) 953,876 953,876 1087842 1087.e42
MInority Interest racognised in CET1 4 (1) (120) 84 - — =
Transltional adjustments due to additional minorityinterasts Sl 587 L ) 9’341 | ==
Prudentlal filter- cash flow hedge reserve 33(1N (a) - = -

Prudentlal filter: cum ulative gains and losses due to changes [

in own credit sk on falr valued liabilltles 33(9 ) () ama: ®79 &7
Prudantlal filter: falr value gains and losses arsing from the

institutior's own oredi risk related to derivative liabilitiss > (1 (h33(2) - = 3 .
Valus adjustments due to the raqulramenlsfor prudent 24 105 {5,626) (5828 {18.036) (8.038)
_valuation : ’ !

Ragulatory djust ts relating to L d gains and R _
losses 467,468 {253,329) (127,979}

“Gooawll 4(1(18), 36 () (b), 37 - e - - -
Cther Intangible assets 4 (1) {$5), 36 (1 (b), 37 (a) ([220,277) (220,277) (275,357 {275,337
Dafarred {ax assets dependent upon future profitability and »
not tempo rary differences net of assoclated taxliabiiities 36 (e} 38 (240548) (240'548). ] (5:848) (5.648)
IRB shorifall of credit risk adjusiments to expected losses 36 (1) {d}, 40, 158, 59 - - r LR e
Development of unaudited risk provisions during the year (EU _ q -
No B3/204) .

QOther fransitional adjustments CET1 4689 to 472, 478,481 314,458 - 112,391 . -
Goodwill = = - -
Otherintangible asssts 132,468 v OW2 =]
RB shortfall of provislons to expected losses = R = —=|
Deferred tax assets that relyon future profitabliity and do not

_arise from temporary differances - #2262 ) 228 3
Excass of deduction from AT1ltems over AT1 BO0 (132,%8) 5 (fo.82y L
Common equity tler 1 capital (CET1) 50 5,140,342 8,205,792 . 6,320,116 4,436,405
Additlonal tisr 1 capital {AT1)

Capital instruments ellglhla as AT1 81(a), 52 to 54, 56 (a), 57 - -

Own AT1instruments 52 (1) {b), 56 (a), 57 - - . -
Instruments issued by subsidlaries that are given recognition 85,86 - .
In AT1 X "

;Lr:trr:-lsrl:;r:tasl adjustments due to grandfathered AT1 483 (4) (5), 484 1o 457, 489, 491 .

AT1Instruments of financial sector entities where the

institution hes o significant Investment 4(1{27), 56 (d), 58,79 N ) N 4
Othar transitional ad[ualmenls AT1 474, 478,478,481 (132,188) - (10,132} ° -
Goodwill 5 =
Other Intangibls assats [CED) - (10,82)_

“IRB shatfall of provisions to expected lossss - - - -
Excess of deduction from AT1ltems overAT1 36000 102,066 = fiel<
Additlonal tler 1 capltal (AT} 61 - = -

Tlar 1 capltal - total of common equity tier 1

ICET1I and additional tler 1{AT1) ?5 5,149,342 5.205.791»\ 6,320,116 6,436,495
Tler 2 capital (T2) 1782,743 1,752,743 14657 ,664 1457684
Capltal instruments and subordinated lgans oligible as T2 62 (a), 63 to 65, 66 (a), 67 - - = -
Own T 2 instruments 63 (b} (i), 68 (a), (67) - - - -
Instrumets igsued by subsididries recognised in T2 87,88 = - e
Transitional adjustments due to aditional recognitionin T2 of i

Insiruments issuad bysubsidiaries 480 i 3 3 K
Transitional adjustments due lo grandfathered T2 3 {63 (7), 484, 486, 488, 490, " " aai
instruments and subordinated loans 491 ) 3 i ¥
IRB excess of provislons over expected Ioases eliglble 62 (d) - - - -
Standardlsed approach general cradlt risk adj s 628 - S St e by
Other transitio nal adjustmoents tier 2 capltal 476,477,478, 481 - -

Other ltems (Local prudential filter - difference batwasn

prudential adjustments and adjustments for Impalrment o

according to IFRS}) =

_Other ltems {AFS gains racognlsed in Tler 2 capital) - -

“TRE shorifall of provisions to expected losses - - -

TZinstruments of financial sector entitiss where the

institution has a significart Investment 4(1(27), 66 (d), 68,69, 79 - - . -

Tlor 2 copial {T2) 71 1,752,743 17854 LA5F 604 R

_Ehart-term subordinated capltal (tier-3) . . i 5
Total own fugd_s 4 {1} {118} and T2 6,902,085 8, A8l 5RY p e = T r.a9d. A1

Bank Capital structure according to EU directive 575/2013 (CRR)

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratics of the Bank for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2015, including the effect of merger with REM and BFP. During both these periods, the Bank complied with the extemally imposed
capital requirements to which they are subject.
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Bank Dec-15 Doag-18
in RON thousanda Bazsel 3 Basnel 3
et Phaned-in Final  Phased-in Final
Common squity Tiar 1 copltal (GET1)
36 (17 (a} (0), 27 to 30,
Capital inatruments eligible as CET1 36 (1) (), 42 e ST i e
Cram CET1 Instruments 36 (1) (F), 42 = - = =
Retained saminga 28 (1) (o), 26 (2} 278,765 279,766 1.197.803 1,107,002
Intenim profit 28 (2) 863,427 603,427 884,088 888,088
Agsoumulated other comprehensive incoma 4 {1) (100}, 28 (1) {(d) 427,265 427,205 220,524 320.524
Other reservesa Art, 4 (117), Art. 28 (1)« ©52,0168 Q62,816 1,086,883 1.086,883
Minotity interesat recognised In CET1 4 1) (120) &84 = & = =
Tranaitional adjustments dus to additional minorty interesta 479, 480 - = = i
Prudential fliter; ¢cash flow hedge ressrve 33 (1) (a) g — O — =
Prudential fllker: cumulative gaine and loesas due to .
changes in own credit fek on fair valuad llablities 33 (1) (o) 1.174) aes (Sa = (=71)
Prudentlal filter: falr value gains. and losaes arising from the 33 (1) {c), 33 (2) - = - -
Institution'as own cradit riek related to derivative llabilities =X ...
Value .ad]ualmnnln due te the requirements for prudent a4 108 (5,626) (5,626) (17,170) (17.170)
valuation _ o g s it A A
IF::gulainry adjuatments relating to unrealiaed gaina and 87, 488 (231,843) = 110,502) g
aen
Goodwill A (1) (113), 36 (1) (B), T - - T
(1) (116), 36 (1) (B),
Other intangible assets 37 (=) (210,307) (21:3::_5??) (268,821) (2_“'631)_‘
Deferred tax asasta dependent upon future profitabliity and 36 (1} (c), 38 (240,648) {240,648) {5.848) (5,848)
not temporary differancea net of asscoiated tax llabilltles - . i
IRB hortfall of oradit risk adjustments to expacted lossea - (1) () 46. 158, 180 i - R | =
Development of unaudited rsk provisions during the year & = )
(EL Na 183/2014)
Other transitlonal adjustmenta CET1 480 ta 472, 478, 481 308,512 = 108,901 -
Goodwill _ - - - -
Other Infanglble aseats 428,220 - 108, 732 -
IRB ahortfall of provisions to sxpected losses I = i
Dafamed tax asseats that ru.ly on future profitability and do 182,202 B 2 288 =
Dot atlaa from temporery diff srences
Excesa of daduction from AT1 itema ovaer AT1 38 (1) {} (301,205) - (230,738) 5
Tommen aqulty tler 1 ¢ap S0 5,288,001 B,515,727 . 6.316,806 0,866,143 _
“Additional ter 1 capltal (AT} f
Capital Ingtruments sligible sa AT1 51 {a}, B2 to 54, 58 {a}), - - -
COwn AT1 Instrurnents 62 (1} (b), B8 (=), 57 - = = =
Instrumenta laaued by eubaidiades that are given
a5, as - - -
reaognition In AT1 s
Tranaitional adjustments due fo grandfathered AT1 483 (4) (B}, 484 to 487, N =
inatrumenta 489, 491 I _ -
AT1 Inatrumenta of finanoial sector entities whers the
inatitution hae & signifioant Investment 4 (1) (27). 86 (d), 89, 79 : = N,
“Othar transitional adjustments Al 474, 475, 478, 4B1 (301,005) - {230,738) 5
Goodwill - - -
Other intangible aszats {128,220 {108,732} = ED
Other itema (Local prudantial filter - differences betwasn - T
prudential adjustmants and adjustments far impaiment {166,091} - {118,528}
according to IFRS) o
Other ltems (Lacal filler - expoaure from loans grantad to
former smployses in more favourable sonditions than (9,884) (5,475) -
markst)
TRE shorifall of provieions to axpected losses - - - ="
Exceas of deduction from AT1 Heme over AT samn ST L 230,796 L
tional tier 1 caplta 1) a1 - - =
E;]:‘::g{%’.r :’(:".;' cemmon Squlty flor 1 (CET1) and __ 5,280,001 6,513,727 8,318,806 6,55% 143
Tier 2 capital (T2) . 1,762,743 1,752,743 . 1,457,604 1,457,604
) 62 (a), 63 to 65, 68 (a), R e e
Capltal instrumenta and subardinated loane eligible as T2 a7 - - -
Own T 2 inatromaents 53 (5) (1, 66 (&), (67 = - D e e
Ihatrumets iaausd by subsidiarea recoghised in 1.2 a7, 88 - -
Transitional adjustments due to aditional recognition In T2 of g
Instruments issued by subsidiariea 480 - = - -
Tranzlfichal adjuaiments dus to grandfathered 12 483 (8) (7), 484, 4886,
instrumente and subordinated loans 488, 490, 481 - - -
IRB exceoee of provizions over expected loases aligible 62 (d) - e - =y
Standardissd approach general aredit riak adjustments 862 @ - - - -
Other ransltional adjustrments der 2 capital 476, 477, 478, 481 {188,001) - {118,520) -
Other ltems {Local prudential filter - diff erence betwesn .
prudentlal adjuvtments and adjustmenta for Impairment
a¢carding to IFRS) (188,001) 2 {118,52a)
Other itefis (AFS gaina recognisad In Tier 2 capitel) - B T ey
IRBE shorifall of provialons {0 expactad lcsses =) = = =
T2 inatruments of financial aactar entities whare the 4 (1) (27). 66 {d), 88,
inatitution has a sighificant Investment 8e, 78 o = o —
“Wler Z capital (f!, 71 1,588,852 1,762,743 1,330,135 1,457,868
Bhortterm subordinated capital iii-r-a) = = = -
Total own funds 4 (1) (118) and 72 6,875,853 7,266,470 7,856,841 8,675,507
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Group Dec-15 Dec-16
in RON thousands Basel 3 Basel 3

Article pursuant to CRR Phased-In Final Phased-In Final
Capital requirement 92 (3), 95, 96, 98 2,480,704 2,480,704 2,620,942 2,620,042
CET1 capital ratio 92 {2} {c) 16.04% 16.22% 15.45% 158.80%
Tier 1 capital ratio 92(2) (¢} 16.04% 16.22% 15.45% 15.80%
Total capital ratio 92{2){¢c} 21.74% 21.92% 19.90% 20.25%

Notes

1.The capital adequacy ratios for the Group are computed based on unaudited own funds (profit for curment year not included). According to the
current estimation, the CET1 capital ratio and theTier 1 capital ratio computed with 2016 profit included would be 18.64% and the fotal capital
ratio computed with 2016 profit included would be 23.10%.

2. In order to compute the capital ratios, an additional regulatory prudential deduction is performed from the capital (CET1, Tiier 1 and Total own
funds): 215.836 th.RON in 2016 and 216.485 th.RON in 2015.This deduction is computed as the difference between the total exposure and
value adjustments for a list of customers established by National Bank of Romania during their annual audit mission.

Bank Dac-15 Dec-16
in RON thousarids Basel 3 Basel 3

ég;:le pursuant to Phased-in Final Phased-in Final
Capltal requirement 82 (3), 95, 06, 98 2,311,747 2,311,747 2,423,778 2,423,779
CET1 capital ratio 92 (2){c) 17.55% 18.33% 17.38% 18.17%
Tier 1 capital ratio 92 (2) (¢} 17.55% 18.33% 17.38% 18.17%
Total capital ratio 92 (N{c} 23.04% 24.40% 21.80% 22,98%

PNotes

1.The capital adequacy ratios for the Bank are computed based on unaudited own funds {profit for current year not included). According to the
current estimation, the GET1 capital ratio and the Tier 1 capital ratio computed with 2016 profit included would be 19.78% and the total capital
ratio computed with 2016 profit included would be 24.12%.

2. In order to compute the capital ratios, an additional regulatory prudential deduction is performed from the capital {(CET1, Tier 1 and Total own
funds): 215.886 th.RON in 2016 and 216.485 th.RON in 2015.This deduction is computed as the difference between the total exposure and
value adjustments for a list of customers established by National Bank of Romania during their annual audit mission.

Risk structure according to EU directive 575/2013 (CRR})

Group X . Doc-15 Dag-#@

R N thous andE I Artlcle pursuant to CRR ::::7::::1lak ::a‘g‘:lll':mnnt bc:-l:lllt':.tl:l':'lak f:g'::ltrlnlm-m

Total Rizk Expo sure Amount © 92(3), 95,06, 98 40,768,799 2A60,704 T20e1ITT : 2,826,942

Risk walghted ewasts (cradit risk) 92 (3){a}if) 25,436,567 2034845 25.0516589 2,004,028
Btandardiaed approach 25435 567 2,034,845 26051599 Z004,128
IRB appreach ]

Setioment rsk 52 (3) () (), 92461 (b} B -

Trading book, forelgn FX rek and sommodity isk 2 (3) () 1) snd (o) i) and (I}, 92 {4) () 17,034 9,363 738,78 D07

Oparatioral fisk B 82 (3) (u), 02 (4) (b} 6,189,457 40,076 462,068 560 05

ExpoaunsforCVA | R ICH 42,760 3421; 8,308 TE2

Other exposura amounts Incl. Basel 1fioor 3,458,450, 500 28,82.743 225549 28,550,887 2284,791

Risk structure according to EU directive 575/2013 (CRR)

Bank Dag-1§ Doe-16

LD Aricl pursuant 10 CRR ___puveitoinlrisk __roquiament __besettatarpisk _ roupement

Tetal Riek Exposuns Amount 82 (3), 95,9608 288938838 LA T O 2 EEZEITR

Risk weighted assel (credt fak) 2 (3){sHn nenwe | wnan B tiE
Standardised approsch ) 29 Mk ST
IRB approach R T

Sattiement ok 92.{3) (o) 1), %2.4) ) gini

Trading book, forsign FX sk and commadity sk $2(3) (13} () and (c){1) and (), 82 {4}{b) 12,904 432 1298 s.rsa-

Operational risk ZER e 4,832,149 386572 7.031484 562,5%

Expoeuwrefor CYA 82 (3) [d) 42,780 3421° 83046 752

Other exposure amowunts nol. Basel 1floor 3,458, 459, 500 26,387 674 2,104 26587026 2.26%62
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47. COUNTRY BY COUNTRY REPORTING

2015 Group
Operating ACHEGR o o
Country ) from continuing ihcome Taxes pald
i operations
Romania 3051906 1005192 (91248) 52,983
Moldova a0 6,857 1221 384
Total 3,074,928 1,012,049 {90,027} 53,367
2018 Group
Operating AL re‘sul.l Taxes on
Country income from continuing Incoms Taxas paid
' _ operatlons — = :
Remania 2842083 ABMSR1 (BOBdG) 0 3886
WMoldova - 25,113 8,630 B — 3
Total 2,868,166 1176,491 (130,428} 36,848
48. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
No subsaquent events ocourred after the reporting period.
AUTHORISED PERSON, AUTHORISED PERSON,
First name and name First name and name
Signature Signature

A

Executve Vice-President]

Executive Director Accounting Division,

Adina-Georgiana Cotiga
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